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TIME AND AGAIN, Native American 

leaders in the modern era have risen to com¬ 

bat intolerance and injustice, promote cross- 

cultural understanding, strive for better educa¬ 

tional and economic opportunities, and fight 

for religious freedom and control of their her¬ 

itage. These modern warriors have led and in¬ 

spired through their writing, faith, tireless ac¬ 

tivism, educational training, political savvy, 

legal expertise, and charisma. An indispens¬ 

able introduction to the rich variety of Native 

American leadership, this book profiles Native 

men and women who have played a significant 

role in the affairs of their communities and of 

the nation over the course of the twentieth 

century. 

The leaders showcased include the early- 

twentieth-century writer and activist 

Zitkala-§a; American Indian Movement leader 

Russell Means; political activists Ada Deer and 

LaDonna Harris; scholar and writer D’Arcy 

McNickle; orator and Crow Reservation su¬ 

perintendent Robert Yellowtail; U.S. Senators 

Charles Curtis and Ben Nighthorse Campbell; 

Episcopal priest Vine V. Deloria Sr.; Howard 

Tommie, the champion of economic and cul¬ 

tural sovereignty for the Seminole Tribe of 

Florida; Cherokee chief Wilma Mankiller; 

Pawnee activist and lawyer Walter Echo- 

Hawk; Crow educator Janine Pease Pretty-on- 

Top; and Phillip Martin, the driving force be¬ 

hind the spectacular economic revitalization 

of the Mississippi Band of Choctaws. 
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For LeeAnne, 

special daughter from across the sea. 

Ready smile, black eyes flashing. 

Give ’em hell, Wiggleb . . . 
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Introduction 

Twentieth-Century Warriors 

R. DAVID EDMUNDS 

During the twentieth century Native American leadership evolved to re¬ 

flect the particular challenges that faced Native American people during 

those years. From a dwindling population confined on rural enclaves, 

controlled by federal agents, and characterized by their isolation from 

mainstream American life. Native Americans have emerged as a growing 

member of America’s modern multiethnic community. The Indian urban 

residency rate now exceeds 50 percent, and Indian people have assumed a 

growing sovereignty over their own communities and their lives. Many of 

these changes were facilitated by Native American leaders who responded 

to a series of challenges and seized opportunities to improve the quality of 

their people’s lives. The patterns of their leadership vary in time and cir¬ 

cumstance, and some have been more successful than others. The con¬ 

tours of their ascendancy offer insights into the evolving status and in¬ 

fluence of Indian people during their times and reflect the changing 

nature of Native American leadership over the past one hundred years. 

To understand this evolution it is first necessary to examine its antece¬ 

dents. In 1900 the Native American population had reached its nadir 

(237,196), and most non-Indians were convinced that Indian people were 

on the brink of extinction. Images of “vanishing redmen” permeated 

newspapers, magazines, and dime novels, while James Earle Frazer’s pop¬ 

ular sculpture “The End of the Trail,” which featured a defeated Plains 

warrior slumped forward over a downcast horse, seemed to epitomize 

what was believed to be the Native Americans’ fate. The U.S. government 

had moved the vast majority of Native Americans onto reservations, and 

opportunities for meaningful armed resistance were gone. In 1887 Con¬ 

gress had passed the General Allotment Act (Dawes Act), which stipu¬ 

lated that at the president’s discretion most Indian reservations could be 

“allotted” or divided into small one-hundred-sixty-acre farms. The act es- 
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sentially forced acculturation upon tribal people and aimed eventually to 

assimilate them into American society. That the majority of Native Amer¬ 

icans might reject such acculturation and wish to retain a separate ethnic 

identity was unfathomable to non-Indians. Still, most Indian people were 

determined to defend their remaining land-bases, protect their tribal 

communities, and forge a viable, if uncertain, place within a new Ameri¬ 

can society characterized by considerable chauvinism, an optimistic ap¬ 

praisal of the future, and a growing reliance upon an industrial economy. 

Throughout the nineteenth century a growing number of tribal com¬ 

munities had come to terms with both the federal government and the on¬ 

rush of non-Indians who surrounded them. Some tribal peoples, such as 

the Five Southern Tribes in Oklahoma, had achieved at least a limited sov¬ 

ereignty, since they controlled certain facets of their political and eco¬ 

nomic lives. Other tribes, ensconced on reservations, were dependent 

upon the federal government for their economic well-being and were more 

subject to the whims of their local Indian agents. Those tribal people 

whose lives were most closely circumscribed by federal policies still main¬ 

tained a modicum of control over their personal lives, but within the reser¬ 

vation communities most Native Americans needed the permission of fed¬ 

eral officials if they wished to lease or sell their allotments, or even leave 

the physical confines of those reservations that remained extant. 

Within this milieu of dependency, federal officials, missionaries, and 

other agents of acculturation labored to transform the remaining Indian 

communities. Missionaries, reformers, and other “progressives” were 

convinced that the key to transforming Native American ways lay within 

the realm of education. If Indian children could be processed through a 

school system that championed the ideas and values of a middle-class 

American society, then they would absorb the ethos of their teachers and 

emerge as useful citizens of the United States. Moreover, they could then 

serve as models for their less acculturated kinsmen and accelerate the rate 

of change within the tribal communities. 

Not surprisingly, many of these initial graduates were Native Americans 

of mixed Indian-white lineage. Mixed-blood children often were products 

of families in which at least one parent already had some formal education; 

these families were more willing to enroll their children in the mission or 

government schools. In addition, because such families often were more 

familiar with the academic or vocational skills needed for success outside 

the reservation environment, they realized that a formal education could 

be utilized to either lead or defend the surviving Indian communities. It is 

not surprising, therefore, that many of the leaders featured in this volume 
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are individuals of mixed ancestry and that many are relatively well-ed¬ 

ucated, by both Native American and non-Indian standards. 

The missionaries and reformers who championed Native American ed¬ 

ucation at the beginning of the twentieth century would most certainly be 

surprised at the results of their efforts. As the following essays illustrate, 

most Native American leaders have utilized their formal “white” ed¬ 

ucation for Indian purposes. Although they have attended and/or gradu¬ 

ated from non-Indian educational institutions, they have taken the Crow 

chief Plenty Coups’s maxim to heart: “Education is your most powerful 

weapon. With education you are the white man’s equal, without it you are 

his victim.” Indeed it seems doubtful that few white educators or reform¬ 

ers would ever have envisioned Native American leaders such as Ada 

Deer, Walter Echo-Hawk, Phillip Martin, or Janine Pease Pretty-on-Top 

using their formal training to establish new institutions and policies to 

protect and strengthen the tribal communities and their resources from 

further infringement by the non-Indian world. Instead most white re¬ 

formers envisioned that well-educated and relatively acculturated Native 

Americans would quickly blend into the white “mainstream,” willingly 

relinquishing their Indian identity in return for the acceptance of their 

white peers. In one reformer’s words, the Indian of the twentieth century 

would “gladly lay aside his picturesque blanket and moccasin, and, clad in 

the panoply of American citizenship, seek his chances of fortune or loss in 

the stern battle of life with the Aryan races. 

The reformers’ prognostications were mistaken. Many Native Ameri¬ 

can people have joined the mainstream of American life, but almost all 

have proudly retained their Indian identity. Indeed, the evolution of such 

identity continues to be one of the most complex and controversial as¬ 

pects of Native American existence. In the twentieth century Indian iden¬ 

tity has manifested itself on several levels and has assumed different pa¬ 

rameters for different people, at different places, and at different times. 

Within the reservation communities at the beginning of the century, In¬ 

dian identity was equated with tribal identity, which in turn was well de¬ 

lineated through traditional systems of clan and family ties. If an individ¬ 

ual was a member of a Comanche family, the Comanches considered that 

person to be one of their own. He or she was part of the Comanche com¬ 

munity, was envisioned as “Comanche,” and therefore was also identified 

as an “Indian.” In other words, if the tribal community said you were a 

member of the tribe, you were a member of the tribe (and also considered 

Indian). Tribal membership and Indian identity were defined by kinship 

and tribal consensus. 
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During the twentieth century, federal enrollment procedures incorpo¬ 

rated into the Dawes Act have markedly altered these tribal definitions. 

Following the passage of the Dawes Act, federal agents entered the tribal 

communities and attempted to “enroll” or list all members of the tribe. In¬ 

itially, this procedure was designed to discover how many tribe members 

were extant and to ascertain their eligibility to receive allotments. Enroll¬ 

ment agents usually listed each individual’s “blood quantum,” or percent¬ 

age of biological Native American ancestry. Therefore, individual enroUees 

were listed as “full-blood,” “half-blood,” “one quarter,” “one-eighth,” and 

so on. In many cases the blood-quantum assessments were incorrect, but 

they became part of the “official roll” of the tribe. 

The enrollment criteria reflected the American fixation on defining 

“race” only in biological terms and completely ignored an individual’s ad¬ 

herence to, or rejection of, traditional tribal values. Ironically, in the twen¬ 

tieth century most tribal governments embraced the blood-quantum ra¬ 

tionale and used biological descent as the primary criteria for tribal 

membership. Most tribes now demand that all members be direct descen¬ 

dants of those individuals first enrolled on the allotment lists or other fed¬ 

eral census reports taken in the late nineteenth century. Although the per¬ 

centage of tribal ancestry necessary for modern tribal membership varies 

from tribe to tribe, the most widely utilized standard stipulates that the 

minimal biological ancestry be one-quarter or one-eighth, and that at 

least one parent should be enrolled in the tribe. 

This reliance upon biological descent offers some advantages, since it re¬ 

quires that tribal members produce legal documents (such as birth certifi¬ 

cates), which prove that they are entitled to tribal membership; however, 

it also raises serious questions regarding the parameters of modern tribal 

(and Native American) identity. Throughout the twentieth century Native 

Americans have increasingly intermarried with non-Indians, producing a 

growing population of “mixed-bloods” or people of Indian and non-Indian 

descent. Moreover, as some of these mixed-bloods or their descendants 

also marry non-Indians, their children and grandchildren’s tribal blood- 

quantum declines. Thus, regardless of their residency within, and accept¬ 

ance by, an established tribal community, they are no longer eligible for 

tribal enrollment. Ironically, in some cases, these individuals of limited 

blood-quantum may adhere to traditional tribal values much more closely 

than enrolled tribe members of a higher blood-quantum who no longer re¬ 

side within the tribal community or participate in its activities. 

Since the federal government provides certain limited services (the In¬ 

dian Health Service, and so on) only to members of recognized tribes, en- 
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rollment has been critical to one’s identity as an “official” Indian. More¬ 

over, within the past decade, as some tribal economic enterprises have 

prospered, tribal governments have carefully guarded the boundaries of 

tribal membership in order to protect tribal assets from being depleted by 

individuals who are eager to jump on the “buckskin bandwagon” for a 

share of gaming profits or other largesse but who have little claim to tribal 

membership. Nevertheless, many individuals of tribal descent who have 

no aspirations of using government services or of sharing tribal assets 

continue to personally identify themselves as members of specific tribes 

and as Native Americans, regardless of their lack of official enrollment. In 

addition, other tribal people, such as the Lumbees of North Carolina or 

the Mashpees of Cape Cod (Massachusetts) are members of tribes rec¬ 

ognized by a state government but not the federal government. 

This entanglement of federal, state, tribal, and personal claims and 

identities is further complicated by the question of an individual’s partic¬ 

ipation within a tribal community and adherence to a particular way of 

life. Obviously a federally enrolled member of a reservation community 

who has resided on the reservation all of his or her life and who is an ac¬ 

tive participant in that community’s activities, is certainly a bona fide 

member of the tribe and an Indian. But as the twentieth century pro¬ 

gressed, a diminishing percentage of Native Americans were able to meet 

such standards. During the last two decades of the century, almost half of 

the Native American population lived in large metropolitan regions, often 

far removed from the tribal communities on reservations or old home¬ 

lands. Many of these individuals still proudly identify themselves as tribal 

members, and they periodically return to the reservation communities to 

renew old family and ceremonial obligations, but they have spent or will 

spend decades apart from these communities. Moreover, although many 

urban Native American parents have taken special pains to regularly take 

their children back to the reservation, many of them will grow up in ur¬ 

ban environments far removed from reservation life. Consequently, if ad¬ 

herence to a particular ceremonialism or value system is critical to tribal 

identity, what does the future hold for Native Americans separated from 

the wellsprings of such traditions? 

To combat this seeming inevitability, some urban-dwelling Native 

American people have joined together to form urban Indian communities 

particularly adapted to city life. These urban Indians still retain their tribal 

ties, but they often face issues different from the ones that confront their 

relatives back on the reservations. They have banded together in urban in¬ 

tertribal organizations designed to address the particular problems of life 
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in the city. It is from these urban Native American communities that activ¬ 

ist organizations such as the American Indian Movement (aim) originated. 

Maintaining one’s identity and ties with a tribal community sometimes 

has been difficult for Native American leaders in the twentieth century. 

Obviously, leaders such as Robert Yellowtail, Howard Tommie, and Phil¬ 

lip Martin, who have focused their efforts on improving the lives of 

people within their reservations, have retained close ties to their com¬ 

munities and are identified primarily as tribal leaders. They are consid¬ 

ered to be Crow, Seminole, or Mississippi Choctaw leaders: individuals 

closely associated with their respective tribes. By contrast, other individ¬ 

uals featured in this volume (such as D’Arcy McNickle, Gertrude Bonnin, 

and Ben Nighthorse Campbell) are leaders whose efforts have been waged 

on the national level. Unlike the tribal leaders whose achievements are 

initiated at the grassroots level and then transcend their local reservations 

to provide benefits or examples to other tribal communities, the national 

leaders have initiated much of their efforts at the national level, and the 

results of their actions are then applied to the local reservation communi¬ 

ties. Both types of leaders have made significant contributions to Native 

American people, but since national leaders wage their battles in Wash¬ 

ington or other venues far removed from the reservation communities, 

they have found it difficult to maintain close ties to their tribes. In con¬ 

trast to Yellowtail, Tommie, or Martin, national leaders are usually identi¬ 

fied (at least by non-Indians) first as “Native American” or “Indian,” and 

second by their tribal affiliation. 

Regardless of their primary identification, almost all the individuals 

discussed in this volume have fought to maintain and expand the sov¬ 

ereignty of the tribes. Tribal sovereignty, which is the ability of a tribal 

community to control its own political, social, economic, and religious 

life, has increased during the twentieth century. Prior to the 1930s few In¬ 

dian agents, reformers, or Native Americans would have envisioned tribal 

councils essentially governing and policing reservation lands, negotiating 

their own contracts with outside businesses or agencies, maintaining 

their own legal staffs, and administering the broad spectrum of economic 

programs and policies that recently have developed within the communi¬ 

ties. Moreover, Native American control over indigenous (and adopted) 

religious ceremonies has also increased, as have tribal claims and hegem¬ 

ony over the sites of graves and over skeletal remains, sacred objects, and 

other culturally significant items. Tribal governments now administer 

many of the services once provided by the Bureau of Indian Affairs (bia), 

or sponsor tribal school systems and colleges whose curricula are de- 
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signed to meet the specific needs of the tribal communities. Although im¬ 

provements still need to be made, life expectancy and per capita income 

within many of the communities has significantly increased. 

Some of this “progress” may have come at a price. Traditional, clan- 

based tribal councils whose decisions were made only after lengthy debate 

and a general consensus have been replaced by federally designed, dem¬ 

ocratically elected councils or tribal business committees whose decisions 

have spurred the resentment of more traditional tribespeople and have ag¬ 

gravated tribal politics. Economic development has been uneven, and the 

material wealth it has engendered sometimes has upset the harmony of 

tribal life. Native American leaders have been hard-pressed to provide the 

economic resources and training necessary to allow their people to com¬ 

pete in a twentieth-century world while protecting those things that ena¬ 

ble them to retain their unique Indian way of life. Moreover, both Indian 

people and tribal governments still have an ongoing, continued relation¬ 

ship with the federal government. Very few Native Americans wish to see 

that relationship terminated. Thus tribal leaders have been forced to walk 

a very fine line between negotiating with the government to ensure that 

federal services are continued, and becoming a part of the very bureau¬ 

cracy with which they are negotiating. And finally, during the last third of 

the twentieth century, as the rural reservation communities have become 

less isolated, they have been inundated by a cultural invasion creating 

changes that will unquestionably alter the parameters and quality of Na¬ 

tive American life. Bombarded by radio, television, video games, and the 

Web, young Native Americans now are exposed to a spectrum of ed¬ 

ucational and entertainment offerings undreamed of by their grandpar¬ 

ents. Channeling this new technology and the changes it will bring for the 

general benefit of their people may emerge as one of the greatest chal¬ 

lenges for Native American leaders in the years to come. 

The chapters in this volume generally address Native American leaders 

who have focused upon political or economic issues. Although Vine V. 

Deloria Sr. and Janine Pease Pretty-on-Top have been recognized for then- 

contributions in the areas of religion and education, their efforts also have 

markedly influenced the political and economic climate in their tribes. 

Obviously, there are other Native American leaders worthy of inclusion in 

this volume. Since this volume concentrates on politics and economics, it 

does not include Native Americans who have excelled in literature, the 

arts, or athletics. Moreover, there are many individuals within the local 

communities who are highly esteemed by their friends and families and 

who have spent their lives as religious leaders, counselors, or resource 
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people whose knowledge of tribal traditions is treasured by all who know 

them. These people, often known only to members of their immediate 

community, are also worthy of our respect. They are the elders to whom 

people turn with their daily problems, and they often form the warp in 

the fabric of local communities. Many are unsung heroes, but others re¬ 

cently have been featured in the University of Nebraska Press’s American 

Indian Lives series. Their lives also teach us much about Indian leadership. 

Of all the Native Americans featured in the volume, Charles Curtis proba¬ 

bly would have given the late-nineteenth-century reformers the most sat¬ 

isfaction. As William Unrau illustrates, Curtis seemed to epitomize the 

ideal acculturation model at the beginning of the twentieth century. Of 

mixed Kaw-white lineage, Curtis was a product of frontier Kansas, re¬ 

ceived some formal education, and was first reared by a strict Protestant 

grandmother determined to wean him from both his tribal past and his 

Catholic faith. When Curtis was six years old he lived for two years with 

his dead mother’s relatives on the Kaw reservation before returning to 

Topeka. He briefly rejoined the reservation community when he was four¬ 

teen, but left when the Kaw tribe was removed to Oklahoma. In Topeka, 

Curtis first entered business and then politics, where he capitalized on his 

tribal heritage and his image as a “self-made man” and “progressive 

Indian.” Elected first to Congress, then to the Senate, he sponsored the 

nefarious “Curtis Act,” which eventually allotted the lands of the Five 

Southern Tribes, abolished their tribal governments, decimated tribal 

sovereignty, and opened their former reservations to white exploitation. 

Curtis’s biography has been included in this volume because it provides 

an interesting case study in Native American identity. Although he was an 

enrolled member of the Kaw tribe, Curtis’s identification with the white 

power structure and his subscription to its value system raise serious 

questions about his identity. As William Unrau points out, Charles Curtis 

was Kaw by birth, but whether he was either Kaw or Native American in 

spirit after 1890 remains open to question. 

If Gertrude Bonnin had problems with her Indian identity, they were of 

a different sort. Also of mixed ancestry, Bonnin was born on the Yankton 

Reservation in South Dakota, spent six years in a boarding school, and en¬ 

rolled in Earlham College in Indiana. Following college, she taught at Car¬ 

lisle Indian School, published a series of essays, and moved to Boston 

where she met and was temporarily engaged to Carlos Montezuma, a Ya¬ 

vapai physician and Indian activist. When Bonnin refused to relocate with 

Montezuma to Chicago, the engagement was broken. 
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In contrast to Charles Curtis, Bonnin championed her Yankton and 

Native American identity, preferred to be known by her Yankton name, 

Zitkala-§a, and even denied that her father was a non-Indian. Although she 

spent most of her life away from the Yankton Reservation, Bonnin identi¬ 

fied so strongly with the Dakota people that she defined “being Indian” in 

Sioux terms. Deborah Welch indicates that Bonnin’s chauvinism debil¬ 

itated the pan-Indian causes that she espoused, but Bonnin provides an in¬ 

teresting case study of the contradictions found among many Native 

American activists during the first quarter of the twentieth century. More¬ 

over, she exemplifies a pattern of Native American leadership that has 

flowered in the second half of the twentieth century: dedicated and highly 

motivated Indian women who have risen to positions of prominence 

within their tribes and as members of a larger, pan-Indian community. 

Questions of tribal or Native American identity were never an issue for 

Robert YeUowtail. Unhke Curtis and Bonnin, Yellowtail spent almost all of 

his life on the Crow Reservation in Montana. Although he was educated 

within the boarding school system, Yellowtail used his training and his 

skiU as an orator to emerge as a leading tribal spokesman, and then served 

as the bia’s superintendent of the Crow Reservation. As historians Tim 

Bernardis and Frederick Hoxie indicate, Yellowtail’s career provides a 

good example of how intelligent and adaptive tribal leaders have been able 

to work within the system, using positions of authority vested by the fed¬ 

eral government to increase tribal sovereignty and protect their reserva¬ 

tion and its resources from exploitation. Tribal leaders who become part of 

the federal bureaucracy are often objects of suspicion by members of their 

community, but Yellowtail was able to balance the opposing interests of 

the government and the Crows, and by remaining within the system he at¬ 

tempted to protect his people from its abuses. 

Philip Deloria’s essay indicates that his grandfather utilized traditional 

patterns of Sioux culture to serve his people in South Dakota. As most 

Sioux people are aware, holy men or influential religious figures have al¬ 

ways exercised considerable power within Sioux society. Although non-In¬ 

dians usually have portrayed Crazy Horse and Sitting Bull primarily as war 

chiefs or political leaders, during their lifetime their kinsmen respected 

them more as holy men, possessors of powerful medicine that they used 

for the good of the people. Indeed, they did exercise considerable political 

influence, but the basis of that power was their spirituality. 

Vine V. Deloria Sr. also combined religious and political power to assist 

the Sioux people. Ordained as a deacon in the Episcopal Church, he spent 

most of his adult life using his position of religious leadership to strength- 
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en and stabilize Native American communities in South Dakota. An ener¬ 

getic advocate of the social gospel, Deloria established a series of religious 

or social organizations that added cohesion to the reservation communi¬ 

ties and resembled the ceremonial societies that were part of Dakota cul¬ 

ture during the prereservation era. Moreover, his utilization of consensual 

decision making appealed to the Dakota people, although it sometimes 

engendered criticism from his superiors in the church. He labored to 

build bridges between the Indian and white worlds, but his (unsuccessful) 

efforts to champion a distinct cadre of Indian clergy reflect his commit¬ 

ment to the retention of a separate and distinct “Indian” identity. Deloria 

spent his adult life as an Episcopal priest, but he remained an Indian. 

D’Arcy McNickle’s identity seems to be more complicated. The con¬ 

summate Native American intellectual, McNickle was born on the Flat- 

head Reservation in Montana, but was not raised within a tribal com¬ 

munity. As a young man he studied in England and in Paris before settling 

in New York, where he worked part-time jobs while writing The Sur¬ 

rounded, an autobiographical novel about a young mixed-blood man who 

flees a reservation in Montana only to return and become enmeshed in 

the tragedies of reservation life. 

Essayist Dorothy Parker argues that McNickle’s efforts to compose, re¬ 

fine, and publish his work markedly strengthened his Native American 

identity and was instrumental is his decision to seek employment with 

the BiA in Washington. Yet McNickle became suspicious of bia paternal¬ 

ism, left the BIA, and spent the rest of his life sponsoring or directing 

other organizations that fostered education and leadership among 

younger Native Americans. Well known among American intellectuals, 

McNickle’s ties to his own reservation, and other reservations, were tenu¬ 

ous. His efforts fostered the growth of pan-Indian causes and influenced 

federal Indian policy, but he seems to have been more comfortable associ¬ 

ating with other Native American intellectuals than with reservation 

communities. His identity may have been more “Indian” than tribal. 

LaDonna Harris also has spent much of her life attempting to influence 

federal Indian policy. Utilizing her access to prominent political figures, 

Harris has worked as an “insider” attempting to focus the government’s 

attention on the needs of Native Americans people. As historian Gary An¬ 

derson illustrates, Harris was heavily influenced by her close association 

with leading Democratic politicians during the Kennedy and Johnson ad¬ 

ministrations, and she has worked hard to guarantee that Indian people 

have access to the state and federal programs and services to which they 

are entitled. 
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Harris’s public career offers some similarities but also some stark con¬ 

trasts to that of Charles Curtis. Both are of mixed-lineage and were born 

in or near reservation communities. Both achieved considerable influence 

within the power structure in Washington. Yet unlike Curtis, Harris re¬ 

tained her roots in her state and tribal communities and used her in¬ 

fluence specifically to meet the needs of tribal people. She remains a 

highly successful, sophisticated Native American woman, but regardless 

of her years in Washington, she remains an Indian. 

Russell Means’s leadership also flowered in the late 1960s and 1970s, but 

it followed a different path. Although he was born on the Pine Ridge Indian 

Reservation in South Dakota, Means grew up in California, is a product of 

an urban Indian environment, and exemplifies many of the Native Ameri¬ 

can activists who emerged during the turbulent 1960s and 1970s. A gradu¬ 

ate of “the school of hard knocks,” the charismatic Means rose through 

the ranks of aim and played a leading role in aim’s confrontations with 

government officials during this period. Raymond Wilson demonstrates 

that Means’s leadership was based on a “Red Power” or national identity, 

rather than within his tribal affiliation. Although aim’s leadership has 

fragmented, and confrontational Indian activism has declined, Wilson 

argues persuasively that Means and aim played a major role in raising the 

political consciousness of younger Native Americans and in focusing the 

public’s attention upon many of the issues facing Indian people. Wilson 

also demonstrates that Means’s career has remained controversial and that 

he has engendered considerable criticism from other Native American 

leaders, particularly because of his participation in films and television 

productions. Despite the criticism, he remains one of the most widely rec¬ 

ognized Native American leaders, and his career continues. 

Like Russell Means, Wilma Mankiller was born in an Indian com¬ 

munity on the fringe of the Great Plains, and her family also moved to 

California. Mankiller also came of age in an urban California environ¬ 

ment, became an activist during the 1960s, and assisted in the occupation 

of Alcatraz. But in 1977 she returned to Oklahoma where she applied her 

grassroots activism within the Cherokee Nation, entered tribal politics, 

and eventually emerged as the elected chief of the tribe. 

Historian Brad Agnew argues that Mankiller’s leadership initially fo¬ 

cused on a broad spectrum of social problems, particularly housing, 

health care, and other social services. Her labors in improving such con¬ 

ditions among the Oklahoma Cherokees brought her considerable media 

coverage, which she then used to champion Native American causes on 

both the state and national levels. Mankiller’s identity and political power 
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remain based within the Cherokee Nation, but her career illustrates how 

successful tribal leaders can transcend tribal boundaries to emerge as na¬ 

tional leaders. Agnew also indicates that Mankiller’s administration has 

not been without controversy, and her critics have charged that she has 

been more successful in promoting social services than economic devel¬ 

opment. But her forceful leadership has provided a viable model for other 

Native American women and she has proven that strong, effective leader¬ 

ship transcends gender lines. Moreover, her promotions of Cherokee 

tribal controls over gaming and taxation have strengthened the Cherokee 

Nation’s political sovereignty, sometimes at the expense of other Chero¬ 

kee bands. Mankiller has emerged as the most widely recognized female 

Indian leader of the last quarter of the twentieth century. 

Howard Tommie also has been successful in strengthening tribal 

government and expanding tribal sovereignty. Born and raised on the 

Seminole reservation in Florida, Tommie gained valuable experience di¬ 

recting the Seminole’s Neighborhood Youth Corps and in 1971 was elected 

chairman of the Seminole tribal council. Harry Kersey perceptively argues 

that the passage of the Indian Self-Determination Act in 1975 enabled 

Tommie to shrewdly bypass the bia and use tribal agencies to administer 

federal funds made available through the War on Poverty. Consequently 

the Seminole tribal government markedly expanded its role, and Tom¬ 

mie’s administration established the Human Resources Division, which 

oversaw many of the social, educational, and medical programs pre¬ 

viously managed by the bia. 

Tommie pushed the envelope of tribal sovereignty even further. Since 

tribal lands are not subject to state taxation, Tommie’s administration 

championed Seminole “smoke shops,” which sold “tax-free” cigarettes at 

lower prices than those of non-Indian merchants, and established “high- 

stakes” bingo halls that attracted large numbers of non-Indians to the res¬ 

ervation. Of course such entrepreneurship engendered criticism, both 

from within the Seminole community and from state and local politicians 

in Florida, and Tommie’s gains in personal income amid this general eco¬ 

nomic growth has raised some eyebrows, but most Seminoles have pros¬ 

pered during his administration. Though his efforts have focused almost 

entirely upon the Seminoles, his success has paved the way for similar 

economic enterprises among many other tribes. 

Like Tommie, Phillip Martin also is a tribal leader, but as historians 

Benton and Christine Schulz White illustrate, he has taken Native Ameri¬ 

can entrepreneurship even further. Born and raised amidst the poverty of 

the Mississippi Choctaw Reservation, Martin enlisted in the U.S. Air 
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Force. He then returned to Mississippi, entered tribal politics, and in 1959 

was elected chairman of the Choctaw Tribal Council. Martin believed that 

the Choctaws future initially lay in the development of reservation-based 

industry, not in smoke shops or gaming. Following Martin’s leadership, 

the Choctaws established a tribal “enterprise zone” and lured outside in¬ 

dustries to the reservation with offers of low taxes, inexpensive labor, and 

legal benefits. Martin was even willing to adopt non-Indian labor prac¬ 

tices to ensure these industries’ prosperity, and after an initial period of 

languor, the venture became very successful. Under Martin’s leadership, 

the Choctaw industrial complex expanded and now employs considerable 

numbers of non-Indians in addition to Choctaws. 

Martin has been criticized for emphasizing economic development 

over social services and for encouraging his kinsmen to join an industrial 

economy, since participation in these activities stands in marked contrast 

to the slower, more traditional Choctaw way of life. Yet funds generated 

by the economic growth enable tribal schools and a tribal television sta¬ 

tion to offer courses in Choctaw language and culture. Moreover, as the 

authors point out. Native American cultures, like all cultures, continually 

evolve. They are not fixed in stone. 

Since Ada Deer’s leadership is so multifaceted, it’s much more difficult 

to characterize. Of mixed-lineage, she is well educated, and has worked as 

a social worker, college professor, and tribal administrator, and has been a 

candidate for Congress. She was born in, and retains strong ties to a reser¬ 

vation community, but has spent most of her adult life in an urban setting. 

Yet as Clara Sue Kidwell indicates. Deer has functioned effectively as an 

“outsider” and an “insider” in both tribal and federal environments and 

has provided leadership at both the tribal and national levels. As a Me¬ 

nominee activist she led the fight for Menominee restoration. Later, as 

chair of the Restoration Committee, she mediated the disputes among the 

BiA, the state of Wisconsin, and the Menominee Warrior Society. As a 

member of the American Indian Policy Review Commission she cham¬ 

pioned tribal sovereignty, and as the first female assistant secretary of In¬ 

dian Affairs she continued to use her position as a member of the Clinton 

administration to support important amendments to both the American 

Indian Religious Freedom Act, and the Indian Self-Determination and Ed¬ 

ucational Assistance Act. Deer remains a viable member of the Menomi¬ 

nee community, and her national stature has enabled her to serve as a role 

model for young Indian women across the United States. More than any 

other Native American leader of the twentieth century, she has bridged 

the gap between reservation and “mainstream” life. 
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Ben Nighthorse Campbell’s ties to a reservation community are more 

tenuous. Born in 1933 near Sacramento, California, Campbell has always 

been proud of his Native American ancestry, but had no opportunity to 

visit the Northern Cheyenne reservation as a child. Campbell’s Native 

American identity strengthened as he matured, and he was officially en¬ 

rolled into the Northern Cheyenne tribe in 1980. He remains the sole In¬ 

dian voice in the United States Senate. Donald Fixico points out that 

Campbell’s support of Native American causes has been tempered by his 

transcendence of solely Indian issues; Campbell also has championed leg¬ 

islation supporting small business and the environment. Still, Campbell 

generally has supported the expansion of tribal economic and political 

sovereignty, although he has been reluctant to endorse gaming as an eco¬ 

nomic panacea for Native American communities. Campbell remains a 

complex figure—a Native American leader with significant influence on 

Capitol Hill, but a leader who continues to chart his own course. He re¬ 

fuses to adhere to any political or ideological line within either the greater 

Indian community or the halls of Congress. 

Janine Pease Pretty-on-Top also was born and raised away from her 

tribal reservation, but she was able to maintain her ties to the Crow com¬ 

munity. Unlike the other leaders in this volume, Pretty-on-Top’s primary 

contribution has been in the field of education, and she epitomizes the 

best of those Native American educators who have spearheaded the 

growth and development of tribal colleges. As Douglas Nelson and Jeremy 

Johnston illustrate. Little Big Horn College, under Pretty-on-Top’s guid¬ 

ance, has emerged as a leading institution among tribal colleges. It pro¬ 

vides its students with skills both to meet the needs of local markets and 

to attend other institutions of higher education. The college also has be¬ 

come a repository of tribal traditions, a place where Crow scholars can 

enrich their sense of tribal culture and identity. Pretty-on-Top’s role in 

building this institution has attracted the admiration of the Crow com¬ 

munity and has placed her in the foremost ranks of Native American ed¬ 

ucators across the United States. Similar to Wilma Mankiller and Ada 

Deer, she functions as both a leading figure within her tribe and as a Na¬ 

tive American woman of considerable national prominence. 

In the nineteenth century many tribes had warrior societies dedicated 

to protecting their people and their homelands. Today such societies still 

function, but their warriors are armed with briefcases rather than trade 

muskets. As John Wunder points out, Walter Echo-Hawk is one of those 

legal warriors, and his society is the Native American Rights Fund (narf). 
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Although Echo-Hawk was born in the Indian Health Service hospital 

near Pawnee, Oklahoma, and retains his ties to the Pawnee people, he is a 

Native American leader whose prominence rests upon his leadership at 

the national level. Obviously, the demands of the profession have forced 

Echo-Hawk and other narf attorneys to reside in urban areas, often far re¬ 

moved from the reservation communities, but their involvement in issues 

that affect these communities both enables and forces them to remain at¬ 

tuned to the political, economic, and social climates of the reservations. 

Moreover, in the final decades of the twentieth century, Echo-Hawk and 

other legal warriors emerged as the foremost defenders of Native Ameri¬ 

can rights. Armed with legal expertise, they are protecting and expanding 

Native American sovereignty in the courtroom and in the halls of Con¬ 

gress. Sometimes these contests have been protracted, and Echo-Hawk 

and his colleagues have not always been successful, but they have counted 

many coups. The struggle continues. 

In conclusion, the Native American leaders featured in this volume per¬ 

sisted in their efforts to help their people adjust to the changes of the 

twentieth century. Like Indian people throughout the United States, some 

of these leaders have been forced to forge a personal identity amidst pres¬ 

sures and conditions much different from those faced by their predeces¬ 

sors. Yet many of the old challenges endure. Like tribal leaders in the past, 

most of these twentieth-century warriors developed and employed a se¬ 

ries of strategies to strengthen and defend tribal sovereignty, retain Native 

American identity, and protect Native American rights. Some retained 

close ties to their tribes and focused their efforts on the reservation com¬ 

munities; others fought their battles at the state or national level. Many 

are of mixed lineage; some are well educated. And finally, like the tribes in 

which they are enrolled, the individuals discussed in these essays have dif¬ 

fering opinions about what “being Indian” entails, but they all were, or 

are, proud to be Indian. 

Note 

1. Little Big Horn College Catalog, 1997-1999 (Crow Agency mt: Little Big Horn Col¬ 
lege, 1997), iii; Phillip Garrett, “Indian Citizenship,” Proceedings of the Fourth An¬ 

nual Lake Mohonk Conference, quoted m Americanizing the American Indians: Writings 

hy the “Friends of the Indian,” 1880-1890, edited by Francis Paul Prucha (Cambridge: 

Harvard University Press, 1973), 65. 





Charles Curtis 

‘Kaw 

BY WILLIAM E. UNRAU 

Few Indians who rose to national prominence were born in a more unset¬ 

tled political and social environment than Charles Curtis, a mixed-blood 

member of the Kaw (or Kansa) tribe.^ Born on 25 January i860, in Eugene 

(North Topeka), Kansas Territory, to Ellen Pappan Curtis, a quarter-blood 

Kaw and Oren A. Curtis, a non-Indian, Curtis was raised in a setting 

where outbursts of violence over slavery and the political future of what is 

now Kansas prompted eastern journalists and politicians to call the terri¬ 

tory “Bleeding Kansas.” That tension, followed by a striking growth in the 

Kansas economy during and after the Civil War and a burgeoning of the 

Kansas Republican Party in the wake of statehood (29 January 1861), 

would have a dramatic influence on the development of Charles Curtis’s 

social, pohtical, and economic values. 

Since the mid-i830s, the area west of Missouri had been a focal point of 

the government’s policy of tribal concentration, and after the passage of 

the Kansas-Nebraska Act in 1854, Kansas emerged as a region of brazen 

exploitation where white farmers, land speculators, railroad corpora¬ 

tions, town promoters, and myriad squatters of diverse political persua¬ 

sions contested for control of the region in defiance of federal law.^ Such 

lawlessness also loomed in the education and acculturation of the young 

mixed-blood, whose family had been leading members of the Kaw tribe 

from its earliest recorded contacts with white Americans.^ 

Centuries before, when Europeans first arrived in the Western Hemi¬ 

sphere, Curtis’s Kaw forebears resided in the lower Ohio Valley and were 

part of a Hopewellian group ethnologists have termed the Dhegihan- 

Siouans. Also included in this group were relatives of the modern Omaha, 

Osage, Ponca, and Quapaw tribes. Sometime prior to 1673—the year Pere 

Jacques Marquette recorded the Dhegian-Siouan presence west of the 

Mississippi River—the Quapaws moved down the Mississippi while the 
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other tribes journeyed to the mouth of the Missouri and then up that river 

where further divisions took place between present St. Louis and Kansas 

City. The Omahas and the Poncas established their villages in southeast¬ 

ern Nebraska; the Osages traveled up the Osage River to modern Vernon 

County, Missouri. 

The Raws took the middle road to the mouth of the Kansas River (near 

the present site of Kansas City) and then west up the Kansas Valley until 

the Pawnees turned them back at the mouth of the Blue River. By the time 

the United States had purchased the area from France in 1803, Curtis’s 

distant relatives claimed roughly the northern three-fifths of future Kan¬ 

sas as their domain, a claim that was officially recognized by the United 

States in the Kansa (Kaw) Treaty of 1825. 

That same treaty reduced the Kaw domain from twenty million acres to 

an area less than half that amount west of the future site of North Topeka. 

The treaty also included an article that granted 640-acre sections in fee 

simple to each of the twenty-three half-bloods of the Kaw tribe—one of 

whom was Curtis’s maternal grandmother, Julie Gonville Pappan. The 

government justified the provision on grounds that the owners of these 

half-blood tracts would abandon gardening and hunting in favor of com¬ 

mercial agriculture and thus serve as models for their less acculturated 

kinsmen. This proved not to be the case. In fact the agreement was divi¬ 

sive in the extreme. Most of the half-bloods were minors who in 1825 did 

not reside on the tribal reservation west of North Topeka. In fact these 

fertile and well-timbered tracts along the Kansas River became the objects 

of intense speculation by white land-jobbers and provided the future vice 

president with good reason to question supposed harmonious relations 

between Indians and non-Indians in Indian Country. 

Curtis was aware that his own family reflected a blending of ethnic, 

tribal, and religious diversity common to the American frontier. Curtis’s 

great-great-grandfather. White Plume (Nompawarah), whom he later de¬ 

scribed as “one of the ablest and most progressive Indians of his day,”4 

was one of the leading chiefs who signed the Kansa Treaty. In about 1800 

White Plume married a daughter of Pawhuska, the celebrated Osage 

chief, and their union produced several children. One of White Plume’s 

daughters, Wyhesse (Waisjasi), married Louis Gonville, a French-Cana- 

dian fur trader from St. Louis; their marriage was confirmed in a Catholic 

ceremony in late 1817 or early 1818. Julie, a daughter born to this union, 

married Louis Pappan, a fur trader from St. Louis who with his brother 

Joseph (who married Julie’s sister Josette) established a ferry service on 

the Kansas River at the site of future Topeka. There, in 1840, Charles Cur- 
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tis’s mother was born in a log cabin situated on “Kaw Mile Three,” the al¬ 

lotment that the Treaty of 1825 granted her sister Josette. 

Whether by her own decision or that of her parents, young Ellen was 

sent to a Catholic convent in St. Louis. But as she approached legal ma¬ 

turity her interest in the 640-acre tract granted to her mother in 1825 

prompted her to return to Kansas Territory, where in 1859 she married 

Oren A. Curtis, an emigrant from Eugene, Indiana, who had secured em¬ 

ployment in her father’s ferry business at North Topeka. 

On 25 January i860, the future vice president of the United States was 

born in a crude cabin on his grandmother’s allotment. The young Curtis 

received Catholic baptism at St. Mary’s Immaculate Conception Church 

on the nearby Potawatomi reservation. During the next three years Ellen 

raised Curtis and taught him English and French, since she had received 

training in the latter while in the convent in St. Louis. Evidence suggests 

that Curtis’s parents intended to raise their son at their home near mod¬ 

ern Topeka, well removed from the traditional culture of his blood rel¬ 

atives on the Kaw reservation some sixty miles to the west. 

But in 1863 Charles’s mother died, and his father faced the unexpected 

task of raising the young boy alone. Moreover, shortly following his wife’s 

death, Oren Curtis obtained an appointment in the Union Army in Kan¬ 

sas, and his duties as an officer required that he be absent from his home. 

Oren Curtis placed Charles with his parents, William and Permelia Hub¬ 

bard Curtis, who had followed their son from Indiana to Kansas. William 

Hubbard soon became involved in attempts to promote the development 

of a town on the Pappan family’s allotment, while his wife—a stern home¬ 

maker who believed that “being Methodist and a Republican [were] es¬ 

sential for anyone expected to go to heaven”—saw to it that young Charles 

was diverted from “pagan Indian culture and the Catholic heresy” of his 

deceased mother in favor of Methodist doctrine and Republican Party 

ideals so fashionable in Kansas during and after the Civil War.5 

Three years later, in 1866, Charley (as he was now called) was sent to 

live with his maternal grandmother on the Kaw reservation, near Council 

Grove. Talk of a Kaw removal treaty and final settlement of land claims in 

Kansas offered the possibility of financial disbursements to individual 

tribal members living on the reservation. It is possible that Julie Pappan 

was determined to have her grandson share in the bounty if in fact a treaty 

was negotiated. There is the possibility also that Julie was opposed to the 

rigid social and religious values of Permelia Curtis and wanted Charley to 

learn more about his Indian heritage. In any case, the young mixed- 

blood’s environment at Council Grove was more relaxed and certainly in 
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dire contrast to the stern will and rigid Methodism of his white grand¬ 

mother in Topeka. 

Life for young boys on the Kaw reservation was a mixture of leisure ac¬ 

tivities such as fishing, foot-racing, and horseback riding, coupled with 

more serious endeavors such as hunting with bow and arrow or with a 

lance, and preparing for the vision-quest that would signify advancement 

from adolescence to manhood. Charley adjusted well to reservation life 

and quickly displayed unusual skill in horseback riding—a skill that he 

soon put to practical purpose in the burgeoning horse-racing business of 

frontier Kansas. By all accounts, Charley enjoyed his life with his maternal 

grandmother but his residency on the Kaw reservation was cut short by 

old tribal quarrels that originated long before Charlie had been born. 

For more than half a century relations between the Kaws and the 

Southern Cheyennes and Arapahos had deteriorated, mainly over the 

dwindling bison supply on the high plains of western Kansas. In the 

winter of 1866 the Cheyennes stole forty-two horses from a Kaw hunting 

party on the upper Arkansas, and following a murder of a Kaw herder at a 

buffalo camp near Fort Zarah a year later, the Kaws attacked a Cheyenne 

encampment, killing fourteen and losing only one of their own. The death 

of sixty starving Kaw warriors in bitterly cold weather during the retreat 

back to Council Grove severely depleted the Kaw’s military strength and 

led to a near panic in the Kaw villages, particularly when it was rumored 

that the Cheyennes were planning a counterattack on the reservation at 

Council Grove. The “attack” came on 3 June 1868, when approximately 

one hundred Southern Cheyennes fired a few scattered shots at the Kaw 

Agency Headquarters. No one was killed or injured; the entire affair lasted 

less than four hours. The Cheyennes gained some booty from outlying 

white farms but had to pay for it out of annuities granted them in the 

Medicine Lodge Treaty of 1867. 

Like other young boys on the reservation, Charley was unaware of the 

events leading up to the attack. For him the minor attack was a harrowing 

experience; in later years he never wearied of relating the trying circum¬ 

stances under which he returned to the home of his paternal grandparents 

in Topeka. There were many variations to his story,® but the high points 

were that because he could speak good English, because he was an expert 

runner, and because his people were besieged on their reservation (no 

horses were available for the journey to Topeka), the chief of the Kaws en¬ 

trusted him with the responsibility of seeking help from the white man 

some sixty miles to the east. But the facts are that, under orders from Kaw 

Indian agent E. S. Stover and tribal leaders, Charley made the journey to 
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Topeka accompanied by Little Chief Joe Jim (Kyhegashinga), who served 

as the government interpreter for the Kaws and who was a trusted friend 

of Charley’s Indian grandmother. 

Charley never returned to the Kaw reservation and, so far as is known, 

had few contacts with Indians until elected to Congress in 1892. Once 

again he took up residence with his white grandparents—this time in the 

hamlet of Eugene (soon to be renamed North Topeka), located on a parcel 

of Kaw half-blood land William Curtis had only recently purchased from 

Julie Pappan. The town site was on the proposed route of the Union Pa¬ 

cific, Eastern Division Railroad, directly across the Kansas River from 

Topeka proper, where William Curtis also built a hotel, saloon, livery sta¬ 

ble, and racetrack. The track became a popular attraction, especially for 

young Charley, who with not a little experience riding Indian ponies on 

the Council Grove reservation soon became an expert jockey. In fact, by 

the early 1870s he was winning more than his share of races at county fairs 

in Kansas, Texas, and the Indian Territory, and seemed content to live out 

his life near his paternal grandparents in Topeka. 

In 1872 the Kaws relinquished their 250,000-acre reservation near 

Council Grove in exchange for a 100,000-acre tract in Indian Territory, 

just south of the Kansas border. In the following year most of the Kaws 

from the Council Grove reservation moved to their new lands, which 

were located at the confluence of Beaver Creek and the Arkansas River. 

Charley’s name remained on the tribal roll, and in 1874 members of the 

Kaw tribe contacted him, asking him to also move to the new reservation. 

Charley refused. During the previous fall (1873) he had enrolled at Topeka 

High School. Moreover, he continued to ride in horse races at county fairs 

on weekends, and he enjoyed both the races and the prize money that he 

won. 

Yet other factors also kept him in Kansas. In 1873 his grandfather, Wil¬ 

liam Curtis, died suddenly and Charley was forced to help support his 

grandmother. To augment her income he sold apples and peanuts at the 

North Topeka railroad station, and worked as a hack driver and book¬ 

keeper in the evening and on weekends during the winter. During the 

summer of 1874 he returned to the racetrack, mainly in eastern Kansas, 

Council Grove, and Wichita. Then came what Curtis termed a pivotal 

event in his life, one that by his own admission loomed large in his devel¬ 

opment as an American and an Indian. 

In the fall of 1874, accompanied by several other tribal members, Louis 

and Julie Pappan journeyed to Topeka to visit their grandson as well as 

other friends and relatives residing on the nearby Potawatomi reserva- 
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tion. Disheartened by his labors as a depot vender, hack driver, and book¬ 

keeper, Charlie remembered his carefree days among the Raws on the old 

Council Grove reservation and listened longingly to descriptions of life on 

the new lands in Indian Territory. In addition, Curtis later recalled that 

“the men folks of the tribe induced me to go to their reservation,” re¬ 

minding him that “under an old treaty provision the government was is¬ 

suing free rations to all members of the tribe. 

Envisioning a life free from some of the responsibilities that now 

seemed to overwhelm him, the fourteen-year-old Curtis packed his few 

belonging in a flour sack, saddled his brown mare, and without even stop¬ 

ping to consult with his grandmother he left home and rode to Six Mile 

Creek, south of Topeka, where the Raws were camped while visiting their 

relatives. But there his other grandmother intervened. As in most tribal 

societies, grandmothers are respected and revered for their wisdom. Julie 

Pappan called Charley to her wagon and asked him why he wanted to re¬ 

join the tribe. When Charley recounted that the Raw men who were part 

of the visiting party had admonished him for remaining in Topeka, his 

grandmother: “told me what I might expect on the Indian Reservation 

and that I would likely become like most of the men on it; that I would 

have no schooling, would put in my time riding racehorses or ponies, and 

become a reservation man with no future, and that if I ever expected to 

make anything out of myself I should return to Topeka and start school 

again.” Curtis continues, “I took her advice. . . . No man or boy ever re¬ 

ceived better advice. It was the turning point in my life.”^ 

Consequently, although Curtis temporarily remained on the Raw tribal 

roll, as he moved from adolescence to adulthood he moved more per¬ 

manently into the white world. He remained with his widowed grand¬ 

mother, whose dedication to Republican conservatism had a profound 

impact on the young man. Permelia insisted that Charley complete his 

public school education, encouraged him to seek additional part-time 

jobs, and made sure that he understood that the Republican Party had 

won the Civil War, that the anti-black and anti-Indian sentiments of the 

Democrats were proof of that party’s demagogy, and that the Methodist 

Church was the bastion of everything decent in Ransas and the nation. 

Following high school Curtis read law with A. H. Case, a prominent 

Topeka attorney, and in 1881—the year that the Ransas prohibition 

amendment went into effect—he was admitted to the Ransas Bar. He also 

became active in state and local politics and gave notice of his ambition 

for public office and his commitment to the Republican Party. William 

Allen White concluded that the Raw mixed-blood was a regular Repub- 
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lican “by inheritance,” and quite an attractive politician at that: “He was 

handsome, slight, with the jockey’s litheness, with affectionate, black, ca¬ 

ressing eyes that were hard to forget; with a fine olive skin, and a haymow 

of black hair and a curling mustache. Add to that a gentle, ingratiating 

voice, an easy flow of innocuous conversation unimpeded by pestiferous 

ideas, and you have a creature God-sent into politics.”9 Thus in 1884 he 

was elected Shawnee County Attorney, one of the youngest men to hold 

such an office in the Jayhawk State. In the meantime, from Julie Pappan he 

inherited a parcel of land in North Topeka that was exempt from the Kan¬ 

sas prohibition law because of federal trustee regulations dating back to 

the Kansa Treaty of 1825. He sold several large lots to a distillery and a 

brewer who then produced the very commodities needed by bootleggers 

to contend with the Kansas prohibition law. But to the surprise of most 

Republicans and certainly all “resubmissionist” Democrats, within a few 

weeks after taking office Curtis closed the door of virtually every illicit bar 

in Shawnee County even though he personally did not favor prohibition. 

The consequence was dramatic. Here was a person of humble origins 

who could support a law contrary to his personal beliefs, and more im¬ 

portant, a dedicated politician who had demonstrated that personal sac¬ 

rifice and individual performance were not beyond the grasp of an Indian 

whose ancestors had been dispossessed by the very society the Topeka 

mixed-blood now was taking by political storm. 

Not surprisingly, then, “Our Charley” Curtis became the darling of the 

Republican Party, and given what William Allen White insisted were his 

emotional but simplistic political tactics that included a “bloody shirt” 

speech on the Civil War accompanied by a plea to “vote the way you 

shot”; a mindless, indeed incomprehensible appeal for higher tariffs; “and 

a very carefully poised straddle on the currency question,” which Curtis 

“knew little about and cared absolutely nothing for,”i° he was easily 

elected to Congress in 1892. During the next four decades, accompanied 

by what his detractors called his inherent talent to manipulate the politi¬ 

cal system from behind the scenes, his rise to the most distinguished posi¬ 

tion in the U.S. Senate and then to the second highest office in the land 

was short of phenomenal.” 

Curtis’s initial election to Congress was a testament to his hand-shak¬ 

ing energy and skill in getting to know his constituents at a personal, hu¬ 

man, level. He carried a book with the names, occupations, and personal 

relations of virtually every family in every township in the Kansas Fourth 

District, and his dramatic victory over the Populist candidate John G. Otis 

in the same year that Kansas supported Populist James B. Weaver for the 
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presidency, attracted national attention. Some attributed his success to 

the fact that he was French, Indian, and American at a time when census 

data indicated that the Native American population was rapidly nearing 

its nadir or, in more literary terms, when the “Vanishing American” epi¬ 

thet appeared to be reaching demographic fulfillment. 

Still others viewed Curtis’s political success in terms of his tribal ances¬ 

try and the prowess they felt was a characteristic of Native Americans. 

Following his dramatic 1892 victory, the Kaw mixed-blood easily won 

consecutive terms to the House until the Kansas legislature elevated him 

to the Senate in 1907. While his success obviously was the result of his 

ability to campaign effectively and to respond to his constituents’ con¬ 

cerns—farm issues, veterans pensions, monetary matters, and the con¬ 

cerns of railroad corporations and the petroleum industry in the Jayhawk 

state—one commentator nevertheless concluded: “Although slightly less 

than one-quarter Indian, Curtis might from his features and swarthy skin, 

be taken for a full-blood. ‘The Indian’ he has been called, sometimes in 

hate, sometimes in admiration, throughout his political career. ‘Beat the 

Indian’ was the battle cry in many a hard-fought campaign. But it was not 

enough to beat the Indian who has just reached a dominating place in 

Kansas politics. Curtis has the wily persistence and dogged determination 

in a fight that marks him a true son of his Kaw ancestors.The Washing¬ 

ton press corps quickly appropriated this stereotype. “He has all the wis¬ 

dom of his aboriginal ancestors,” wrote one member.“The pure posses¬ 

sion of his ancestral qualities—the Indian tendencies toward taciturnity 

and general powers of self-repression and control—have something to do 

with the career of Curtis,” suggested another.'^ 

Finally a national magazine editor ferreted out the essential quality that 

made Curtis so attractive to non-Indian America. Even with his coal-black 

hair, copper complexion, and Fenimore Cooper-like demeanor, it was 

argued, the mixed-blood senator refused to conduct himself in the 

manner of the more traditional “braves who came on from the West every 

year to see their Great Father in Washington and to spend money which 

their kind and devoted Indian Commissioner gave them.”'s In short, for 

most Americans, Senator Charles Curtis was a progressive Indian, a self- 

made man whose success seemed to vindicate the Horatio Alger optimism 

of his age. Moreover, Curtis’s political accomplishments seemed to prove 

that federal efforts to assimilate Indian people could be successful. Indian 

policies formulated in the 1880s were working. Charles Curtis was proof 

of their success and, in 1924, when Curtis eventually succeeded Henry Ca¬ 

bot Lodge as majority leader of the Senate, private citizens and govern- 
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ment leaders alike (including Indian commissioner Charles H. Burke) 

characterized Senator Curtis as loyal, hardworking, frugal, and self-reli¬ 

ant—a self-made man who epitomized what Indian people could do if 

they seized the initiative.*® 

Curtis’s image of himself seemed less certain. Although he had opted to 

remain in Topeka with his maternal grandmother in 1874, he still envi¬ 

sioned himself as an Indian. In 1878 Kaw Indian agent Laban J. Miles arbi¬ 

trarily dropped his name from the tribal roll since he was not living on the 

reservation. Curtis did not immediately contest Miles’s action, but in 

1887, shortly after the passage of the Dawes Severalty Act, Curtis wrote to 

the Office of Indian Affairs and requested re-enrollment. In response, the 

matter was sent back to Miles. In the spring of 1889 Miles summarily rein¬ 

stated Curtis and his sister Elizabeth on the Kaw tribal roll. In retrospect, 

Curtis may have been motivated by opportunities to receive an allotment 

if and when the Kaw reservation lands were divided, but Curtis argued 

that his decision to live with his grandmother in Topeka did not negate 

his tribal status. According to Curtis, he was a blood descendant of Chief 

White Plume, he had inherited part of his Indian grandmother’s “half- 

breed” allotment, he had lived on the Kaw reservation and had received 

annuities prior to 1874, and therefore, legally, he was a Kaw Indian.*7 

Yet Curtis envisioned himself as an Indian far removed from the more 

traditional ways of his kinsmen in Indian Territory, or on other reserva¬ 

tion communities in the West. Educated in the white man’s world, Curtis 

evidently subscribed wholeheartedly to the accepted canons of federal In¬ 

dian policy at the turn of the century and sincerely believed that the dis¬ 

solution of the reservation communities and the assimilation of Native 

American peoples into mainstream American society were viable goals. In 

retrospect, his subscription to such policies may seem shortsighted, but 

like many other Americans of his era, Curtis believed that the federal pol¬ 

icies he championed were conceived on the Indians’ behalf. In 1900, after 

pushing through Congress legislation that provided for the further allot¬ 

ment of tribal lands in Indian Territory, Curtis wrote to Secretary of the 

Interior Ethan Allen Hitchcock and proudly proclaimed, “I have done 

more to secure legislation for the [Indian] Territory than all others put to¬ 

gether since the 54th Congress [of 1896].”** 

The legislation to which Curtis referred was entitled “An act for the 

protection of the people of the Indian Territory, and for other purposes,” 

but it was more commonly known as the “Curtis Act.” With Curtis’s 

strong support it passed Congress in June 1898.Without question the 

most important piece of Indian legislation between the General Allot- 
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merit (Dawes) Act of 1887 and the Indian Reorganization (Wheeler-How- 

ard) Act of 1934, the Curtis Act forced the allotment of the Five Southern 

Tribes and several smaller tribes in Indian Territory and elsewhere that 

previously had been excluded from the provisions of the Dawes legis¬ 

lation. The act was strongly opposed by most tribal leaders but Curtis 

maneuvered the bill through congressional committees and when it 

reached the floor of the House of Representatives, the House passed the 

bill with less than three minutes of consideration. A newspaper reporter 

from the Cherokee Nation who watched the proceedings from the gallery 

noted that the bill’s passage was such a foregone conclusion that when it 

reached the floor “an air of indolence prevailed.”^® One congressman 

commented that any resistance to Curtis in this matter was “absolutely 

useless.” In Indian Territory, the editor of the Muskogee Phoenix, the most 

prominent newspaper in the Creek Nation, agreed: “He [Curtis] is now 

not only the most powerful man in the House of Representatives in 

matters concerning this Indian country, but his influence is equally great 

with members of the Senate. 

The Curtis Act had a profound impact upon tribal people in Indian Ter¬ 

ritory. Under Curtis’s deftly fashioned law, the Five Southern Tribes even¬ 

tually fell under the allotment hammer, as did the smaller tribes that had 

been spared ten years earlier. No less important, the act abolished tribal 

laws and courts, provided a comprehensive code for the legalization of 

town sites in Indian Territory, maintained the authority of federal inspec¬ 

tors and inspections districts in Indian Country, and gave the Interior De¬ 

partment discretionary authority over oil, gas, and other mineral leases 

on Indian lands; in effect, it established the political foundation for Okla¬ 

homa statehood nine years later. If reformers or boosters of Oklahoma 

statehood wanted a law designed to encourage the dissolution of tribal 

government and the forced assimilation of tribal people into mainstream 

America, they got it. Moreover, to their great delight, the act had been 

pushed through Congress by “the Indian,” Charles Curtis. As both the re¬ 

formers and Curtis later would perceive, the act proved generally dis¬ 

astrous for many Indian people. 

Four years later, in 1902, Curtis, who then presided over the House 

Committee on Indian Affairs, pushed the Kaw Allotment Act through 

Congress.Each member of the tribe, including Curtis and his two chil¬ 

dren, received an allotment of approximately six hundred acres of former 

reservation land. To Curtis it must have seemed that a golden age for the 

Kaw people soon would arrive. They too could follow his path down the 

road to progress and prosperity. 
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While Curtis was drafting legislation, he also was climbing the political 

ladder in Washington. Early in his career he had caught the attention of 

House Speaker Thomas B. “Czar” Reed who called the young congressman 

from Kansas “the Indian.” On one occasion Curtis happened to stumble 

into a meeting of the Gold Standard Committee in Reed’s conference 

room. Reed asked him to sit in on the proceedings, which at that point 

had reached a deadlock. Reed turned to Curtis, who by no means was a 

currency expert, and asked him what he would do. Without wavering, 

“the Indian” suggested appointing a select committee that had little or no 

experience in monetary matters. After laughter among the assembled So- 

lons subsided, Reed queried further. “Just what do you mean by that?” he 

asked. “I mean just this,” replied Curtis as he sized up the assemblage, “if 

you put these specialists on that committee, each with a bill of his own in 

mind, you won’t get anywhere. . . . You had better let the thing out to fel¬ 

lows who may not know so much about currency but who will bring in a 

bill.” A few days later such a committee was appointed. To include Curtis, 

the Speaker increased the traditional membership from ten to eleven, and 

it was this committee that framed what became the Gold Standard Act of 

1900. 

His success with this event and with other legislation, buttressed by 

Reed’s support, led to Curtis’s membership on the powerful House Com¬ 

mittee on Ways and Means. His other committee assignments suggest a 

personal preference for roles dealing with Indian people and Indian af¬ 

fairs. He sat on the Committee on Territories, which at the turn of the 

century played a major role in the statehood movements in Oklahoma, 

Arizona, and New Mexico—states with large Indian populations. He 

served on Public Lands and Expenditures in the Interior Department (the 

latter had significant control over fiscal matters in the Office of Indian Af¬ 

fairs) and, most important of all, as chairman (1900-1906) of the House 

Committee on Indian Affairs. 

In 1907 Curtis was appointed to the U.S. Senate, and although he occa¬ 

sionally encountered prejudicial remarks (his enemies called him the 

“whispering Indian”), he rose through the ranks of the upper house to a 

position of leadership. During the decade following his appointment he 

authored no major Native American legislation but served faithfully on 

Senate committees, and was elected and re-elected by the people of Kan¬ 

sas on four occasions between 1908 and 1926. 

Most political analysts have concluded that the zenith of Curtis’s public 

career came in the half decade between his selection as Senate majority 

leader in 1924 and his inauguration as vice president under Herbert Hoov- 
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er in 1929. It is true that during this period virtually every piece of Repub¬ 

lican legislation in one way or another bore the stamp of Curtis. Accord¬ 

ing to one study his bills and amendments saved the federal government 

eighty three million dollars between 1924 and 1929- He was an indefatiga¬ 

ble spokesman for prohibition, women’s rights, veterans’ pensions, and 

child labor laws. He was intractable in support of President Coolidge’s 

conservative agenda in general and, as senior statesman from a powerful 

farm state, played a critical role in sustaining Coolidge’s veto on the 

McNary-Haugen Farm Relief Bill in 1927. 

Yet by the mid-i920s Curtis must have realized that the allotment and 

assimilationist policies he had championed at the turn of the century had 

proven unsuccessful. While some tribespeople had accepted and devel¬ 

oped their allotments into successful farms, many others had lost their 

lands to opportunistic whites who readily purchased the properties when 

the Indians became impoverished. Valuable Native American mineral re¬ 

sources had been depleted, while the proceeds from oil and mining leases 

often ended in the hands of white, court-appointed “guardians” who 

pocketed the majority of the profits while returning only a pittance to 

their Indian wards. Meanwhile, tribal governments among the Five 

Southern Tribes were decimated, and Cherokees, Choctaws, Creeks, and 

others now found the cadence of their daily lives more closely controlled 

by non-Indians. 

The Raws, Curtis’s own tribe, provide a microcosm of the debacle. By 

1923, twenty years after its lands were allotted, the tribe was in shambles. 

Aware that his policies had failed, Curtis wrote to an Office of Indian Af¬ 

fairs official in Oklahoma; “I, like you, am exceedingly sorry the Raws 

sold so much land so quickly. I tried to keep them from selling. I even 

agreed with [Raw chief] Washungah that I would let my [allotment] titles 

remain as they were during the twenty-five year period, so as to set an ex¬ 

ample. ”^5 And so he did, but to no avail. Both the Dawes and the Curtis 

acts stipulated that the allotted lands would be placed in trust for twenty- 

five years—until Indian people supposedly became experienced enough to 

prevent their property from being swindled away from them. Yet after 

1908, Indian agents, in conjunction with officials in Washington, could 

declare individual Indians “competent,” enabling these “more sophisti¬ 

cated” individuals to sell their lands prior to the end of the twenty-five- 

year trust period. Between 1903 and 1923 Indian agents among the Raws 

arbitrarily declared the majority of the tribe to be “competent” (whether 

they understood the responsibilities of Anglo-American land tenure or 

not), and most sold their land outright or had it mortgaged to the degree 



CHARLES CURTIS ^ 29 

that foreclosure was virtually inevitable. Even those “incompetent” Raws 

who still retained their allotments in trust were so far in debt that at the 

end of their twenty-five-year trust period most would have to give up 

their property in order to liquidate their indebtedness. The dream of a 

self-sufficient Kaw people settled happily on their individual allotments 

was an empty one. By the mid-i92os the Kaw tribe had disintegrated and 

poverty was rampant on what formerly had been the Kaw reservation. 

Thus in 1924, as Curtis held the position of Senate majority leader and 

even entertained the possibility of running for the presidency, it was ob¬ 

vious that his efforts to mold Indian people in his own mixed-blood image 

had not succeeded. His legislative handiwork had accelerated allotment, 

but it had not ushered in a new golden age for Indian people. Back in 1910 

his good friend Indian commissioner Francis E. Leupp had written: “With 

his Indian blood he [Curtis] inherits keenness of observation, stoicism 

under suffering, love of freedom, a contempt of the petty things which lay 

so heavy a burden on our convention-bound civilization; with his white 

blood the competitive instinct, individual initiative; resourcefulness in 

the face of novel obstacles, and a constitution hardened to the drafts made 

upon its strength by the artificialities of modern life.”^® At the time these 

words had been written they were pleasing to Curtis, but by the mid- 

1920s the mixed-blood man from Kansas had become disillusioned about 

providing any future guidance in the realm of Indian policy. Policies he 

long championed had failed. He seemed to retreat into other arenas. 

In 1928, Curtis made a bid for the Republican nomination for the pres¬ 

idency. He enjoyed strong support in Kansas and significant support 

among delegates from New England, New York, Pennsylvania, Okla¬ 

homa, and some states in the upper Midwest, but his campaign budget 

was limited. Moreover, his campaign remained so unimaginative that 

some political analysts believed that he came to the convention in Kansas 

City more interested in the vice presidency than in contending for the 

presidential nomination. If such was the case, he succeeded. Most of his 

public statements focused on his long and dedicated service to the Repub¬ 

lican Party, and few delegates were surprised when Curtis readily ac¬ 

cepted the invitation to become Hoover’s running mate after the latter 

amassed enough delegates to win the primary nomination. The Kaw from 

Kansas garnered a decisive 1,052 votes—250 more than Hoover received 

for the presidency—on the first vice presidential ballot. It was as if most 

delegates knew well that, while Charley may not have been bona fide pres¬ 

idential timber, he absolutely deserved the second office for his long serv¬ 

ice and loyalty to the GOP. 
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In keeping with the norm of the times, Curtis’s contribution to public 

affairs while in office as vice president was minimal. Hoover invited him 

to attend cabinet meetings but because relations between the two men 

were never very close or cordial, Curtis exhibited more interest in wield¬ 

ing the gavel in the Senate, adding a kind of aloof dignity to the second 

highest office in the land. He decorated his office with Native American 

artifacts and memorabilia, and attended seemingly endless receptions and 

dinner parties while the nation plunged deeper into the economic morass 

culminating in the great stock market crash of 1929. Yet if Curtis was 

moved by the plight of the many Americans who were suffering the effects 

of the economic plunge, he did not voice his sympathies. When asked 

about the rising clamor for relief and reform that arose over the stock 

market crash and the subsequent business failures, he replied that “it is 

not pleasing to note the wave that is sweeping over the country which dis¬ 

regards law and order and the Constitution, and substitutes man’s desire, 

and weakens opinion of law.”^7 

During the 1928 campaign Curtis insisted that he supported legislation 

to improve the status of American Indians, but unlike Hoover, who at 

least publicly supported the reforms proposed by a Brookings Institute 

study compiled by Lewis Merriam, Curtis issued no public statement re¬ 

garding the poverty and shocking conditions on most Indian reservations. 

And again, in the campaign in 1932 that pitted Hoover and Curtis against 

Franklin D. Roosevelt and John N. Garner, he failed to adequately address 

the important issues facing Indian people. On the very eve of Indian com¬ 

missioner John Collier’s call for dramatic changes in American Indian pol¬ 

icy, it was clear that Curtis’s leadership in such matters lay in the past. 

The victory of the Roosevelt-Garner ticket in November 1932 ended the 

political career of Charles Curtis. He retained a nominal association with 

a law firm in Topeka and made occasional trips back to Kansas and Okla¬ 

homa. There was even talk that he might try to regain his old seat in the 

Senate. But his main interest was his law office in Washington, which be¬ 

came well known as a rendezvous for Republican regulars to discuss the 

future of the gop. On 8 February 1936, he was found dead of a heart attack 

in the Washington home of his half-sister, Dolly Gann.^® Thousands paid 

their last respects to Curtis in the Gann house, after which his body was 

taken to Topeka for a memorial service in the rotunda of the state capitol. 

Only a bow and arrows, gifts from Chief Deerfoot of the Apaches, 

adorned his coffin. A Wichita newspaper printed a large photograph of 

Curtis beside a photograph of Kaw chief Washungah, who died in 1908, 

with the caption: “Who can say but that they are together in the happy 
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hunting grounds.” Final interment was in a North Topeka cemetery not 

far from the small cabin where Curtis was born three quarters of a century 

earlier. ^9 

Notes 

1. Prior to 1850 the Kaw tribe was known as the Kansa (or Konza) tribe. The 

change to Kaw was the consequence of reports filed by field agents of the U.S. Bu¬ 

reau of Indian Affairs. 

2. For the details of this activity, see Paul Wallace Gates, Fifty Million Acres: Conflict 

over Kansas Land Policy, 1854-1890 (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1954). 

3. For a general study of Curtis and his roles in Indian and non-Indian society, see 

William E. Unrau, Mixed-Bloods and Tribal Dissolution: Charles Curtis and the Quest 

for Indian Identity (Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 1989). 

4. Charles Curtis, “Autobiography,” article 1, 1-5. A typed copy of the manuscript 

is in the possession of Tom Dennison, Ponca City, Oklahoma. Dennison, whose 

permission to quote from the “Autobiography” is hereby acknowledged, obtained 

the typed copy from William P. Colvin, Charles Curtis’s nephew. 

5. Dolly Gann, Dolly Gann’s Book (Garden City ny: Doubleday, Doran and Com¬ 

pany, Inc., 1933), 1. Dolly Gann was Charles Curtis’s half-sister. 

6. The most romanticized versions are in Don C. Seitz, From Kaw Teepee to Capitol: 

The Story of Charles Curtis, Indian, Who Has Risen to High Estate (New York: Frederick 

A. Stokes, 1928), 121-25, and New York Times, 14 April 1929. For a summary and 

analysis of the several versions see Unrau, Mixed-Bloods and Tribal Dissolution, 

72-75- 

7. Curtis, “Autobiography,” article 5, 7. 

8. Curtis, “Autobiography,” article 5, 8. 

9. William Allen White, Calvin Coolidge: The Man Who Is President (New York: Mac¬ 

millan, 1925), 178. 

10. William Allen White, The Autobiography of William Allen White (New York: Mac¬ 

millan, 1946), 106. 

11. The best summary of Curtis’s political career after 1892 is in Marvin Ewy, 

“Charles Curtis of Kansas: Vice President of the United States, 1929-1933,” Empo¬ 

ria State Research Studies 10 (December 1961): 1-58. 

12. Sheffield Cowdrick, “From Saddle to Senate, the Remarkable Career of Charles 

Curtis, Indian,” The World Today, March 1907, 313-14- 

13. National Tribune (Washington dc), 27 July 1920. 

14. Inquirer (Washington dc), 7 December 1924. 

15. “Lo, the Poor Senator,” Saturday Evening Post, 9 February 1907, 14. 



32 ^ THE NEW WARRIORS 

16. As a freshman congressman, Curtis received 1400 letters during one twenty- 

four-hour period. With the help of his family, a variety of form letters, and several 

secretaries, he answered most of them within the day. See Ewy, “Charles Curtis of 

Kansas,” 23. 

17. Unrau, Mixed-Bloods and Tribal Dissolution, 130-35. 

18. “Curtis to Hitchcock,” n.d., 1900, Ethan Allen Hitchcock Papers, RG 200, Na¬ 

tional Archives. 

19. U.S. Statutes at Large -io-. 495-519. 

20. Vinita Indian Chieftain (Vinita, Indian Territory), 21 April 1908. 

21. Muskogee Phoenix (Muskogee, Indian Territory), 26 March 1900. 

22. U.S. Statutes at Large 32: 686-90. 

23. For an assessment of Curtis’s role in the allotment of the Kaw tribe, see Wil¬ 

liam E. Unrau, “Charles Curtis: The Politics of Allotment,” in Indian Lives: Essays 

on Nineteenth and Twentieth Century Native American Leaders, edited by L. G. Moses 

and Raymond Wilson (Albuquerque; University of New Mexico Press, 1985), 

113-37- 

24. CmdiU, Mixed-Bloods and Tribal Dissolution, 115. 

25. Curtis to J. W. Clendening, 22 January 1923, Kaw Indian Agency Collection, 

Western History Collections, University of Oklahoma Library, Norman, Okla¬ 

homa. 

26. Francis E. Leupp, The Indian and His Problem (New York: Charles Scribner and 

Sons, 1910), 344. 

27. New York Times, 5 July 1930. 

28. Curtis’s wife Anna (Baird) Curtis, a native of Topeka, died 29 June 1924. Ex¬ 

cluding his stay in a ten-room suite in the Mayflower Hotel during the vice pres¬ 

idential years, Curtis resided with his half-sister, Permelia (“Dolly”) Gann after 

his wife’s death. Gann served as Curtis’s official hostess during the vice presiden¬ 

tial years. 

29. Wichita Eagle, 9 February 1936. 







Gertrude Simmons Bonnin 

(Zitkala-Sa) 

^Dakota 

BY DEBORAH WELCH 

Gertrude Simmons Bonnin (Zitkala-Sa) stands almost alone as an Ameri¬ 

can Indian woman who sought a national leadership role in shaping U.S.- 

Indian policy during the early years of the twentieth century. She first 

rose to fame while a young woman at the turn of the century, publishing 

numerous short stories that celebrated an unstintingly proud, if highly ro¬ 

manticized, view of Indian history. From 1912 to 1913, she co-wrote with 

William Hanson the opera Sun Dance, first performed in Salt Lake City. 

Later, as a leader in the political pan-Indian movements of the 1910s, 

1920s, and 1930s, the Society of American Indians, and the National 

Council of American Indians, Zitkala-Sa demanded her right to be heard 

in all arenas—from the halls of Congress to tribal council meetings held 

on reservations throughout the country. In this crucial period of Native 

American history, at the height of U.S. allotment and assimilation poli¬ 

cies, Zitkala-Sa grappled with the central issues of her day, drawing new 

attention to questions of an American Indian identity and Native Ameri¬ 

can rights to land and water. Sometimes in alliance, but more often in 

sharp disagreement with other Indian and Anglo reformers, and plagued 

by personal difficulties of poverty and illness, Zitkala-Sa battled on. Her 

life provides a blueprint of the challenges and issues that would face In¬ 

dian leadership throughout the twentieth century. 

Born in 1876 on the Yankton Sioux Reservation in southeastern South 

Dakota, young Zitkala-Sa spent the first eight years of her childhood 

solely in the company of her mother, Ellen Simmons, a woman embit¬ 

tered by family loss and the grinding poverty of reservation life at the end 

of the nineteenth century. Ellen Simmons hated all white men and later 

her daughter would remember how her mother sought to teach her chil¬ 

dren to feel the same way. Following the death of her Yankton Sioux hus- 
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band, which left her with small children to raise, Zitkala-Sa’s mother took 

a white man, Simmons, for her second husband and gave birth to two 

children: Dawee (or David) and Gertrude (Zitkala-Sa). But Simmons, an 

often drunk and violent man, beat the children, so husband and wife 

parted. Ellen Simmons effectively expunged him from her children’s 

memories. Throughout her life, Zitkala-Sa never acknowledged her bi¬ 

ological father, seeking instead to present herself always as a full Sioux. 

She crafted for herself an identity of “a warrior’s daughter,” the title of 

one of her later short stories. This fierce pride in her Sioux identity—a 

pride that would shape her entire life—led her to use her Dakota name, 

Zitkala-Sa, as a young author. 

Zitkala-Sa’s childhood, which she later described in her book, American 

Indian Stories, was short-lived.' For many years, Quaker missionaries vis¬ 

ited the Yankton Reservation and gathered children to be educated in the 

East, away from the reservation and the “barbarism” of their parents. In 

these boarding schools, Indian children were compelled to speak English, 

to adopt Anglo modes of dress along with Anglo values of individualism 

and property ownership, and most important, to become Christians and 

learn a trade. 

The Quakers had taken Zitkala-Sa’s older brother David to White’s 

Manual Labor Institute in Wabash, Indiana, for three years of education. 

Zitkala-Sa’s turn came in 1884 when she was only eight years old. Lured by 

the missionaries’ promises of bright red apples and wonderful Eastern 

lands, Zitkala-Sa begged her mother to let her go. Ellen Simmons, like In¬ 

dian parents throughout the West, had to make a heartrending decision. 

She hated whites and had heard stories of the harsh conditions and high 

mortality rates in the boarding schools. But the rapid changes she had 

seen in her own lifetime, including the steady encroachment of white 

populations around her, meant that if her daughter were to have a future, 

she must learn how to live with whites. So Ellen Simmons relented, and 

young Zitkala-Sa was put on the wagon alongside the other Yankton chil¬ 

dren to be taken away. 

Unlike Charles Eastman and other Indian writers who have somewhat 

charitably described their painful boarding school experiences in their 

memoirs, Zitkala-Sa was less forgiving. She later vividly recalled the hu¬ 

miliation and mistreatment she underwent as a result of her Anglo teach¬ 

ers’ total scorn for Indian cultures. While recognizing that her teachers 

were well-meaning, she nonetheless spiritedly refused to be inculcated 

with their “superstitious ideas” or broken by their hard hearts.^ Zitkala-Sa 

was a good student, discovering a keen appreciation for literature and mu- 
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sic, but she hated those first years at White’s. After three years she left and 

returned to her mother’s house. She spent the next four years, from age 

eleven to fifteen, trying to reconcile her longing for Anglo education with 

the trauma she had undergone in defying her mother and placing herself 

in the hands of ethnocentric Anglo missionaries. Her exposure to the An¬ 

glo world of books and writing awakened in her a desire to learn more, 

but she felt unable to defy her mother and return to school. She spent four 

years trying to fit back into a reservation society where she no longer 

seemed to belong. “During this time I seemed to hang in the heart of 

chaos, beyond the touch or voice of human aid. My brother, being almost 

ten years my senior, did not quite understand my feelings. My mother had 

never gone inside a schoolhouse, and so she was not capable of comfort¬ 

ing a daughter who could read and write. Even nature seemed to have no 

place for me. I was neither a wee girl nor a tall one; neither a wild Indian 

nor a tame one. This deplorable situation was the effect of my brief course 

in the East and the unsatisfactory ‘teenth’ in a girls’ years.”3 In 1892 Zit- 

kala-Sa returned to White’s, receiving her diploma in 1895. At nineteen, 

she again disobeyed her mother’s demands that she return home and 

went on to Earlham College in Richmond, Indiana. 

Zitkala-Sa’s years at Earlham were among the happiest in her life. In a 

collegiate atmosphere, her talents and keen mind blossomed as she dis¬ 

covered her gifts for writing, oratory, and music. She became an accom¬ 

plished pianist and violinist and won several oratorical contests. In her 

public speeches, Zitkala-Sa urged her listeners to accept the Indian as a 

fellow man, to afford him equal opportunities, and to live the Christian 

message of brotherhood. This youthful zeal was common among other In¬ 

dian reformers also coming of age in this era of American progressivism 

marked by the belief that past injustices could be redressed if only the 

American public were made aware of them. But Zitkala-Sa encountered 

bigotry as well. Even as she accepted an award at the state oratorical con¬ 

test in 1896, some students from an opposing college dropped from a bal¬ 

cony a white banner on which was drawn a caricature of an Indian girl 

with the word “squaw” crudely lettered beneath. No one forced the stu¬ 

dents to remove the banner and it was left hanging throughout the cere- 

mony.4 

Nonetheless, Zitkala-Sa persevered. While still at Earlham, she began to 

experience stomach problems and an overwhelming sense of weariness, 

which would eventually compel her to withdraw from college before she 

could receive her degree. This early pattern of illness would remain with 

her throughout her life. Though weak and frequently in low spirits, Zit- 
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kala-Sa still could not return home. To do so would have been to admit 

failure, and Zitkala-Sa’s pride would not permit it. Instead she turned her 

attention to writing as an outlet for the ever-present guilt she felt at hav¬ 

ing “abandoned” her mother and thus her culture, as well as for her desire 

for more education and the opportunity to seek recognition of her talents 

in the East. She began contacting literary societies in Boston and Wash¬ 

ington DC that were anxious to help her publish her short stories and pro¬ 

vide opportunities for her to speak and to perform as a musician. More¬ 

over, she found a teaching job at Carlisle, the most famous Indian school 

of her day. Although she did not particularly relish her teaching responsi¬ 

bilities, the classroom provided Zitkala-Sa with a small salary necessary to 

remain in the East. 

During the spring of her first year at Carlisle, a Washington literary 

club invited her to give a recitation and violin concert at a meeting that 

President McKinley would be attending. This event provided Zitkala-Sa 

one of her first opportunities to act as a spokesperson for her race, a pur¬ 

pose she adopted to assuage the guilt she felt at remaining away from 

Yankton. Before the president himself, she demonstrated the heights an 

Indian could reach when given the opportunity. In January 1900 her first 

article, “Impressions of an Indian Childhood,” appeared in the Atlantic 

Monthly. The February and March issues of the magazine published two 

additional stories, “The School Days of an Indian Girl” and “An Indian 

Teacher among Indians,” respectively. 

The response to this new author proved overwhelming. In April of 

1900, Harper’s Bazaar included a brief overview of her work in the column 

“Persons Who Interest Us.” These and other accolades abounded for the 

young author, encouraging her further work and attracting scholarships 

that would make possible her further study. 

In late 1900 Zitkala-Sa left Carlisle and went to Boston where she en¬ 

rolled in the New England Conservatory of Music. She traveled to France 

where she played at the Paris Exposition. Moreover, Boston literary so¬ 

ciety welcomed her and provided the incentive to publish more stories. 

Zitkala-Sa loved her time in Boston, the intellectual company, and the 

happy life full of good friends and long lazy picnics. Perhaps she enjoyed 

her time all the more because she knew it would be cut short. News from 

Yankton troubled her. During a brief visit the year before, she witnessed 

firsthand the rapid inroads being made onto both Yankton lands and cul¬ 

ture by the surrounding Anglo populations. Yet she was well aware of the 

difficulties she would face in returning to the reservation. In 1901 she pub¬ 

lished two more stories, “The Trial Path” and “The Soft-Hearted Sioux,” 
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as well as a book, Old Indian Legends, all of which provide palpable ev¬ 

idence of the doubts she felt. The stories dealt with the dilemma faced by 

Indian peoples educated in the East who attempt to return to the reserva¬ 

tion, bringing their adopted Anglo culture with them, and facing great 

sadness and often tragedy in their efforts to live in two worlds. 

Nonetheless, Zitkala-Sa decided to go back. It was not a decision with¬ 

out cost. While in Boston, she had become engaged to another Indian ac¬ 

tivist, the Yavapai physician Carlos Montezuma. Montezuma practiced in 

Chicago, where he wanted his future wife to join him. Zitkala-Sa’s com¬ 

pulsion to return to the Yankton reservation and Montezuma’s equally 

stubborn insistence that she would only waste her talents at Yankton, 

meant that the two eventually had to part. Montezuma, educated in Anglo 

boarding schools, was then a firm believer in assimilation and making 

equal opportunities available to all Indian peoples. He was a lifelong critic 

of the Indian Bureau, which he maintained imprisoned Indians in reser¬ 

vations of poverty.5 Zitkala-Sa continually reiterated her belief that there 

was an equally valuable education to be found in the traditional ways that 

would soon be lost if young Indians were not encouraged to embrace their 

identities as Indians. The engagement was broken and a rift formed be¬ 

tween these two friends that would last for several years. 

Zitkala-Sa’s long and often haranguing letters to Montezuma revealed 

her intention to maintain her hard-won identity as an independent, capa¬ 

ble, and wholly Sioux woman. She was not prepared to relinquish her ac¬ 

complishments to become a wife or allow her identity to become lost in 

that of her husband’s, as she well knew would happen in American society 

of 1901. Zitkala-Sa’s fierce pride in her Sioux heritage governed her choice 

of a mate. Shortly after her final breakup with Montezuma, in June 1902, 

Zitkala-Sa married a Sioux man, eight years her junior, named Raymond 

T. Bonnin. He was not an educated man, but he was an ambitious one. Fol¬ 

lowing their marriage, he began to read law. Seven months after their 

marriage, a son, Raymond O. Bonnin, was born to the couple. However, 

there was no work for Bonnin on the Yankton reservation, and in 1903 he 

was forced to relocate his young family to Utah, where he had been of¬ 

fered a position as government clerk on the Uintah reservation. 

Settling in at Whiterocks, Zitkala-Sa undertook to make a home for her 

husband and new son. Domesticity had never interested her, however, 

and she did not remain home long. Despite repeated requests for an 

agency teaching position, no offer was forthcoming from the Indian Bu¬ 

reau. Zitkala-Sa’s bitterness toward Anglo administrators and policy mak¬ 

ers deepened.^ However, she soon found ways to become involved with 
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the school and the Ute community. Discovering that a shipment of brass 

instruments had been delivered to the school years before, though prom¬ 

ised funds for a music teacher had never materialized, Zitkala-Sa began 

teaching music. By the fall of 1904, she had formed a band from among 

the Ute school children and begun offering concerts for their parents. 

Next she organized a basket-weaving class among the Ute women. 

These baskets would be sold to help alleviate, however slightly, the des¬ 

perate poverty she saw about her. Moreover, bringing these women into 

her home for classes gave Zitkala-Sa the opportunity to share information 

about new medicines, hygiene, and education for the children. Her desire 

to help was sincere, but her feelings of Sioux superiority can be found in 

her descriptions of the Utes, a people she described as “victims” of their 

“ignorance, superstition, and degradation.”7 

Most of all, however, she was lonely. The Uintah Agency appeared to be 

in every sense a desert. The writing through which she had once success¬ 

fully pursued her goal of acting as a spokesperson for her race was aban¬ 

doned. One of the rationales she had given Montezuma for her decision to 

return to the reservation was that she would use the opportunity to gather 

more materials for her stories. Yet those stories never materialized after 

she went to Utah. While at Carlisle, and especially in Boston, the young 

Zitkala-Sa had enjoyed a network of literary friends who supported her ef¬ 

forts to write about the Indian past. Publishing her stories had helped to 

alleviate the guilt she had felt at defying her mother and staying in the 

East. With this motivation, she had been amazingly prolific. In Utah, 

however, there was no network of friends and fellow writers. Her mother 

died in 1905, and with the fulfillment of her self-imposed obligation to 

live among her own race, the incentive to write and speak was gone. For 

ten years Zitkala-Sa’s voice disappeared only to be resurrected in 1913 by 

the emergence of a new political stage for her talents in the creation of the 

Society of American Indians. 

The idea of a pan-Indian organization, a reform society whose leader¬ 

ship and full membership would be open only to Indian peoples, had long 

been discussed among groups such as the Indian Rights Association (ira) 

and the Friends of the Indian. The beginning of the twentieth century saw 

the coming of age of a large number of young Indian people like Zitkala-Sa, 

who were the products of a nineteenth-century U.S. policy of acculturation 

through education. The dream of an Indian-only organization materialized 

in 1911 when sociologist Fayette McKenzie organized the first meeting of 

the Society of American Indians (sai) in Columbus, Ohio. McKenzie drew 

together some of the most capable young Indian leaders of this generation. 
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including Sherman Coolidge, Arapahoe minister; Henry Roe Cloud, Win¬ 

nebago educator; Arthur C. Parker, Seneca anthropologist; Charles East¬ 

man, Sioux physician; and others. Though a vastly diverse group of people 

in some respects, they all possessed highly educated backgrounds, success 

in their fields, and a keen awareness of a responsibility to share the ben¬ 

efits enjoyed in their own lives with the rest of their race. They hoped to 

organize the Indian voice for self-determination within the parameters of 

the Progressive Era, which stressed hard work, moral uprightness, and 

above aU, assimilation into the Anglo-American dream. 

The progressive mood of the country in the early twentieth century in¬ 

fluenced the formation of the sal More directly, these young Indian lead¬ 

ers were an unforeseen outgrowth of the nation’s policy of Indian ed¬ 

ucation and acculturation. To varying degrees, the men and women who 

formed the sai had internalized the lessons of their teachers. They rec¬ 

ognized the benefits of such things as education and health care offered by 

Anglo society and saw themselves as the bearers of these blessings to their 

race. They had not forgotten injustice, for tangible and immediate ev¬ 

idence of America’s inhumanity to its Indian peoples could be observed 

on every reservation. But they saw themselves as realists concerned not 

with the past but with the present, and the role their organization could 

play in bringing the benefits of Anglo society to other Indian peoples. 

One of the Society’s principal purposes was to hold annual conferences 

where Indian peoples from throughout the country could express their 

views. In addition. Society members recognized the importance of pub¬ 

licizing their findings, both for Indian peoples and Anglo society, through 

the publication of the Quarterly Journal, later renamed the American Indian 

Magazine. The Society mailed hundreds of letters to Indian people 

throughout the country in an effort to secure membership and badly 

needed contributions. Shortly after the Society’s founding, Zitkala-Sa be¬ 

gan a collaboration with composer William Hansen that resulted in their 

creation of the opera “Sun Dance,” which was first performed in 1913 in 

Salt Lake City and received rave reviews. In that same year, she once again 

contacted Montezuma explaining that like Rip Van Winkle, she had been 

asleep for the last decade but was now awake.* Possibly through Monte¬ 

zuma’s intercession, Zitkala-Sa joined the sai’s advisory board in 1914 and 

immediately began to publish in the Quarterly Journal stories about her 

work in establishing sewing and other classes among the Utes. Such com¬ 

munity work was in keeping with sai goals to bring the benefits of Anglo 

civilization to the Indian. But in her articles to the Quarterly Journal, one 

can discern the old Zitkala-Sa reemerging from the pen of Mrs. Raymond 
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Bonnin. Here, once again, is the young Sioux girl taking on the mantle of 

being the “warrior’s daughter” and its incumbent responsibilities for the 

care of the fathers and mothers. These articles reveal her profound com¬ 

mitment to the past and to the uniqueness of Indian cultures. 

No less than other sai members, Zitkala-Sa knew too well the need for 

the knowledge and technology of Anglo-American civilization to be ex¬ 

tended to reservation peoples. At the same time, she, more than many So¬ 

ciety members, continued to nurture a keen appreciation for and identity 

with Indian civilizations. Zitkala-Sa felt deeply the assault on Indian cul¬ 

tures made by advocates of acculturation. Publishing in the Quarterly Jour¬ 

nal, Zitkala-Sa once again relived the pain of her early schoolgirl days and 

the cruel ethnocentrism of Anglo teachers she had witnessed at Carlisle as 

well as on the Yankton and Uintah reservations. She criticized the Anglo- 

Christian society, which offered platitudes of brotherhood while robbing 

Indian peoples of land and culture. Her youthful idealism gone, Zitkala-Sa 

was now ready to fight for the Indian right to survive as Indian. 

By 1915 Zitkala-Sa had assumed an active role in all of the Society’s an¬ 

nual meetings, and in 1916 was elected national secretary, which meant re¬ 

locating her family to sai headquarters in Washington dc. Her husband 

willingly joined her to pursue his own career working as an attorney for 

reform of national Indian policy. Shortly after their arrival, he was also 

commissioned by the army as second lieutenant in preparation for U.S. 

entry into World War I. 

From the outset, the Society of American Indians had been governed by 

Indian men. A few women, in particular Nora McFarland from Carlisle 

and Laura Cornelius Kellogg, participated actively in the early days of the 

Society. McFarland is notable as the only one of the SAi’s founders who 

appeared in Indian dress in a group photograph of the organizers taken in 

1911. Other women worked long and hard in primarily clerical roles to 

maintain communication, do the paperwork for membership drives, and 

solicit contributions. Certainly women typed the Quarterly Journal but, 

until Zitkala-Sa, they contributed to it infrequently. Not until 1916 did a 

woman join the journal’s editorial board. Nor could the voices of women 

members be heard much in the early annual conferences. When they were 

heard, it was through their writings on issues of education or childrear¬ 

ing—traditional Anglo women’s concerns. 

Men vastly outnumbered women in the Society. Of the 219 active 

members on the Society’s rolls by 1912, only 66 were women, most of 

them single young teachers at reservation schools. While their relative 

youth and small numbers may have contributed to the subordinate role 
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women played in sai leadership, gender appears to have been a more im¬ 

portant factor. Drawing its female membership from the small group of 

highly educated and acculturated young Indian women in the 1910s, the 

SAi acquired women who were assimilated into the subordinate gender 

role assigned by Anglo societal mores. However, these women’s commit¬ 

ment to the SAi’s success in effecting national policy change appears to be 

far more of a determining factor in their willingness to accept background 

roles. The sai had been founded as the voice of Indian America to Anglo 

America. In the second decade of the twentieth century, only the Indian 

male voice would be heard and seriously considered. Even Marie Baldwin, 

a trained attorney and suffragist, kept her feminist interests apart from 

the Society, serving only as treasurer and occasionally writing articles for 

the Quarterly Journal emphasizing women’s proper roles as helpmates.9 

She and other sai women remained voluntarily in the background, bol¬ 

stering the confidence and supporting the achievements of Indian men. 

Zitkala-§a stood alone as a female member of the sai who sought both 

power and leadership within the organization. By the end of 1916, Zitkala- 

Sa served as the only woman on the executive council. Moreover, she was 

not prepared to limit herself to what the Anglo world saw as traditional 

female concerns. While she had written about education and health care 

as an entree to the Society, after being elected secretary, she never again 

contributed articles on community-center work. Rather she sought to 

turn the Society’s attention to what she viewed as more important ques¬ 

tions, contributing essays to the Quarterly Journal on the importance of 

water rights and land ownership, resources under continual assault by 

whites and crucial to the survival of Indian peoples as distinct communi¬ 

ties. “For the sake of our children’s children, we must hold onto a few 

acres. . . 

Zitkala-§a’s actions raised questions within the organization, both 

about her choice of subjects and her role as a woman in addressing these 

issues. In response, she began contributing articles to the Quarterly Journal 

dealing for the first time with the historic roles played by famous Indian 

women leaders. She wrote of Pocahontas, whom she called “the first 

emissary of democratic ideas to cast-ridden Europe,” and of “Chipeta, 

Widow of Chief Ouray.These women had nurtured and supported their 

men, but had also provided leadership to their people when the need 

arose. So, too, Zitkala-Sa saw the need for new leadership within the So¬ 

ciety of American Indians and took action to achieve it. 

By 1918 she had maneuvered both Chippewa Marie Baldwin, treasurer, 

and Seneca Arthur C. Parker, editor of the Quarterly Journal, out of their 
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positions, and assumed both jobs herself. She supported the election of 

Charles Eastman, a fellow Sioux, to the office of SAi president. But her tri¬ 

umph in bringing the SAi under Sioux leadership was short-lived. The ten¬ 

sions that would eventually tear the organization apart were already well- 

established; Zitkala-Sa was powerless to control them, and her forceful 

personality rendered her ill-suited to mediate them. 

Factionalism had been present in the SAi from its inception. Questions 

over the role of the Indian Bureau, the increasing use of peyote on reser¬ 

vations, and, most centrally, the role of the SAi itself, divided the member¬ 

ship. Carlos Montezuma led the fight for immediate abolition of the In¬ 

dian Bureau. He strongly believed that its reservation system served only 

to keep Indian peoples imprisoned in poverty. Questions consequently 

arose about the loyalty of sai members, such as Marie Baldwin, who 

worked for the bureau. Others took a more gradualist view; they sincerely 

believed that as Indian peoples became increasingly able to assume a self- 

sufficient role in American society, the need for the bureau would dimin¬ 

ish. Zitkala-Sa tried to mediate between the two groups even as she pre¬ 

sented a third and vital view; that reservations were necessary to the 

maintenance of Indian homelands and served as centers of Indian cul¬ 

tures where all Indians, even those like herself who lived in cities, could 

return to reinforce their identities as Indians. 

The issue of peyote was equally destructive to the Society. Zitkala-Sa 

continually hearkened back to a romantic view of the Indian past in her 

stories; because of this, members who advocated peyote, like Thomas 

Sloan, anticipated Zitkala-Sa’s support for the Native American Church 

and its ceremonial peyote use. However, the defense of peyote as a relig¬ 

ious right, as part of the cultural heritage of Indian peoples, deeply angered 

Zitkala-Sa. Throughout her life, she had continually promoted the ongoing 

viabiUty of Indian societies. But Zitkala-Sa had defended those cultures as 

she defined her identity—within the narrow parameters of Sioux tradi¬ 

tion. In speaking of Indian cultures, Zitkala-Sa invariably meant Sioux so¬ 

ciety as it had existed in the late 1870s and early 1880s, during the years of 

her girlhood. Those happy, if faint and highly picturesque memories cel¬ 

ebrated in her stories, colored her outlook of what constituted Indian tra¬ 

ditional distinctiveness. She was not prepared to include any evolution in 

culture, such as the Native American Church, to that definition of “Indian- 

ness.” To that end, she joined those members of the Society who opposed 

peyote and offered her services to Arizona Congressman Carl M. Hayden, 

who introduced yet another bill to outlaw its use in 1917. 

Zitkala-Sa’s determination to thwart the supporters of peyote would 
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cost her dearly. As an erudite and polished Indian speaker, she provided 

the authentic star quality Hayden sought in his repertoire of witnesses. To 

that end, Zitkala-Sa appeared before the Senate Subcommittee on Indian 

Affairs in native dress wearing her hair in two long traditional braids. A 

photograph of her appeared in the Washington Times announcing her 

forthcoming testimony. 

In arranging for this publicity, the bill’s supporters emphasized the im¬ 

portance of her testimony. They had, however, overextended themselves. 

In attempting to impress upon the reading public Zitkala-Sa’s qualifica¬ 

tions, the article presented a number of falsehoods, including one that 

proclaimed Zitkala-Sa was a relative of Sitting Bull. 

Two days after the article appeared, ethnologist James Mooney took the 

stand before the Senate subcommittee and charged that Zitkala-Sa had no 

right to speak on the peyote issue. Unlike himself, Zitkala-Sa had never 

participated in or even attended a peyote meeting. He refuted all of her 

charges of indecent sexual excesses, which she asserted resulted from pey¬ 

ote use. Most devastatingly, he displayed the Washington Times article and 

photograph charging that while Zitkala-Sa claimed to be a Sioux woman, 

the traditional costume she wore was not Sioux at all, but from a southern 

tribe and that her belt was a Navajo man’s belt. Finally, Mooney pointed 

out, that in her complete ignorance, Mrs. Bonnin carried a peyote man’s 

fan in the photo. 

A severely shaken Zitkala-Sa appeared before the subcommittee on the 

following day providing all the testimony she could muster regarding pey¬ 

ote’s ill effects, which she had witnessed while in Utah. Moreover, she 

darkly warned that Anglo young people would soon also fall prey to pey¬ 

ote’s “drug users” if Congress did not act. But her humiliation had been 

complete. On a national stage, Mooney’s charges had portrayed her as 

someone not only ignorant of peyote, but of the very Sioux culture so cen¬ 

tral to her own constructed identity. 

The trials Zitkala-Sa faced in the U.S. Senate were mirrored by growing 

factionalism within the sai. As editor of the Quarterly Journal, newly re¬ 

named the American Indian Magazine, Zitkala-Sa continued to pursue her 

own agenda of celebrating Indian, especially Sioux, heritage. At the end of 

1917 she published a special issue of the magazine devoted to the Sioux. 

But this celebration of individual tribal identity served only to further 

rend the Society. Too late, Zitkala-§a sought to bridge the tribal divisions 

that her own actions had fostered through a celebration of Indian patriot¬ 

ism in the wake of America’s entry into World War I. In her articles, Zit¬ 

kala-Sa proudly proclaimed that five thousand Indian men, including her 
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husband, were saving their country in the armed forces. Moreover, she 

pointed out, Indian civilians were also making contributions, especially 

those farmers whose crops were sorely needed both at home and by the 

Allied forces abroad. As always, she emphasized the contributions of In¬ 

dian women who were knitting sweaters and socks for the soldiers. Fi¬ 

nally, she announced that Indian peoples had subscribed to roughly ten 

million dollars in Liberty Bonds. The sai’s annual conference of 1917 was 

canceled as a sacrifice made for the war effort. 

A conference was held during the following year in the heart of Sioux 

country in Pierre, South Dakota, but fewer than thirty members attended. 

Zitkala-Sa publicly blamed poor attendance on the war, but in fact the 

pro-peyote faction boycotted the meeting. Others stayed away in part be¬ 

cause of a growing disappointment over the inability of the SAi to in¬ 

fluence U.S. government policy. Zitkala-Sa and Society president Charles 

Eastman were pushing Congress hard for passage of Indian citizenship 

legislation. To create public awareness of this issue, Zitkala-Sa went so far 

as to petition President Woodrow Wilson to include Indian representa¬ 

tives at the peace conference in Versailles. Preoccupied with his self-pro¬ 

claimed role of world mediator, Wilson refused to consider the petition. 

Zitkala-Sa expected no more, but she had made a tactical blunder in set¬ 

ting yet another goal that the organization could not achieve. 

Still other issues split the sai membership. In her search for allies 

within the Society, Zitkala-Sa appealed to Montezuma by using the 1918 

conference to pass a resolution calling for the immediate abolition of the 

Indian Bureau. This stance alienated the bureau and Indian people who 

were bureau employees. Moreover, the plank alarmed many other sai 

members who feared what the sudden absence of bureau protection 

might mean to many, especially older, Indian peoples. In their eyes the sai 

had taken a radical stance. 

In the end, tribalism had come to the forefront of the sai. With their vi¬ 

sion of a pan-Indian movement, the founders of the Society had hoped to 

submerge individual and tribal interests into a wider Indian identity, one 

that encompassed a commitment the welfare of all Indian peoples. By 

1919, however, it was clear that a Sioux coup had taken place, engineered 

in large part by Zitkala-Sa. In addition to a Sioux president, Eastman, and 

a Sioux secretary-treasurer and editor, Zitkala-Sa, the editorial board of 

the magazine had a large Sioux representation. Board member Elaine 

Eastman also provided a controversial element for not only was she the 

wife of the Society president, but an Anglo—the first non-Indian to be 

given an office in the organization. 
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At the annual conference in 1919, peyote supporters returned in force 

and secured the election of Thomas Sloan as SAi president. Stunned by 

Sloan’s victory and refusing to bend on the issue of peyote, Zitkala-§a re¬ 

signed all of her offices within the organization. 

Her association with the sai at an end, Zitkala-Sa began to look for 

other platforms to voice her views on Indian affairs. In 1920 she began as¬ 

sembling the stories she had published decades earlier in journals. In the 

following year, these collected stories, many of which were autobiograph¬ 

ical accounts of her childhood, were published in her second book, Amer¬ 

ican Indian Stories. This second book is different from her first one. Old In¬ 

dian Legends, published twenty years before when a young and idealistic 

Zitkala-Sa still believed that her stories could bridge the misunderstand¬ 

ings between the Anglo and Indian worlds and point “a steady finger to¬ 

ward the great brotherhood of mankind.Her adult experiences had 

taught a hard lesson—that the separation between Anglo and Indian re¬ 

sulted from greed, not just from misunderstanding. By 1921 Zitkala-Sa 

knew that brotherhood, while still a noble objective and possible perhaps 

in the next generation, took second place to Anglo hunger for Indian land 

and water. 

For Zitkala-Sa the questions of land and cultural survival were insep¬ 

arable. Without a guaranteed land-base, Indian cultures could not con¬ 

tinue as ongoing societies. Yet the land-base was being rapidly dimin¬ 

ished. During the era of the Indian Allotment (or Dawes) Act (1887 to 

1934), over two-thirds of Indian landholdings in the United States were 

lost. The appointment of Albert B. Fall in 1921 as secretary of the interior 

for the Harding administration raised the stakes even higher. Fall’s hostile 

attitude and flagrant intention to divest Indian peoples of their remaining 

lands was well known. 

Zitkala-Sa had lost the public voice she had used through the Society of 

American Indians to fight for the protection of Indian lands. She needed 

new allies to continue, and she found them in the General Federation of 

Women’s Clubs (gfwc). 

One of the largest and perhaps most prestigious women’s organizations 

in the country, the gfwc established the Indian Welfare Committee in 

1921 and invited Zitkala-Sa to serve as its opening speaker. Probably the 

most articulate Indian woman of her generation, and certainly at home 

behind the podium speaking to large groups, Zitkala-Sa would work often 

with the GFWC in the following years. 

She also sought an ally in a young reformer, John Collier, who organized 

a new group called the American Indian Defense Association (aida). CoT 
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Her, for his part, welcomed Zitkala-Sa’s support. Her position as a speaker 

and investigator for the gfwc’s Indian Welfare Committee, combined 

with the notoriety she had gained while serving as a leader of the SAi, 

made her a useful tool for Collier’s ambitions to form an effective Indian 

defense. 

Nowhere was Anglo greed for Indian land more blatant than in Okla¬ 

homa, where Indian probate decisions and guardianship responsibilities 

had been moved from the Indian Bureau to Oklahoma county courts. Af¬ 

ter the discovery of oil, a small group of attorneys and businessmen 

scrambled to find ways of declaring Indian property owners incompetent 

and to have themselves appointed to guardianships. In late 1923, under 

the auspices of the Indian Rights Association, Zitkala-Sa traveled to Okla¬ 

homa along with Matthew K. Sniffen of the ira and Charles H. Fabens, an 

attorney, to investigate cases of land theft. What they found were truly 

horrifying instances of murder, kidnapping, rape, and wholesale abuse. 

They printed their findings the following year in a thirty-nine page pam¬ 

phlet entitled Oklahoma’s Poor Rich Indians: An Orgy of Graft and Exploita¬ 

tion of the Five Civilized Tribes, Legalized Robbery, published by the ira. 

The authors concentrated on six counties containing large Indian popu¬ 

lations, and demonstrated through abundant evidence that guardians, 

courts, and lawyers had taken up to 70 percent of Indian estates as “ad¬ 

ministrative costs” for their so-called guardianships. Indian children died 

of malnutrition while their court-appointed guardians grew rich by 

squandering their estates. While Sniffen reviewed the growth of the pro¬ 

fessional guardian scheme in Oklahoma, Fabens outlined its basis in fed¬ 

eral and state jurisprudence, exposing the corrupt state political system 

by which county court judges were elected for two-year terms on the basis 

of political patronage that they repaid with lucrative guardian appoint¬ 

ments. Zitkala-Sa drove the point home by providing heartrending ac¬ 

counts of children who had been brutalized and stripped of their land and 

mineral rights. 

One example was the case of Ledcie Sechi, a seven-year-old Choctaw 

girl, who had inherited twenty acres of oil-rich land from her mother. In 

the fall of 192.2, the courts appointed an Anglo guardian, a Mr. Whiteman, 

to manage her property, which was valued at close to twenty thousand 

dollars. From this rich estate, the guardian paid little Ledcie and her 

grandmother a living allowance of fifteen dollars a month, reducing them 

to a state of near starvation. “The little Choctaw girl, with her feeble 

grandmother came to town carrying their clothes, a bundle of faded rags, 

in a flour sack. Ledcie was dirty, filthy, and covered with vermin. She was 
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emaciated and weighed about 47 pounds.” Employees of the Indian 

Health Service quickly took charge of the little girl, providing her with 

medical attention and proper nourishment. By July 1923 she had im¬ 

proved to the point where she could be placed in an Indian school, the 

Wheelock Academy. But the Indian Bureau could not act in defiance of the 

county courts to protect this little girl from her “guardian.” 

Mr. Whiteman, evidently fearing to lose his grasp on his ward, demanded the 

child, and Ledcie Stechi, child of much abuse, was returned to the custody of 

her legal guardian 24 hours after she was taken to the school where she would 

have had good care. The last time the aged grandmother had seen Ledcie, and 

only for a few minutes was on the 12th of July. 

A month later, on the 14th of August, word was brought to the hills that Led¬ 

cie was dead. .. . The following day, at dawn, before the corpse had arrived, par¬ 

ties of grafters arrived .. . and harassed the bereaved old grandmother about the 

future disposal of Ledcie’s valuable properties. . . . The Court has already ap¬ 

pointed a guardian for the grandmother. . . . She, too, will go the way of her 

grandchild, as sheep for slaughter by ravenous wolves, o 

The publication of Poor Rich Indians prompted a congressional investi¬ 

gation into the Oklahoma probate courts in 1924. But powerful interests 

in Oklahoma blocked any congressional action. A warrant was even is¬ 

sued for Zitkala-Sa’s arrest, which effectively prevented her from being 

present in the state while the committee hearings were under way. In the 

end, it was a whitewash; the Senate subcommittee exonerated the county 

courts, ironically declaring them “lily-white.” 

Disgusted by her perceived failure in Oklahoma, Zitkala-Sa turned 

again to John Collier and accepted a position on the American Indian De¬ 

fense Association’s National Advisory Board. In these early years of the 

1920s, there existed a strong kinship of ideals between Zitkala-Sa and Col¬ 

lier. Both rejected assimilation and viewed Indian cultures as superior to 

those of Anglo America. Collier’s defense of the ongoing viability of In¬ 

dian societies could not help but win the glowing admiration of Zitkala- 

Sa, as did his active efforts to protect Indian lands. For his part. Collier 

recognized Zitkala-Sa’s importance as a spokesperson for reform. With¬ 

out Collier, Zitkala-Sa might have been omitted entirely from the reform 

movement of the 1920s. She had made too many enemies, both in the bu¬ 

reau and among the Indian leaders of her day. She was not invited, for ex¬ 

ample, to join the Department of Interior’s Committee of One Hundred, 

formed in 1923 and composed of many of her old friends from the SAi, to 

advise on Indian policy reform. CoUier, on the other hand, offered her a 

role to play through aida. Their friendship was strong. Collier often made 
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Zitkala-Sa his hostess for visiting delegations of musicians and artists, 

particularly Indian people, who came to Washington. Zitkala-Sa delighted 

in this role, organizing Indian music and dance concerts. 

Still, Zitkala-Sa continued to believe in the idea of a political pan-Indian 

movement whose leadership and active membership would be composed 

of Indian peoples. With the rapid demise of the SAi, Zitkala-Sa founded a 

new organization, the National Council of American Indians (ncai), in 

1924. In large part Zitkala-Sa’s formation of the ncai came about as a di¬ 

rect response to the political corruption she had viewed in Oklahoma and 

to the passage of the Indian Citizenship Act in June 1924. One of the or¬ 

ganization’s principal purposes was to develop an Indian political bloc 

and organize the Indian vote, particularly at the state and county levels, to 

bring pressure on politicians. In this endeavor, Zitkala-Sa made perhaps 

her most significant contribution to the pan-Indian movement as it 

evolved in the twentieth century. Indian peoples, she argued, must seek 

more than merely influence in national policy decisions, which was the 

goal of the sal Rather, they must actively involve themselves in Anglo 

government to protect their rights to their land and cultural inheritance. 

Ensuring her right to lead, Zitkala-Sa appointed herself president of the 

new organization, while her husband assumed the supportive role of sec¬ 

retary-treasurer. Zitkala-Sa immediately set about to legitimize the Na¬ 

tional Council of American Indians as the national pan-Indian movement 

in the eyes of both Indian and Anglo America. She rented offices in the 

Bliss Building in Washington, the site of the Indian Bureau and the Amer¬ 

ican Indian Defense Association, and formerly the headquarters of the 

SAL She and her husband traveled endlessly throughout the country visit¬ 

ing reservations, organizing the vote, and bringing back evidence of fed¬ 

eral and state corruption and policy failures. These firsthand accounts of 

bureau mismanagement, impoverished lands, and inadequate health care 

provided Zitkala-Sa with the ammunition she needed to testify frequently 

before the Senate Subcommittee on Indian Affairs. The Bonnins were of¬ 

ten at Yankton, trying to help protect sacred sites from mining interests 

and, most crucially, lending their support to the traditional tribal council. 

While in Washington, Zitkala-Sa was often in Congress, lobbying on be¬ 

half of Indian peoples and publishing her written pieces in the ncai’s In¬ 

dian News Letter. She never relented in her goal of organizing Indian vot¬ 

ing blocs. Political power, she argued, was the only protection for Indian 

self-determination. “Remember This and Organize” became her slogan. 

The Indian right to self-determination was always uppermost in Zit¬ 

kala-Sa’s heart and mind. So dedicated was she to the concept that Indian 
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peoples and Indian peoples alone must decide what is in their best inter¬ 

est, that she finally found herself in a position in which she had to oppose 

her old friend John Collier. 

In 1934, after Franklin D. Roosevelt was elected president, Collier fi¬ 

nally achieved the position he needed to make significant policy reforms: 

he was appointed commissioner of Indian Affairs. The onset of Collier’s 

tenure as commissioner brought to an end the fifty-year period of allot¬ 

ment begun under the Dawes Act. Collier wanted to protect the Indian 

cultures and land-base, promote economic development, and restore 

tribal self-government primarily through passage of the Wheeler-Howard 

Act (otherwise known as the Indian Reorganization Act) in 1934. To that 

end. Collier offered Indian peoples the opportunity to accept written con¬ 

stitutions outlining tribal governments. Collier called the day of the act’s 

passage “Indian Independence Day.” Not all Indian peoples agreed; in all, 

seventy-seven tribes voted not to accept the act despite the enormous fi¬ 

nancial benefits attached to their doing so. 

The failure of the act can be attributed directly to Collier’s determina¬ 

tion to push through his programs without regard to opinions of the In¬ 

dian peoples involved. Looking always to Taos, where he had first so ad¬ 

mired the culture and society of Pueblo peoples. Collier seemed unable to 

understand that other tribes had vastly different cultures and alternative 

traditions of political leadership. While Collier undeniably brought 

change for the better to the Indian Bureau, he was handicapped by an in¬ 

tolerance of criticism and a refusal to compromise or even recognize any 

view other than his own. His often abrasive personality alienated many 

Indians like the Bonnins, who sought real self-determination in the 1930s 

and refused to accept yet another new U.S. policy dictated by the bureau. 

In the end the Bonnins were principally responsible for the decision of 

the Yankton people to reject the act. By November 1935 Indian Office rep¬ 

resentatives seeking to impose the act at Yankton reported to Collier that 

everywhere they went the Bonnins had “beat us to it,” and the situation 

appeared hopeless. 

The failure of the bureau to consult with the Yanktons on drawing up 

their new constitution and its implicit assault on self-determination lay 

at the heart of Zitkala-§a’s opposition. But there were other issues as well. 

Zitkala-Sa wanted a recognition of tribal membership extended to all 

Yankton Sioux, both those living on the reservation and those, like herself, 

who lived apart. She also wanted tribal membership extended to all Yank¬ 

ton children born off the reservation. Such questions would be central to 

twentieth-century American Indian identity, but Collier refused all com- 
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promise. His only concession was to urge the Bonnins to persuade Yankton 

to accept the tribal constitution as it was, with the promise that they could 

make whatever changes they wanted later. This offer smacked of old white 

paternalism—sign the treaty and trust us. Such a proposal was anathema 

to all that both Zitkala-Sa and Raymond Bonnin represented. 

In the midst of this final battle over the rights of Indian people to self- 

determination, Zitkala-Sa died suddenly on 21 January 1938 shortly after 

returning to Washington from Yankton. She died a sad and profoundly 

disillusioned woman, frustrated at what she perceived to be her failure to 

achieve any measurable change in American Indian policy. At her death, 

the Indian was still, in her view, “a veritable prisoner of war” at the mercy 

of the Indian Bureau. 

Yet Zitkala-Sa’s life was of profoundly more value than she recognized. 

She was the first to insist on an equal role for Indian women in national 

Indian organizations. She played an active leadership role in the Society 

of American Indians, the twentieth century’s first political pan-Indian 

movement. Following its demise, she kept the ideal of a pan-Indian polit¬ 

ical organization alive during those crucial decades of the 1920s and 

1930s, leading directly to the formation of subsequent groups later in the 

century that still exist today: the National Congress of American Indians 

and the American Indian Movement. She led the way in identifying the is¬ 

sues that would be of primary importance to the survival of Indian com¬ 

munities: the protection of land-bases and natural resources. Perhaps 

most important, she insisted upon the recognition of an Indian identity 

for all Native American peoples, not just those who live on reservations. 

Today, over 50 percent of American Indian peoples live off reservations. It 

was Zitkala-Sa who, in those vital early decades of the twentieth century, 

led the fight to protect their rights and their identity. 
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Robert Yellowtail 

Crow 

BY FREDERICK E. HOXIE AND TIM BERNARDIS 

Robert Summers Yellowtail, a tribal leader who defended the Crow com¬ 

munity from greedy ranchers, designing senators, and indifferent pres¬ 

idents, came into the world at one of the most difficult moments in the 

tribe’s history. The future councilman, tribal chairman, and agency super¬ 

intendent was born at the end of the i88os, a decade that witnessed the 

tribe’s relocation and confinement within the boundaries of a reservation 

in a small corner of the vast, abundant landscape that had once made up 

“Crow country.”* 

Yellowtail was probably born in 1889. Over the course of his life he had 

at least three Crow names. He was first called Biawakshish, or “Summer,” 

later Shoopaaheesh, or “Four War Deeds,” and finally Axichish, or “The 

Wet” (the name of a nineteenth-century war chief who was a member of 

the same clan as Robert Yellowtail). The first of these names stayed with 

him to some degree throughout his life. Yellowtail was born to a family 

that, like its neighbors and kinsmen, would be forced to dwell within the 

reach of government agents and to transform their way of life so they 

would resemble—at least outwardly—the Anglo-American ranchers and 

farmers who were beginning to take up homesteads in eastern Montana’s 

Yellowstone Valley. Like others of his generation, Yellowtail would be 

tracked by the record keepers at Crow Agency, the reservation head¬ 

quarters. When those records indicated that he was of school age, he 

would be taken forcibly from his parents and deposited in dreary govern¬ 

ment classrooms. As he grew to maturity, he and his family would be in¬ 

spected and harassed by agents and government “matrons” who would 

count them, scrutinize their dwelling, test their facility with English, rec¬ 

ord their style of dress, and inventory their belongings. The Office of In¬ 

dian Affairs would even insist that Robert and his siblings abandon the 
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tribe’s tradition of giving every member a unique name and take instead 

tbeir father’s name—Yellowtail—as their own.^ 

Robert Yellowtail and his family would suffer these indignities as part 

of the government’s effort to “raise up” American Indians to “civiliza¬ 

tion.” In the late nineteenth century, agents and missionaries believed 

their efforts would save the last remnants of a dying race; their solutions 

make modern readers wince, but their fears were grounded in fact. As a 

child, Yellowtail and his family witnessed illness and death on a daily ba¬ 

sis. In 1887 the Office of Indian Affairs reported that there were nearly 

2,500 Crows living within the boundaries of the tribal reservation; by the 

time Yellowtail was a teenager that figure had dropped to less than 

2,000—a 20 percent decline. Because the Crows maintained a high birth 

rate, this decline can only be attributed to pervasive illness and wide¬ 

spread infant mortality. During the 1890s between a third and a half of the 

community reported serious illnesses to agency physicians each year. The 

tribe’s agent summarized these conditions in 1888 when he wrote that 

“hereditary diseases and the abrupt change from a nomadic life and an all¬ 

meat diet to living in houses and an almost vegetable diet is causing the 

enormous death rate. ”5 

But despite these hardships, Robert Yellowtail grew up knowing much 

more than regimentation and suffering. He was born beside tbe Little Big¬ 

horn River in the Crow way. His mother was surrounded by relatives who 

welcomed the new baby to her clan—the Whistling Water people. His 

father’s clan relatives in the Big Lodge clan joined in the celebration. 

Government officials might view a child born in the country in a tradi¬ 

tional camp as backward, but the child belonged first to a vast family that 

extended outward across the length and breadth of the Big Horns and 

their surrounding prairies, and reached back through time to the chiefs 

and elders who had guided the Crow people for generations. 

Throughout his life, Yellowtail celebrated bis ties to clan and kin de¬ 

spite the fact that non-Indians, obsessed with racial boundaries and what 

they called “blood,” would regularly deride him as a “mixed-blood,” a 

concept that had no meaning in his tribe at the time of his birth. The boy’s 

mother was Elizabeth (“Lizzie”) Frazee Chienne, the granddaughter of a 

French-Canadian trader who had settled with the Crows in mid-century, 

and his father was Yellowtail, who had been too young to win war honors 

against the Sioux, but who is still remembered as a resourceful young man 

who was a good farmer, a good singer, an expert rifleman, and a promi¬ 

nent member of the tribe’s tobacco society. With three sisters and two 

brothers, and dozens of members of an extended family, Yellowtail easily 
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fit the Crow definition of a wealthy child. Blessed with many relatives, 

and lucky enough to see his siblings survive into adulthood, he grew up 

with ready-made allies and supporters. 

Robert Yellowtail’s relatives were always important to him, not only for 

the emotional comfort they could provide in times of stress but also be¬ 

cause they formed a cadre of devoted volunteers who would stump for 

him in elections, argue his case before his enemies, and open their homes 

and pockets to him during political campaigns. Because he was married 

four times and had seven children and dozens of grandchildren. Yellow- 

tail’s family connections extended even farther. In 1911 he married the 

daughter of Spotted Horse, one of the most outspoken leaders of the early 

reservation years. Following her death in the 1920s he married Lillian Bull 

Shows (Hogan), a union that ended in divorce. In 1932 he married Marga¬ 

ret Pickett (whom he outlived) and in i960 he married Dorothy Payne, a 

Choctaw woman from Oklahoma.^ 

Much of Robert Yellowtail’s success can be attributed to his extensive 

bicultural skills. Reared in the Crow way, he nonetheless learned many of 

the ways of the whites as one of the first generation of Crows educated in 

schools. He deftly combined both to achieve high status. Though he 

lacked the aura of mystical power held by many nineteenth-century Crow 

leaders, he adhered to kinship reciprocities and respect for Crow values 

and traditions as demonstrated in giveaways to clan fathers and others. 

This made him respected among his own people and played a key role in 

his political career. His ambitions for political influence and status paral¬ 

leled the goals of traditional careers. His oratorical powers in both the 

Crow and English languages were renowned, recalling the skill of orator 

chiefs of the buffalo days. He was high-strung and impatient, flamboyant 

and bombastic. He had an excellent command of the English language, 

both oral and written, and had studied the law extensively. He had the 

support of the people as a result of helping ward off the pressures to open 

the reservation to white homesteading from 1913 to 192.0, much like the 

old chiefs who had remained in power as long as they were successful in 

war and fending off tribal enemies. 

Yellowtail also possessed certain personal characteristics that served 

him well; he was remarkably intelligent, shrewd, dynamic, and humor¬ 

ous. He could also be very precise and businesslike. He had diverse inter¬ 

ests, performing as a boy soprano in his youth, picking up the clarinet at 

boarding school, singing Indian tunes (especially Crow Round Dance 

tunes) in adulthood and belonging to the Ree dance society. Yellowtail 

was a lifelong sports fan, often traveling to (and betting on) college foot- 
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ball games across the West. Yellowtail’s critics charged him with being ill- 

tempered, a bully, and of working primarily for his own interests, but his 

lifelong, consistently self-stated goals were for human rights, self-deter¬ 

mination, tribal autonomy, and economic rehabilitation for his people. 

Robert’s boyhood was centered in the ranching country at the head of 

the Little Big Horn valley. His parents and other relatives farmed and 

raised horses and cattle along the eastern slopes of the mountain range, 

thereby providing a living in an area far enough away from. Crow Agency 

that their life was only occasionally interrupted by outsiders. 

One of the first of these disruptions came within days of Yellowtail’s 

birth: Father Pierpaolo Prando, an Italian Jesuit who had come to live 

among the Crows soon after their relocation to the reservation in 1884, 

appeared to baptize the infant. Fittingly for a community that found 

Christian ideals attractive but cared little for doctrinal disputes among 

Christian sects, Yellowtail was later re-baptized by James Burgess, a Prot¬ 

estant missionary, and as an adult would attend all six Christian churches 

in the nearby village of Lodge Grass. Yellowtail and most of his family 

eventually identified with the Baptist congregation in Lodge Grass, but he 

maintained his ties to traditional Crow religious societies, consulted tra¬ 

ditional healers, and supported the revival of the Sun Dance among the 

members of his tribe. During his career in government and politics, Yel¬ 

lowtail worked closely with dozens of powerful non-Indian officials but 

he never shared their distaste for Indian “heathenism.”5 

Even though he would always remember the day White Arm, a member 

of the Indian Office’s local police force, took him away from his parents 

and enrolled him in Crow Agency’s boarding school, Yellowtail never re¬ 

sisted schooling. He was articulate and curious and he learned very 

quickly. He was only four years old when White Arm took him to school. 

Naturally he hated being away from home, but he was fascinated by the 

world of learning—so fascinated in fact that he later recalled that he 

sought a place at one of the government’s off-reservation boarding 

schools. He was a curious young man and, he told relatives later, he left 

the school “in disgust” after seeing the way Crow children were treated at 

the local school. Despite the prospect of a lengthy separation from his 

family, he may have wanted to transfer for he always spoke warmly of his 

years at Sherman Institute in Riverside, California. Modeled on the fa¬ 

mous off-reservation boarding school in Carlisle, Pennsylvania, Sherman 

was created to extend the Victorian philosophy of “Kill the Indian, Save 

the Man,” to the Southwest. But despite its stiff uniforms and authoritar¬ 

ian culture, Sherman opened broad realms of learning to the young Mon- 
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tanan. Yellowtail graduated from the institute’s high school division in 

1907. Fascinated by American history and law, he managed to land a posi¬ 

tion in the office of the local justice of the peace and decided to remain in 

California. His dream was to become a lawyer. Still a teenager, Yellowtail 

sensed that an understanding of legal procedures would help him deal 

with the government and its agents. He came back to Montana in about 

1910, still hoping to attend law school, but events at home would soon 

draw him into the political arena; he would stay in that arena for the rest 

of his life.® 

Following the example of his hardworking siblings and kinsmen, Yel¬ 

lowtail used whatever cash he could gather to buy horses and cattle, 

which he could raise in the upper reaches of the Little Big Horn valley and 

sell at the rail yards in nearby Hardin and Billings. Like others in his 

family, Robert sought enough economic independence to free him from 

government support and the controls that went with it. His younger 

brother Tom recalled years later that the farming routine of their youth 

also deepened their affection for their homeland. “I enjoyed working and 

being outside,” Tom wrote in 1991. “We would plow and plant in the 

spring, do our haying in the summer, and then harvest crops in the fall. 

. . . Our outside lives kept us close to the beauty of nature and made us 

physically and spiritually strong. ”7 

Yellowtail married in 1911 and began to settle into this new life, but he 

didn’t concentrate on business for very long. He soon became aware of a 

burgeoning confrontation that set the impoverished and isolated Crows 

against the assembled might of the Indian Office and Montana’s political 

establishment. Young, energetic, and self-confident, Robert must have ap¬ 

proached this struggle with some of the same excitement his father, his 

clan uncle “The Wet,” and their old comrades had described when they 

told their stories of plains warfare. In the nineteenth century the Crows 

were frequently outnumbered and outgunned on the battlefield, but they 

dodged, shifted ground, and found some way to survive. Robert would 

teach the members of his tribe to apply those warriors’ tactics to this new, 

bloodless fight. 

Not surprisingly, the new fight was over land. Between 1851 and 1868, 

the officially recognized boundaries of “Crow country” shrank to such an 

extent that the tribal lands were reduced from thirty-eight million to 

eight million acres. In the years just prior to Robert’s birth, tribal leaders 

who felt hemmed in by federal officials and who were under attack by the 

Sioux and Blackfeet decided to abandon their ancient hunting grounds in 

Wyoming’s Big Horn Basin along the upper Missouri and in far eastern 
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Montana (the two areas consisting of more than one and a half million 

acres) in exchange for what they believed would be secure reservation 

boundaries in the Yellowstone Valley. When the government relocated its 

agency headquarters to the new town of Crow Agency in 1884, it told the 

tribe the sixty-mile swath of prairie running along the northern slopes of 

the Bighorn Mountains would be the tribe’s final homeland. “The greatest 

and most important question facing the Crows today,” their agent wrote 

in 1882, “is to locate them permanently on the best part of their country. 

. . .” The relocation of 1884 seemed to accomplish that goal.* 

Although the Indian Office established its agency headquarters at Crow 

Agency, along the banks of the Little Bighorn River, Crow families like 

Yellowtail’s, who had complied with the order to relocate, avoided mak¬ 

ing their homes too close to the government’s offices. During the 1880s 

four major communities emerged on the new reservation, each some dis¬ 

tance from Crow Agency. These four “districts” were Pryor (along Pryor 

Creek, sixty miles west of the Little Big Horn), Big Horn (in the Big Horn 

valley some twenty miles west of the agency). Black Lodge (ten miles 

north of the agency, near the site of modern Hardin, Montana), and the 

Yellowtails’ community of Lodge Grass, twenty miles south of the reser¬ 

vation headquarters. These districts were actually clusters of family res¬ 

idences and farms rather than organized towns; their centers were usually 

a collection of government supply sheds and missions. For the most part 

the Crow families who gathered in these four communities lived like Rob¬ 

ert Yellowtail’s parents. They set up camps and cabins near kinsmen, grew 

hay for their horses and cattle, kept a truck garden for subsistence, and 

steered clear of the agent. 

As peaceful and cooperative as this gradual process of adaptation and 

resettlement into agricultural districts may appear today, it did not fit the 

expectations of the white bureaucrats and politicians who had advocated 

it. They wanted to “dissolve the bonds of tribalism”; they expected the 

tribe to evolve into a collection of independent farmers who would care 

more for their individual crops than for their common tribal heritage. 

During the 1880s Crow families who gave up the idea of crossing reserva¬ 

tion boundaries to hunt and gather and who began turning to new forms 

of subsistence believed they were embarking on a new future. It did not 

occur to them that this future would not include continuing to think of 

themselves as Crows. Outsiders who witnessed the shift from hunting to 

farming insisted that the transition also include a decline in tribal alle¬ 

giance. They therefore readied plans for what they believed would be the 

next stage in the tribe’s march towards “civilization.” 
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During the years Robert was attending high school, Indian Office per¬ 

sonnel, spurred on by local non-Indian ranchers and settlers, began call¬ 

ing for the sale of “unused” Crow pastureland to homesteaders. They also 

urged tribal members to relocate themselves once again—this time to 

one-hundred-sixty-acre farms that they would own individually and oper¬ 

ate alone. This campaign was part of a national effort that had begun dec¬ 

ades earlier but that had gathered steam in the i88os and culminated in 

1887 with congressional approval of the General Allotment Act (or Dawes 

Act). That law empowered the Indian Office to act unilaterally to divide 

or “allot” reservations into homesteads and sell off the “surplus” to white 

settlers. It also established individual landholding as a national policy 

goal. Implementation of the new law began slowly, but in 1892 the Indian 

Office applied it to the Southern Cheyennes, an Oklahoma tribe with no 

interest in agriculture and little power to resist the active lobbying of the 

region’s boosters and “sooners.” Calls for the allotment of other home¬ 

lands were somewhat muted amid the agricultural depression of the 

1890s, but when prosperity returned and agricultural interests organized, 

the pressure resumed. Crow leaders resisted these demands, but govern¬ 

ment threats and the prospect of individual cash payments succeeded in 

winning approval for a kind of appeasement policy in which tribal leaders 

agreed to modest land cessions involving two thinly populated areas of 

the reservation. As the new century began these leaders hoped that the 

whites were now satisfied. 

When Robert Yellowtail returned home from Sherman Institute, the 

Crows’ recent policy of resistance and appeasement was about to be 

tested once more. The reservation had been surveyed and allotted during 

the years he was in California and now the government sought to dispose 

of millions of acres of “surplus” lands that had not been assigned to indi¬ 

viduals as part of their individual allotments. Tribal leaders insisted these 

lands were needed for future allotments and for communal grazing pas¬ 

tures. The Indian Office’s demand became public in 1908 when James 

McLaughlin, a tough-talking former agent (he had ordered the fatal “ar¬ 

rest” of Sitting Bull in 1890), was dispatched to Crow Agency to place an 

ultimatum before a gathering of Crow district headmen. The united oppo¬ 

sition of Plenty Coups and other reservation leaders of Robert’s father’s 

generation blunted McLaughlin’s assault, but the grizzled bureaucrat and 

his superiors made it clear that they would be back. The tribe continued 

to hold fast, but in 1909 and 1910 the Montana congressional delegation 

began to campaign actively for the issue and to vie with one another to see 

who would be the first to succeed in getting congress to mandate the sale. 
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Prior to this final confrontation over the sale of “surplus” lands, the 

Crows had dealt with the United States through a general council of 

“chiefs and headmen,” which was dominated by senior men. In the preres¬ 

ervation days these leaders had been band leaders and veteran warriors 

who carried great personal prestige and could count on the support of 

their clans and warrior societies. During the 1890s these older men began 

to pass from the scene and were gradually replaced by reservation politi¬ 

cians. The most successful of these was Plenty Coups, who had been a suc¬ 

cessful war leader in the 1870s, but who did not come forward as a tribal 

spokesperson until after the relocation of the agency to Little Big Horn. 

Plenty Coups became a remarkably able leader of the general council, 

but the tribe’s confrontation with the Indian Office and Montana’s politi¬ 

cal leaders over the unallotted lands pushed the old war leader’s skills to 

the limit. The conflict was persistent—congressmen filed their bills year 

after year—and the battle had to be waged on several fronts—in the local 

county, in the statehouse, in Congress, and before the general American 

public. Plenty Coups was determined to resist, but younger, better-ed¬ 

ucated Crows who were comfortable with English and aware of potential 

allies in Washington and elsewhere began to propose new tactics. Sensing 

the rise of progressive reform in national politics, these younger leaders 

presented the Crows as victims of corporate avarice and government in¬ 

sensitivity and looked for support from reformers who had access to na¬ 

tional press outlets. 

This new language of resistance drew Yellowtail into Crow political 

leadership. His first official position was as a district representative on a 

tribal business committee set up to negotiate grazing leases with large cat¬ 

tle interests and to give the tribe an ongoing and credible voice in the con¬ 

tinuing land dispute. Robert Yellowtail joined the business committee in 

1912. He was initially absorbed in the struggle to defend Crow land, but 

his energy and quick wits soon won the attention of older men like Plenty 

Coups and drew him into a wide range of issues. In February 1913, less 

than a year after being named to the committee, Yellowtail made his first 

trip to Washington DC. Ostensibly serving as an interpreter for Medicine 

Crow, Plenty Coups, and other older men at the dedication of the Na¬ 

tional Indian Memorial in New York City, Yellowtail also accompanied 

the leaders when they called on the commissioner of Indian Affairs to pro¬ 

test the lease that Frank Heinrich, a cattle owner, had recently signed de¬ 

spite the tribe’s objections. (Interestingly, Yellowtail later claimed that it 

was this visit that made him a lifelong “Teddy Roosevelt Republican.”)® 

Yellowtail soon became an indispensable member of the Crow business 
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committee. A charismatic speaker and fluid writer, he could draft peti¬ 

tions, fire off blistering letters, and charm potential allies. The first report 

of his oratory appeared in the Hardin Herald on 3 September 1915. Not sur¬ 

prisingly the weekly newspaper in that white town bordering the reserva¬ 

tion was sympathetic to the campaign to “open” the reservation, but its 

reporter could not resist Yellowtail’s appeal. The news story noted that at 

a recent summit meeting of tribal leaders and local ranchers called by 

Senator Henry Myers of Montana and Governor John Benjamin Kendrick 

of Wyoming, a young man named Robert Yellowtail had captured most of 

the attention by delivering “an extended speech” that mustered legal and 

moral arguments to urge his adversaries to withdraw. The paper pro¬ 

nounced the young man “quite an orator.”^° 

At the end of his life Yellowtail would recall his days as a young council¬ 

man with considerable pride. Sitting at Plenty Coups’s elbow, he felt he 

had accomplished a kind of twentieth-century “war deed,” and he often 

told stories about his adventures in the same way he must have heard 

“The Wet” and Spotted Horse talk of their own youthful victories. In later 

years Yellowtail would fondly recall a meeting in a hotel room the evening 

before one of the hearings. The elder leaders wanted to hold a traditional 

war medicine-making session but they lacked the dried buffalo dung nec¬ 

essary for the ceremonial fire. Someone was dispatched to the national 

zoo, the essential ingredient appeared, and the next day the Crows were 

triumphant once again.“ 

Each time a Montana congressman or senator brought up a bill to seize 

Crow land, the tribe would send a delegation to Washington to speak out 

against it. Yellowtail never failed to be part of the group. He traveled east 

in 1915, 1916, and 1917. Returning to the Crows’ nineteenth-century 

strategy of using outside allies to defeat powerful enemies. Crow politi¬ 

cians such as Robert Yellowtail were able to slow the alienation of Crow 

lands. As the battle wore on, Yellowtail and the others developed close ties 

to sympathetic progressive politicians such as Robert La Follette, lobby¬ 

ists from the Indian Rights Association, and a small group of Washington 

attorneys who were beginning to represent tribal interests. Each trip re¬ 

quired orchestrating the support of these allies and presenting the Crow 

case in the most politically appealing language. 

In 1917 an exasperated Senate leadership invited the Crow leaders to 

draft their own bill. The politicians expressed sympathy for the tribe’s po¬ 

sition but said the pressure from local white ranchers and farmers was so 

intense—and the wartime need for grain and beef so great—that some 

compromise was necessary. The invitation divided the Crows, with the 
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seventy-year-old Plenty Coups insisting on further resistance and younger 

delegates declaring that this would be their last chance to cut a deal. Yel- 

lowtail and his allies proposed to divide the entire reservation among its 

members. No land would be opened immediately to whites and strict lim¬ 

its would be placed on the amount of land outsiders could lease or rent, 

but tribal members who gained fee-simple title to their portion would be 

allowed to sell. Debate over the proposal raged across the reservation for 

two years. Yellowtail supported the plan, but Plenty Coups and other el¬ 

ders—calling themselves “long hairs” in contrast to the well-shorn board¬ 

ing school graduates—resisted. Finally, in the summer of 1919, Plenty 

Coups declared his support for a division of tribal land and the tribe unan¬ 

imously endorsed a bill that became law the following year.^^ 

Making it more difficult for non-Indians to gain access to reservation 

resources, Yellowtail and his colleagues accomplished something of a vic¬ 

tory. In addition the entire process allowed a younger generation and new 

type of Crow leadership to emerge. But while the faces of the leaders 

changed, the goal remained the same: to defend Crow lands from attack 

by outsiders. In later years, Joseph Medicine Crow summed up the signif¬ 

icance of Yellowtail’s actions when he stated that Yellowtail “saved our 

reservation ... he has been a warrior. . . . That’s why we are still Crow In¬ 

dians to this very day. 

While Plenty Coups would live until 1932, Yellowtail’s role in the passage 

of the Crow Act propelled him into both tribal and national prominence. 

Significantly, the elder warrior was not part of the 1919 tribal delegation 

that testified before the Senate Subcommittee on Indian Affairs on behalf 

of the new bill. When the moment to address the senators arrived, the del¬ 

egation’s principal spokesperson was Robert Yellowtail. He used the occa¬ 

sion to serve notice that despite their willingness to compromise after 

more than a decade of resistance, the Crows had no intention of fading 

from view. Observing that President Woodrow Wilson was at that very 

moment deeply engaged in bringing the ideal of self-determination to the 

colonized peoples of the globe, the young orator observed that “within the 

boundaries of his own nation are the American Indians, who have no 

rights whatsoever. ” Brilliantly linking the idealism of the recent war to the 

interests of his tribe, Yellowtail informed the committee that “the Crow In¬ 

dian reservation is a separate, semi-sovereign nation . . . not belonging to 

any State, nor confined within the boundary lines of any state. . . . No Sen¬ 

ator or anyone else,” he warned, “has any right ... to tear us asunder.” 

Crow country, he declared, is “ours . . . not given to us by anybody.”^4 

Yellowtail remained at the center of reservation political life through- 
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out the 1920s. He served on the business committee, the “competency 

commission” created by the Indian Office to determine which tribal 

members should receive fee patent titles to their lands, and was active in 

the negotiations related to grazing and mineral exploration leases. Com¬ 

fortable with businesspeople and confident in his abilities as a rancher, he 

was sympathetic to various proposals to “develop” the economic re¬ 

sources of the reservation. He was also an outspoken defender of tribal 

prerogatives, calling for the ouster of incompetent agency superintend¬ 

ents at several points during the 1920s and, in 1926, supporting the filing 

of a land claim suit against the government in claims court. He was also 

visible in national and state politics. In 1923 he served as a member of the 

Committee of One Hundred, a group assembled by Secretary of the Inte¬ 

rior Hubert Work to evaluate the government’s policies for Indians, and 

in 1926 he ran unsuccessfully for a seat in Congress as an independent. He 

also attended the Republican National Convention in 1928. While a life¬ 

long Republican, he was less motivated by party loyalty than by whoever 

might best support the Crows. 

Throughout the 1920s Yellowtail tried to earn a living from his ranch, 

called “Little Horn Ranch,” located in the hills south of Lodge Grass. Run¬ 

ning cattle near the Wyola Railway Station and along Percheron Creek, he 

battled brutal winters and falling prices. Devastating weather in 1919 and 

1920 nearly wiped him out; he carried a debt that may have been as high 

as fifty thousand dollars for most of the following decade, setting off ru¬ 

mors that he was using political payoffs to keep himself solvent.^5 

Despite his Republican loyalties, Yellowtail was hopeful that the elec¬ 

tion of Franklin Roosevelt in 1932 would encourage change in the stultify¬ 

ing bureaucracy of the Indian Office and bring about support for the self- 

determination ideals he had pronounced before the senate in 1919. 

Offended by the patronizing attitudes of agency employees and worried 

that the deepening depression would finally bring the extinction of the 

Crows so many had predicted for so long, Yellowtail was eager to lobby 

the new president on behalf of change. He drafted a letter to be signed by 

representatives of each Montana reservation and requested funds from 

the agency superintendent so that a Crow delegation could attend Roose¬ 

velt’s inauguration. When the agency superintendent turned him down, 

Yellowtail persuaded his brother-in-law Donald Deer Nose and fellow 

council member James Carpenter to ride along with him to the capitol in 

his own car. In Washington, Yellowtail, Deer Nose, and Carpenter talked 

with anyone who would listen about the need for change in the Indian Of¬ 

fice. Their candidate for commissioner of Indian Affairs was John Collier, 
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the former New York City social worker who had been an outspoken ad¬ 

vocate of greater Indian self-determination since the Harding administra¬ 

tion. To their delight, Collier was named commissioner soon after the 

new president took office. 

For a year after his return from the Roosevelt inauguration Yellowtail led 

a campaign to remove James Hyde as superintendent of the Crow Reserva¬ 

tion. By the end of 1933 the stream of letters and petitions orchestrated by 

Yellowtail and his allies was successful: Hyde was transferred to Crow 

Creek Agency in South Dakota. The next order from Washington was even 

more welcome. Not content with simply agreeing to Yellowtail’s request 

that Hyde be removed, Collier appointed Yellowtail to succeed Hyde. 

It is not clear what led Collier to make this unprecedented decision. 

Never before had a member of an Indian tribe been appointed to super¬ 

vise the agency at his home reservation. Collier and Yellowtail probably 

met in 1923 when both served on the Committee of One Hundred, but 

there is no evidence that they worked together beyond that point. One 

possible connection was the University of California anthropologist Rob¬ 

ert Lowie, who knew Cohier and who had been conducting fieldwork on 

the Crow Reservation since 1907, and whose principal informant was Yel- 

lowtail’s traveling companion, James Carpenter. Whatever the reasoning. 

Collier’s decision was generally welcomed by the Crows and condemned 

by local whites. His predecessor as agency superintendent told a reporter 

from nearby Hardin, “This is something I never dreamed of.”^® 

Yellowtail’s political rivals—a distinct minority within the tribe—com¬ 

plained that the Lodge Grass rancher was being forced on the tribe without 

consultation. Max Big Man, Russell White Bear, Frank Yarlott, and Harry 

Whiteman were aU council members who frequently clashed with Yellow¬ 

tail and who now feared his new power. In response. Collier took yet 

another unprecedented action. He ordered a referendum on the appoint¬ 

ment. The vote took place on 4 May 1934 and produced a ringing endorse¬ 

ment. More than 80 percent of the eligible voters on the reservation turned 

out and more than 70 percent of them cast their ballots for Yellowtail. 

Displaying his flair for the dramatic and his wonderful ability to capital¬ 

ize on his opponents’ ill-humor, Yellowtail proposed that he take office in a 

colorful inauguration ceremony at the end of the summer. With three 

months to prepare, the new superintendent’s supporters created an event 

that celebrated his achievements and burnished his image as the proper 

successor to the recently deceased Plenty Coups. The centerpiece of the 

inauguration was a stirring address that Yellowtail delivered in the park in 

front of the agency headquarters and that was reprinted in fuU the next day 
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on the front page of the local newspaper. From its confident opening— 

’’Friends, this is our home, this is our domain, and this is our country”—to 

its self-congratulatory climax—“a new era . . . has dawned for the Ameri¬ 

can Indian”—Yellowtail’s speech reflected his determination to define the 

Crow community as a distinct pohtical entity within the United States. 

Specifically, Yellowtail used his inaugural address to lay out five goals 

for his administration and, by extension, the administration of John Col¬ 

lier. He called for the adoption of Indian preference in all Indian Office 

hiring, total Indian control of leasing decisions involving cattle ranchers 

and mineral resource developers, distribution of lease proceeds to indi¬ 

viduals, the rapid development of reservation resources, and tribal con¬ 

trol of tribal funds. While modern readers might view this list with some 

skepticism (many of these policies were implemented with limited suc¬ 

cess in later years), it is remarkable that a tribal member who had been 

dismissed by a government official only a few months earlier as “totally 

without principle” was now the government spokesperson on the reserva¬ 

tion. It is also significant that many of his ideas concerning tribal self-de¬ 

termination became general government policy decades later. 

Almost immediately after his inauguration, Yellowtail faced a losing 

battle with his political enemies. Commissioner John Collier insisted that 

the Crows adopt the recently signed Indian Reorganization Act and form 

a federally approved tribal government. With a half century of antagonis¬ 

tic relations with local agents behind them. Crow leaders were deeply dis¬ 

trustful of the new program. While grateful for Collier’s sensitivity to 

their concerns, many Crow leaders feared that the new body would be 

manipulated by the government, the superintendent, or a small group of 

insiders. They also feared the proposed council’s power to control tribal 

land and to possibly acquire individual allotments. As for the new super¬ 

intendent, he gave lip service to the plan but did not stump for it with his 

characteristic enthusiasm. As the appointed day of the tribal vote on the 

plan neared, the commissioner insisted that Yellowtail speak out. “I feel 

that it is your job to put yourself forcibly into this campaign,” the com¬ 

missioner wrote a week before the vote. “It is an administration policy 

and program and must have the earnest support of the superintendents. 

With only a few days to go, Yellowtail began to speak out. Interestingly, 

however, his defense of the new law did not focus on its support for the 

creation of tribal governments. The new superintendent felt comfortable 

with the councils the Crows had created over the previous half century and 

did not believe the tribe was without a voice. What interested him were 

the powers these councils might wield, particularly the power to manage 
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and protect reservation lands. He urged his listeners not to worry about 

the Indian Office. “The sale of our lands is what is ruining us,” he told one 

gathering. He added that if land sales continued, “we wiU be landless in ten 

years and beggars on the highway.” Skeptics—including James Carpen¬ 

ter—replied that the new law would take away all the gains the tribe had 

won in recent years and reduce their council to a puppet regime.^9 

YeUowtail assured Collier that with more time he could have stemmed 

the tide running against him, but suspicion of the Indian Office ran so 

deep—and had been so frequently justified—that it could not be over¬ 

come. YeUowtail told an election-eve gathering that the law promised to 

“fix” the system and that he promised the commissioner he would “rout” 

the opposition, but it was not to be. The main problem with Crow accep¬ 

tance of the act was perception. Past federal policies had been disastrous; 

now they were being asked to consider another major change initiated in 

Washington. They simply said “no.” Eighty percent of the eligible Crow 

voters turned out to cast their ballots on 17 May; the motion to adopt the 

Indian Reorganization Act was defeated by a margin of nearly seven to 

one. Interestingly, Crow oral traditions indicate that YeUowtail opposed 

the law. Tribal historian Joseph Medicine Crow recalls that Yellowtail’s 

protege and ally Hartford Bear Claw was asked to work against passage of 

the law. 

The defeat of the Indian Reorganization Act reminded Crows that Yel- 

lowtail was now a government employee. The referendum on the law 

cooled some of the ardor of the previous summer’s inauguration, but it 

did not discourage YeUowtail from embarking on an ambitious series of 

economic development projects. He introduced new breeds of horses and 

cattle to improve the quality of Crow livestock. Another YeUowtail idea 

had great symbolic significance. The superintendent reached agreement 

with the National Park Service and other federal agencies to transfer “ex¬ 

cess” bison and elk from Yellowstone and surrounding national forests to 

Crow lands in the Bighorn Mountains. The tribe maintains a bison herd to 

this day. 

YeUowtail had long advocated reducing the power of local ranchers and 

others who leased Crow lands, but he recognized that many of them were 

so large and well-entrenched that he would be unwise to attempt to evict 

them. He recalled near the end of his life that he called together the major 

lessees and told them he thought they had not been paying adequate 

rents. He offered them an olive branch: “I’ll stay with you and protect you 

against any unreasonable moves. You help me and I’ll help you—we are a 

great family.” Critics later claimed that this kind of moderation allowed 
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lease-holders to establish ties to Crow landholders—and through them, 

control over Crow lands—that proved impossible to break. Yellowtail 

called his policy “cooperation. 

In the end, the superintendent worked closely with some lessors and 

opposed others. Matt Tschirgi and other large operators made their peace 

with Yellowtail and entered a relationship that resembled that between 

Plenty Coups and an earlier generation of ranchers. “Cooperation” meant 

fair prices, but it also meant informal promises to hire individual Crows 

or to provide support for community gatherings or other special events. 

Yellowtail’s political opponents repeatedly charged that he compro¬ 

mised the interests of his people and profited personally from his office. 

His acquisition of a fine ranch on Rotten Grass Creek only increased sus¬ 

picion and jealousy. But Yellowtail did not seem always to side with or 

support the large reservation lessees. He declared in 1934 that he wanted 

to break up the large cattle leases with smaller ones, and in 1940 he at¬ 

tempted to increase the competition among potential lessees by inviting 

Texas ranchers to bid on tribal land. In 1939 he was even sued by some of 

the larger lessees over his handling of certain leases. Nevertheless, in 1957 

he spoke out in favor of repealing section 2 of the 1920 Crow Act, which 

limited the number of acres non-Crows could own on the reservation. He 

argued that he was too busy to enforce it while he was superintendent. 

Though eventually cleared of the charges, the superintendent was accused 

of playing favorites with lessees, accepting gifts from a mining company, 

and using government materials and funds for personal projects. At one 

point in 1939 he even submitted his resignation but withdrew it after a 

vote of confidence from the tribal council.^' 

Supporters regularly outnumbered Yellowtail’s critics, however, partic¬ 

ularly among those who benefited from the New Deal federal recovery 

programs he brought to the reservation. Beginning in 1935 the Crows were 

the beneficiaries of programs funded by the Works Progress Administra¬ 

tion and the Indian Emergency Conservation Works. These programs 

provided employment while improving reservation resources. Activities 

included building reservoirs, improving roads, establishing mountain 

trails, and both repairing and creating new corrals and homes. Civilian 

Conservation Corps (Indian division) members also worked as logging 

crews, fire fighting units, and pest control teams. Federal efforts to reduce 

unemployment even supported reservation sewing cooperatives and in¬ 

formal Indian dancing clubs. 

These recovery programs brought a sudden infusion of cash to the im¬ 

poverished reservation, but they also brought about a subtle reorganiza- 
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tion of Crow society. The shifting of individuals to paid government- 

funded jobs drew people away from school and provided them with an al¬ 

ternative to subsistence farming and ranching. Individuals found it was 

more convenient to live near their jobs at Crow Agency or some other set¬ 

tlement, so they were more likely to lease their land to a non-Indian 

rancher or to give up their kitchen garden. This movement from the farm 

to a cash-paying job “in town” (a trend hardly limited to the Crow Res¬ 

ervation), undermined Crow agriculture because it increased tribal 

members’ dependency on marginal and seasonal employment. Non-In¬ 

dian farmers, cultivating ever-larger tracts of land, remained behind to 

raise crops on Crow allotments. 

By 1940 Yellowtail became aware that welfare laws and recovery pro¬ 

grams were undermining the reservation’s “traditional” subsistence activ¬ 

ities. He set out to increase local production by creating a cattle purchase 

program and encouraging tribal members to participate. As a rancher, the 

superintendent had few qualms about recommending cattle raising over 

farming; his advice was also reinforced by the rapid rise in the cost of 

equipment necessary for large-scale agriculture in the Big Horn and Little 

Big Horn valleys. In 1916 the Crows had farmed only twenty thousand 

acres. By the outbreak of World War II Yellowtail could boast that the 

tribe’s cattle ranchers were using nearly six times that amount. Half of all 

Crow household income still came from leasing, however, and the vast 

majority of land was still leased to outsiders. 

Yellowtail introduced a number of other innovations. An outspoken ad¬ 

vocate of education, the superintendent worked to improve funding for 

schools and urged children to go to college. He oversaw the establishment 

of the first Crow hospital in 1937 and supported community health pro¬ 

grams. Yellowtail also took delight in reversing the Indian Office’s long¬ 

standing opposition to traditional tribal dancing and ceremonial life. He 

welcomed the introduction of the Shoshoni Sun Dance in 1941 and pre¬ 

sided over a revival of Crow Fair. The latter, which had been imposed on 

the tribe as a “harvest festival” in the first decade of the twentieth century, 

had frequently been a scene of struggle between superintendents who 

wanted to re-create a Midwestern county fair and tribal leaders who fa¬ 

vored dancing and horse racing. Under Yellowtail, the fair was moved to 

August and the focus shifted to a celebration of Crow culture and family 

life. Families camped for several days along the Little Big Horn south of 

Crow Agency, gathering with dispersed relatives and visitors from Indian 

communities across the West and Canada. For the past sixty years, this 



ROBERT YELLOWTAIL ^ 71 

festival of Crow life has remained largely in the form it assumed during 

the 1930s. 

Both the benefits and the drawbacks of a cash economy on the reserva¬ 

tion became vividly evident during World War II. Soldiers and war indus¬ 

try workers brought their paychecks home, crop prices rose, and federal 

spending continued to rise. But unfortunately these trends continued to 

undermine family farming and to promote migration to reservation 

towns or nearby cities. Yellowtail himself was an exception to this trend. 

He expanded his herd during his years in Crow Agency, running cattle in 

Rotten Grass Creek, west of his family holdings, and racing his horses at 

rodeos across the West as well as in Mexico. 

The prosperity of the New Deal and the war years was deeply depen¬ 

dent on federal spending. Dollars from Washington helped revive the res¬ 

ervation economy and provide employment for many people but, as tribal 

historian Eloise Pease has noted, after the war “the bubble burst and the 

Crows went into their depression.” In the spring of 1945, as the “bubble” 

of wartime prosperity reached its bursting point, Yellowtail decided the 

time had come to step down as superintendent. He was motivated in part 

by his long tenure, in part by his patron, John Collier (Collier too left of¬ 

fice in early 1945), and in part by a desire to run for Congress. His bid 

failed. His defeat was mitigated by another massive confrontation that 

was about to take place between the Crows and their off-reservation en¬ 

emies—a confrontation that made Yellowtail realize he didn’t want to be 

saddled by an official government position. 

Eastern Montana had always been a difficult place for homesteaders to 

make a living. Even when farmers had control of more than the mythical 

160 acres that had constituted a homestead in the well-watered east, it was 

difficult to wring a living from the arid conditions and short growing sea¬ 

son of the vast Montana prairies. Almost from their first farming season in 

the Yellowstone Valley, weary planters looked to some sort of irrigation 

project to save them. Ditch and diversion systems began in the Little Big 

Horn valley in the 1880s, but by World War I attention focused on the Big 

Horn Canyon, particularly its solid granite mouth through which spewed 

bdlions of gallons of water, cascading downhill from the central Wyoming 

plains. It seemed a perfect site for a dam, but it was on Crow land. 

Local farmers had been calling for a Big Horn dam for decades, but 

there was no serious federal interest until 1937 when the Army Corps of 

Engineers announced its support for the project. Superintendent Yellow¬ 

tail had opposed the idea, noting that this was not a Crow project and ar- 
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guing that tribal resources were needed to serve tribal ends. (He also 

noted that the recently introduced Crow bison herd made its home in the 

canyon bottom.) As had been the case thirty years earlier, however, local 

farmers and their congressional supporters would not accept this posi¬ 

tion. Like their predecessors in the Crow land disputes, they lobbied their 

congressional delegation to seek a federal mandate for the project. The 

farmers were finally successful in 1944 when Congress authorized con¬ 

struction of the proposed dam as part of the massive Missouri River hy¬ 

droelectric and irrigation system then being planned. Crows were horri¬ 

fied, and under Yellowtail’s leadership were able to prevent the project 

from going forward. 

At the same time, Yellowtail and his fellow tribal politicians turned to 

an internal problem that had been ignored ever since the Indian Reorgan¬ 

ization Act was rejected in 1935. The Crow tribe’s informal system of gen¬ 

eral councils and business committees continued to function in an age 

when most tribes operated under written constitutions. Major disputes 

frequently revealed how confusing, unpredictable, and unstable the Crow 

political structure could be. Many reservation leaders thought the time 

had come to agree on a written tribal constitution. 

In 1947 a committee appointed by the Crow general council drafted an 

initial proposal calling for a business committee. This draft was rejected 

by the council and, after considerable debate, three alternatives were pro¬ 

duced. Yellowtail became the champion of one, and it carried the day two 

weeks after his election as tribal chairman in 1948. A tribal referendum 

approved the draft constitution in June 1948 by a vote of 295 to 130. The 

constitution called for the establishment of the office of tribal chairman, a 

person who would be elected by the entire membership. The constitution 

also specified that all legislation be approved by the general council, 

which would comprise all enrolled adult tribal members. 

Late in his life Robert Yellowtail claimed that he wrote the Crow consti¬ 

tution of 1948. But some critics charged that the document was originally 

drafted by the attorneys representing the large ranchers who leased Crow 

lands and that it was advocated by Yellowtail in exchange for cattle and 

land. They believed the former superintendent favored this “pure democ¬ 

racy” because he knew he could dominate its proceedings. Regardless of 

the role Yellowtail may have played in drafting the 1948 charter, the con¬ 

stitution conformed to a tradition that had been in place for most of the 

twentieth century. Crows were generally suspicious of legislative bodies 

where elected representatives acted on behalf of constituents. They feared 

these elected officials could be bribed by wealthy ranchers, intimidated by 



ROBERT YELLOWTAIL ^ 73 

powerful government officials, or controlled by a few well-connected 

tribal members. They held to this position throughout the 1930s—there 

appeared to have been no second thoughts regarding the tribe’s rejection 

of the IRA. 

In 1951 federal authorities increased the pressure on the tribe to ap¬ 

prove the use of its land for the Big Horn dam. The Bureau of Reclamation 

had already announced the dam would be called “Yellowtail Dam” in 

honor of the former Crow superintendent. Now the agency offered to pur¬ 

chase the dam site for one and a half million dollars. The tribe’s response 

was adamant: No sale. After considerable discussion Yellowtail proposed 

(and the council endorsed) a contingency plan based on the experience of 

the Flatheads in western Montana. The Crows would lease the dam site 

for fifty years. 

Matters remained locked between the two intransigent parties untU the 

local ranchers and farmers managed—as they had in 1917—to persuade 

Congress to act unilaterally. In 1954 an opinion from the U.S. Department 

of the Interior’s solicitor reinterpreted a federal law that had prohibited 

further work on Crow irrigation systems without the consent of the tribe. 

The opinion argued that the statute’s restrictions applied only to existing 

irrigation projects, not to new ones. Senator James Murray of Montana 

promised to press ahead by moving to condemn the dam site. The tribe 

was warned that once condemnation proceedings began the Crows would 

likely get only the assessed value of the land, which Interior Department 

officials estimated could be as little as fifty thousand dollars. As with the 

Crow land dispute of 1917-19, the tribe had to choose between compro¬ 

mise or continued resistance. This time Yellowtail played the role that 

Plenty Coups had played in 1919; he refused to make a deal with the re¬ 

lentless Montana congressmen.^4 

The Crows were deeply divided over the proposed dam. Few people 

would be displaced by the project, and it seemed reasonable to expect a 

considerable financial settlement despite the tough talk emanating from 

Washington. On the other hand, the canyon was a unique cultural and 

economic resource that should either be preserved or shared only after 

the tribe had extracted the greatest possible payment for it. Yellowtail, 

who had become tribal chairman in 1952, led the forces of opposition. He 

was supported by a group that called itself the Mountain Crows. His op¬ 

ponents, calling themselves the River Crows (the name of another preres¬ 

ervation group within the tribe), was led by William Wall and Edward Po¬ 

sey Whiteman. Wall became chairman in 1954: Whiteman succeeded Wall 

two years later. Yellowtail, always interested in Republican Party politics 
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and events on the Crow Reservation, ran unsuccessfully in the Republican 

primary for the U.S. Senate in 1954. 

As the dam debate reached its climax, divisions within the tribe deep¬ 

ened. It caused wounds that have not entirely healed and have affected 

Crow people down to the present. Neighbors refused to speak. Families 

divided. At one point the Crow Fair itself divided into two competing cel¬ 

ebrations. Each side struggled to extract an honorable agreement from the 

federal government. In 1955 Yellowtail and his allies proposed a deal: one 

million dollars per year for fifty years. Title to the dam site would revert 

to the tribe for renegotiation following expiration of the term. They knew 

this would be unacceptable to the Bureau of Reclamation and hoped it 

would thus have the effect of preserving the land. Yellowtail’s opponents 

proposed an outright sale for five million dollars with the tribe retaining 

all mineral rights to the land. Each side accused the other of accepting 

bribes and making backroom deals. Yellowtail claimed a white rancher of¬ 

fered him twenty-one thousand dollars to drop his opposition. 

In 1956 the tribe’s general council rejected Yellowtail’s lease proposal 

and accepted the idea of selling the dam site. These decisions required 

several meetings, the last of which lasted thirteen hours. The final offer 

included the sale of land, retention of mineral rights and a provision for 

Crows to obtain access to irrigation without fees. Backed by the Montana 

congressional delegation, the Crow proposal won congressional approval 

in 1956 but was vetoed by President Eisenhower as an extravagant expen¬ 

diture. Angered and still divided, the Crow council then rescinded its 

offer and approved the Yellowtail lease plan. Warned that the lease idea 

would not be approved, the council then reversed itself and repeated its 

endorsement of the five-million-dollar sale. Worried about another veto, 

Montana’s congressional delegation reduced the price to two and a half 

million; Eisenhower signed the bill into law on 15 July 1958. The politi¬ 

cians tried to mollify the disappointed Crows by amending the bill just 

before passage to allow the Crows to sue the United States for the balance 

of the price. (The tribe won a judgement for two million dollars in 1962 

but half of the award was used to pay attorneys’ fees.j^s 

After years of intense struggle, the Yellowtail Dam and reservoir were 

opened in 1964. Benefiting largely the local white community, the project 

seemed finally to vindicate the namesake who had opposed it. Yellowtail’s 

former opponents admitted that he had been right to hold out for a lease 

on the land, but once the concrete barriers went up to shut off the river’s 

flow, their change of heart had no meaning. 

Yellowtail himself developed some pride in the project, allowing him- 
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self to be photographed before it wearing his warbonnet and reveling in 

the publicity it generated for him. But the aging leader never wavered in 

his conviction that selling the dam site had been a mistake and that the 

project would have little—if any—positive impact on the tribe. 

The dam fight was Yellowtail’s “last hurrah” as a tribal politician. He 

had retreated to his Red Rim ranch house on Rotten Grass creek and de¬ 

voted himself to his cattle herd. When a fire swept through the house in 

1961 he moved back to the hills south of Lodge Grass, the country he had 

known as a child. Widowed in 1956, he married for the last time in 1960. 

Dorothy Payne was a Choctaw from Oklahoma, but she had grown up 

among the Crows and took on the role of Robert’s companion with great 

skill. He continued to be active in tribal affairs, but now he was more ef¬ 

fective behind the scenes, promoting the careers of his proteges such as 

John Cummins and blocking the paths of his enemies such as Edward 

Whiteman and Edison Real Bird. He was persuaded to run for chairman 

once more but his supporters preferred younger men. 

During the 1970s Yellowtail came forward for a final time when the 

council debated how best to manage and exploit its coal resources. Con¬ 

sistent with this lifetime commitment to reservation development, Yel¬ 

lowtail advocated tribal ownership of the coal and canceling leases that 

did not pay a significant dividend. While he brought tremendous expe¬ 

rience to the issue, he was rapidly losing his power to communicate. His 

speeches grew longer and his audiences smaller. Of course, by the 1970s, 

Yellowtail was well into his eighties. His wife Dorothy declared that al¬ 

though she wished that when he had grown older he would quit politics, 

she knew he never would. “He just has to be in there,” she observed, 

“that’s his life . . . politics is it.”^® 

In the early 1980s Robert worked with a group of film makers from 

Missoula, Montana, to produce the 1986 documentary. Contrary Warriors: 

A Film of the Crow Tribe, much of which chronicled his life. It includes 

many interviews with him and Dorothy. Robert Yellowtail died on 18 June 

1988 at his home on the Little Horn Ranch south of Lodge Grass. An inde¬ 

pendent “Teddy Roosevelt” fighter to the end, he had refused offers to 

move to a nursing home. He died only a few yards from where he had 

been born on the banks of the Little Bighorn River. 

Robert Yellowtail was one of the first generation of school-educated 

Crows who used the ways and means of the whites to achieve traditional 

Crow goals—the preservation and perpetuation of Crow lands and ways of 

life. Similar to earlier Crow leaders, he accomplished his ends by compro¬ 

mising and by varying his tactics according to the situation before him. In 
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his early years he was an insurgent, an outsider who opposed the actions of 

the U.S. government. By the 1930s he had become an insider, a government 

official who could use the power and resources of a federal agency to pro¬ 

mote Crow nationhood. At the end of his life he returned to the outsider 

role, leading the opposition to the Big Horn Canyon dam project. 

Yellowtail was not always successful, but he consistently used both his 

Crow cultural ties and the skills he learned in boarding school to establish 

a different type of leadership in the new era of reservation life. He was the 

first Crow leader whose influence was not rooted in battlefield achieve¬ 

ments but in a new type of warfare; confrontations in tribal council halls, 

government courtrooms, and congressional hearings. In his struggle he 

helped the Crows endure the white invasion and become “a separate, 

semi-sovereign nation” within the United States. 
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PHILIP J. DELORIA 

What man or woman, looking back over the course of a life, cannot find 

cause for both pride and regret? My grandfather, the Reverend Vine V. 

Deloria Sr., was no different. He could take satisfaction in having served 

as a leader for his community, his people, and his church. Many valued 

that service. In 1954 he was given the Indian Council Fire’s Indian 

Achievement Award, appointed to a high-ranking position in the national 

office of the Episcopal Church, and awarded an honorary doctorate from 

his alma mater, Bard College. In 1977 he was inducted into the South Da¬ 

kota Hall of Fame during his first year of eligibility. South Dakotans— 

both Indian and non-Indian—continue to remember him with great affec¬ 

tion. Yet he also had regrets. Federal Indian policy, his church’s social 

outreach programs, Indian Christianity in general—it wasn’t that all these 

important things had gone so terribly wrong; it was that they hadn’t gone 

quite right. And there was the fact that, despite his best efforts, he had 

been helpless on so many critical occasions.^ 

Whatever late-life disquiet he may have felt stemmed, I suspect, from 

the particular kinds of cross-cultural leadership burdens he took on. 

Those burdens, shared by many Native American leaders, grew increas¬ 

ingly heavy during the middle years of the twentieth century. Deloria had 

to negotiate complicated historical changes—the Great Depression, the 

Indian New Deal, World War II, and the postwar termination and reloca¬ 

tion programs. He did so through an equally complex set of cultural 

frames—Dakota culture, a Dakota-inflected Christianity, an Indian politi¬ 

cal culture turning to American governing institutions, and an Episcopal 

Church vexed by issues of power, race, and politics. His success stories— 

and there were many—need to be seen in the context of these compli¬ 

cated, overlapping arenas that, by their very nature, compromised his ef¬ 

forts and sent him staggering back in retreat more than once. 
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Deloria was born at Wakpala, on South Dakota’s Standing Rock Reserva¬ 

tion. His family history was characterized by marriage and mediation 

across the sometimes-blurred cultural lines that marked Indians and non- 

Indians. His great-great-grandfather, a late-eighteenth-century French 

traveler on the Missouri named Francois Des Lauriers, married a Yankton 

Dakota woman and settled along the river. Francois’s son Francis, born 

around 1784, followed a similar path. The Missouri River took him to the 

north, where he met and married a woman of the Blackfeet band of La- 

kota. Their son Frank, also known as Saswe, was born in 1816 and he too 

settled near the Missouri. 

If one were counting blood-quantum shares, Saswe would have been 

three-fourths Dakota. But few people—at least few Indian people—were 

counting, and by his generation (the third), the family was thoroughly 

Yankton. Saswe took three wives, made a name for himself as a power¬ 

ful—and perhaps dangerous—spiritual leader, and served as headman for 

Yankton’s “half-breed band.” As “E-ha-we-cha-sha,” or “the Owl Man,” 

he signed the Yankton treaty of 1858. In 1866 he received government rec¬ 

ognition as “Chief of Yankton half-breed band at their request,” and the 

following year traveled to Washington DC as part of the tribe’s negotiating 

team. 

Saswe was as engaged with missionaries as he was with agents and 

government negotiators. He seems to have perceived missionaries (cor¬ 

rectly, one might add) through lenses that were at once spiritual and po¬ 

litical in nature; to him missions looked like places where one might ne¬ 

gotiate questions of power. By the 1860s Saswe was attending services, 

and was baptized into the Episcopalian Church on Christmas Day 1871. 

During this time he encouraged one of his younger sons, Philip J. Deloria 

(Tipi Sapa), to think seriously about how the church was coming to be a 

powerful organization on the reservation and how it might best be used to 

help the Yanktons. 

Philip attended the mission day school with some of Saswe’s other chil¬ 

dren, eventually being taken by the missionaries to off-reservation Epis¬ 

copal boarding schools. Like his siblings, he had been baptized at an early 

age. Well-educated and biculturally adept, Philip seemed destined to fol¬ 

low his father into politics. He had apparently been serving as a headman 

since his return from school in 1874. In 1878 he was presented with the 

medal that the government used to signify its appointed chiefs and was 

formally registered by the agent John Gassman as the leader of Yankton 

Band 8. Three years later he represented the Yanktons at a railroad negoti¬ 

ation in Carlisle, Pennsylvania. Sometime shortly afterward, however, he 
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resigned this commission, having decided to devote his life to the Episco¬ 

pal Church. 

After returning home in 1874 Philip began serving as a lay reader and 

catechist. In 1883 the dynamic missionary Bishop William Hobart Hare 

made him a deacon. Deloria’s entry into the church came at almost the 

precise moment when Hare assumed control of the Dakota mission dis¬ 

trict, dedicating himself to the training of Indian ministers, catechists, 

and deacons. By the time he retired in 1905, Hare had helped develop six 

ordained Indian priests and sixty lay ministers. One hundred chapels 

serving perhaps ten thousand Native Americans dotted the landscapes of 

the ten Sioux reservations. Philip Deloria was ordained in 1892 and, as a 

fully empowered minister, he rapidly became an influential leader within 

the community of Christian Indians.^ 

That community was enormous, for many Native Americans saw in the 

church what Saswe did: a place of social power and opportunity. Follow¬ 

ing military repression and confinement to reservations, Dakota and La- 

kota people confronted unimaginably deep cultural anxieties most visible, 

perhaps, in the meanings and practices surrounding masculinity. While 

traditional female activities—gathering, cooking, childrearing—tended to 

remain more or less the same, traditional male activities—hunting and 

war—had been all but eliminated. Likewise the power of the reservation 

agent, who made decisions on behalf of the tribe, rendered men’s social 

leadership roles superfluous; a few momentous decisions were made in 

consultation with Indian leaders, but only a few. For men in particular, 

Dakota culture had been wrenched inside out. Many responded by turn¬ 

ing to Christianity, which espoused a social structure that both men and 

women found they could utilize in their lives. 

Men’s religious societies had distinct connections to prereservation 

warrior societies. Likewise, powerful women’s church groups reproduced 

prereservation women’s societies. The yearly Convocation meetings— 

which drew numerous Indian people from every Dakota reservation— 

bore a familial resemblance to the social gatherings that had once marked 

the Sun Dance ceremony. Ministers and lay readers exercised a style of 

leadership that looked something like the consensual authority once 

vested in chiefs and headmen. When Philip Deloria strode across the 

mile-wide camp circle at the annual Convocation gatherings of the early 

twentieth century, he was participating in a cultural system that was at 

once very new and very old. 

The rehgious belief systems of such Christian Indians pointed to 

broader cultural complexities. Philip Deloria was a true believer, and he 
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could deliver a fire-and-brimstone sermon that made his listeners quake. 

And yet he was far more respectful of traditional beliefs than were his 

non-Indian missionary counterparts. He was almost certainly aware of 

the precarious opportunities of his own position, rooted simultaneously 

in two cultures and serving as a mediator between them. His Dakota pa¬ 

rishioners also tended to reject the rigid Christian/pagan boundaries laid 

down by conventional missionaries, letting Christian and traditional be¬ 

liefs and practices overlap and come together to create something new. 

At the same time Dakota and Lakota clergy of all stripes were often 

more interested in their common Indianness than in the contests that 

went on among the four main missionary denominations—Catholic, 

Episcopal, Congregational, and Presbyterian. In 1872, for example, a 

group of Sioux deacons and clergy began meeting as the Brotherhood of 

Christian Unity (ecu), a leadership organization dedicated to singing, so¬ 

cializing, and fellowship across denominational lines. The home of a dis¬ 

tinctive Sioux Christianity—particularly for Episcopalians and Presbyte¬ 

rians—the ECU continues to function today. By the early twentieth 

century, then, Indian Christianity was a powerful social force on the Da¬ 

kota reservations, and its clergy and lay ministers had become important 

leaders in almost every sphere of Native American life. 

This was the family—and the world—into which Vine Deloria Sr. was 

born in 1901. He was the last child of Philip Deloria’s third marriage, 

which also produced two watchful sisters—Ella, a gifted linguist and eth¬ 

nographer who worked with Columbia University anthropologist Eranz 

Boas, and Susan, a socially dysfunctional artist who traveled constantly 

with her sister. When Vine was born, his father, according to family tradi¬ 

tion, opened the Bible at random; eyes closed, he pointed to a verse. His 

finger landed at John 15:1: “I am the true vine; my father is the vined¬ 

resser.” And so the child had one of his names. His Dakota name meant 

“Winner.” The name proved apt, for Vine Deloria built much of his early 

life around his formidable athletic skills. He became accustomed to open 

competition and a certain clarity of result, with him usually coming out 

on top. 

He attended school at St. Elizabeth’s mission at Standing Rock until his 

mother’s death in 1916. He then was sent to the Kearney Military 

Academy, a non-Indian Episcopal boarding school in Kearney, Nebraska. 

Although alone, impoverished, and barely able to speak English, Deloria 

made the best of his situation. He came to enjoy the school’s military 

structure, and by the time he graduated had risen to Kearney’s highest 
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rank, cadet major. With an affable and charismatic personality, he devel¬ 

oped many close friends. He rarely confronted racial prejudice at Kearney 

and, indeed, taught his friends bits and pieces of the Dakota language 

while they in turn renamed him “Pete,” a transformation he seems to have 

thoroughly appreciated. It is probably no accident, however, that he was 

the dominant figure on the school’s football, baseball, and track teams. He 

was quick, strong, and tough, and if personable and friendly, also capable 

of a powerful anger. 

In 1922 his athletic prowess won him a scholarship to St. Stephen’s Col¬ 

lege, an Episcopalian school of barely a hundred students attempting to 

gain a name and an alumni base through a newly created football team. 

The experiment lasted only a few years before an enrollment scandal shut 

down the sports program. A series of events eventually turned the school 

into Bard College. Deloria thought his scholarship support stemmed from 

Indian philanthropy and the church’s support of its mission clergy, but in 

retrospect it seems clear that he was part of the college’s efforts to build a 

strong team. And indeed, while at St. Stephen’s, Deloria lettered in his 

three major sports, briefly held a national college record for longest for¬ 

ward pass, and served as the captain of the football team. Today he is re¬ 

membered at Bard College as the greatest athletic hero to attend St. 

Stephen’s.3 

If he had been able to make a career choice that had the clarity of a foot¬ 

ball score, it seems likely that Vine Deloria would have chosen a life as an 

athletic coach. After graduating in 1926 with a B.A. in liberal arts, he be¬ 

gan working as “boys athletic advisor” at the Fort Sill Oklahoma Indian 

boarding school. But just as Saswe had pushed Philip Deloria to think se¬ 

riously about Indian Christianity, so too did Philip push Vine in the same 

direction. Philip, who retired in 1927 and was perhaps contemplating his 

familial, theological, and Native American legacies, strongly encouraged 

his son to follow in his footsteps. In 1928 a reluctant Vine entered the 

Episcopal Church’s General Theological Seminary in New York City. 

In New York, Deloria wrestled with the tension between his own incli¬ 

nations and the burden of his family legacy. He began to refine his in¬ 

volvement in coaching and education, working at the nearby St. Luke’s 

settlement house after his studies were finished for the day. Moving away 

from his father’s and grandfather’s brand of Indian leadership and toward 

a ministry more focused on youth development and education, he none¬ 

theless felt the continual pull of the family linkage between spirituality 

and politics. A tangible reminder of that legacy haunted him: although in 

poor health, his father was determined to stay alive until Deloria’s gradu- 
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ation, almost willing his son through the seminary program. In the spring 

of 1931, his coursework completed, Deloria returned to South Dakota to 

be ordained a deacon. Only a few days later, after seeing Vine commit to 

the ministry, Philip Deloria died. Already something of a church icon, his 

statue would later be enshrined in the Episcopal National Cathedral. 

Vine Deloria was first assigned to the Pine Ridge mission, where he 

lived in an unheated garage and performed rites for marriages, burials, 

and baptisms at the many small chapels scattered throughout the central 

part of the reservation. After six weeks, however, he resigned in anger, 

fully intending to return to New York City. South Dakota’s Episcopal 

bishop, Blair Roberts, had promised a salary of a hundred dollars per 

month to the graduates he recruited from the General Seminary earlier 

that year. Deloria found that despite his seminary degree, he was being 

paid “Indian wages”—fifty dollars per month—while his classmate Frank 

Thorburn, also at Pine Ridge, was receiving the full amount. The resigna¬ 

tion of Philip Deloria’s son promised to be a church scandal, and Roberts 

relented. Thinking in categories that were racial rather than religious, 

Roberts rationalized his decision to pay Deloria the promised amount by 

pointing to Deloria’s impending marriage to a white woman, who needed 

the extra comfort the meager salary would provide. Regardless of the out¬ 

come, the stage had been set for decades of conflict between Deloria and 

his church—and his bishop in particular. 

In May 1932, newly married and ordained, and accompanied by his 

wife, Barbara Eastburn of Sloatsburg, New York, Deloria returned to Pine 

Ridge. For a married couple, the garage left much to be desired, and it was 

no doubt with a sense of relief that the Delorias learned in October that 

they were to be reassigned to All Saints Church in Martin, South Dakota. 

Martin was a curious town, almost equidistant between the Pine Ridge 

and the Rosebud reservations on a large squared-off parcel of land that 

had been carved out of Pine Ridge barely twenty years before. One main 

street led through a small business district, and neatly laid blocks on ei¬ 

ther side housed residences and the town’s five churches (Episcopal, 

Catholic, Lutheran, Presbyterian, and Christian Reform). It was a white 

town, but one with a mixed-blood history. Martin had “founding fathers” 

who were Lakota—Edgar Fire Thunder, Howard Bad Wound, Robert 

White Eagle, and Clarence Three Stars—and many Indian people still 

made the town their home. All Saints was not itself an “Indian” church, 

though Deloria also was responsible for two Indian chapels in the nearby 

communities of LaCreek and Gamble.^ 

His first career challenge, then, involved exactly the kinds of cross-cul- 
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tural mediation for which he had been so well prepared. One might argue 

that this challenge prefigured his subsequent career. On the one hand, he 

was required to lead the way in maintaining and strengthening local In¬ 

dian communities. On the other hand, he had to begin working his way 

into non-Indian social and political settings—the parish, the state and na¬ 

tional church hierarchy, and the town of Martin itself. Each context—In¬ 

dian and non-Indian—required a slightly different strategy. 

In the small Indian chapels, Deloria was perhaps at his best. Raised in 

the Indian Christianity of his father’s mission, he knew intuitively the 

songs and sermon themes that worked well with his congregations. A fine 

singer with a powerful voice, his oratory was riveting and inspirational. 

His genial personality, athletic skills, and interest in youth made him 

something of an uncle to young Lakota men. In addition to filling this im¬ 

portant kinship role, he was fluent in Lakota (in later years, he would 

become well known among anthropologists for his vocabulary that com¬ 

prised many archaic words) and extraordinarily well versed in the ge¬ 

nealogical histories of many South Dakota Indian families. In short, 

within the Indian community he had both the cultural knowledge and the 

rare kind of charisma that in previous days had won followers and made 

leaders. During the annual Indian Convocations of the 1930s, it might take 

him two or three hours to walk from one side of the camp circle to the 

other, so large was the crowd of people wanting to speak with him. 

All Saints Church was a different matter. Yet here too his personality 

and talent allowed him—an Indian man—to lead a white and mixed- 

blood congregation. Not surprisingly, he began by playing baseball with 

Martin’s young men, organizing them into a large boy’s club and teaching 

them a range of sports. Eventually Deloria invited the boys into the 

church to serve as his choir. Between the Boy’s Club and choir practice, he 

made his church into one of the key locales for Martin’s young men and, 

in doing so, won the affection and respect of his church members. 

Deloria made similar overtures to the town’s adults. He helped power 

Martin’s town baseball team and volunteered to coach the Bennett 

County High School football team. He joined the new Freemason’s lodge, 

and served as its chaplain. A visible presence, he combined his winning 

personality with clerical dignity and a sometimes intimidating physical- 

ity. At one point his parishioners asked him to tone down his enthusiasm 

for baseball, since they found it inappropriate that a man of the cloth 

should slide into second base with his aggressive intensity.5 

A family story may illustrate the kind of effect Deloria could have when 

his angry streak got the better of him. Deeply concerned about Indian 
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drinking, Deloria was disgusted by Martin’s bars, which refused to allow 

Indian people inside, but would nonetheless sell alcohol to them from the 

back door. As a result, Indian people ended up drinking on the streets, 

where he often had to take care of them. One night he snapped. Grabbing 

a baseball bat, he strode into the Buckhorn, Martin’s largest saloon, and 

pounded on the bar. “If anyone here sells anymore alcohol to Indians from 

the back door, they’ll have to answer to me!” He stared down the silent 

proprietor and crowd. If he’d have been any less tough or carried any less 

moral authority, he might have been asking for a terrible retribution. But 

the combination of those traits allowed him to threaten his captive audi¬ 

ence and to insist upon moral reform at the same time. And indeed, the 

Buckhorn shut down its back-door business. 

His dealings with Bishop Roberts and the Episcopal Church proved 

more worrisome, for here his personal skills and sense of moral certainty 

did not fit especially well. The church was about hierarchy and obedience 

more than it was about creating new kinds of ministries, winning people 

over, or enforcing moral approaches to such questions as race and drink¬ 

ing. It certainly was not about the preservation of a distinct Indian Chris¬ 

tianity. Perhaps twice each year, Deloria found himself fighting his 

church. On one occasion, for example, he physically restrained a white 

missionary who was attempting to prevent Indian women from placing 

food on a burial site. He often had to fend off the church’s threats to the 

autonomy of the Brotherhood of Christian Unity. And he frequently ques¬ 

tioned the disparities in salary for Indian clergy and the lack of reim¬ 

bursement for the often substantial automobile expenses that they all in¬ 

curred on the dirt roads of the reservations. 

A key ally in his dealings with the church proved to be his wife Barbara. 

Barbara Sloat Eastburn grew up in an Episcopalian household in the Hud¬ 

son River valley town of Sloatsburg, New York. Her family, which in¬ 

cluded military heroes and inventors, had lived in the area since the early 

seventeenth century. She rode the commuter line into New York City ev¬ 

ery day to work at the American Telephone and Telegraph Company. She 

met Deloria at his 1931 graduation. They enjoyed a whirlwind courtship 

and then suffered through a year’s separation while Vine worked as a dea¬ 

con at Pine Ridge. Her status as a white woman helped bring his salary to 

parity with the white clergy, and she proved willing and able to use the dy¬ 

namics of race and gender to gain the ear, and occasionally the sympathy, 

of the bishop. 

In July 1939 a tornado devastated All Saints Church and its rectory. 

When Deloria petitioned the bishop for help, he was told to deal with the 
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problem himself. An old seminary friend, Cliff Cowan, now a church 

business manager in Ohio, agreed to help. Cowan set up a schedule in 

which Deloria would barnstorm Ohio churches for six weeks, lecturing 

and raising funds. When the tour concluded, he had raised sixteen thou¬ 

sand dollars for a new church and had, in the process, drawn the attention 

of both the national media and the upper echelons of the Episcopal 

Church. Deloria had undertaken speaking tours for the church before, but 

the Ohio campaign was different in two respects. First, it enabled him to 

emerge at last from the shadow of his father, whose revered status within 

the church had hung over him like a brilliant cloud, always defining him 

as “PJ’s son.” Second, the widespread and favorable exposure gave him 

much-needed leverage in his relationship with Bishop Roberts. 

Throughout the 1930s, Deloria successfully consolidated his ministry and 

his leadership role within local communities and regional institutions 

that were both Indian and white. In addition, his tour of Ohio gave him a 

brief moment of national prominence, both inside and outside the 

church. Although he had focused on youth and local social issues more 

than politics, he worked within the intercultural paradigms that had 

housed his father and grandfather so well. Harder times lay on the hori¬ 

zon, however, and they were directly connected to the rapid social and 

economic transformations that characterized America’s move from the 

Great Depression and the New Deal to World War II; and on to a postwar 

culture of consensus. Looking back, it would become apparent that 1939 

and 1940 (when Deloria was able to build his new church, St. Katharine’s) 

marked the end of a successful era for his ministry and for the Dakota 

church itself. 

In 1943 Roberts reassigned Deloria to the Sisseton-Wahpeton mission 

in eastern South Dakota, where he was to serve as the superintending 

presbyter, with sole responsibility for a large set of reservation chapels, 

deacons, and parishioners. In many ways his three years at Sisseton 

passed pleasantly. Unlike the mingled and mixed-blood communities of 

Martin and the eastern part of Pine Ridge, Sisseton had distinct groupings 

of whites and full-bloods. The Delorias moved easily between the two 

communities, bridging them together on occasion. Yet for Vine Deloria 

the defining event of his years at Sisseton was a losing battle to secure the 

church’s sponsorship of an Episcopal boarding school for Indian boys. 

The Indian boarding school experience has been seen as both a site of 

forced acculturation and as a place where Native American children rein¬ 

forced tribal identities and developed senses of themselves as “Indians” in 
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ways that transcended tribal lines. Deloria saw the boarding school 

through a somewhat different lens. Through the late 1930s and early 1940s 

he watched as many of the small communities on South Dakota reserva¬ 

tions began to break apart. He believed firmly in the social and cultural 

power of the Indian church to hold such localities together. Religious 

boarding schools, he argued, were critical in developing the Native Amer¬ 

ican clergy so vital to such communities. Taking his own experience as a 

model, he sought to develop an educational program that would not only 

train Indian youth to negotiate white American society and prepare for 

careers in the church, but also allow them to retain the “Indian” in Indian 

Christianity.^ 

He worked out an agreement through which the church, if it promised 

to establish a school, could acquire title to old Fort Sisseton for one dollar. 

The idea was popular among many South Dakota Indians, who had 

watched several smaller schools close down. The bishop, however, abso¬ 

lutely refused to consider the idea, arguing that there was no real need for 

an educated Indian clergy. Educated white missionaries could do the job 

just as well. For Deloria, this course spelled disaster for the Episcopal 

Church—and hardship for the many Indian communities who had been 

well served by the Indian clergy. Since the bishop blocked the plan, how¬ 

ever, there was nothing to be done. 

It was a discouraged man, then, who was transferred back to Martin in 

1946, this time as the presbyter of the Corn Creek district of the Pine 

Ridge Reservation. Moving back to familiar ground made it clear how 

quickly things had changed since the glory days of the decade before. By 

1946 most of the boys who had sung in his choir had served in World War 

II or had left the area to work in defense plants. Some had gotten married 

and were now church members. When Deloria tried to rebuild the group 

with a new generation of boys, however, he encountered the significant 

social distinctions that existed between the tough times of the Great De¬ 

pression and a new economy spurred on by wartime production. 

In the 1930s, when times were tight and amusements few, young men 

flocked to social outlets like the Boy’s Club baseball team and the choir. In 

the 1940s, however, wheat prices skyrocketed with wartime scarcity, and 

young men often leased fields and, with the help of their parents, planted 

crops. With cash in their pockets, or perhaps a new car in the garage. The 

Boy’s Club no longer seemed very compelling. 

Likewise, as the church cut resources and staff, Deloria’s work in the In¬ 

dian community was completely transformed. Now, instead of a pair of 

rural chapels, he found himself the only priest covering fourteen churches 
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spread across the broad geography of the eastern half of Pine Ridge. On 

Sundays he faced an exhausting schedule: drive to a chapel and conduct 

an early service, drive to another chapel and conduct a late morning ser¬ 

vice, drive to another chapel and conduct still another service, stop to 

visit one of the fifteen hundred parishioners in the district, and wearily 

make his way home. The boys who didn’t join The Boy’s Club were not 

the only ones who had changed. Military service, war work, and out-mi¬ 

gration had shrunk the congregations of most of the chapels. A decade 

earlier one might have found sixty parishioners waiting for a communion 

service; now a long dusty drive brought him to ten elderly holdouts. Sup¬ 

port from the church was rare, and Deloria was constantly in debt, worry¬ 

ing about automobile expenses and the duties he felt obliged to fulfill. 

And then there were the changes in Indian politics created by Franklin 

D. Roosevelt’s Indian New Deal. Anchored by the Indian Reorganization 

Act of 1934 (ira), the reforms of the Indian New Deal transformed many 

reservation communities, and these transformations were particularly 

visible in the structures of Indian leadership. The ira gave tribes the op¬ 

portunity to establish tribal councils modeled after American constitu¬ 

tional governments, with elected representatives from reservation dis¬ 

tricts. Federal and state governments, as well as private industry, insisted 

that IRA governments serve as the primary venue for Dakota and Lakota 

decision making; many Sioux people learned that speaking collectively 

meant speaking through the councils. 

As a new and important vector for the limited money and power that 

came through Indian Country, the councils quickly became the places 

where talented leaders sought to exercise their influence. Whereas people 

once followed leaders because they already had character, charisma, and 

power, now voting itself became the act that conferred power on individu¬ 

als. It often did so in divisive ways, for there were now winners and losers, 

arguments and counterarguments, supporters and opponents. These po¬ 

litical institutions were strikingly different from the leadership structures 

of the Indian church, which, ironically, came now to look more like a re¬ 

flection of the older traditions of the nineteenth century. 

The reforms of the Indian New Deal, then, drained power away from 

the churches and created more rigid boundaries between church and 

state. Church leaders like Deloria no longer bridged these borders so eas¬ 

ily, particularly at local levels. By the 1940s politics and religion were 

drifting apart and Indian leaders found themselves forced into unaccus¬ 

tomed—and increasingly marginal—categories. At the same time, the 

church continued to cut back on the resources available to its Indian mis- 
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sions. Schools and chapels closed or consolidated. Greater numbers of In¬ 

dian children began attending public, private, and, later, tribal schools. 

Already in decline, the number of Indian clergy plummeted as a whole 

generation of young Indians turned to a different kind of leadership op¬ 

portunity. 

The Brotherhood of Christian Unity had been the heart of Dakota 

Christianity, but in the mid-i94os some of its most influential clergy be¬ 

gan to slip away to death, illness, age, and exhaustion. Deloria worked 

hard to hold the organization together and, with ecu assistance, even 

opened a small boarding school—the Bishop Hare School for Boys, lo¬ 

cated in Mission, on the nearby Rosebud Reservation. In 1949 however, 

the demands of the school, the ecu, his chapel assignments, and the dis¬ 

heartening changes in Indian Christianity and Indian politics proved too 

much. He suffered a severe breakdown, losing his voice for almost two 

weeks. Desperate, he began applying for positions in other parishes, only 

to find his requests blocked by Bishop Roberts. Eventually, he had to re¬ 

sign yet again. 

In 1951 he found respite in Denison, Iowa, where, with the help of Iowa 

bishop Gordon Smith, he escaped Roberts, South Dakota, and the Indian 

ministry for a smaller assignment serving three rural parishes. From 1951 

to 1954 he tried to regain his perspective and his energy. While he rested, 

however, critical changes were occurring in federal Indian policy. During 

these years, the federal government sought to repudiate the underlying 

tenets of the Indian New Deal—Native American self-government and 

collective landholding—through a program called “termination.” When 

Deloria returned to the church’s Indian mission field in 1954, this time in 

a national capacity, he would find that the politics swirling around Indian 

America had changed yet again. 

World War II had looked like an assimilationist dream to many white 

Americans. Indian people participated in proportionally large numbers in 

both the military and the industrial production that had characterized the 

homefront. In addition, the reform programs of Indian commissioner 

John Collier had come under fire in Congress and had by the 1940s been 

largely neutralized. As early as 1937 the co-sponsor of the IRA, Montana 

senator Burton Wheeler, sought to overturn his own legislation. By 1945, 

when CoUier resigned, many in Congress believed that the time was ripe 

for putting an end to the federal Indian bureaucracy altogether. 

Termination attempted to bring Indian people inside the American fold 

by disassembling collective institutions—tribal councils and any other 

type of consensual governing structures—and by pulling Indian people 
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into the wage-work opportunities the cities offered. With the help of the 

Indian Claims Commission, terminationists sought to eliminate any lin¬ 

gering legal, political, institutional, and cultural differences between Indi¬ 

ans and non-Indians. Since there were, in fact, many such differences, ter¬ 

mination represented a colossal threat that, if carried out, would sweep 

away the very idea of Indianness. 

Among the many different varieties of termination efforts, two pieces 

of legislation and one program have become significant signposts. House 

Concurrent Resolution 108, passed in June 1954, set forth the policy goal: 

Indians were to assume all the rights and responsibilities of American 

citizenship, while any governmental obligations to Indian people were to 

be eliminated. Public Law 280, passed in August 1953, sought to move 

those federal responsibilities to state governments, which proved to be ill 

equipped and hostile. Finally, the relocation program, inaugurated in the 

early 1950s, set up training and employment bureaus in many large cities. 

There reservation Indians were to learn quickly the ways of the time clock 

and the bus schedule so that they could become like white urban Ameri¬ 

cans.^ 

At almost the very instant of the formal codification of the termination 

program. Vine Deloria Sr. was appointed the Episcopal Church’s assistant 

secretary for Indian Work. In early 1954 the Church began to reorganize 

its central office, with Indian missions and other social outreach efforts 

assigned a high priority. The organizers took the novel step of putting an 

African American clergyman in charge of outreach to black communities, 

and an Indian in charge of Indian missions. Deloria left Iowa in March 

1954 and promptly began his tenure by touring reservations across the 

country. Shocked by what he found, he developed a detailed proposal for 

revitalized church activity on reservations, which he presented to the 

church’s executive council in the fall of 1955. The program was sophisti¬ 

cated and comprehensive: boarding and day schools, scholarships at Epis¬ 

copal colleges, a national training center for Indian clergy, and strategic 

placement and support for Indian priests and catechists. The proposal 

was patterned after his own life and missions, of course, but hadn’t those 

efforts been successful? And hadn’t they started to fail not because of any 

structural flaws but because of the lack of will and resources? 

More intriguing—and more problematic—the proposal offered a com¬ 

plex understanding of what it meant to be Indian—an understanding that, 

to many, looked like a direct attack on the government’s termination pro¬ 

grams. Indeed, when he presented the proposal to the council, it was op¬ 

posed by the assembled bishops, who said they resented being offered a 
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radical program that would keep Indians distinct and separate from other 

Americans at a time when the nation was trying hard to eliminate such 

differences. Deloria’s own life—which could easily serve as a case study in 

assimilation, if one chose to view it that way—suggested a more compli¬ 

cated scenario, one that emphasized continuing service to Indian people 

rather than the rapid and wholesale abdication of Indianness proposed by 

the government. Nonetheless he was branded as a separatist, a voice 

speaking against “progress,” and was increasingly marginalized at church 

headquarters. 

In autumn 1955 Deloria attended the conference of the National Con¬ 

gress of American Indians (ncai), an Indian lobbying group that was, in 

some ways, the product of the Indian politics created by the ira. A col¬ 

lection of tribal council members, military veterans, and members of the 

Indian intelligentsia, the ncai used congressional lobbying and public re¬ 

lations campaigns to present a vehement case against termination. In 1956 

and 1957 Deloria spent considerable time in Washington dc, attending 

congressional hearings and personally lobbying against termination to 

those in church circles willing to listen. 

For centuries, “becoming civilized” and “becoming Christian” had been 

inseparably twinned. And if termination had a new urban industrial wrin¬ 

kle, the program was nonetheless part of the old tradition of “civilizing 

the Indian.” For many in the church, then, to argue against termination 

was to reject much of the mission effort. The opposition to the program of 

the church’s secretary for Indian Work constituted an intolerable contra¬ 

diction in the Episcopal position. The more he spoke out, the greater the 

political pressure swirling around him grew. 

Ironically, like Indian politics, those of the church had changed since 

his father’s time, becoming increasingly bureaucratized. As secretary for 

Indian Work, Deloria reported to the secretary for Domestic Missions, 

the Reverend William G. Wright, who doubled as director of the Home 

Department, which, along with Domestic Missions, also took responsibil¬ 

ity for colleges, the military, and rural America. Wright in turn reported 

to the National Council and to the inner cabinet of the presiding bishop. 

Most Reverend Henry Knox Sherrill. In addition, the church had a semi¬ 

separate mission entity: the Domestic and Foreign Missionary Society. 

The church offices could be intensely political, with all manner of jock¬ 

eying for position and resources. Although the position of presiding 

bishop originally had been occupied by the most senior bishop available, 

in 1919 the church began to elect presiding bishops and council members. 

Therefore, in addition to a contradictory position on termination, Deloria 
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confronted a multifold bureaucracy that dulled his power and his options, 

and a political culture that required cautious navigation.^ 

That kind of navigation had never worked particularly well for him. As 

the heir to a particularly Indian type of Christianity, he’d been attuned to 

consensual politics, and this upbringing proved difficult to reconcile with 

his place in the hierarchy. As an athlete, he had come to appreciate a cer¬ 

tain kind of moral clarity that did not serve him well in the ambiguous 

realms of politics. He found himself hamstrung by a refusal to see any¬ 

thing but intellectual and moral ground. If he presented a logical argu¬ 

ment and it was obviously the right thing to do, then why not do it? This 

kind of character served him well at the congregational level, but it 

spelled disaster at church headquarters. By the end of 1957 he was almost 

completely isolated and deeply depressed. His superiors let it be known 

that he could finish out the academic year, but that by spring 1958, he 

would need to find a parish. 

As in 1951, he sought peace, quiet, and the reassurance of a congregation 

at a small church in Iowa. After a few years there, however, he once again 

reentered the church establishment, accepting an appointment as the 

archdeacon of South Dakota. Returning to Pierre, South Dakota, in 1961, 

he took on the responsibilities for regional organizing of the state’s Indian 

mission work. The years between 1961 and his retirement in 1967 were 

among the most productive and important in his life. 

The new job took him back among Indian people and he thrived, as he 

had once thrived locally in Martin, on the connections he was able to 

make between Indian and white communities. As he had once insisted on 

church education as the way to promote a cadre of Indian clergy, he now 

continued the job of developing that clergy. He traveled widely through¬ 

out the state, giving the Episcopal Church its most significant presence in 

years. He sought to strengthen the annual Convocations and the cross-de¬ 

nominational meetings of the Brotherhood of Christian Unity. And he ar¬ 

gued effectively for South Dakota’s Indian people in a variety of state and 

local venues. 

Indeed, Deloria may have exercised his greatest influence in this more 

pedestrian position, for here he was able to model—for both Indians and 

non-Indians—a cross-cultural kind of leadership, one that originated in 

his family heritage and cultural background, but that carried his own per¬ 

sonal stamp as weU. It was the kind of leadership he had tried and failed to 

develop at the national level. The incredible affection with which younger 

generations of South Dakota Indian people remember him stems from 

these years and the years of his retirement during which he remained ac- 
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tive around the state. He continued to be a popular and visible presence at 

Convocations, at the meetings of the Brotherhood of Christian Unity, at 

Huron College where he taught courses. In all capacities he brought to¬ 

gether Indians and non-Indians. It is appropriate, perhaps, that his death 

in 1990 came during South Dakota’s “Year of Reconciliation.” 

Yet in his later life he also looked back at his career with questioning 

eyes. “Since my retirement,” he said in 1982, “I have come to look differ¬ 

ently on the church. It seems to me now that the church leaders were 

wrong. . . . Maybe the recent movement on the part of us Sioux to revive 

our old religion, the religion of our ancestors, is a sign of the failures of 

the Christian situation. ... In desperation, we blow balloons and let them 

go in church, and hug each other and kiss each other and add more and 

more ceremonies, as if that will give vitality to the church. But services 

like these are just programs and pageantry. I’ve been in faded Indian chap¬ 

els where they sang simple hymns and said simple prayers and they read 

the Bible beautifully. 

In the end, these two settings—the institutional church and the small 

Indian and non-Indian communities he served—distinguished Deloria’s 

career. He remained loyal to both. By doing so and by seeking to bring 

them together, he helped lead Indian people through some of the most 

troubled years of the twentieth century. 
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D’Arcy McNickle 

Metisfathead 

BY DOROTHY R. PARKER 

If people today recognize D’Arcy McNickle’s name, it is probably because 

they are familiar with his novel The Surrounded, considered by many to be 

the precursor of modern Native American literature. But writing was only 

one of McNickle’s many talents. He was recognized by his peers as an an¬ 

thropologist, a teacher, an administrator, and a tireless fund-raiser—a 

person who could make things happen. Awakening to his Indian identity 

in his late twenties, he spent the rest of his life working to assure the sur¬ 

vival of Indian people and Indian tribes in the United States, and he be¬ 

came one of the most influential Native American leaders of the twentieth 

century. 

D’Arcy McNickle’s enrollment as a member of the Flathead Tribe in 

Montana was based only in part on his heritage.^ His tribal membership 

also reflected federal Indian policy as decreed by the Dawes Act of 1887. 

The Dawes Act decreed that tribal lands be divided up and allotted to in¬ 

dividual tribal members according to a roll that listed all members by 

name. According to the act, tribal elders could admit as members people 

of other Indian tribes and, if they had lived among the Flathead people for 

a prolonged period of time and were of good repute, even those with no 

Indian blood at all could be admitted. D’Arcy’s mother and his two sis¬ 

ters, and perhaps even his father, William, might qualify. William, how¬ 

ever, had no reason to consider tribal membership. The McNickle family 

had emigrated from Ireland to the United States in the late 1840s, and 

William had settled in Montana after helping build the transcontinental 

railroad that crossed the territory in the 1870s. 

D’Arcy’s mother’s ancestry was different, however. Her family, the Par- 

enteaus, were Metis people from Canada. Of mixed-blood French and In¬ 

dian descent, they traced their European ancestry back to the voyageurs 

who had worked in the early fur trade, many of whom had taken Indian 
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wives and raised families “after the manner of the country.” Generations 

later, Isidore Parenteau, McNickle’s grandfather, participated in the Riel 

Rebellion of 1885; after the rebellion failed and Louis Riel was executed, 

Isidore fled with his family (McNickle’s mother, Philomene, was three 

years old) across the border to the Flathead Reservation in northwestern 

Montana, where they settled among the Flathead people. As Metis 

(mixed-bloods with an obscure ancestry), they apparently made no effort 

to establish an Indian identity. 

William McNickle and Philomene Parenteau were married in 1899 and 

had two daughters when D’Arcy was born in 1904. By that time William 

was farming on tribal land and had established a reputation for honesty 

and hard work among both the Indian and non-Indian population. In ad¬ 

dition to maintaining a farm, he worked as a “maintenance engineer” at 

the local mission school. William was ambitious and realized that the al¬ 

location of tribal land, if implemented according to the Dawes Act and the 

Flathead tribal census, might provide a way to legitimize and expand his 

farm. But first Philomene and the children would have to be enrolled as 

tribal members. Encouraged by William, Philomene and the children ap¬ 

plied and in due time were adopted, with the children listed as one-fourth 

Cree. Although there was no hard evidence to prove that their Indian an¬ 

cestors were indeed Cree, there was no question about their having Indian 

blood. When the reservation land was allotted, each of the children was 

given forty acres of land (Philomene received eighty acres) where William 

was already farming. He was able later to acquire still more land after the 

allotment process had been completed and nonallotted reservation 

acreage was made available to homesteaders. 

While D’Arcy and his two older sisters were thus considered Indians, 

they were not raised as traditional members of the Flathead Tribe, and 

their parents discouraged them from playing with their Indian classmates. 

The McNickle farm was five miles from the mission and school at St. Ig¬ 

natius, so the children boarded at the school (which enrolled both white 

and Indian children), and attended the Catholic church, where D’Arcy 

served as an acolyte. 

Unfortunately Philomene and William’s marriage was far from amica¬ 

ble, and when it finally ended in divorce, William wanted to remove the 

children from what he considered an unhealthy environment. With the 

help of the local reservation agent, the children were enrolled in the off- 

reservation Indian boarding school at Chemawa, near Salem, Oregon. 

Here for the first time the children met students from different tribes, 

many of whom spoke no English. The McNickle children spoke little else: 
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English was their native tongue, with an occasional French phrase added 

for emphasis. The children stayed at Chemawa for three years while their 

parents struggled over their custody. 

Few details are known about McNickle’s childhood, aside from the fact 

that while at Chemawa, he learned to play the violin. When he returned to 

Montana, he hved with his mother, who at that time was married to a man 

named Gus Dahlberg. Gus did not legally adopt D’Arcy, but Philomene 

wanted her son to assume Gus’s name, so for almost fifteen years D’Arcy 

carried Dahlberg as his surname. The family moved to the Tacoma area in 

1916, since jobs were plentiful in the shipyards during World War I. While 

in Tacoma, D’Arcy attended public high school, where he continued to 

play the violin, became interested in drama, and read voraciously. 

After the war, the Dahlbergs returned to Montana, this time to Mis¬ 

soula, where D’Arcy enrolled at the University of Montana. Although he 

was poorly prepared for the rigors of the academic program there, he had 

begun to realize that without an education he had few options for the fu¬ 

ture. He knew that he did not want to farm with his father on the reserva¬ 

tion. What he reaUy wanted was to be a writer, a profession that he knew 

required more education. He was fortunate in finding a mentor—his En¬ 

glish professor. Dr. Harold G. Merriam. Merriam was impressed with 

D’Arcy’s ability and encouraged him to continue his studies, even sug¬ 

gesting that D’Arcy consider going overseas for graduate work. 

McNickle’s education, however, was interrupted in his senior year by 

the death of his grandfather Isidore. D’Arcy had loved his grandfather and 

was so distracted by the old man’s death that he began cutting classes and 

eventually was suspended from the university. Nevertheless, Professor 

Merriam continued to support him, and with his mentor’s encourage¬ 

ment, D’Arcy sold his forty acres of reservation land and went to Oxford 

University in England. Regretfully, however, he failed to graduate. Many 

of his college credits were not transferable, and he did not have enough 

money to continue his studies. 

In 1926, after less than a year abroad, D’Arcy Dahlberg (he still used that 

name) returned to New York City. He was admittedly confused about the 

future and certain of only two things: he still wanted to be a writer, and he 

did not want to return to Montana. So he struggled to survive in the city, 

taking odd jobs in the publishing industry as they came along, and even 

selling automobiles, which he heartily detested. For the first time he began 

to develop a critique of American capitalism that grew stronger as the 

Great Depression ravaged the country in the 1930s. Those years were also 

difficult because D’Arcy, with almost no resources, had married Joran 
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Birkeland, his college sweetheart from Montana. She too aspired to a ca¬ 

reer in writing and also had difficulty finding regular employment. 

But some good things did come out of those hard years. For one thing, 

D’Arcy enrolled in classes at Columbia University, hoping to accumulate 

enough credits to graduate. His research in American literature and his¬ 

tory led to his discovery of journals written by some of the early explorers 

of North America. He was especially interested in stories of the French 

voyageurs, who were, after all, his mother’s ancestors. Excited by these 

accounts, he looked further and found volumes of folk tales and stories 

that had been collected by anthropologists. Many of these stories he had 

heard from his grandfather Isidore, whose death had so troubled him a 

few years earlier. He even began to write a short story that reflected his 

sense of loss when Isidore died.^ This emerging sense of his family’s place 

in history also led him to begin an inquiry into his own immediate her¬ 

itage. He had not contacted his mother since before he went to England, 

so he wrote to the tribal agency in Montana for her address. He also asked 

about his own tribal status and about the annuity checks he had been re¬ 

ceiving from the tribe for years. He was only vaguely aware that they rep¬ 

resented his share, as an enrolled tribal member, of income from timber 

royalties and tribal leases. 

D’Arcy never finished that short story; instead, he put it aside and be¬ 

gan to work on his first full-length manuscript, a novel that he first titled 

“Dead Grass,” then changed to “The Hungry Generations,” and finally 

called “The Surrounded.” As is true of many first novels, this one was to a 

large extent autobiographical. Harold Merriam had encouraged his stu¬ 

dents to keep a daily journal, and a large portion of the early drafts was 

drawn from D’Arcy’s account of his six months in Paris.^ The novel’s 

hero, Archilde, is a mixed-blood youth from Montana, educated at an off- 

reservation boarding school, who has been earning his living in Portland 

playing the violin. The boy sees no future on the reservation, so he returns 

home to say a final goodbye to his Indian mother, intending never to re¬ 

turn. But before he can leave for good, he becomes implicated in a murder 

he did not commit. Frightened, he takes his violin and flees to Paris, hop¬ 

ing to study music. Finally realizing that he does not have any exceptional 

musical talent, he returns to Montana, where he successfully farms the 

acreage left him by his father. As the story ends, Archilde awaits the ar¬ 

rival of a woman he had fallen in love with in Paris, and presumably they 

live happily ever after. It was a classic Horatio Alger success story. 

For over five years, D’Arcy wrote and rewrote this novel, changing the 

story line and the title, adding new characters, and submitting it over and 
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over again to various publishers. Responding to their editorial sugges¬ 

tions, he eventually dropped the entire Paris section and instead devel¬ 

oped the story of Archilde’s growing appreciation of his mother’s culture 

and his own involvement in it. Inevitably, the ending changed as Archilde 

became further enmeshed in the question of the murder. Gone was the 

“happily ever after” conclusion of the earlier draft. Reflecting his deepen¬ 

ing awareness of the tragic story of the Native Americans with whom he 

increasingly identified, D’Arcy’s novel became instead an indictment of 

America’s attitude toward its indigenous peoples. That theme was re¬ 

flected in the novel’s published title The Surrounded. 

The name of the novel was not the only thing D’Arcy changed. In 1933, 

while registering to vote, and on a seeming impulse, he recorded his name 

as D’Arcy McNickle, not D’Arcy Dahlberg. As he later explained to John 

Collier, he and Joran were expecting their first child, and he wanted the 

child to have its proper name. Antoinette Parenteau McNickle was born 

on 2 January 1934. 

Critics occasionally have questioned McNickle’s motive in changing his 

name at that particular time. They suggest that since he was trying to get 

the novel published, his claim to an Indian heritage might have been to 

his advantage. It is certainly possible that this thought did occur to him. 

But it seems more likely that D’Arcy’s growing awareness of his mixed 

ethnic heritage was giving him a new sense of his own identity. D’Arcy 

Dahlberg had been a fiction, while D’Arcy McNickle had legal reality. 

While obviously not an Indian name, it was the name by which he was en¬ 

rolled in the Confederated Salish and Kootenai Tribes, and, as he was dis¬ 

covering, it was a name that gave him a usable past. When The Surrounded 

was accepted for publication in 1935, it was described as the work of an In¬ 

dian author. 

Not long after publication of The Surrounded, McNickle finally obtained 

a full-time position on the editorial staff of the Works Progress Adminis¬ 

tration’s recently established Federal Writers Program and, with Joran 

and daughter Toni, moved to Washington DC. He soon found common in¬ 

terests with those in the program who were writing about Indian matters 

for the state guide series, but he really wanted to work for John Collier, 

who recently had been appointed commissioner of the Bureau of Indian 

Affairs (bia). Twice McNickle submitted his application to the Indian Of¬ 

fice, and Collier, who had become aware of McNickle’s work for the state 

guide series, hired him. 

Thus began D’Arcy McNickle’s education as an anthropologist. His 

first assignment as Collier’s administrative assistant was to help explain 
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to various tribes the complexities of Collier’s Indian Reorganization Act 

(ira). Under this act, tribes were to be given one year to vote on adopting 

a formal constitution, which would provide the first step in establishing 

them as recognized political entities within the legal structure of the 

whites. The ira was complex however, and such things as constitutions 

were quite outside the experience of most tribal people. They were under¬ 

standably suspicious and reluctant to agree to any program the bia pro¬ 

posed. It was McNickle’s task to inform and persuade them. 

McNickle soon became part of Collier’s inner circle. Collier was a hu¬ 

manist and a man of some vision, although his experience with tribal af¬ 

fairs was limited to Native American groups in the Southwest. McNickle 

became an increasingly effective writer and speaker, and Collier relied on 

him to assist in all aspects of Indian reorganization. McNickle also con¬ 

tributed frequently to Indians at Work, the bia’s house publication, and he 

wrote articles and book reviews for outside publications. The more he 

learned about the administration of Indian affairs, however, the more he 

was disturbed by one major problem: the Indian Office’s historic reluc¬ 

tance to accept the possibility that Native American people could and 

should govern themselves. Most older tribal members, the traditional 

leaders of their communities, spoke no English, and they had been delib¬ 

erately and systematically excluded from positions of leadership. Mean¬ 

while, young people, who had learned English at bia schools, were not 

trained as interpreters (the capacity in which they could be immensely 

useful) or in any other leadership capacity. Someday, McNickle thought, 

perhaps he would have the opportunity to effectively alter that policy. For 

the time being he assumed ever-greater responsibility as he worked his 

way up within the bureaucracy. 

One of McNickle’s more interesting assignments during World War II 

resulted from the Indian Office’s relatively brief but important role as 

manager of the largest war relocation center for Japanese-American evac¬ 

uees, at Poston on the Colorado River in Arizona. Collier saw this project 

as a rare opportunity to develop a theory of personality development that 

might, after the war, be useful in administering the Indian reservations. 

For eighteen months a select group of young anthropologists including 

Laura Thompson, Dorothea and Alexander Leighton, Clyde Kluckhohn, 

Edward and Rosamond Spicer, and Ruth Underhill investigated various 

aspects of communal life as it evolved among the displaced Japanese- 

Americans at Poston. While most of the bia’s Washington office had 

moved to Chicago during the war, a skeleton staff, including McNickle, 
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remained in the nation’s capital, and he acted as liaison between those 

conducting the study and the Chicago office. 

Also during the war years McNickle became one of a number of people, 

both in and out of the Indian Office, who began to discuss the possibility 

of gathering together leaders from various tribes to establish a national 

organization of some kind. The last such attempt, the Society of American 

Indians, had disbanded in the 1920s, but the renewed interest in Indian 

affairs occasioned by Collier’s reforms in the 1930s suggested that anoth¬ 

er attempt might be more successful. Because he traveled a great deal, Mc- 

Nickle was in a position to meet with tribal leaders across the country, 

and finally, with Collier’s encouragement, a group met in Denver in 1944. 

The group founded the National Congress of American Indians (ncai), 

which has continued to be a respected and powerful forum for Native 

Americans. 

Not surprisingly, McNickle’s education in anthropology began during 

his years with the bia. While he never enrolled in classes, he became an 

avid reader in the field, and his contact with Indian leaders and young 

scholars exposed him to the cutting-edge theory and provided him with 

rigorous training. After the war he began systematic research for his first 

monograph, a narrative history of Native Americans, which was pub¬ 

lished in 1949 as They Came Here First. This book was soon followed by a 

long article called “The Indians of North America” for the Encyclopaedia 

Britannica, 16th edition, published in 1952. Drawing on the research he 

conducted for these two publications, he wrote a fictionalized account of 

Native Americans in the Southwest for a Young Adult series published by 

Lippincott. Runner in the Sun, with illustrations by Alan Houser, was pub¬ 

lished in 1954. McNickle’s growing expertise was recognized with his 

appointment in 1949 and 1950 as a fellow of both the American Anthropo¬ 

logical Association and the recently formed Society for Applied Anthro- 

pology. 

By that time, McNickle had become chief of the Branch of Tribal Rela¬ 

tions, a major position in the Indian Office. But John Collier had resigned, 

and most of the people McNickle had worked with earlier had either re¬ 

tired or transferred elsewhere. Congress was taking a more conservative 

position regarding Indian affairs, even reversing some of what the Indian 

New Deal had accomplished under Collier, and the few Collier people 

who remained in the Indian Office were increasingly demoralized. Collier 

had succeeded in stopping, at least temporarily, the alienation of reserva¬ 

tion lands, and had sought to strengthen tribal organizations and tribal 
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autonomy through the Indian Reorganization Act. Successive commis¬ 

sioners, however, centralized the bia’s bureaucratic structure in Washing¬ 

ton, which in effect placed the Indians themselves even further than they 

had been from the decision making process. In addition. Congress initi¬ 

ated a move toward terminating those tribes that were thought to possess 

sufficient resources for self-government. While McNickle was not op¬ 

posed in theory to the eventual termination of government support, he 

knew from experience that no tribes were ready at that time to govern 

themselves without federal assistance. He feared, and rightly so, the out¬ 

side interests that were eager to take advantage of so-called self-determi¬ 

nation. If termination were to happen, it must not take place until tribal 

members were sufficiently trained to hold their own against those who 

would exploit tribal resources for their own gain. He considered the de¬ 

velopment of an indigenous leadership absolutely necessary in imple¬ 

menting any policy of termination. 

Therefore, while still under the aegis of the bia in 1951 and 1952, Mc¬ 

Nickle conducted a series of summer workshops as an addendum to the 

Indian Office’s summer teacher training program at the Intermountain 

Indian School in Brigham City, Utah. He invited a number of tribal leaders 

and educators to attend several two-week sessions at which they “brain¬ 

stormed” about contemporary Indian issues. Participants discussed local 

problems on their own reservations, and in doing so they discovered that 

other tribes faced the same kinds of problems. McNickle hoped to make 

them aware, by sharing their problems and exploring other tribes’ solu¬ 

tions, that they had the resources and the abihty to make significant 

changes in their own communities. He knew only too well that the tribes 

shared common concerns in areas of health, education, housing, and jobs, 

and also realized that the Indians themselves were unaware of how uni¬ 

versal those concerns were. Unfortunately, while those who attended the 

workshops were excited about sharing their experiences, their excitement 

failed to translate into effective action at home. McNickle had hoped that 

some tribal leaders, at least, would gain greater self-confidence in identi¬ 

fying and solving local problems, but a two-week workshop with sporadic 

attendance did not begin to address the real problems. The lack of leader¬ 

ship required to solve problems was endemic, and only a dedicated long¬ 

term effort could nurture the kind of leadership that would ensure tribal 

survival. He would obviously have to explore other avenues of assistance. 

The obstacles he faced if he hoped to continue working on this crucial 

problem within the bia were extensive. First there was the explicit rejec¬ 

tion by Congress of many of Collier’s initiatives that might have moved 
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reservations toward independence. The centralization of authority in 

Washington, while undeniably leading to greater bureaucratic efficiency, 

in effect reduced the number of opportunities the tribes had to participate 

in their own governance. If congressional wishes prevailed, terminated 

tribes would be at the mercy of outside forces waiting to exploit tribal re¬ 

sources. (The experience of the Klamath and Menominee tribes, which 

were being terminated at that time, showed only too clearly how great 

was the danger.) Although Congress conceded that some tribes might not 

survive termination, the Indian Office seemed unable or unwilling to im¬ 

plement a practical plan for developing Native American leadership that 

might eventually challenge the Indian Office’s control. Another problem 

McNickle faced stemmed from the nature of the Indian Office’s funding. 

Operating as it did on an annual budget passed by Congress, any long¬ 

term planning such as McNickle was considering became highly unlikely. 

At this point, McNickle began to look outside the federal government 

for a solution. There was always the possibility that the National Congress 

of American Indians would support an alternative program. In 1950, the 

NCAi had established an adjunct organization called American Indian De¬ 

velopment (aid), with McNickle as its director, aid’s stated purpose was 

to promote community action; it already had provided a modicum of fi¬ 

nancial support for the summer workshops. Encouraged by ncai’s will¬ 

ingness to assist, McNickle sought additional funding from private orga¬ 

nizations, and by 1952 he had raised thirty thousand dollars—enough, he 

thought, for a two-year project. Ten thousand dollars of that amount was 

designated for health education, while the remainder was to be used as 

needed. He decided to take a one-year leave of absence (or possibly two) 

from the Indian Office and devote himself to full-time community devel¬ 

opment. 

The concept of community development was relatively new at that 

time and was quite unknown within the bia’s policy of managing Indian 

reservations. With termination apparently only a matter of time, how¬ 

ever, the need for developing local leadership was obvious. For McNickle, 

the question was where to begin, because all reservations faced the same 

problem. He had to find the most desirable location for his project. With 

the help of aid’s board of directors, he developed a list of desirable com¬ 

ponents for an ideal site. First, he hoped to find a place where a core of po¬ 

tential leaders, who perhaps had some experience with the non-Indian 

world through military service or attendance at an off-reservation board¬ 

ing school, would be open to new ideas. Then he looked for a place with 

some basic medical facilities. Fast but not least, he wanted some reason- 
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able access to outside transportation, as he was also involved at that time 

with two other aid projects. 

After an intensive search, McNickle finally decided that Crownpoint, 

New Mexico, was the place for his project. Crownpoint was just east of 

the Navajo Reservation, in what was known as the “checkerboard area” 

because of its ethnically diverse land ownership—part Navajo, part His¬ 

panic, part Anglo, and part federal government. Until the 1930s, Crown¬ 

point had been headquarters for the Eastern Navajo Agency, which had a 

run-down Indian hospital consisting of sixty beds, and a boarding school 

with four hundred students. The tribal authorities had more or less ne¬ 

glected the people in the surrounding area since 1935, when the Navajo 

capital was established at Window Rock, seventy-five miles to the west. 

Since they didn’t live on the reservation, they also felt ignored by the Bu¬ 

reau of Indian Affairs. 

There was another reason why McNickle chose Crownpoint. In the 

1940s, at Collier’s request, he had assisted in the publication of The Navajo 

Door, a seminal book by Alexander and Dorothea Leighton. The authors 

of this pioneering anthropological study had written about those aspects 

of the Navajos’ culture and their worldview that affected their physical 

well-being. For instance, even though the Navajos had a well-developed 

traditional explanation of why disease occurred, their language lacked the 

vocabulary that might have enabled them to understand modern scien¬ 

tific theories of disease. In their book, the Leightons discussed some of 

the problems inherent in conveying scientific information to people who 

had no vocabulary for understanding such material and no interest in ac¬ 

quiring such information. 

As an anthropologist, McNickle saw at Crownpoint the possibility of 

initiating procedures to overcome some of the cultural and linguistic ob¬ 

stacles described in the Leightons’ study. With the hospital and school in 

the area, the potential for effective communication and growth was great; 

he found several people with the kind of experience in the outside world 

that he considered essential. One man, John Perry, had attended the Albu¬ 

querque Indian School as a boy, had served several terms as a representa¬ 

tive of the area on the Navajo Tribal Council, and had worked as chief of 

the tribal police. Perry was sixty years old when McNickle began working 

at Crownpoint, and he became the project’s translator. 

Meanwhile, American Indian Development launched a broad search for 

someone to direct the health education portion of McNickle’s program. 

After several months and repeated interviews with Viola Pfrommer, 

McNickle selected her as the new health educator. Pfrommer brought to 
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Crownpoint extensive experience in the field of health education and hy¬ 

giene among indigenous peoples. She held a master’s degree in public 

health and a doctorate in education, and since WWII she had worked as a 

health educator for the American Friends Service Committee in Egypt, 

Germany, Mexico, and El Salvador. She was willing to accept a consider¬ 

able reduction in salary to come to Crownpoint because her family did 

not want her to leave the United States again. She knew very little about 

the Navajos, however, and McNickle was concerned that the stark land¬ 

scape and Spartan living conditions at Crownpoint would discourage her. 

To his relief, she adapted efficiently and with good humor to her new sit¬ 

uation. She lived and worked at first in a large house trailer loaned to 

McNickle by the bia, until rooms at the local teacherage became available. 

McNickle reluctantly accepted the bia’s assistance. He was no longer 

part of that bureaucracy, and he wanted to separate himself from it in the 

minds of the local people. He also chose to maintain some physical dis¬ 

tance from the local project. The emphasis of community development 

was to empower the people to make their own decisions, not to “do 

things” for them. He intended to be available as a kind of catalyst, provid¬ 

ing information about resources and options when asked, but he wanted 

the Navajos to identify their own needs and realize their own capacity in 

meeting those needs. Boulder, Colorado, was close—but not too close—to 

Crownpoint. It was also convenient to the Denver airport, which allowed 

him to maintain contacts with ncai people and various funding organiza¬ 

tions. In 1953, therefore, he moved his family to Boulder. 

Viola Pfrommer’s role at Crownpoint was more content-oriented than 

McNickle’s and required that she live on-site, yet it also focused on em¬ 

powering people to help themselves. Pfrommer, who was soon known as 

“Vi,” quickly found that she had an ally in the extraordinary person of An¬ 

nie Dodge Wauneka, the first woman to be elected to the Navajo Tribal 

Council (1951), who had recently been appointed chair of the Navajo 

Tribal Health Committee. Pfrommer and Wauneka made a formidable 

pair as they confronted the problem of tuberculosis, which was a major 

cause of death among Navajos on the reservation. As McNickle had antic¬ 

ipated, the problem was as much cultural as medical. The scientific cause 

of the disease was unknown, its transmission was not understood, and the 

cure, which included a prolonged stay in a hospital for whites, was often 

rejected in favor of more traditional healing practices. 

McNickle and Pfrommer were not the only ones concerned with com¬ 

bating disease among the Navajos in the 1950s. The Crownpoint project, 

which began in the summer of 1953, was concerned primarily with public 
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health and hygiene, while a second project, coordinated by a team of med¬ 

ical personnel from Cornell University, focused more on the direct appli¬ 

cation of medical resources—especially the newly developed antibiotic 

isoniazid. The Cornell project began in 1955 and was based at Many 

Farms, Arizona. Because both projects were temporary—McNickle had 

funding for health education for only two years and the Cornell project for 

five—they emphasized training Navajo people to apply resources and 

knowledge without assistance. 

Much of what both groups emphasized in this training focused on the 

cultural differences between traditional healing as practiced by Navajo 

singers, or medicine men, and the modern scientific world of doctors and 

hospitals. McNickle and Pfrommer invited Dr. Kurt Deuschle, who was 

stationed at the Navajo hospital at Fort Defiance, to come to Crownpoint 

and meet with influential medicine men from the eastern part of the res¬ 

ervation and the checkerboard area. The exchange of information that 

followed was hailed as the first time that practitioners of traditional Na¬ 

vajo healing methods and modern medical personnel had met as equals 

and listened constructively to each other. Medicine men who looked 

through the doctor’s microscope at tuberculosis bacilli saw what actually 

caused the disease, and several of them later asked to get an X-ray. 

After Dr. Deuschle’s visit, Vi Pfrommer and Annie Wauneka worked 

with traditional medicine men as their allies rather than their antagonists. 

Together they organized two major working conferences on tuberculosis, 

in Gallup in 1954 and in Albuquerque in 1955, that drew sponsors and par¬ 

ticipants from all over the country. In addition they cooperated with other 

state and federal health agencies in planning an exhibit that reached more 

than eleven thousand people at the Gallup Ceremonial and the Navajo 

Tribal Fair in 1954. Dr. Deuschle and Annie Wauneka both began working 

with the Cornell group at Many Farms when McNickle’s funding for 

health education ran out. By i960, when both the Crownpoint project and 

the Cornell project came to an end, the reservation had experienced a sig¬ 

nificant drop in tuberculosis-related deaths. 

It must be remembered, however, that the health education part of the 

Crownpoint project was funded for only two years. When that money ran 

out in 1955, McNickle obtained additional financial support for another 

five years of community development, primarily from the Schwartzhaupt 

Foundation of Chicago. He was able to incorporate much of Pfrommer’s 

work into the community development program, and Pfrommer re¬ 

mained very much a part of the project. As always, the emphasis was on 
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empowering the people in the Crownpoint area to deal effectively with 

their own needs and problems. 

As the project began, the most active and influential Crownpoint people 

had organized themselves into what they called the Navajo Development 

Committee and, with McNickle as a resource person, met frequently to 

deal with a number of concerns. Alienation from the tribal government 

was seen as a major problem, and several times the committee invited 

tribal officials from Window Rock to visit and to keep them informed. An¬ 

other area of concern among the people of Crownpoint involved the local 

school. In addition to the bia boarding school, which drew students from 

the entire eastern area, Crownpoint had a public school that was part of 

the Gallup school system. School officials from GaUup, invited to attend 

one of the committee’s regular meetings, were initially shocked when the 

Navajos presented them with a list of demands for better service. But the 

demands were reasonable and the school officials responsive. Such a con¬ 

ference had never before even been considered a possibility. 

The most visible accomplishment of the Navajo Development Commit¬ 

tee was the building of one structure and the remodeling of another to 

provide a meeting place and overnight facilities for families who came to 

visit patients in the hospital and/or children at the boarding school. The 

committee raised money for supplies, hauled rock for the walls, and fur¬ 

nished the necessary labor. These buddings eventually provided showers, 

beds, laundry and kitchen facilities, and even movies (for a smaU fee). Lo¬ 

cal people managed the entire operation. Crownpoint had had no over¬ 

night facilities of any kind for visitors, and the buildings provided a solu¬ 

tion to a major community problem. They were also, understandably, a 

source of considerable pride among the people of Crownpoint. 

McNickle had never intended for his project to be permanent; indeed, 

the whole purpose of it was to work himself out of a job. In late i960, as he 

and Pfrommer prepared to withdraw, they tried to assess the results of 

their efforts, but they were perplexed. For the last eighteen months or so, 

the project that had begun with such enthusiasm had lost its momentum. 

This was due partly to dissension within the tribal council at Window 

Rock, over which the Crownpoint people had little or no control. Young 

people with modern ideas had been elected to the council, and McNickle 

believed that they posed a threat to the Navajos’ traditional social struc¬ 

ture. They were too young to be accorded the respect reserved for tribal 

elders, and they did not know or value the old traditions. They could not 

even speak the language properly. 
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There were local problems, too. John Perry, who served as interpreter 

for the entire project, became involved in a dispute with relatives over the 

use of peyote, an issue that divided the tribal council itself. The dispute 

caused a serious rift within the Navajo Development Committee. Still 

another pressing problem concerned the selection of a permanent man¬ 

ager for the new community buildings. The issues here revolved around 

kinship ties and a general distrust of whoever controlled the money. 

McNickle wrote to Pfrommer on New Year’s Eve of his discouragement, 

and he began to reexamine his basic concept of building local leadership. 

The Crownpoint project’s original premise was that tribal people who 

had been deprived of decision making opportunities by the federal 

government’s paternalism could regain the ability to solve their own 

problems if given time and sufficient information about options and re¬ 

sources. McNickle had hoped that the traditional leadership of elders 

could become the avenue for effective change. He based the project on the 

assumption that the way to assure the survival of Native American tribes 

was to encourage traditional elders to exercise the kind of leadership they 

once did among their people. But he began to realize that these elders, es¬ 

pecially the ones who spoke no English, had lost much of their influence. 

Younger people were bringing unanticipated changes and were leaving 

their elders behind. 

In the early 1960s the bia finally began discussing the possibility of 

training young Native American people for clerical and technical posi¬ 

tions, but McNickle was not optimistic about this approach. While 

Congress had officially abandoned the idea of termination, many con¬ 

gressmen continued to press for opening the reservations to outside de¬ 

velopment of tribal resources. It seemed to McNickle that training Indi¬ 

ans for clerical and technical positions would in effect still keep them 

away from the actual decision making positions. He insisted that eco¬ 

nomic development of tribal resources, if it came at all, must come at the 

direction and under the control of the Indians themselves. In a 1963 letter 

to John Collier, he wrote that the training the bia proposed “will come to 

nothing if the men who sit in the tribal councils and on business commit¬ 

tees are required to play the passive role of signing checks and adopting 

resolutions and are not helped to come to an understanding of the culture 

in which they are asked to lose themselves.”4 In other words, Indian peo¬ 

ple must learn enough about business operations to participate as equals 

in decisions concerning tribal resources. 

Fortunately McNickle soon became involved in another approach to 

the problem that offered greater potential for preparing Indian tribes for 
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self-rule. In 1956, while he was preoccupied with affairs at Crownpoint, a 

small group of people in Washington, sponsored by the independent (that 

is, nongovernmental). Council on Indian Affairs, had launched still an¬ 

other summer workshop program. They designed this program for Native 

American college students, some of whom were like the young people 

challenging the traditional leadership of tribal elders. The council was 

disturbed by the alarmingly high dropout rate of Native American college 

students. Most of them seemed at first glance to be well prepared for col¬ 

lege. But a large percentage of the students came from rural areas or reser¬ 

vations; they were not only homesick, but they felt isolated in the larger 

college communities, where they often faced the additional burden of ra¬ 

cial discrimination. One of the early workshop directors diagnosed the 

students’ problem: “Many young Indians, whether of tribal or detribal- 

ized background, suffer from anxieties and confusions that the sociologist 

has attributed to ‘marginality’: They are unable to see themselves as either 

Indians or as white people. ”5 What could be done to keep these young 

people in school? 

McNickle first became involved with these summer workshops as a 

consultant and a guest speaker, and after the i960 workshop, American 

Indian Development assumed responsibility for the entire operation. Mc¬ 

Nickle and the workshop staff were continually amazed at how little these 

students knew about their own tribal histories. Like the young people 

who were challenging traditional leadership in Window Rock, they no 

longer spoke the language of their people and knew little of their own cul¬ 

ture. At the same time, they were trying to adapt to another culture about 

which they also knew almost nothing. Their confusion was quite under¬ 

standable. It seemed to McNickle, tragically, that the very survival of 

tribal identities was endangered by this lack of self-knowledge, and his 

concern was reflected in the title of a small book he wrote called The In¬ 

dian Tribes of the United States: Ethnic and Cultural Survival, which was pub¬ 

lished in 1962. 

McNickle and the workshop staff, in an effort to provide the partici¬ 

pants with essential information about themselves and the non-Indian 

world, developed a unique curriculum that was based on an objective 

comparison of Indian and European cultures. First they provided an over¬ 

all view of Indian history and culture as it evolved before the European in¬ 

vasion, from both the Indian point of view and from the point of view of 

the whites. Then they provided a more detailed examination of some of 

the tribes represented by the various students in the workshop. They dis¬ 

cussed mythical stories of tribal origins and compared those stories with 
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the understanding of modern science, not to debunk the myths but to ex¬ 

plain how myth and science provided alternative views of creation. They 

discussed the roots of tribal languages and kinship systems. They com¬ 

pared traditional cultures with contemporary tribal organizations and 

brought in Native American speakers who were active in tribal politics. 

They discussed varied concepts of land ownership as held by Indian peo¬ 

ples and by Europeans. Finally, by using McNickle’s role-playing scripts, 

they analyzed the cultural dichotomies that had made the young people 

feel alienated among their fellow students. In other words, the staff at¬ 

tempted to encourage the students’ self-awareness and pride in being In¬ 

dian, while at the same time familiarize them with the culture in which 

they found themselves at college. 

Reaction to this curriculum was mixed, but most students found these 

comparisons very enlightening. Some students examined the stereotypes 

that whites held about Indians and decided that if they were perceived 

as drunks, then they would drink. Others, however, realized that they 

were learning about their own history and people for the first time. As 

McNickle explained when discussing the workshops in his 1963 letter to 

Collier, “The young students who go through this short course emerge 

with what must be for most of them a wholly new concept of themselves 

and the society around them.” Then he added, “Some of them get so ex¬ 

cited they want to go right out and start a war against all the teachers and 

administrators they have ever known who all along were telling them that 

as Indians they were dead.”® For most participants, the workshops pro¬ 

vided information about their world that they sorely needed, and many of 

them became active leaders in the “Red Power” movement of the late 

1960s. 

Unfortunately, no attempt was made to follow up on the more than 

three hundred young men and women who attended the workshops from 

1956 through 1967 (McNickle was unable to raise funds for such a study), 

but their significance might be observed in the participants’ later careers. 

At the tribal, state, and federal level, many of them became educators, ad¬ 

ministrators, scientists, businesspeople, and artists, often working di¬ 

rectly with and for Indian people. They were effective leaders because 

they were able comfortably to identify themselves as Indian and at the 

same time to relate constructively to the non-Indian people around them. 

McNickle had made that very concept the goal of the workshops, and, as 

he wrote in 1975, “Of the young Indian leaders who have come to national 

attention in recent years, and who have contributed markedly to the de¬ 

velopment of their own communities, many came through the workshop. 
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The thing that made the difference in their lives, I am confident, was the 

exposure to the social sciences, which provided insights into their own 

and the general society as well as the analytical tools for analyzing the 

forces around them.”7 

McNickle was involved with the workshops through the summer of 

1967, and by that time other educational opportunities had appeared on 

the horizon for Native American students. One was the Opportunity Fel¬ 

lowship Program sponsored by the John Hay Whitney Foundation. 

McNickle served on the Awards Committee for that program from 1957 to 

1971, and he recommended a number of promising students for those fel¬ 

lowships. The United Scholarship Services, which evolved from the inde¬ 

pendent Council on Indian Affairs, was also focusing on Native American 

students, and the National Indian Scholarship Training Program was in 

the planning stage. Other programs would soon follow. 

While the early 1960s had been frustrating and McNickle was ready to 

move on to other things, those years had actually been productive. First, 

as he and Pfrommer withdrew from Crownpoint in December i960, they 

began to prepare a lengthy report on the project for the Schwartzhaupt 

Foundation, which had been so generous in its funding since 1955.^ Com¬ 

piling that report took almost three years. McNickle also became involved 

almost immediately in planning for what became known as the American 

Indian Chicago Conference (aicc). This conference, which took place in 

June 1961, has become a watershed event in modern Indian history. It 

originated as the brainchild of anthropologists at the University of Chi¬ 

cago, who subsequently enlisted the support of the National Congress of 

American Indians. The stated purpose of the conference was to provide a 

voice for Indian people in determining a new direction for federal Indian 

policy. John F. Kennedy had been inaugurated as president the preceding 

January, and a new commissioner had not yet been appointed. The policy 

of termination in the 1950s had proven disastrous, and the future for In¬ 

dian tribes was still unclear. Here was a unique opportunity to express 

tribal needs and hopes for the future. 

The NCAi responded enthusiastically to the idea of gathering tribal rep¬ 

resentatives and leaders together at this crucial time, and McNickle, as 

chairman of the planning committee, was assigned the task of drafting a 

statement to be used as the working basis for the conference. He and his 

committee developed a number of specific topics, along with a set of 

questions relating to them, and mailed the material to tribal councils and 

interested individuals for discussion. The ncai then followed through by 

organizing regional meetings to clarify the responses. On the basis of the 
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information thus gathered, McNickle wrote a position paper and submit¬ 

ted it to the conference. With relatively minor changes, this document, “A 

Declaration of Indian Purpose,” became the official report of the confer¬ 

ence, and it has had considerable impact on administrative policies since 

that time. 

Students who were enrolled in the 1961 summer workshop attended the 

Chicago conference as aides to the delegates, and they spent the first week 

of their six-week program running errands and delivering messages be¬ 

fore returning to Boulder for the remainder of the session. For many of 

them the conference was truly an eye-opener. It reflected a unity and a 

common purpose among Indian tribes that surprised even those who had 

organized it. The students were excited and energized by their experience, 

and they decided to create their own organization to reflect their new¬ 

found purpose. Sixteen of them met in Gallup after the workshop, and, 

building on a small regional youth group already in existence, they 

founded what became known as the National Indian Youth Council 

(niyc), an activist organization that continues to this day. Several years 

later McNickle served on niyc’s advisory council. 

After the Chicago conference, however, McNickle was at a crossroads. 

Although he received a government pension and a small salary as director 

of American Indian Development for running the summer workshops 

and two other small projects in community development, it was his wife’s 

salary that supported his family. His ailing mother had become part of the 

family in Boulder and he relished the time he could spend with her, but af¬ 

ter her death in 1964 he was increasingly frustrated with the lack of focus 

in his life. He began to work again on a novel that he had begun in the 

1930s and he was frequently invited to write articles and book reviews on 

Indian affairs, but he was looking for employment. He was now over sixty, 

and jobs did not come easily. 

What finally ended this period of uncertainty was something he could 

not possibly have anticipated. In December 1965 he was totally surprised 

by the offer of a tenured faculty position, along with an offer to become 

chairman of the Department of Anthropology, at a new branch campus of 

the University of Saskatchewan in Canada. He had never before taught a 

regular college course; he did not have a college degree and had never even 

considered teaching. But he was assured by his many friends and by the 

university administration that he was the right person for the department. 

While he was still considering this offer, he received another surprise, a 

deeply gratifying one, when he learned that he had been nominated for an 

honorary doctorate of science from the University of Colorado for his 
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thirty years of commitment to the American Indian, to be awarded at 

spring commencement. Suddenly he once again had a future. 

But it was with some trepidation that he finally agreed to go to Canada 

for the fall term in 1966. He had signed a contract in the spring of 1965 to 

write a biography of the Pulitzer Prize-winning author Oliver La Farge, 

whom he had known for years, and he spent the summer before heading 

north doing the preliminary research and agonizing in spare moments 

over how he would teach an introductory course in anthropology. At this 

time he also terminated his marriage, which had been deteriorating for 

years. 

With the exception of one year, 1968-69, during which he took a leave 

of absence to complete the La Farge biography, McNickle remained in 

Canada as promised until 1971, when he reached the mandatory retire¬ 

ment age of sixty-seven. The late 1960s were tumultuous years for colleges 

and universities on both sides of the border. Many young American men 

moved to Canada to avoid military service in Vietnam, and campuses in 

both countries had become alarmingly politicized. McNickle was not 

about to be drawn into any political battles, however. Instead, he labored 

to establish a traditional anthropology department with fieldwork among 

indigenous peoples of North America, and eventually his vision was fully 

realized, although he did not live to see it happen. The tensions he en¬ 

countered within the university were extremely stressful and he suffered a 

heart attack while he was there, so he was more than willing to leave Can¬ 

ada, and academia, in 1971. 

Retirement provided some respite. Vi Pfrommer, whom he married in 

1969, had earlier bought an old schoolhouse in Albuquerque’s North Val¬ 

ley. She had remodeled it into a comfortable home and had lived there for 

several years before she and D’Arcy married. They later built another 

house adjacent to hers, but she was never really comfortable in the new 

place. Her difficulty in making the adjustment may have been due to the 

onset of Alzheimer’s disease, about which little was known at that time. 

She had gone to Canada with D’Arcy after their wedding, but she was dis¬ 

oriented and mostly confined to their apartment. When McNickle could 

no longer care for her at home in Albuquerque and when she no longer 

recognized him, he moved her into a nursing home, where she lived until 

the summer of 1977. 

Fortunately, McNickle was able to continue consulting by phone and 

writing during that time. The La Farge biography was published in 1971, 

and by 1975 he had revised and brought up-to-date his other historical 

works, aU of which were once again in print. He had also been asked by 
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the Smithsonian Institution to serve on the editorial board of its proposed 

multivolume revision of the Handbook of North American Indians. His one 

unfinished project was the novel that he had begun in the 1930s and 

worked on for years. Now he practically rewrote it, and Wind from an En¬ 

emy Sky was accepted for publication early in 1977. 

By this time, McNickle was recognized as one of a small number of 

elder statespeople on Indian affairs. Few of the people who had worked in 

the Collier administration were still living; indeed, he was the only one of 

NCAi’s founders to attend the Chicago conference in 1961. It was not sur¬ 

prising, therefore, that he became the first director of the Center for the 

History of the American Indian at the Newberry Library in Chicago in 

1971. He had helped to write the center’s original proposal and to present 

its prospectus to both the Indian community and to the academic world. 

Recognition by both constituencies was essential, as the center was to be 

linked academically to a consortium of the Big Ten universities and the 

University of Chicago. As Lawrence Towner, director of the Newberry Li¬ 

brary, wrote to him in 1973, “Without your help, we would never have 

gotten funded by the white community, and without your help, we would 

never have been accepted by either the scholarly or the Indian com¬ 

munity. 

The primary concern of McNickle and others who established the cen¬ 

ter was to make the Ayer and Gralf collections of Native American mate¬ 

rials at the Newberry Library more available for scholars and at the same 

time to create a new conceptual basis for Indian history, which had until 

that time been recorded only from the point of view of whites. It was as 

though Native Americans had had no life prior to the coming of the Eu¬ 

ropeans—no culture, no history of their own. The staff at the center 

hoped to reorient the study of Indian history, shifting the focus of the nar¬ 

rative from the perspective of the whites to a description of tribal cul¬ 

tures, traditions, and events that had occurred and developed from 

within, independent of European/American influence. Using techniques 

of both anthropology and history (a disciplinary approach now called 

‘ethnohistory’), the center “hoped to reconstruct the story of Indian 

people from the Indians’ point of view.” As McNickle observed at the 

time, “no people should have to depend on another and possibly hostile 

party to give its account to the world. 

This new approach was obviously a very broad mandate for researchers 

and teachers, and it would require the full participation of Native Ameri¬ 

can scholars and traditionalists. Access to the Newberry Library, which 

was essentially a research institution, had previously been limited to pre- 
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doctoral and postdoctoral scholars, and McNickle knew only too well that 

very few Native Americans could qualify on that basis. Therefore, as the 

center’s first director, he established fellowships for tribal historians and 

others, bringing the library’s resources within their reach. 

He had accepted the position as director, however, only on the condi¬ 

tion that it be temporary; a permanent director was to be selected as soon 

as possible. Robert Bieder and Martin Zanger worked as full-time assis¬ 

tants under McNickle’s direction until 1976, when Francis Jennings, the 

well-known Indian scholar, accepted the appointment to replace him. 

McNickle kept in close touch with the center by telephone, however, and 

his contribution to its development was crucial. 

In September 1977, McNickle learned that he had been nominated for 

the Newberry Library’s most esteemed position: that of distinguished re¬ 

search feUow. In addition to a small stipend, this fellowship would pro¬ 

vide him the opportunity to work on his own research at the center, as 

well as gratuitous housing in Chicago while doing so. He was eager to ac¬ 

cept, if only he could find someone to stay in his house in Albuquerque for 

extended periods of time. He planned to respond at the center’s October 

board meeting. 

However, McNickle never got to that meeting. On Tuesday, October 15, 

he had a massive heart attack at his home in Albuquerque and apparently 

died almost instantly. When he failed to arrive at the board meeting in 

Chicago as scheduled, the Albuquerque police were asked to investigate, 

and they reported the sad news to the board members. Although 

McNickle had a history of heart trouble, his death came as a terrible shock 

to those who always looked forward to his arrival at the meetings. He was 

buried in Albuquerque, and a large group of friends and admirers gath¬ 

ered later in a light rain for a memorial celebration of his life. The Center 

for the History of the American Indian continues as an important part of 

D’Arcy McNickle’s legacy, and under the leadership of Francis Jennings 

and later of Frederick Hoxie it has carried forward D’Arcy McNickle’s vi¬ 

sion of Native Americans recording their own history. In 1983, when 

McNickle’s daughter donated her father’s papers to the Newberry Li¬ 

brary, the center was renamed in his honor. 

McNickle’s legacy, of course, reaches back for more than four decades. 

The National Congress of American Indians has evolved into a powerful 

voice concerning all Native American policy matters, and the National In¬ 

dian Youth Council, whose members have been more activist than 

McNickle himself, provides a platform for young people who are not con¬ 

tent to follow the traditional search for consensus in dealing with con- 
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temporary issues and who, instead, are willing to provoke a more direct 

confrontation with the bureaucracy to arrive at solutions for their prob¬ 

lems. Many of those who participated in the leadership training work¬ 

shops have emerged as leaders in these and other areas as well. 

But it may well be that, for most people who are not knowledgeable 

about Indian affairs, D’Arcy McNickle will remain best known for his 

writings, especially for his three novels. The Surrounded is today probably 

the most familiar. Although it’s a rather somber story and sales were poor, 

reviews of the book were favorable. Some who read it predicted, with con¬ 

siderable foresight, that it might be the first of a new Indian literature. 

Oliver La Large, whose own novel Laughing Boy had received the Pulitzer 

Prize in 1929, wrote in a 1936 review that The Surrounded should be added 

“to the small list of creditable modern novels using the first Americans as 

theme.” But when The Surrounded first appeared, the country was still suf¬ 

fering from the Great Depression, and new authors were having a difficult 

time even getting published. McNickle was very pleased just to see the 

manuscript in print. The book all but disappeared until the early 1970s, 

when friends urged him to seek a publisher that might be interesting in 

reprinting it. Although the University of New Mexico Press decided to 

take up the option and republish the book, McNickle did not live to see it 

since the reprint was not released untd 1978. 

McNickle’s second novel. Runner in the Sun: A Story of Indian Maize, 

which was published in 1954, never did attract the attention of adult read¬ 

ers, perhaps because it was published as one of a series marketed for 

“young adults.” This novel was unique in that it was the first one written 

by a Native American author to depict imaginatively what Indian life was 

like before the arrival of the European explorers. The setting is the prehis¬ 

toric Southwest, where a young boy named Salt is approaching manhood. 

In a classic vision quest, Salt embarks on a long journey to the south, sur¬ 

viving various life-threatening challenges, to bring a new ceremony and a 

new strain of corn to his people. Allan Houser, the Apache artist who has 

since achieved worldwide recognition as a painter and sculptor, was 

teaching at the Intermountain Indian School in the early 1950s when 

McNickle held his summer workshops there, and McNickle asked him to 

illustrate this novel. 

Like his first novel. The Surrounded, McNickle’s third one. Wind from an 

Enemy Sky, was set in the Northwest, in a place that resembled the reser¬ 

vation area where McNickle had lived as a child. This was the story that 

he started in the 1930s and revised periodically until he practically re¬ 

wrote it in the early 1970s. Once again the hero is a young boy, Antoine, 
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who has returned from an off-reservation boarding school to find his 

people’s land threatened by a new dam that was built by a well-meaning 

but insensitive government bureaucracy. Antoine is more an observer in 

this story than an actor, but he represents the future, and the future is 

grim. His people’s hopes and fears focus on a lost medicine bundle; they 

believe that recovery of the bundle will assure their survival. Although the 

local Indian agent and the engineer who built the dam are sympathetic 

and attempt to retrieve the bundle, it has been destroyed by indifference 

and neglect. When the engineer offers Antoine’s people a gold statuette 

from some Central American tribe instead of the medicine bundle, the 

gulf between the Indians and the dominant culture becomes painfully ob¬ 

vious, and the final tragedy appears inevitable. 

McNickle carried on an extensive correspondence with the publisher 

while preparing this book for the press. As was his intent with The Sur¬ 

rounded, he wanted to tell a gripping story but also hoped that discerning 

readers might see beyond the story to a more universal message. Despite 

good intentions, the Indians and the whites were unable to communicate. 

All were limited in their understanding by their own thoughts, language, 

and cultural values. Although he had worked on it for years, this book, 

too, was published after McNickle’s death. 

McNickle, of course, did not limit his writing to novels. He wrote a num¬ 

ber of short stories that have been edited by Birgit Hans and published as 

The Hawk Is Hungry (1992). These stories, not all of which were complete, 

provide occasional glimpses of McNickle’s humor, which is seldom seen in 

his other work. He also wrote dozens of articles and book reviews. 

McNickle’s only attempt at biography was his volume about Oliver La 

Farge, titled Indian Man and published in 1971. La Farge, who died in 1963, 

was a contemporary of John Collier and had headed the Association on 

American Indian Affairs in the 1940s and 1950s. McNickle, who was never 

really close to him, agreed to write the biography because it provided him 

with an opportunity to write about Indian affairs in those crucial decades. 

Although the biography was nominated for a National Book Award, re¬ 

viewers for the most part were not enthusiastic about it, and it was the 

least successful of all McNickle’s monographs. 

Although he also wrote several narrative histories about Native Ameri¬ 

cans, the only one still in print at this time is Native American Tribalism: 

Indian Survivals and Renewals, which was revised and updated in 1973 

from The Indian Tribes of the United States: Ethnic and Cultural Survival. 

McNickle’s revisions of the earlier work are especially significant, as he 

wrote them and a new preface in response to the troubles at Wounded 
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Knee and to the American Indian Movement’s occupation of Alcatraz Is¬ 

land in San Francisco Bay. This book is often used today as a text in Native 

American history classes. 

Finally, D’Arcy McNickle’s legacy lives on institutionally. The library on 

the Salish Kootenai College campus, located on the Flathead Reservation 

in Pablo, Montana, carries his name, as does the noted D’Arcy McNickle 

Center at the Newberry Library in Chicago. Historians throughout the 

world are examining the pre-Columbian story of Native Americans with 

new insight because of the work of those who have had access to the mate¬ 

rial at the D’Arcy McNickle Center. Although McNickle was self-taught, he 

became an expert in anthropology and was, eventually, a brilliant, wise, 

and compassionate elder statesperson, whose concern for tribal autonomy 

reached out to many people, young and old, Indian and non-Indian, across 

the country. 
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LaDonna Harris 

Comanche 

BY GARY C. ANDERSON 

John R Kennedy’s summons to do “what you can do for your country” be¬ 

gan a new age of activism in America that dominated the period from 1965 

to 1975. This age would bring the development of many federal programs 

designed to uplift the poor. Federal area-redevelopment grants funded job 

training, while Volunteers in Service to America (vista) recruited young 

people to teach leadership and provide educational instruction. This new 

age of activism also revealed the startling problems faced by American In¬ 

dians, the poorest of the poor in America. They had the highest unem¬ 

ployment rate in the land and a plethora of health care needs. While 

Americans had discovered poverty among the rural poor of Appalachia 

and among African Americans in the inner city, Indians supposedly were 

cared for by the Bureau of Indian Affairs. Many Americans believed that 

Indians had no need for the opportunities and benefits provided under 

the expanding War on Poverty. 

A young Comanche woman from Walters, Oklahoma, LaDonna Harris 

stepped into this new age of activism quite unexpectedly in the fall of 

1964. Her husband, Fred, recently had defeated Bud Wilkinson, the al¬ 

most mythical ex-football coach of the Oklahoma Sooners, in a special 

election for a seat in the U.S. Senate. Little in LaDonna’s background 

would lead anyone to believe that she would play a role in the new Great 

Society envisioned by Kennedy’s successor, Lyndon Johnson.^ Yet La¬ 

Donna Harris soon brushed shoulders with the elite of the new liberal 

cause and began a program of Indian revitalization in Oklahoma that epit¬ 

omized the Great Society. 

To say that LaDonna Harris lacked the experience necessary to partici¬ 

pate in public affairs would be an understatement. She was born on 15 

February 1931 near Lawton, to a white man, William Crawford, and his 

Comanche wife Lilly Tabbytite. The Great Depression had devastated 
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western Oklahoma, and the family had little money. Conditions improved 

by the 1940s, but very little thought was given to entering college, espe¬ 

cially by a young Comanche woman. Yet while enrolled in high school at 

Walters, a small community south of Lawton, LaDonna met the young 

Fred Harris, who had dreams of moving beyond the small two-room 

house in which he had been born. Fred enrolled in the University of Okla¬ 

homa in the fall of 1948, and LaDonna, his sweetheart, followed him to 

Norman. The following spring, on 8 April 1949, the two were married 

amid what must have been some uncertainty regarding their future. 

The newlyweds had little money to put toward education and both of 

them took jobs. Fortunately, Fred landed a position as a printer at the lo¬ 

cal newspaper, a job that gave him flexible hours. At first LaDonna could 

only baby-sit for returning veterans who had children and some money 

provided by the Gi Bill. The financial situation tightened even further 

when the Harrises had their first child, Kathryn, born in January 1950. 

Sometime later, LaDonna found a more permanent position at the univer¬ 

sity library, helping her husband pay his tuition and finish school. As La¬ 

Donna later pointed out, the Harris marriage was “a partnership in the 

fullest sense.” From the very start, LaDonna “played an active role in all of 

her husband’s endeavors.”^ She even continued to help support the family 

after Fred decided to go to law school. He passed the bar in 1954 and the 

family returned to Lawton where Fred practiced law. 

The Harrises entered politics two years later, and Fred was elected to 

the Oklahoma state senate. Commuting the roughly ninety miles from 

Lawton energized the young lawyer as he promoted a liberal agenda. Fred 

authored the Harris Act in 1958, which created the Oklahoma Human 

Rights Commission. This organization prohibited discrimination in state 

employment and opened jobs, especially to people of color, including 

American Indians. LaDonna spent much of her time in Lawton, tending 

to two new children: Byron, born in 1958, and Laura, born three years 

later. Yet she did find time to volunteer at the local museum, which spe¬ 

cialized in depicting the history of American Indians, and she also joined 

the Lawton Community Action Board. 

After Fred was named “Outstanding Young Man of Oklahoma” by the 

state’s Junior Chamber of Commerce, he decided to enter the U.S. Senate 

race left open by the death of Robert Kerr. The campaign was grueling, for 

no one in Oklahoma had better name recognition than Bud Wilkinson. 

Even so, the state was still dominated by the Democratic Party and Harris 

had considerable energy. LaDonna campaigned at his side, often standing 

on a flatbed truck, cradling her three-year-old as she listened quietly to 
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speech after speech. In an unusual display, she made no effort to disguise 

her Indian heritage, carrying her daughter in an Indian blanket. Fred’s 

surprising victory landed the family in Washington dc, where they found 

a house in McLean, Virginia, around the corner from another rising polit¬ 

ical star, Robert F. Kennedy. 

Despite the incredible differences in background, the Kennedys and the 

Harrises soon became close friends. Kennedy’s friendship may have been 

simple altruism, yet he too had political goals that involved building 

bridges into the south and the west. Soon the Harris children were com¬ 

mon visitors at the Kennedy swimming pool, and Ethel and Bob intro¬ 

duced LaDonna and Fred to other relatives and political friends. These 

included Eunice Kennedy Shriver, the wife of Sargeant Shriver, then head 

of the Office of Economic Opportunity (oeo), the main engine of the 

national War on Poverty. The Harrises also met Stuart Udall, the secretary 

of the interior, head of the agency that oversaw the Bureau of Indian Af¬ 

fairs. Udall’s wife, Lee, became LaDonna’s close friend. Other liberals in 

Washington who frequented their circle included the Humphreys and the 

Mondales. LaDonna would later travel with Joan Mondale, visiting Indian 

reservations in Minnesota.^ 

All of these politicians and politicians’ wives had common views on 

many issues. They all supported civil rights, but they believed that the fed¬ 

eral government should work beyond the passage of simple legislation 

that guaranteed equal access to facilities and jobs. The main problem, as 

these men and women saw it, was the need to prepare the poor and mem¬ 

bers of minority groups for jobs through training and education, and to 

change the attitudes that had led to racism. This could be initiated with 

the children of the poor, who needed a “head start’’ in education. Young 

people also needed direction in order to keep them in school. This could 

be accomplished by leadership training. Older men and women required 

work orientation in order to train them for the job market. Finally, many 

minorities simply needed instruction on what programs were available 

for them. The liberal challenge included finding ways to activate the local 

community so that it would organize itself to fight poverty, unemploy¬ 

ment, and despair. 

By spring 1965, LaDonna Harris had decided, with strong support from 

her husband, that she would join this crusade."* After talking with friends 

back in Oklahoma, she called for a general meeting to be held at the 

University of Oklahoma campus that summer that would attempt to orga¬ 

nize a grassroots, statewide community action group, with a special focus 

on helping American Indians. This idea probably came from Sargeant 
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Shriver, who pioneered the Community Action Board concept. Several 

members of the university faculty expressed an interest in the meeting, 

including William Carmack, who was then director of the Southwest 

Center for Human Relations, an organization housed in the Continuing 

Education branch of the university, and Chester Pierce, a physician at 

ou’s medical school. Other participants included administrators of the 

Bureau of Indian Affairs (bia), including Leslie Towle, area director at 

Anadarko. 

The first serious discussions of the problems to be addressed occurred 

at Norman on 14 June 1965. Robert Jones, the new state director of Eco¬ 

nomic Opportunity was the first speaker. He spoke vaguely about eco¬ 

nomic opportunity, stressing the need to involve many people. At this 

point, Towle joined the discussion. He explained that people, particularly 

American Indians, knew little about the programs that were available. If 

community action were to work, it would have to find out “what is 

needed, raise standards, and change attitudes.” He also believed that Indi¬ 

ans needed to develop pride in themselves. Dr. Pierce, who spoke next, ar¬ 

gued that certainly the bia had more experience in these matters than 

most of the people at the meeting, but noted that Congress, through its 

legislation, had emphasized the need to involve more citizens, not just 

government agencies. He initiated a motion to create the Oklahoma Com¬ 

mittee for Indian Opportunity. The motion passed and LaDonna Harris, 

after a vote, became the first chair.5 

After gaining encouragement from this group, Harris used her hus¬ 

band’s office to send out a large mailing, urging friends and supporters 

around the state to attend a formal organizational meeting to be held on 7 

August 1965.® The letter stressed five issues; she recruited various “ex¬ 

perts” from the community to speak on them at the next meeting. Harris 

secured Virginia Harrington and Earl Pierce to speak on housing. Har¬ 

rington was area director for the bia in Muskogee, while Pierce was a local 

attorney. Robert Stanley, a bia official from Anadarko, and Arthur Tho¬ 

mas would discuss job opportunities, and Overtone Jones, governor of the 

Chickasaw Nation, would address health issues. Towle would speak on 

education. The fifth issue, which addressed finance, credit, small business 

loans, and so on, fell to several area bankers.^ While capable people, most 

represented “the establishment,” a trend that would continue as the or¬ 

ganization grew. 

The gathering attracted over five hundred people and by all accounts 

was a huge success. Senator Harris had asked his colleague. Senator Jo¬ 

seph Montoya of New Mexico, to address the crowd. Montoya stressed 
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that the Indian population of Oklahoma and New Mexico shared many of 

the same problems. These included unemployment, poverty, lack of edu¬ 

cation, and inadequate health care. Separate sessions then considered all 

of these issues. The discussions included a host of people, including many 

Indian tribal leaders. In the final hours the participants agreed to form 

Oklahomans for Indian Opportunity (oio), selecting LaDonna Harris as 

its president. Fred Harris quickly moved to incorporate the group, filing 

the papers in Washington in September.* 

While OIO promptly received much attention in the media, it lacked a 

headquarters, a staff, and even stationery. These pressing needs were alle¬ 

viated in September 1965 when John B. O’Hara, director of the Southwest 

Center for Human Relations at the University of Oklahoma, extended an 

invitation to house the organization.^ He offered clerical assistance and 

suggested that the foundation should have a large board of directors (the 

final number arrived at was forty one) and a streamlined executive board 

of directors, which would make most of the decisions. LaDonna Harris 

would serve as president of the executive board. O’Hara even offered to 

appoint her to the permanent board of the Center for Human Relations. 

He then suggested that 010 seek a one hundred thousand dollar grant to 

survey socioeconomic conditions among Indians in Oklahoma. If com¬ 

munity action were to occur, information would be needed about the edu¬ 

cational level of Indian people, their life expectancy, and their employ¬ 

ment. After some thought, Harris agreed, and 010 assumed an academic 

or research function, while at the same time attempting to organize com¬ 

munity action on the local level. 

As the organization took shape, the need for action became increasingly 

obvious to all involved. Letters poured into Senator Harris’s office in 

Washington from people in Oklahoma who either wanted to help or who 

saw the need for change. Like many other tribal leaders across the state, 

William McIntosh, chairman of the Creek Nation, concluded that La¬ 

Donna was “a great Lady doing a great work,” and offered his assistance.*^ 

Leslie Towle, of the bia, seemed convinced that with the patronage of the 

Harrises, the foundation could become the “rallying point” for people 

who wished to change the state.Other writers, including secondary 

school teacher Edith Waswo, saw a tremendous need for changing atti¬ 

tudes about race. “My heart ached when one Indian boy, age seven, came 

in from recess crying because someone had called him an Indian,” she 

wrote. “I replied, ‘you are an Indian and you have every right to be proud.” 

Waswo had no idea how to bring change, but she knew it was necessary.** 

Even so, there were skeptics, particularly since the composition of the 
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group was decidedly Democratic in its political orientation. Seneca-Cay- 

uga Doris Spicer wrote in a rather terse fashion that while her tribal coun¬ 

cil had voted to become involved with oio, it also listed three immediate 

improvements that it wanted; sanitation for tribal ceremonial grounds, 

road improvements, and tribal housing.In other words, talk had oc¬ 

curred in the past and at least some who watched oio take shape assumed 

that this organization would be no different than others. Harris graciously 

thanked every writer and gave whatever hope she could to the skeptics. 

Difficult problems certainly did exist among Indian tribes in Okla¬ 

homa. Both the BiA and many state agencies acknowledged their severity. 

Leslie Towle, the area director at Anadarko, had earlier (1964) published a 

short piece entitled “Poverty and the Oklahoma Indian” in which he 

pointed out that most Indians attended school only through the fifth or 

sixth grade, making employment very difficult. Housing often consisted 

of a simple tar-papered shack. The average income for Oklahoma Indians 

was roughly fifteen hundred dollars a year in comparison to over three 

thousand dollars a year for whites. Coupled with widespread alcoholism, 

the picture was quite grim.^5 

In contrast, the bia had repeatedly prided itself on the high quality of 

its boarding schools. A report on the school at Fort Sill written in 1965, 

however, found that even when Indians obtained some education, the 

process itself was often harmful. At Fort Sill only sixty of the three hun¬ 

dred students attending the school were from Oklahoma, and those who 

came from out-of-state became so despondent at times that the move lit¬ 

erally threatened their mental health. When these students returned to 

their homes, they often had little sense of belonging and little sense of 

commitment to their community. 

Such articles and reports hardly offered the kind of definitive informa¬ 

tion necessary to launch a war on Indian poverty, yet by the fall of 1965 the 

OIO was eager to begin such an effort. Just a few days after Harris had vis¬ 

ited with the staff at the Southwest Center, Director O’Hara wrote a de¬ 

tailed letter to Dr. Warren Cardwell, the director of the Indian Section at 

the Office of Economic Opportunity. O’Hara had heard that Arizona State 

University, the University of Nevada, and the University of Utah, among 

others, had recently signed contracts with the OEO to administer large 

sums of money earmarked for Indian tribes under Title II of the oeo’s 

mandated program. Definitive guidelines for the expenditure of this 

money had not yet been developed, other than to “improve conditions” 

on reservations. O’Hara wanted information on how the Southwest Cen¬ 

ter might apply for these funds to assist Indians in Oklahoma.'7 
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Cardwell’s reply was quite unexpected. He pointed out that Congress 

had appropriated these funds for Indians who were “members of com¬ 

munities.” These included the federal Indian reservation communities. 

The universities that O’Hara had mentioned had contracts to provide 

“technical assistance and related training” for these reservations. Since 

Oklahoma had no reservations, Director Cardwell concluded, “the above- 

mentioned arrangement would not be applicable to the situation in your 

state.Such logic dumbfounded O’Hara, who realized that Oklahoma’s 

Indians might easily fall into a bureaucratic crack, unable to access funds 

designated for Indians, and probably ineligible to qualify for assistance 

grants that had been established for the poor in the inner city. O’Hara also 

astutely recognized that Director Cardwell had little comprehension of 

whom he was dealing with. O’Hara quickly wrote Senator Harris, asking 

that he intercede with the head of oeo, Sargeant Shriver, for if oio could 

not get money designated for Indians under oeo, how could it qualify for 

other funds?i9 

It took approximately a month for Director Cardwell to reinterpret 

OEo’s guidelines. He received added information for making this decision 

from William Carmack, who had once been the director of the Southwest 

Center. Carmack had joined Harris’s staff in Washington only to move 

quickly over to the bia, becoming an assistant commissioner. Carmack 

met with oeo officials, carrying with him blank applications prepared by 

OIO to be filled out by tribal councils. The applications indicated that the 

tribal councils would sanction oio to act in their behalf “to begin neces¬ 

sary studies at the earliest possible time to identify the areas of poverty, 

social & economic.”^® In actuality, Carmack convinced oeo officials to al¬ 

low OIO to apply directly for funds under the state Equal Opportunity 

Agency. 

The grant application that emerged from these discussions was pro¬ 

duced by an oio subcommittee. Donald R. Sullivan, deputy director of the 

Oklahoma City Urban Renewal Authority, chaired the group, which also 

included academics Clayton Feaver, Joe Exendine, and John O’Hara. 

Towle brought the expertise of the bia to the group. Lois Gatchell and lola 

Taylor were added to the committee as representatives of oio. Gatchell 

directed a community action group in Tulsa, while Taylor, a young 

woman from Lawton who was related to LaDonna Harris, currently was 

serving as assistant director of oio. Taylor would soon be named state di¬ 

rector and play a leading role in the implementation of oio programs. 

The application received what must have been one of the quickest fa¬ 

vorable reviews of any proposal in history. News that oio would be 
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funded reached the group in time for its meeting on 22 April 1966. Details 

still remained sketchy, but oeo had designated $240,733 for Oklahomans 

for Indian Opportunity. “ 

The grant obviously invigorated 010. Meanwhile, membership in the 

organization had grown over the winter, with over five hundred people 

paying the small sum of one dollar to join. Others had contributed much 

more, providing funds for the creation of a staff that tried to redistribute 

resources to needy people. Referral offices were established in Oklahoma 

City and Tulsa, which by this time were seeing several hundred Indian 

people each month. The referral centers helped Indian people apply for 

aid, when possible, or simply handed out clothes and food when needed. 

Occasionally, the referral centers helped individuals obtain employment. 

Yet these were small efforts, aimed at helping urban Indians. With grant 

money, many more options suddenly appeared. But the organization still 

lacked a sense of direction. As Harris told the board that summer, “What 

is 010?” Community action was still being defined, especially for Ameri¬ 

can Indians.^5 

Harris and her colleagues argued this question throughout the spring of 

1966. Obviously, the ability to acquire future grants hinged to some extent 

on the success of the initial one. The proposal itself had claimed that its 

goal was to “provide the opportunity for attitude change and leadership 

training for Oklahoma Indians, who will in turn be agents for change in 

their own community. ”^4 By June a decision had been made to fund an ex¬ 

tensive leadership program. Harris introduced the program in a speech in 

Tahlequah: “Training on the ou campus . . . for up to three local represen¬ 

tatives from each Indian community across the state . . . will prepare the 

participants to return to their people, and with the help of an 010 field 

agent, a specially prepared manual, films, and slides, train other Indi¬ 

ans. ”^5 The first group of participants reached campus on 9 July 1966. 

The training of field representatives was heavily influenced by Earl 

Boyd Pierce, who was general counsel for Manpower Development in 

Oklahoma. Pierce earlier had launched a special project to help “hard¬ 

core” unemployed Cherokees who “by reason of their inability to speak 

and understand English,” required considerable attention. Pierce rec¬ 

ommended the employment of at least fifteen such field representatives 

to work with the Cherokees alone. He felt that these individuals should be 

Indian, as they would be more effective. Pierce, however, was at a loss to 

give suggestions on what needed to be done in western Oklahoma.^® 

While such an idea had appeal, Harris decided to discuss the next step 

in oio’s evolution with various tribal leaders. Eight such meetings oc- 
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curred around the state in July at which the oio staff, which now included 

three people, were introduced and the leadership program explained. The 

meetings were well attended. Meanwhile, the first leadership training ses¬ 

sions began with seventy-five Indians between the ages of sixteen and 

twenty-one participating. Flushed with the success of these early efforts, 

the OIO staff decided to host an awards banquet at the University of Okla¬ 

homa later that fall. The banquet, sponsored and funded by oio, would 

bring young Indians to the campus to receive awards and to listen to var¬ 

ious speakers. 

In addition, Harris sought more assistance for the organization in 

Washington. Daphine Shear of the Democratic State Central Committee 

previously had investigated the possibility of “getting a Kennedy for Okla¬ 

homa.” Shear was looking for someone to speak to the Oklahoma Associ¬ 

ation for Retarded Children’s fund-raising dinner—an event that had ob¬ 

vious political overtones.^* Since Harris had become a good friend of 

Eunice Kennedy Shriver, who had a long-standing interest in retarded 

children, she asked Shriver to speak at the banquet. Eunice accepted, and 

on 16 and 17 September, she spent two days with LaDonna, meeting vari¬ 

ous politicians and traveling about the state. At Shriver’s request and with 

the assistance of 010, she visited several Head Start programs that had re¬ 

cently been organized for Indian children. These programs, as well as oth¬ 

ers designed to help teach English to nonspeakers, were funded by oeo, 

her husband’s agency.^® 

While demonstrating the need for the Head Start program to Eunice 

Shriver may have been unnecessary, Harris persuasively argued that Indi¬ 

ans in Oklahoma needed help as much as those on reservations. She had 

used the same tactics on yet another dignitary who spent several days in 

the state in early May. Dr. Chester M. Pierce, of the University of Okla¬ 

homa Medical Center, had informed LaDonna of the visit of Joseph En¬ 

glish, a psychiatrist and friend, who also happened to be deputy assistant 

director for Health Affairs at the oeo. English received a royal tour, at¬ 

tending OIO meetings in Anadarko and Cordell in western Oklahoma and 

then traveling by private plane across the state to Tahlequah. “I can think 

of few groups in the country more deserving of help [than the American 

Indian],” he wrote in his letter of thanks upon returning to Washington.5° 

But the best opportunity to display the success of 010 and its work with 

Indians came in the fall, at the organization’s annual banquet, slated for 

October 9-15. LaDonna hoped to convince Stuart Udall to speak at the 

gathering. Unfortunately he had another engagement. In his place, John 

C. Gardner, secretary of Health, Education and Welfare, accepted. In her 
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letter of invitation, LaDonna stressed at least one lofty goal of oio: “To 

draw Oklahoma Indians outside their own problems so that they may be¬ 

come part of the solution to larger national and world problems.” The 

conference attracted over eight hundred Indians, who attended youth op¬ 

portunity forums and work orientation sessions. Scholarships were given 

to outstanding Indian students, and various individuals from the commu¬ 

nity also received plaques for volunteer work.J' 

Clearly Harris took considerable pride in her ability to organize such 

events. It confirmed in her a growing realization that women in American 

had a role to play in public service. By the summer of 1966 that role had 

reached a point where she could meet only a small portion of the requests 

that poured into Senator Harris’s office. Church groups, cultural societies, 

and professional organizations, often located in states other than Okla¬ 

homa, were now inviting her to come speak to them. One such engage¬ 

ment that LaDonna readily accepted came from the Women’s Forum 

Program in Lawton, where in late October she gave a speech titled “A 

Woman’s Responsibility—from Lawton to Washington DC.” While some 

critics suggested that 010 was designed to enhance the political career of 

Oklahoma’s junior senator, LaDonna increasingly saw the organization as 

one that would hopefully end the isolation associated with being Indian in 

Oklahoma and present new opportunity to Indian people in a world dom¬ 

inated by the non-Indian majority. 

As the OIO became more successful, the organization’s staff, led by Di¬ 

rector lola Taylor, a close friend of LaDonna, administered the agency on 

a daily basis. Taylor established a screening committee composed of indi¬ 

viduals loyal to Harris or herself, to assist in the hiring of agency person¬ 

nel. ”^3 The senior staff included a field coordinator for community devel¬ 

opment, a position that served the entire state. Other positions (some 

Indian, some white) included field coordinators for youth activity and for 

work orientation. Six regional field representatives were also hired, as 

were directors for the two referral centers in Tulsa and Oklahoma City. 

The regional coordinators were Indians, who generally came from the re¬ 

gions that they served. Non-Indians filled other slots, including the field 

coordinator for community development a position held by Donald Wilk- 

erson, who resigned from a similar position at Arizona State University to 

serve with 010.34 The dozen or so staff personnel were well paid, but 

much was also expected of them. 

This staff collected data, provided information, and implemented pro¬ 

grams. While Harris continued to do much to promote the agency, espe¬ 

cially in Washington, the staff published annual reports and other litera- 
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ture that explained the role of the agency. A major contribution was the 

completion of a survey in Blaine County in eastern Oklahoma, which pro¬ 

vided clear information on the extent of Cherokee poverty and lack of ed¬ 

ucation. One case showed that of 177 Cherokee students attending public 

school since i960, only 4 had graduated. Cherokee people over the age of 

eighteen had a median of five and one-half years of education. And all 

Cherokees in 1967 possessed the same level of education that they had in 

1930. Many could not read or write, especially in English.^5 Such infor¬ 

mation filled 010 brochures and was often offered to newspapers for pub¬ 

lication. 

To combat the poor academic performance of Indian students, 010 field 

representatives organized regional gatherings. Beach parties, swimming 

parties, and dances were used to convince students to stay in school.010 

targeted sixty schools that contained many Indian students and organized 

youth councils, which met regularly. Top students were selected to tutor 

others. Essay contests were created in which Indian students won prize 

money, usually twenty-five dollars. By May 1967 over sixteen hundred In¬ 

dian youths were participating in the program. In some locations 010 

staffed these programs with vista volunteers. The programs attracted so 

much attention that community leaders, many of them Indian, supported 

these activities with additional funds.^7 Other approaches to keeping Indi¬ 

ans in school included personal letters from Elarris to young Indian stu¬ 

dents, congratulating them on their success and urging them to stay in 

high school and graduate. 

While youth activities seemed to produce an immediate success, raising 

the economic level of Indians in the state proved more challenging. In 

most cases, local community action committees offered the best solutions 

for this problem, enlisting employers to hire Indians and give them train¬ 

ing. 010 tried to institutionalize such piecemeal approaches by developing 

pilot training programs. The first began at Anadarko in the spring of 1967. 

The agency subsidized the wages of twenty trainees, who worked for thir¬ 

teen weeks in a job. The trainee received instruction in budgeting money, 

employer-employee relations, and dress. After the thirteen-week period, 

the employer had no obligation to extend the employment of the trainee. 

Similar programs emerged in Shawnee, where fifteen trainees were work¬ 

ing by the summer 1967. Additional programs later were implemented in 

Tulsa.39 Usually the success or failure of the training depended upon the 

individual. Statistics relative to the success of the programs seem never to 

have been compiled. 

With so many programs under way, 010 began attracting national at- 
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tendon, helped in part by LaDonna’s efforts in Washington. By spring 

1967 the Harris and the Kennedy families had become close friends, so 

when LaDonna asked Senator Robert Kennedy to speak at an 010 meet¬ 

ing, he readily agreed. For his part, Kennedy had become genuinely inter¬ 

ested in the plight of Indian people and envisioned a trip to Oklahoma, in 

part, as a fact-finding mission. lola Taylor paved the way for the Kennedy 

visit by sending him a detailed description of the agency and its efforts. It 

was, she wrote, “a statewide agency,” designed to “break down the contin¬ 

uing isolation of Indians.” But, more importantly, 010 believed in “the in¬ 

teraction between Indians and non-Indians” and that such interaction 

should be “mutually meaningful, comfortable, and worthwhile in school, 

churches, homes, and communities.” This philosophy was clearly mod¬ 

eled after the growing arguments regarding African-American integra¬ 

tion. Kennedy, who was scheduled to speak at the University of Oklahoma 

on 13 March, would have an audience of over eight hundred Indian stu¬ 

dents, each of whom would be allowed to bring a non-Indian friend.4° 

Kennedy’s arrival in Oklahoma created quite a stir. Senator Harris’s of¬ 

fice was deluged with requests for tickets to attend the speech, especially 

from Democratic supporters. Most were turned down. The talk went off 

as planned. University president George Lynn Cross opened the evening 

by introducing Senator Fred Harris. With dry wit. Cross recalled the 

young Harris, a poorly dressed freshman in 1949. Then he mused as to 

how useful it would be for a university president to know ahead of time 

which students would go to serve in the state legislature or the U.S. Sen¬ 

ate. “After 23 years of experience,” Cross concluded, turning with a smile 

toward Harris, “you can’t rule anyone out.”41 Harris laughed, then intro¬ 

duced the speaker: Robert Kennedy. 

Kennedy’s opening line, “I’d like to be an Indian,” stirred the crowd. 

While conceding that such a chance had passed him by, the senator went 

on to address many issues important to both the national War on Poverty 

and the status of Indians and other minority groups. Kennedy stressed the 

importance of Indian pride. “Minority groups have to decide that they are 

not going to accept roles others have put them in.” He noted of non-Indi¬ 

ans, “you know that you can always ask: when did you arrive?” Then the 

senator stressed education, housing, jobs, and even life expectancy. He 

asked why the United States was spending “Seventy-five billion dollars 

for defense and two billion dollars to eliminate poverty.” Finally, turning 

to his friend LaDonna Harris, he smiled and quipped: “When I watch the 

next western movie on tv, I won’t know whether to root for the cowboys 

or the Indians.”42^ 
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The Kennedy speech was soon followed by an article in Look Magazine, 

which gave LaDonna national exposure. The Look article, titled “Warpaint 

for the Senator’s Wife,” stressed the incredible poverty of American In¬ 

dian populations and the failure of the bia. It also gave LaDonna a chance 

to showcase the work done by oio, which was only two years old and al¬ 

ready garnering considerable attention. The Look piece pronounced oio to 

be “the model for a national effort.”43 The pronouncement was not all that 

exaggerated. Indeed, when Bruce Rosen, director of education for the 

Anti-Defamation League of B’nai B’rith, toured Oklahoma and surveyed 

the impact of oio, he concluded that it was one of the best run commu¬ 

nity action programs in the country. Rosen also praised lola Taylor, its di¬ 

rector, commenting, “Frankly, I think the woman is an administrator of 

the first rank.”44 

Despite Rosen’s comments, not everyone in Oklahoma was pleased with 

either the agency or Taylor’s leadership. Within weeks after the Kennedy 

visit a crisis evolved within the agency over its goals and its leadership. The 

problem initially seemed to involve Taylor’s role as director. She had con¬ 

tinually evaluated the work of the field representatives, at times removing 

them from their positions. A typical case involved the firing of Mary Mc¬ 

Cormick, a field representative to the Seminole Tribe. McCormick, Taylor 

complained, had failed to submit monthly reports on time and had med¬ 

dled in tribal affairs, making several Seminole elders unhappy. It also 

turned out that she was an enrolled member of the Sac and Fox Tribe, 

rather than the Seminole Tribe. McCormick countered by charging that 

Taylor had been rude with her and had failed to provide her with adequate 

support to do her job. In this case, with the tribe supporting Taylor, the ap¬ 

peal failed.45 Other firings brought charges and countercharges. 

The problems ultimately reached the board of directors, which met on 

8 July 1967. In the days preceding the meeting, it became clear that the en¬ 

tire board of forty-one would likely vote to dismiss Taylor. Fearing a gen¬ 

eral vote, Harris opted to select an all-Indian subcommittee to address 

Taylor’s role. In the meantime Taylor offered her resignation. In the ses¬ 

sion that followed on 16 July, the subcommittee allowed evidence to be 

presented that both supported and criticized Taylor’s efforts. The charges 

seemed to suggest that Taylor had been too demanding of certain field 

representatives and, in particular, had challenged or at least threatened 

established tribal representatives. It was obvious that Taylor attracted ex¬ 

tremely loyal support from some people and did not get on well with oth¬ 

ers. Her strongest critics seemed to reside in eastern Oklahoma, several 

coming from the Tulsa Community Action Board.4^ 
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While the subcommittee decided to delay acting on lola Taylor’s tenure, 

several interesting questions emerged during the investigation that re¬ 

vealed the evolving political nature of oio. Maynard Ungerman, the chair¬ 

man of the subcommittee, concluded that the entire episode represented 

“the anticipated conflict between oio and the tribal organizations.” 

Clearly, several established tribal leaders had become jealous of the suc¬ 

cess of 010.47 Yet another interesting dialogue occurred between Harris 

and one of her staunch supporters, Lois Gatchell, from the Tulsa Com¬ 

munity Action Committee. Gatchell had just returned from Colorado 

where she had several meetings with Indians. To her utter surprise, she 

watched as Indian college students voiced their “tenacious desire” to “re¬ 

tain their Indianness.” These young people were “clutching for group 

identity, and in some instances blamed government and the missionaries 

for destroying their languages and other vestiges of their culture.” Gat¬ 

chell wondered if oio, with its integrationist philosophy, had somehow 

missed something and if the criticism voiced against the agency might be 

coming from the very youth that it hoped to assist. 

Leon Ginsberg, a professor of social work at the University of Okla¬ 

homa, and another close friend to Fred and LaDonna Harris, sensed some 

of the same problems. While he had worked from the beginning to make 

OIO successful, he now wondered if he could continue with the agency. He 

wrote LaDonna that the entire investigation was tied to the fact that cer¬ 

tain elements within oio now opposed its success. These people remained 

unimpressed with the “progress” reported and they “seem angry about 

the success which pleases us.” While the opposition masked their true 

feelings, Ginsberg felt that they definitely disliked Taylor and “they have 

many misgivings . . . about some of the professor-types, such as me.”49 

Harris responded to the crisis by convincing the subcommittee to cor¬ 

rect whatever deficiencies were perceived to exist. The solution that ulti¬ 

mately emerged reassigned some responsibilities, taking them away from 

Taylor and distributing them among committees formed from the board 

of directors. Most important, a new committee, the Personnel Commit¬ 

tee, was established. It was empowered to hire and fire field representa¬ 

tives. Other committees were formed to provide advice on youth activi¬ 

ties and work orientation.5° These actions satisfied many critics and the 

controversy slowly dissipated. Taylor remained director. 

Harris’s presence in Oklahoma had helped rectify the administrative 

problems within 010. Yet by summer 1967 she was increasingly drawn 

into the web of opportunities that developed in Washington. The bond 

between the Harris and Kennedy families had grown, and it had impor- 
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tant political implications. Robert Kennedy called on LaDonna to assist 

him in hearings regarding future funding for oeo. The war in Vietnam 

was now consuming considerable government money, and Congress 

needed to be convinced of the value of oeo. LaDonna Harris, now well 

known as an Indian advocate and supporter of such funding, was the per¬ 

fect witness. 

LaDonna testified in front of a House committee on 13 July 1967. She 

emphasized that oeo stood for “self-reliance.” Then she mentioned many 

examples of how the money provided under the program was being used 

to help the poor in Oklahoma. In Altus, Upward Bound had made strides 

in convincing young people to go to college. In McCloud, the Neighbor¬ 

hood Youth Corp had rescued “a beautiful young Indian high school girl” 

from a host of problems and convinced her to enter college. Legal Services 

and Head Start programs had helped many people across the state. In Id- 

abel, a small, predominantly Indian community in the southeastern cor¬ 

ner of the state. Head Start had been initiated by a single vista volunteer 

and “one box of crayons.” 

After surveying these general programs, Harris turned to 010. She 

pointed out to Congress that the organization had been funded by oeo 

money and administered by the University of Oklahoma to help Indians 

help themselves. It sponsored Indian leadership training, work study, and 

youth development programs for high school students. It also adminis¬ 

tered job training and referral centers. All of these programs were essen¬ 

tial to “help Oklahoma Indians acquire the self-confidence, motivation, 

and skill to become active, productive members of the total community.” 

And, Harris pointed out. Congress should not abolish such programs, for 

even with their improvements, Indian people still ranked among the very 

poorest of the poor when it came to health care, housing, jobs, and educa¬ 

tion. As she left the House hearing room, congressional representative 

Carl Albert from Oklahoma handed her a bouquet of roses. In the bouquet 

was a note from OEo’s director, which read: “To the best witness of all— 

whose beauty and brains have made the House a home ... for the poor.” It 

was signed simply “Sarge.’’^' 

During the following fall LaDonna became heavily involved with a host 

of new activities, most of which focused on the national War on Poverty. 

Shriver placed her on the Women’s National Advisory Committee on 

Poverty, and the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission sought her 

advice on Indian unemployments^^ And in November, she was asked to 

join the Joint Commission on Mental Health of Children, a commission 

with a budget of over three hundred thousand dollars that had been as- 
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signed the task of examining the state of children in the country. Harris 

would help write the report on the state of minority children.53 Given all 

of these new responsibilities, Harris resigned her position as president of 

010 in February 1968, leaving the agency to lola Taylor’s care.54 

Harris’s resignation was motivated primarily by her decision to focus 

on national issues. Late in 1967 she and her husband had convinced Presi¬ 

dent Lyndon Johnson to create the National Council for Indian Opportu¬ 

nity, and during the summer of 1968 Johnson’s administration had estab¬ 

lished such an agency. Unfortunately, however, after Richard Nixon was 

elected president the council collapsed, since Vice President Spiro Agnew, 

the designated chairman of the organization, refused to call any meet¬ 

ings.55 In response, during June 1970, LaDonna formed Americans for In¬ 

dian Opportunity (aio), a national organization whose design was based 

on the model of 010, but whose goals were much broader. M. Scott Mo- 

maday, Ada Deer, Peterson Zah, and other well-known Indian advocates 

joined her on the board of directors. Since the Nixon administration cut 

funding to oeo the following year, aio sought financial support from pri¬ 

vate foundations. 56 

As the nation struggled with Vietnam and then Watergate, community 

action programs fell increasingly under the direction of local organiza¬ 

tions. A few became tied to various state bureaucracies, some fell under the 

control of tribal bureaucracies, and others disappeared. Oklahomans for 

Indian Opportunity, a legacy of the War on Poverty, continued to serve In¬ 

dian people in the 1990s but it is less active today than during the 1960s. 

Yet the agency remains as an excellent example of successful Indian activ¬ 

ism. Obviously much of this success was due to its leadership. There is no 

question that many young Indians in Oklahoma were inspired to continue 

with their education because of the work that the agency began. And many 

other Indians received assistance with legal issues and job orientation. 

For Fred and LaDonna Harris, 010 served a twofold purpose. It pro¬ 

vided an outlet for the Harris’s to help people they knew needed help. 

Dedicated liberals in an age of liberalism, they both took advantage of the 

opportunity to do something good. As LaDonna later said, “No good 

cause is hopeless.” Second, 010 served as a catalyst for political activism. 

Many people who assisted Fred Harris in his various campaigns worked at 

times for 010. And in 1968, when Fred decided to run for the presidency, 

LaDonna took her organizational skills to the national level, assisting 

with his campaign. 

By the 1970s, LaDonna was spending much of her time in fund-raising 

activities for aio. Although she considered fund-raising “one of the worst 



LADONNA HARRIS * I39 

things I have ever done in my life,” she was effective and aio flourished. 

Supported by her board of directors, LaDonna used her influence to assist 

in the establishment of the Council of Energy Resource Tribes (cert), and 

in promoting a better relationship between the tribes and the federal 

government. Meanwhile, in 1976, Fred launched another bid for the Dem¬ 

ocratic presidential nomination, and LaDonna campaigned hard for him 

in New England. Lacking adequate financial support, the campaign floun¬ 

dered, and Fred decided to retire from politics. The Harris family moved 

to Albuquerque, where Fred accepted a teaching position at the Univer¬ 

sity of New Mexico, aio also relocated to Albuquerque, and LaDonna 

continued to lead the organization.57 

Yet LaDonna’s participation in personal campaigns for the presidency 

had not ended. Nationally well known for her leadership on social issues, 

and recognized for her outspoken support of environmental causes, La¬ 

Donna was nominated in 1980 by the Citizens’ Party as their candidate for 

the vice presidency of the United States. Although neither LaDonna nor 

her running mate, Barry Commoner, believed they had any chance of be¬ 

ing elected, they hoped that their candidacy would spark the formation of 

a political party that eventually would be able to challenge the two-party 

system. They raised important issues, but had difficulty getting on the 

ballot in many states, and in the end were soundly defeated.5* 

The unsuccessful campaign was a portent for the Harris’s marriage. 

During the 1970s both Fred and LaDonna had become heavily involved 

with their careers, and after the formation of aio LaDonna found that she 

was forced to spend considerable time away for her husband and family. 

Their “partnership in marriage,” in which LaDonna had taken such pride, 

became strained, and in 1980 the couple divorced. They still remain ami¬ 

cable, but they have separate lives.59 

Following her divorce, both LaDonna and the administrative offices of 

AIO moved back to Washington, where they remained for a decade. In 

1990 LaDonna returned to New Mexico and relocated the offices of aio at 

Santa Anna Pueblo. Meanwhile, the scope of aio’s activities expanded. 

During the 1980s aio addressed a series of environmental issues and as¬ 

sisted the tribes in establishing a “government to government” relation¬ 

ship with the Environmental Protection Agency. The organization also 

attempted to educate government officials about the advantages of pro¬ 

viding federal funding directly to the tribes, rather than through the Bu¬ 

reau of Indian Affairs. Funded by the Kellogg Foundation, the aio in 1993 

initiated the Ambassador’s Program, in which talented young Native 

American professionals participate in an intensive one-year program 



140 ^ THE NEW WARRIORS 

“aimed at rekindling and reinforcing the use of their tribal values in a 

modern context.” Each participant is required to design and implement a 

community-based project that develops their leadership and benefits 

their communities. The participants are chosen by a panel of regional and 

national Native American leaders, and the program is administered by 

Harris and two Native American academics. 

LaDonna Harris’s legacy continues. Oklahomans for Indian Opportu¬ 

nity remains, and while some critics in the state of Oklahoma described 

LaDonna’s efforts as self-serving, such an argument has little credibility. 

In retrospect, the community action exemplified by oio was good for 

Oklahoma, and many of oio’s programs are still functioning in one form 

or the other across the Sooner state. 

Americans for Indian Opportunity also continues. Under Harris’s lead¬ 

ership, Aio still fosters Indian leadership and devises strategies to enable 

tribal governments to deal more effectively with the federal bureaucracy. 

LaDonna Harris continues to use skiUs she acquired during her expe¬ 

riences in Oklahoma and Washington to help Indian people across the 

United States help themselves. In LaDonna’s own words, “We Comanches 

believe everyone has medicine, and it everyone’s responsibility to help 

everyone else cultivate their strengths and their medicine.”®^ 

Notes 

1. LaDonna’s Indian heritage is well documented by the family. Her great-grandfa¬ 

ther was taken captive as a boy in south Texas or north Mexico in the 1850s. While 

likely Mexican, the boy became culturally Comanche. He married a Comanche 

woman, and they became the parents of LaDonna’s grandmother, Wick-kie Tab- 

bytite, who helped raise her. See Interview, Washington Post, 22 April 1965; inter¬ 

view with lola Taylor, Lawton Constitution-Morning Press, 15 May 1966. 

2. LaDonna Harris biographical sketch, Harris Papers, box 365, Carl Albert Center, 

University of Oklahoma; interview. New York World Telegram and Sun, 8 January 

1965; interview, Wichita Eagle, 20 May 1965. 

3. There are many letters and clippings demonstrating these relationships in the 

Harris Papers. See, for example, boxes 363 and 364. LaDonna’s ties to the UdaUs 

developed rapidly after she helped them with the All-Indian Arts Festival in 

March 1965 at the Department of Interior. LaDonna’s grandmother, Wick-kie Tab- 

bytite, attended the affair. See Tulsa Tribune, 27 March 1965 and Washington Post, 22 

April 1965. 

4. In a telling interview, LaDonna addressed her role in Washington, comparing it 

to what she had tried to do in Lawton in earlier years. She said that women should 

consider arts and crafts, community relations, international affairs, public affairs. 
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home life, and the social services all to be meaningful roles. But she wished to con¬ 

centrate on public affairs, concluding that a woman in Washington could accom¬ 

plish much simply by being “a good listener” and by “having a meaningful conver¬ 

sation with the persons around her.” See Lawton Constitution and Morning Press, 9 

October 1966. 

5. Noted on Meeting of 14 June 1965, Harris Papers. 

6. Harris draft of letter for organization, 1 July 1965, Harris Papers; Articles of In¬ 

corporation, 010,10 December 1965, 010, Harris Papers. 

7. “List” of individual speakers, 28 June 1965, Harris Papers; Letter of invitation, 1 

July 1965, Harris Papers. 

8. Notes of the 7 August 1965 meeting and Articles of Incorporation, Septem- 

ber-December, 1965, Harris Papers. 

9. The Center was created in 1961 to provide “study, analysis, and resolution of hu¬ 

man conflict and tension.” It organized workshops, seminars, and conferences. 

The Executive Committee included Director O’Hara, J. Clayton Leavers (Philoso¬ 

phy), Arrell Gibson (History), Richard Hilbert (chairman. Sociology), Chester 

Pierce (Psychiatry) and Glenn Snider (Education). O’Hara would resign in 1967 to 

be replaced by Lonnie H. Wagstaff. 

10. O’Hara to LaDonna Harris, 16 September 1965, Harris Papers. The relationship 

with the Southwest Center is likely a result of some lobbying by William Carmack, 

who had been its previous director and had been offered a job in Washington on 

Fred Harris’s staff. Secretary UdaU recruited Carmack to be an assistant director 

for the BiA a few months later; nevertheless, Carmack maintained an interest in 

010 and for years helped it and LaDonna on many occasions. Senator Harris’s ini¬ 

tial contact with the Southwest Center apparently came in June 1965 when he ad¬ 

dressed its faculty members. This was followed by LaDonna’s appearance in No¬ 

vember 1965 when the final arrangements were made to incorporate 010. See John 

B. O’Hara to LaDonna, 16 September 1965; Glenn Snider to Senator Harris, 21 Sep¬ 

tember 1965; and LaDonna itinerary, November 1965, all in Harris Papers. 

11. McIntosh to LaDonna Harris, 7 July 1965, Harris Papers. 

12. Leslie Towle to Senator Fred Harris, 27 August 1965, Harris Papers. 

13. Edith Waswo to LaDonna Harris, 10 August 1965, Harris Papers. 

14. Doris Spicer (secretary-treasurer of Seneca-Cayuga) to LaDonna Harris, 4 Au¬ 

gust 1965, Harris Papers. 

15. Towle, “Poverty and the Oklahoma Indian,” Sooner Magazine, July-August 1964. 

16. Dr. Daniel M. A. Freeman, “Emotional Problems in Oklahoma Indians—Prob¬ 

lems of Adolescents and Young Adults,” unpublished report in Harris Papers. 

17. O’Hara to Cardwell, 23 November 1965, Harris Papers. 

18. Cardwell to O’Hara, 6 December 1965, Harris Papers. 

19. O’Hara to Senator Fred Harris, 29 December 1965, Harris Papers. 
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20. [January 1966] notes on meeting of Carmack with OEO, Harris Papers; notes on 

010 board meeting, 29 January 1966. 

21. The Committee met for the first time on 19 March 1966 at the Southwest Cen¬ 

ter on the Norman campus. See Sullivan memo to Committee, 14 March 1966, 

Harris Papers. Harold Camaron had served as director of oio, being replaced by 

Taylor in the latter part of 1966. Taylor still heads the foundation, which is head¬ 

quartered in Norman, Oklahoma. 

22. The grant was part of a $585,596 grant authorized for training purposes in the 

state. Titled “Multi-Purpose Training Center Proposal,” it would be administered 

by the Southwest Center for Human Relations. See Minutes, 010 Board Meetings, 

22 April and 15 July 1966, Harris Papers. 

23. The referral centers and their development are discussed in a variety of docu¬ 

ments in the Harris Papers, as well as in several newspaper articles, including the 

Oklahoma Journal, 28 December 1966. See also Harold Cameron to Stuart Udall, 30 

August 1966, Harris Papers. 010 had also attempted to survey Indian populations 

in Oklahoma by sending out questionnaires. Little success had resulted by sum¬ 

mer 1966. See Lois Gatchell to LaDonna Harris, 18 February 1966, Harris Papers. 

24.1966 Grant Proposal to OEO, Harris Papers. 

25. Harris Address, Pictorial Press (Tahlequah), 16 June 1966. 

26. Earl Pierce to Honorable Glenn M. Zech, 31 May 1966, Harris Papers. 

27. Harold L. Cameron to Stuart Udall, 30 August 1966, Harris Papers; Minutes, 

OIO Board Meeting, 15 July 1966, Harris Papers. 

28. Daphine Shear to LaDonna Harris, 10 March 1966, Harris Papers. 

29. Senator Harris had a role in organizing this trip. He had begun to help Sargent 

Shriver distribute books printed by OEO, titled The Mentally Retarded, all across the 

state. He also had inquired regarding federal funding that was available through 

OEO for the study of mental health problems. Senator Harris learned that Okla¬ 

homa was one of ten states that had yet to apply for any of these funds. See Sena¬ 

tor Harris to Sargent Shriver, 1 March 1966, Harris Memo, 25 February 1966; and 

Norman Brawley to Robert G. Sanders, 31 August 1966, Harris Papers. One of the 

schools that Eunice Shriver visited in McCloud, Oklahoma, had sixty students, 80 

percent of whom were Kickapoos. 

30. LaDonna Harris to Chester Pierce, 13 May 1966, and Joseph T. English to La¬ 

Donna Harris, 27 May 1966, Harris Papers. 

31. OIO Annual Meeting, October 9-15, 1966; Towle to Stuart Udall, 23 August 

1966; and LaDonna Harris to John W. Gardner, 28 Septemberi966, Harris Papers. 

32. Mrs. Kinley McClure to LaDonna, 17 October 1966, Harris Papers. 

33. lola Taylor to Harris, 6 December 1966, Harris Papers. 

34. OIO Annual Report, 30 June 1967, Harris Papers. 

35. Jim Stewart to LaDonna Harris, 24 January 1967, Harris Papers. 



LADONNA HARRIS ^ 143 

36. See 010 “Youth Letter,” 11 August 1967, Harris Papers. 

37- 010 Annual Report, 30 June 1967, Harris Papers. In Hulbert, Oklahoma, Rev¬ 

erend Scott Bread, a Cherokee, financed youth activities to such an extent that the 

VISTA volunteers who worked with him asked if it were not possible for 010 to pay 

some compensation. See lola Taylor to LaDonna Harris, 8 September 1967, Harris 

Papers. Eleven vista volunteers, trained in Arizona, reached Oklahoma in March 

1967. They were placed directly under the “sponsorship” of 010. See L. Mayland 

Parker to Senator Harris, 28 February 1967, Harris Papers. 

38. Other agencies, not directed by 010, also helped promote education, some¬ 

times inadvertently. Charles Cooper, editor of the Pryor Daily Times, wrote La¬ 

Donna that all of the seniors in the Salina High graduating class had finished, for 

the first time that anyone could ever remember. And that they were able to do so 

because they had received part-time jobs through the Neighborhood Youth Corp, 

an OEO program. See Cooper to Harris, April 1967, Harris Papers. 

39. 010 Annual Report, 30 June 1967, Harris Papers. 

40. Taylor to Kennedy, 3 January 1967, Harris Papers. 

41. David W. Levy, “The Wit of George Lynn Cross,” Sooner Magazine 15 (winter 

1995): 25-26. 

42. Oklahoma City Times, 14 March 1967. 

43. See Look Magazine, 4 April 1967. 

44. Some critics did go public. In commenting on the surveys conducted by 010, 

editor Richard Jones, in Tulsa World, 1 August 1967, concluded: “If we were a self- 

supporting Oklahoma Indian with clean kids and a good neighborhood reputa¬ 

tion, we’d teU the interviewers to go back to the teepee and cook dog.” See also 

Rosen to Senator Fred Harris, 12 July 1967, Harris Papers. 

45. William C. Waantland to James Wahpepah, 15 December 1967, Mary Mc¬ 

Cormick to James Wahpepah, 7 November 1967 and Effie G. Kivett to LaDonna 

Harris, 8 November 1967, Harris Papers. 

46. Maynard 1. Ungerman to Senator Harris, 18 July 1967, and Lois Gatchell to La¬ 

Donna Harris, 10 July 1967, Harris Papers. Ungerman was selected to head the sub¬ 

committee primarily because of his loyalty to the Harrises. He also was chairman 

of the Tulsa County Democratic Committee. 

47. Ungerman noted an interesting comparison in his report, given the fact that it 

was still 1967. He wrote Senator Harris: “I think you may recall sometime when we 

were joking about ‘red power’ that we did discuss the possibility that 010 sooner 

or later would through its projects threaten the status-quo relationship that the 

tribal chiefs have with the various tribes.” Ungerman to Senator Harris, 18 July 

1967, Harris Papers. 

48. GatcheU to LaDonna Harris, 18 July 1967, Harris Papers. 

49. Ginsberg to LaDonna Harris, 25 July 1967, Harris Papers. Some evidence sug- 
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Othol Patton to Senator Harris, 24 July 1967, Harris Papers. 

50. Neal McCaleb’s Recommendations, 24 July 1967, and LaDonna Harris to H. L. 

McCracken, 7 August 1967, Harris Papers. 
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54. LaDonna Harris to Walter H. Richter, 6 February 1968, Harris Papers. 
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Russell Means 

Lalcota 

BY RAYMOND WILSON 

Russell Means has been a leading activist of Native American reform for 

over three decades. Means, reflecting on his role, recalls: “I hope to be re¬ 

membered as a fighter and as a patriot who never feared controversy— 

and not just for Indians. When I fight for my people’s rights, when I stand 

up for our treaties, when I protest government lies and illegal seizures and 

unlawful acts, I defend all Americans, even the bigoted and misguided. 

As one of the leaders of the American Indian Movement (aim), an Indian 

organization established in Minneapolis, Minnesota, in 1968 to protect 

urban Indians from police harassment and brutality. Means participated 

in many Indian demonstrations that brought attention not only to the de¬ 

mands and needs of Native Americans, but also to himself as a controver¬ 

sial Indian advocate of reform who did not hesitate to employ violence to 

seek change. The use of militant activities, however, sometimes hurt the 

overall objectives of these demonstrations, unfortunately drawing atten¬ 

tion to the violent acts rather than to the major issues of contention. 

On 10 November 1939, Russell Charles Means was born at Pine Ridge In¬ 

dian Reservation in South Dakota. He was the eldest of four boys (Dace 

and twins named Bill and Ted) born to Walter “Hank” Means, a mixed- 

blood Oglala, and Theodora Louise Feather Means, a full-blood Yankton. 

Means was especially proud of his maternal ancestors who fought against 

federal Indian policies and who instructed him in the traditions of his 

people. Although Means fondly remembers his parents, he acknowledges 

that his father had a major drinking problem, a problem that Means in¬ 

herited, and that his mother was a strict disciplinarian who dispensed 

physical punishment. Yet in spite of their difficulties, they loved their 

children and did not want them to endure the deplorable conditions of 

reservation life and the horrific Indian boarding schools, which both 
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Hank and Theodora had attended. They wanted their children to have op¬ 

portunities that reservation life could not give them. Consequently in 

1942, the Means family moved to Vallejo, California, where Hank found 

work as a welder at Mare Island Navy Shipyard.^ 

Means received most of his education in public schools in California, 

and graduated from San Leandro High School in 1958. As an Indian stu¬ 

dent, he faced racial discrimination but managed to make decent grades 

and to enjoy athletics. However, during his high school years. Means be¬ 

came a problem student and a juvenile delinquent, getting into fights, 

drinking, and taking and selling drugs. 

After graduation. Means drifted aimlessly for several years, held vari¬ 

ous jobs such as working as a ballroom dancer, a janitor, an accountant, 

and a rodeo hand, and married his first of four wives in 1961. He attended 

several colleges and business schools but never received a degree. Means 

continued to engage in criminal activities that included disorderly con¬ 

duct and drunkenness, street scams and petty crimes, and finally assault 

with a deadly weapon.5 

Means’s activities during these years were not unlike those of other 

downtrodden individuals coming of age in the 1960s. Such people had few 

opportunities, faced racial discrimination, and often feU in with the 

wrong crowd. Fortunately the 1960s was a decade that witnessed minority 

groups and others increasingly questioning American ways and demand¬ 

ing economic, political, and social justice. They no longer would passively 

accept the dominant society’s disparaging treatment. Means finally found 

some direction and purpose in life and became a major activist represent¬ 

ing Indian people. 

In 1964, Means participated in his first demonstration—the initial and 

unsuccessful attempt to claim the abandoned federal prison on Alcatraz 

Island. Means’s father, who supported the Indian movement, invited his 

son to join him in the occupation. The Indian demonstrators believed 

they had the right to take federal surplus property under a provision of 

the Fort Laramie Treaty of 1868. Although the occupation was short-lived. 

Means expressed pride in his father’s involvement and in the reawakening 

of his own personal feelings of Indianness.^ Indeed, by the end of the 

1960s, Means had become an avid supporter and future leader of aim. He 

later declared: “No longer would I be content to ‘work within the system.’ 

Never again would I seek personal approval from white society on white 

terms. ... I would get in the white man’s face until he gave me and my 

people our just due.”5 
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After the unsuccessful occupation of Alcatraz Island, Means continued 

to move from job to job and attend several schools. In 1967 he worked 

briefly for the Community Action Program of the Office of Economic Op¬ 

portunity on the Rosebud Reservation in South Dakota, where he de¬ 

signed personnel and financial reporting systems. His superior fired him 

for drinking on the job, a charge he successfully fought. After being re¬ 

hired, Means quit. In 1968, he, his second wife, and two children took ad¬ 

vantage of the Indian relocation program and moved to Cleveland, Ohio. 

The Bureau of Indian Affairs (bia), whose management of Indian policies 

Means severely criticizes, directed the relocation of reservation Indians to 

urban areas like Cleveland in an attempt to “improve” their living condi¬ 

tions. Too often, Indians were not ready for such an abrupt change of en¬ 

vironment and were not properly assisted by the bia in securing housing 

and employment. 

In Cleveland, Means helped establish the Cleveland American Indian 

Center and became its executive director in 1970. As director, he helped 

relocated Indians secure credit, food, and unemployment assistance. In 

addition, Means organized a campaign to convince the Cleveland Indians 

baseball team to abandon their mascot. Chief Wahoo, a racist stereotype 

of a Native American. Even though the campaign failed, Means’s activities 

on behalf of Indian people, especially those as an active demonstrator, 

brought him praise from both Indians and non-Indians. 

In December 1969, Means attended an urban Indian conference in San 

Francisco. At this meeting, aim leaders such as Dennis Banks, a Chippewa 

who helped found the organization, were impressed with Means’s speak¬ 

ing abilities and wanted him to join their organization. Although Means 

initially had little interest in aim, he became more familiar with its sense 

of duty and goals at a subsequent meeting in Detroit, and joined the orga¬ 

nization in 1970. Within six months. Means established a local chapter of 

aim in Cleveland, calling it claim.® 

Indian activism and militancy increased in the 1970s as Indians and 

other groups protested poor conditions both on and off the reservations, 

and demanded fair and just treatment. Means and aim participated in a 

number of important demonstrations during the decade, all of which at¬ 

tracted national attention to Indian matters and drew support from many 

white liberals.7 Among obstructive tactics employed were “fish-ins,” 

which protested violations of Indian fishing rights, and temporary occu¬ 

pations of public offices and buildings. During the summer of 1970 and in 

June 1971, Means demonstrated with other aim members at Mount Rush- 
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more, calling attention to the illegal seizure of the sacred Black Hills from 

the Lakotas in the 1870s. And on Thanksgiving Day, 1970, Means and 

other Indians boarded the Mayflower II in Plymouth, Massachusetts, to 

protest the way white settlers had mistreated Indians. These demonstra¬ 

tions focused on Indian demands for redress of past grievances, increased 

Means’s stature as an Indian spokesperson, and attracted media cover¬ 

age.* Consequently, Means and other aim leaders, especially Banks, con¬ 

tinued to develop strategies to deal with government officials, police, 

other activists, and the media. 

Means took pride in his efforts to help Indian people. In addition he 

continued to explore his own Indian identity by participating in a Sun 

Dance held at Pine Ridge Reservation in August 1971. Yet he questioned 

the sincerity of some of the other Indian participants, and expressed re¬ 

grets about the ways in which the modern Sun Dance had been “reduced 

to a mere shadow of what it had once been” by the federal government. 

Nevertheless, Means performed his ritual duties faithfully, and ultimately 

recognized the important balance between females and males. In fact, 

tribal elders praised him for his superior performance. Means later ob¬ 

served, “I was learning and experiencing being an Indian. That’s what was 

important to me.”9 

From 1972 to 1974, Means and aim continued their efforts to help Indian 

people, both on and off reservations. Means and aim almost went their 

separate ways, however, in January 1972 because of a misunderstanding 

concerning an alleged statement Means made in a Newsweek article about 

his suit against the Cleveland Indians baseball team. According to the arti¬ 

cle, Means had criticized the Chippewas, calling them “hang-around-the- 

fort Indians.” The Chippewas, who were traditional enemies of the Sioux, 

were outraged. Means declared he was misquoted and blamed whites for 

once again causing divisions among Indian tribes. He submitted his resig¬ 

nation from AIM because he was sickened by the lack of support he re¬ 

ceived from some Chippewas. aim refused to accept his resignation.^® 

One month later. Means was involved in aim’s first major intervention 

into a reservation incident that concerned the death of Raymond Yellow 

Thunder, a fifty-one-year-old Oglala Lakota from Pine Ridge Indian Res¬ 

ervation who was killed by white men in nearby Gordon, Nebraska. In 

reservation border towns like Gordon, Indians had a long history of mis¬ 

treatment, so the death of an Indian did not usually receive proper inves¬ 

tigation. Yellow Thunder’s body was discovered in a truck on a used car 

lot on 20 February 1972; the local coroner’s report indicated that he died 

from exposure and head injuries. Relatives of Yellow Thunder suspected 
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foul play and demanded justice. Because they were unsuccessful in their 

efforts to find out more details about his death from local Gordon author¬ 

ities, the BiA, and federal officials, they requested help from aim. Means 

and other aim members accepted the invitation to go to Gordon to inves¬ 

tigate what happened to Yellow Thunder. 

Testimony regarding his death later revealed that Yellow Thunder had 

been beaten and humiliated by four whites who had been drinking and 

who wanted to “bust an Indian.” Part of the humiliation included strip¬ 

ping Yellow Thunder from the waist down and forcing him into the local 

American Legion Club dance. The perpetrators later boasted about the in¬ 

cident. 

Following the assault. Yellow Thunder reported the incident to law of¬ 

ficials, then slept for several hours at the local jail. An Indian friend saw 

him in the truck at the car lot on the day after the beating and talked to 

Yellow Thunder about the incident. The friend saw him again in the truck 

a few days later and thought he was just sleeping, when in fact he was 

dead. Apparently, Yellow Thunder died sometime after talking to his 

friend. 

The white perpetrators were charged with manslaughter and false im¬ 

prisonment, and were released on low bail. Infuriated by these decisions, 

several hundred Indian demonstrators, led by aim, converged on Gordon, 

Nebraska, demanding that the case be reviewed. In addition, they wanted 

the town of Gordon to stop its blatant discrimination against Indians in 

such areas as education, employment, housing, and medical care. Na¬ 

tional coverage of this event helped aim achieve some of its objectives. 

Gordon officials agreed to form a board to study the complaints and to ex¬ 

hume Yellow Thunder’s body for reexamination. Means and aim came 

away from the incident with an enhanced reputation among some reser¬ 

vation Indians.“ Indeed, during the demonstration, Means’s statement, 

“We’ve come here to Gordon today to secure justice for American Indians 

and to put Gordon on the map . . . and if justice is not immediately forth¬ 

coming, we’ll be back to take Gordon off the map,” instilled pride among 

the Pine Ridge residents.*^ 

Following the events at Gordon, Means and other aim members held a 

series of “red ribbon grand jury” hearings at Pine Ridge and other Sioux 

reservations in South Dakota, where Indian residents vented their frustra¬ 

tions regarding reservation conditions and other matters. For example, 

Indians complained that the white owners of the Wounded Knee Trading 

Post and Museum* at Pine Ridge grossly exploited Indian customers. In ad¬ 

dition, it was alleged that one of the owners had physically accosted a 
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young Indian boy, which later resulted in Indians entering the store, 

threatening the owners, and causing damages. This incident is significant 

because Dick Wilson, the newly elected tribal chairman at Pine Ridge, de¬ 

nounced aim’s involvement and vowed not to allow them to hold meet¬ 

ings on the reservation again.The stage was now set for Means’s subse¬ 

quent challenge to Wilson’s leadership as well as aim’s occupation of 

Wounded Knee in 1973. 

aim’s cause also was inadvertently strengthened in September 1972, 

when Richard Oakes, a Mohawk who had led the 1969 occupation of Al¬ 

catraz, was shot and killed by a white man in San Francisco. The assailant 

claimed that he had killed Oakes in self-defense, and he was charged only 

with involuntary manslaughter and released on bail. Outraged, Oakes’s 

Indian friends claimed that he had been unarmed and murdered.*4 

While these events occurred in South Dakota and in California, Means 

and other Indian activists were planning the Trail of Broken Treaties. 

Spurred on by incidents such as the deaths of Yellow Thunder and Oakes, 

Indian activists prepared for a cross-country caravan that would start at 

several locations on the west coast, pick up supporters as it traveled east, 

and arrive in Washington in the fall, during the final days of the 1972 pres¬ 

idential election. Means and other activists believed that Indian demon¬ 

strations in the capital would generate considerable media coverage, 

cause the public to become more aware of the government’s treaty fail¬ 

ings, and attract the attention of both President Richard Nixon and his 

challenger. Senator George McGovern. 

Means was in charge of the Seattle caravan. Other Indian activists di¬ 

recting the operation were Robert Burnette, former Rosebud Sioux tribal 

chairman, and Hank Adams, an Assiniboine-Sioux and president of the 

Survival of American Indians Association. The caravans arrived in the 

Minneapolis-St. Paul area in late October, where aim leaders compiled a 

list of twenty points to improve relations between the United States and 

Indian people. Included among the points were demands to review treaty 

violations, increase Indian sovereignty, and abolish the bia. 

On 1 November 1972, Indian caravans began to arrive in the nation’s 

capital. Unfortunately, lodging for approximately one thousand protest¬ 

ors had not been properly arranged. Many of the demonstrators ended up 

staying in the rat-infested basement of St. Stephen’s Episcopal Church. 

The next day. Means and others marched over to the bia building to pro¬ 

test. Confrontations ensued, and the demonstrators spontaneously seized 

and occupied the facility, renaming it the Native American Embassy. 

The Nixon administration hoped to avoid excessive violence and de- 
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cided to negotiate with the protestors. Means, Banks, Adams, Burnette, 

and the Bellecourt brothers, Vernon and Clyde, who were Chippewa aim 

leaders, played key roles in conferring with federal officials. As usual. 

Means was a main spokesperson and met frequently with the media. In 

addition he helped secure the building and made plans, if it became nec¬ 

essary, to make sure that all the Indian occupants could exit the premises 

if they were attacked and the building set afire. 

Such extreme action became unnecessary after federal negotiators fi¬ 

nally agreed to study Indian grievances, respond to the Twenty Points, 

grant the occupiers limited amnesty, and provide monetary assistance 

($66,500) to help Indians return to their homes. After seven days of occu¬ 

pation, the Indians left the building on 9 November. Federal officials esti¬ 

mated damages to the building to be 2.2 million dollars and lamented the 

loss of large numbers of missing documents.^^ 

The Trail of Broken Treaties successfully brought together Indians from 

many tribes who occupied the bia headquarters, the very nerve center of 

federal Indian policy. Means later wrote that he regarded the demonstra¬ 

tion as a moral and spiritual victory and believed the general public be¬ 

came more aware of bia corruption. 

Means returned to Pine Ridge and settled at Porcupine, a small village 

about eight miles from Wounded Knee. Meanwhile, tribal chairman Rich¬ 

ard “Dick” Wilson and the Oglala Sioux Tribal Council passed legislation 

that prohibited aim activities on the reservation, an action that infuriated 

Means, who later challenged Wilson for the office of chairman in the 1974 

tribal election. 

Pine Ridge Reservation was a ticking time-bomb as 1972 was coming to 

an end. Living conditions were deplorable, unemployment rates were 

high, housing was inadequate, and medical care was poor. Political fac¬ 

tionalism, which was not uncommon among Indian tribes, pitted Wilson 

and his supporters against traditionalists and groups such as the Oglala 

Sioux Civil Rights Organization and the Oglala Sioux Landowners Associ¬ 

ation. These groups blamed Wilson for the poor conditions on the reser¬ 

vation, supported aim’s intervention, and agreed with Means’s criticism 

of Wilson for not addressing reservation problems. Yet federal officials 

recognized Wilson as the duly elected tribal leader, and he knew he could 

call on them for support. 

Indeed, on 20 November 1972, bia police arrested Means when he at¬ 

tempted to address the Oglala Sioux Landowners Association. Arguing in 

vain that his civil rights had been violated, Means left Pine Ridge and 

moved to the Rosebud Reservation, also in South Dakota. 
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In January and February 1973, Means and aim participated in several 

protests in border towns near Sioux reservations. For example, a protest 

in Rapid City, South Dakota, the site of blatant racism, brought some fa¬ 

vorable results. AIM convinced Rapid City officials to establish a commit¬ 

tee to try to improve race relations between Indians and non-Indians. 

A similar protest in Scottsbluff, Nebraska, was less successful, aim and 

Chicano activists met in the city to discuss similar problems they faced as 

minorities. Scottsbluff police, unhappy about the meeting, kept them un¬ 

der constant surveillance and refused to meet with the activists. Con¬ 

ditions worsened when a firebomb exploded at the local junior high 

school. Several activists, including Means, were arrested and charged 

with disorderly conduct, intoxication, resisting arrest, and carrying con¬ 

cealed weapons. Means contended that police beat him and later placed a 

weapon in his cell, urging him to pick it up. All charges against the activ¬ 

ists were later dropped.*® 

Another explosive event during these turbulent months also attracted 

public attention. Darold Schmitz, a white man, stabbed and killed Wesley 

Bad Heart Bull in a fight outside a bar in Buffalo Gap, South Dakota, on 21 

January 1973. Schmitz, who claimed he acted in self-defense, was released 

on bail set at five thousand dollars and later was charged with second-de¬ 

gree manslaughter, aim and other Indians protested that Schmitz’s man¬ 

slaughter charge and subsequent release was another case of a non-Indian 

assailant being “white-washed” after murdering a Native American. An 

ugly riot broke out at the courthouse in Custer, South Dakota, in which 

dozens of people were hurt. Means, who was inside the courthouse, was 

beaten by the police and arrested. Although a jury later found Schmitz not 

guilty of all charges, the incidents surrounding Bad Heart Bull’s death and 

subsequent verdict caused concern among many Americans across the 

nation. *9 

Back on the Pine Ridge Reservation, conditions continued to deterio¬ 

rate. Anti-Wilson political factions invited aim to come to the reservation 

to help settle matters. Fearing aim’s intervention, Wilson used bia funds 

to hire about forty people, whom he called the Guardians of the Oglala 

Nation, to protect bia facilities on the reservation. His opponents called 

them the “goon squad” based on an acronym created from their official ti¬ 

tle. In addition, U.S. marshals, trained in special operations, arrived at 

Pine Ridge, supposedly to forestall any violence. In this tense atmosphere, 

some tribal members again attempted to impeach Wilson (this was the 

fourth impeachment attempt in the last eleven months). Their charges in¬ 

cluded misuse of tribal funds, failure to hold meetings, and nepotism. On 
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22 February, Wilson convinced the tribal council to drop the impeach¬ 

ment charges. Means, who was in attendance, left in disgust. 

During the next few days. Means and about two hundred other Indians 

held meetings to plan a course of action. The Oglala Sioux Civil Rights 

Organization, aim, and some tribal elders, headmen, and medicine men 

decided to occupy Wounded Knee, the tragic site of the last major con¬ 

frontation between the Sioux and the U.S. Army. Means cautioned them 

to keep the decision quiet so their enemies would not be alerted. On the 

evening of 27 February 1973, carloads of Indian demonstrators seized the 

hamlet of Wounded Knee, which they held for the next seventy-one 

days.^° 

Ultimately calling themselves the Independent Oglala Nation, the In¬ 

dian demonstrators later presented some demands, which included: the 

U.S. Senate Foreign Relations Committee should be convened to review 

Indian treaties; the U.S. Senate Subcommittee on Administrative Prac¬ 

tices and Procedures should investigate the bia and the Department of the 

Interior; and the U.S. Senate Subcommittee on Indian Affairs should in¬ 

vestigate conditions on the Sioux reservations. In addition, the Indepen¬ 

dent Oglala Nation demanded the removal of Wilson as tribal chairman 

and the replacement of the tribal government (created under the Indian 

Reorganization Act of 1934) by more traditional Lakota political struc¬ 

tures. In response, Bradley Patterson and Leonard Garment, White House 

officials who had negotiated with Indian occupiers at Alcatraz and bia 

headquarters, were dispatched by the federal government to South Da¬ 

kota. Meanwhile, a heavily armed force of over two hundred U.S. mar¬ 

shals, FBI agents, and bia police established a perimeter around Wounded 

Knee.^i 

One of the first issues Means addressed was federal concern over the 

care and safety of residents of Wounded Knee, many of whom were el¬ 

derly whites. U.S. senators George McGovern and James Abourezk, both 

from South Dakota, arrived at the site and requested to talk with the resi¬ 

dents, whom the fbi claimed were hostages and prisoners of war. Means 

later wrote that the residents were neither hostages or prisoners of war 

and were free to leave whenever they desired. The two senators left satis¬ 

fied that the residents were safe. Indeed some of them even sympathized 

with the Indian occupiers and refused to leave. McGovern and Abourezk 

pledged they would get senate committees to address Indian grievances. 

Rounds of talks between the Indians and federal officials during the 

first several days produced few results. As time passed. Means and other 

Indian leaders worried about the safety and health of the occupiers. 
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Meanwhile, Wilson threatened to evict the occupiers with his followers. 

When federal roadblocks were temporarily removed, many Oglalas left in 

spite of Means’s pleas to remain. Means viewed the action as a ploy to ini¬ 

tiate a series of arrests and to diminish the number of occupiers. However, 

a number of new Indian arrivals from all over the United States as well as 

some non-Indians replaced those who had left. The Indian occupiers re¬ 

ceived supplies of food, arms, and other items from outside sources. 

Among prominent supporters of the demonstration were attorneys Wil¬ 

liam Kunstler and Mark Lane, comedian Dick Gregory, and actor Marlon 

Brando. 

After several more abortive attempts at negotiation. Means, Banks, and 

others became more alarmed. Supplies were running low and the fierce 

firefights continued. Applying additional pressure, federal officials cut off 

electrical and telephone services to Wounded Knee, and on 26 March, 

Means and Banks secretly made their way through the federal perimeter 

en route to Crow Dog’s Paradise on the Rosebud Reservation, about one 

hundred miles away, to seek assistance. At Crow Dog’s Paradise, named 

after Leonard Crow Dog, a Lakota holy man who helped revive the tradi¬ 

tional Sun Dance ceremony, they found needed supplies and loyal volun¬ 

teers to aid them. Means and Banks returned to Wounded Knee the fol¬ 

lowing day. The occupation continued. 

In late March and early April, demonstrations occurred in several cities 

throughout the United States in support of the occupation. A Harris Poll 

indicated that a majority of Americans supported the Indians. On 5 April, 

negotiations finally became more productive when federal negotiators 

agreed to conduct investigations of tribal complaints at Pine Ridge and to 

discuss violations of Indian treaty rights in the Fort Laramie Treaty of 

1868. In return, aim agreed that all their followers at Wounded Knee 

would lay down their arms; some would be arrested if warrants had been 

issued against them. Part of the arrangement was that Means, one of the 

main negotiators, would be arrested but later allowed to fly to Washing¬ 

ton DC to meet with federal officials. After his arraignment in Rapid City, 

Means was released on a twenty-five-thousand-dollar bond. He and sev¬ 

eral other Indians then flew first-class to the nation’s capital. 

In Washington, confusion arose regarding just when the Indian occu¬ 

piers were to surrender their weapons and when Means and the others 

were to meet with federal officials. Negotiations again broke down and 

progress toward the proposed settlement was stymied. Each side believed 

that the other should act first. Means cried foul and blamed whites for ly¬ 

ing to Indians once again. He remained in Washington and testified on 
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conditions at Wounded Knee before the House of Representatives’ Indian 

subcommittee. Means refused to be provoked by the committee chairman 

who was highly critical of the occupation. Means left Washington and 

embarked on a speaking tour to garner support for the Indian occupiers. 

As part of his bail agreement, he was not allowed to return to Wounded 
Knee.^3 

The occupation finally ended on 8 May 1973. It had lasted too long and 

did not produce the results that Means and other Indians occupiers de¬ 

manded. Wilson remained as tribal chairman, and the Independent 

Oglala Nation vanished. Federal officials refused to seriously consider In¬ 

dian concerns regarding alleged violations of the Fort Laramie Treaty of 

1868. Many Indians and non-Indians were alienated by the violent actions 

committed by both sides. Yet the occupation alerted white America to the 

problems Indian America faced. Moreover, Indians who supported the oc¬ 

cupation felt a new sense of pride and hope. Indeed, Means later observed 

that “Wounded Knee was and is the catalyst for the rebirth of our self-dig¬ 

nity and pride in being Indians. ”^4 

In retrospect, aim’s occupation of Wounded Knee illustrated the 

strengths and weaknesses of both sides. National media coverage, which 

Means and other aim leaders skillfully exploited, tended to be sympa¬ 

thetic toward the Indians, especially during the early stages of the occupa¬ 

tion. Although both sides established roadblocks on several occasions, 

people were able to circumvent them. A number of firefights broke out; 

amazingly, only two occupiers were killed. Both sides suffered from dis¬ 

sension in their ranks, a splintering that hurt their overall effectiveness. 

Finally, as in previous encounters, federal negotiators again were success¬ 

ful in convincing Indians to abandon the occupation and in promising 

only to study Indian grievances. 

Means was arrested in late April in Los Angeles because of complica¬ 

tions surrounding his previous bond. He was returned to Sioux Falls and 

sent to jail. While in jail, federal criminal charges were brought against 

him and other aim leaders for their actions at Wounded Knee. Means 

complained about the high bail he and the others had to pay. During the 

summer of 1973, Means prepared for his upcoming trial. Adding to his dif¬ 

ficulties, he was served with an arrest warrant for his actions at the Custer 

County Courthouse. He later pleaded guilty and received a thirty-day jail 

sentence. On a more positive note. Means presented eloquent testimony 

at federal hearings in South Dakota regarding conditions at Pine Ridge. 

In November 1973 hearings began in the Wounded Knee trials. Federal 

officials decided to try Means and Banks together. Felony charges against 
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them included interstate transport and use of firearms, impeding federal 

officers in performance of their duties, and burglary and larceny of the 

Wounded Knee Trading Post. The defense argued that Means and Banks 

were political prisoners and were ultimately allowed to use the Fort Lara¬ 

mie Treaty of 1868 as evidence of Indian grievances. A change of venue 

moved the trial from South Dakota to St. Paul, Minnesota.^5 

On 8 January 1974 the trial of Means and Banks commenced with jury 

selection, which lasted over a month. Aided by several attorneys includ¬ 

ing William Kunstler, Means and Banks made the trial a political event. At 

times it seemed as if the federal government were on trial instead of the 

two Indian activists. Indeed, Means and Banks initially tried in vain to 

serve as co-counsels. In such roles, they could have spoken without having 

to take the witness stand. Nevertheless, they often interrupted court pro¬ 

ceedings by challenging testimonies of federal officials.^® Means later 

wrote; “After a while, I didn’t even listen to the testimony. I just looked at 

the liars and thought about what I was watching. It began to register in my 

mind why the United States of America doesn’t keep its treaties. 

In the final summations in September, the prosecution claimed that 

Means and Banks were guilty of criminal conspiracy for their actions at 

Wounded Knee. Speaking for the defense, Kunstler was at his best. He de¬ 

clared Means and Banks were not guilty of criminal conspiracy charges 

and passionately portrayed his clients as victims, much like Socrates and 

Jesus, two leaders of other social movements who were also unjustly ac¬ 

cused of crimes. 

During jury deliberations, jurors voted unanimously against conviction 

on the conspiracy charges. However, one of the jurors suffered a stroke 

during the discussion of other charges. Reduced to eleven members, the 

jury needed the approval of both the prosecution and the defense to con¬ 

tinue. The prosecution refused and wanted a mistrial so they could pre¬ 

pare a better case than the one they had presented. The decision was up to 

federal judge Fred Nichol, who had become more and more frustrated 

with the performance of the FBI and the actions of government attorneys, 

including their delay in supplying materials to the defense. Instead of de¬ 

claring a mistrial, Nichol dismissed all charges against Means and Banks, 

citing government misconduct that included lying under oath, using ille¬ 

gal wiretaps, and altering documents. The Justice Department was unsuc¬ 

cessful in appealing Nichol’s decision.^** 

As a result of the Wounded Knee occupation and the subsequent trials, 

AIM and its leadership were considerably weakened. Federal officials con¬ 

centrated on keeping aim members busy defending themselves against 
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numerous charges in court, which prevented them from engaging in dem¬ 

onstrations. The drain on their limited financial resources to pay for their 

legal defense nearly bankrupted the organization. Moreover, divisiveness 

among aim’s leadership continued to contribute to its decimation. For ex¬ 

ample, Banks and Means had disagreed over several strategies at 

Wounded Knee and over other matters. And in an altercation of aim lead¬ 

ers at Rosebud Reservation, Carter Camp, a Ponca, shot and wounded 

Clyde Bellecourt.^9 Nevertheless, aim attempted to survive these major 

internal crises. 

After the Wounded Knee occupation ended, conditions on the Pine 

Ridge Reservation did not improve. In January 1974, Means challenged 

Wilson for the tribal chairmanship, even though Means was standing trial 

in St. Paul. In the primary, which several people entered. Means won. He 

received one hundred votes more than Wilson, who came in second. On 

election day, however, Wilson defeated Means by a slim margin. Means 

protested the results, but Wilson’s victory stood. In 1984, Means tried 

again to run for the chairmanship but was disqualified because he was a 

convicted felon.3° 

For the rest of the 1970s and 1980s, and into the 1990s, Means contin¬ 

ued his activism and sometimes dangerous lifestyle, which occasionally 

resulted in his sustaining knife and bullet wounds. Recalling the perilous 

episodes. Means reflects, “I’ve been shot three times, stabbed and beaten 

unconscious, strafed and bombed, sucked down by quicksand, and chased 

across the ocean in a leaky canoe.For example, in March 1975, Means 

was present at a murder in a bar at Scenic, South Dakota. He was charged 

with first-degree murder, despite the fact that the victim, before dying, 

said Means was not the perpetrator. A jury later found him not guilty. 

Three months later, on the Standing Rock Reservation in North Da¬ 

kota, Means was involved in another incident at a bar at Fort Yates. Later, 

CBIA police stopped Means and his friends on the highway, a scuffle broke 

out, and an officer shot Means in the stomach. In March 1976, Means was 

shot again, this time in the chest by another Indian during a drinking 

party. Finally, in 1978, while serving time at South Dakota State Peniten¬ 

tiary for his actions in the courthouse riot in Sioux Falls, which occurred 

back in April 1974, Means was stabbed in the chest by another inmate dur¬ 

ing a prison fight.3^ 

Before beginning his prison sentence. Means participated in a dem¬ 

onstration in Washington in July 1978. Known as The Longest Walk, the 

Indians protested pending anti-Indian legislation. At a rally Means en¬ 

gaged in an argument with Senator Edward Kennedy over a piece of legis- 
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lation he was sponsoring that would weaken, according to Means, Indian 

treaty rights. None of the major anti-Indian bills passed. 

In August 1979, Means was paroled from prison after serving one year 

of a four-year sentence. As the new decade dawned, he resumed his ac¬ 

tivism for Native American rights. Although attempts were made to re¬ 

solve differences among aim leaders, such efforts proved unproductive. 

Meanwhile Means continued to work with the International Indian 

Treaty Council, an organization that focused on the rights of indigenous 

peoples. As a representative of the organization. Means traveled to several 

countries, including hazardous trips to Nicaragua and Colombia in the 

mid-1980s, in hopes of bringing an end to the mistreatment of the Native 

American inhabitants by government authorities. In addition, he at¬ 

tempted to convince the Pine Ridge, Hopi, Lummi, and Fort Peck tribal 

councils to engage in economic development projects on their respective 

reservations. Moreover, Indian tribes should pursue, according to Means, 

international trade relations. Means expressed disappointment when 

these councils failed to embrace such opportunities; he blamed the coun¬ 

cils and the bia for not realizing the importance of such projects to im¬ 

prove reservation conditions and increase Indian self-determination.” 

Another major concern of Means was the sacred Black Hills in South 

Dakota. He became an avid supporter of environmental protection and 

joined the Black Hills Alliance, composed of Indians and non-Indians who 

protested the potentially dangerous environmental practices of corpora¬ 

tions in the Black Hills. At the Black Hills International Survival Gather¬ 

ing, held in the sacred hills in July 1980, Means presented what he consid¬ 

ered his most famous speech. Titled “For America to Live, Europe Must 

Die,” it was a passionate plea to embrace the essence of Indian spirituality 

and its oneness with nature and to reject the materialism and destruction 

practiced by non-Indians.” 

Means also became involved in supporting Sioux claims to the Black 

Hills, which were illegally taken from them in 1877. In a 1980 decision, the 

U.S. Supreme Court offered the Sioux tribes over one hundred million 

dollars to settle the issue. The Indians rejected the money and demanded 

the Black Hills be given back to them.” 

In April 1981, Means and others decided to reclaim the Black Hills by es¬ 

tablishing a camp in the hills, at Victoria Creek Canyon. They named their 

project Yellow Thunder Camp in honor of Raymond Yellow Thunder, the 

Oglala killed in Gordon, Nebraska, in 1972. Justifying their right to estab¬ 

lish the camp based on provisions in the Fort Laramie Treaty of 1868, the 

American Indian Religious Freedom Act of 1978, and an old federal law 
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that allowed educational and religious activities to take place on wilder¬ 

ness sites, they submitted an application to the U.S. Forest Service to erect 

a number of permanent buildings at the campsite. When the Forest Serv¬ 

ice refused, Means and others took their case to court. In 1986 the court 

decided in favor of the government. Although Means and other aim 

members sadly abandoned Yellow Thunder Camp, the time they spent 

there was rewarding. They enjoyed communal discussions and activities 

and laid plans to found a spiritual youth camp to help Indian children.^^ 

During the 1980s, Means ran unsuccessfully for both the vice presi¬ 

dency and the presidency of the United States. Although he really had no 

chance of winning either office, he entered both races in an effort to bring 

attention to issues involving American Indians. In 1984, Larry Flynt, pub¬ 

lisher of Hustler, asked Means to join his ticket to secure the Republican 

nomination for president of the United States. Means accepted, hoping to 

convince Republican leaders to support Indian treaty rights. Flynt was 

more interested, however, in attacking pornography laws, and in the end. 

Means quit the campaign. 

Means hoped to run for the nation’s highest office as the presidential 

candidate of the Libertarian Party in 1986. He supported some of the 

party’s principles dealing with free-market economics and limits on gov¬ 

ernmental involvement in people’s lives. Means campaigned hard, re¬ 

ceived support from a good number of Libertarian Party members, but 

failed to secure the party’s nomination.37 

In the century’s final decade. Means remains an important and contro¬ 

versial Indian activist. His experiences in the 1990s include presenting a 

number of speeches throughout the United States and in several foreign 

countries, playing a key role in finally getting the name of Custer Battle¬ 

field National Monument changed to Little Bighorn Battlefield National 

Monument, and fighting racism in the Rapid City public schools.3* Two 

other activities of particular interest concern Means’s decision to become 

an actor and his participation in bringing to an end the Columbus Day pa¬ 

rade in Denver, Colorado. 

Because Means appeared on several U.S. television news programs such 

as The Today Show, Good Morning America, and other talk shows in foreign 

countries and felt fairly comfortable in front of a camera, he accepted an 

offer to read for the part of Chingachgook in the 1991 film The Last of the 

Mohicans. He won the important role and gave an excellent performance. 

Other movies followed, including Disney’s animated and controversial 

1995 film Pocahontas, in which Means provided the voice of Powhatan, the 

father of Pocahontas. Critics of the film complained that it presented ro- 
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manticized and stereotyped views of Indians and questioned Means’s in¬ 

volvement in the project.Means defended the fUm, claiming that it de¬ 

picted “a very accurate relationship between a father and a daughter.” 

Overstating his case, Means declared that Pocahontas was “the best and 

most responsible film that has ever been made about American Indians.”4° 

Answering critics who charged he had abandoned the Indian movement 

and “sold out” to Hollywood, Means explained, “I haven’t abandoned the 

movement for Hollywood. I’ve brought Hollywood to the movement. ”41 

Besides acting in films, Means engaged in a vociferous protest to stop 

the Columbus Day parade in Denver, Colorado, in 1992. It is interesting to 

note that Colorado was the first state to establish a Columbus Day holiday 

back in 1907. Means, Colorado aim members, and others had tried unsuc¬ 

cessfully in the past to persuade the Federation of Italian-American Orga¬ 

nizations of Colorado (fiao) to stop honoring Columbus, whom Indians 

viewed as the destroyer, not the “discoverer” of America. Since 1992 

marked the quincentenary of the “discovery,” and groups throughout the 

nation planned special ceremonies to celebrate the event. Means and 

other protesters deemed it an ideal time to take action. 

Several meetings between the fiao and those who opposed a Columbus 

Day parade failed to reach a solution, however. At the meetings. Means 

argued that the parade should honor the Italian-American culture and 

eliminate all references to Columbus. The issue, continued Means, was 

not about Italians versus Indians, but about racism. The faio remained 

unconvinced and refused to remove the name of Columbus from its pa¬ 

rade; instead they responded by once again inviting the Indian protesters 

to join their parade. The Indians refused.42^ 

With tensions mounting, Denver authorities prepared for the worst. 

Hundreds of police officers stood ready to make arrests. In a meeting with 

the Denver police chief. Means pledged that aim would not encourage vi¬ 

olence. “Now, if the police make it violent,” warned Means, “then we will 

defend ourselves to the best of our ability.”43 

The FIAO scheduled the Columbus Day parade to start at 10 a.m. on 

Sunday, 11 October. At approximately 9:15 a.m., the parade organizers 

canceled it, fearing possible violence. The protesters learned of the cancel¬ 

lation at 9:45 A.M. A jubilant Means exclaimed, “We won. We abolished 

the holiday.” Later a shouting match between the protesters and Italian 

Americans broke out when the latter assembled on the steps of the capitol 

to hear speeches, sing songs, and dance.44 In 1992, anti-Columbus Day 

demonstrations swept the nation. Although observance and celebration 

of the day continued. Means and others who had led protests against Co- 
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lumbus Day activities certainly presented another view of Columbus to 

the American public. 

During the 1990s, Means sought treatment for his anger and depres¬ 

sion. His hard living, drinking, and personal problems extracted a heavy 

toll. He committed himself to Cottonwood de Tucson, a treatment center 

in Arizona, in late December 1991. His Indian spirituality helped him 

through the ordeal, and his group sessions finally provided some answers 

to his personal torments. According to Means, his troubled behavior re¬ 

sulted from low self-esteem instilled in him by his mother’s biting criti¬ 

cism and lack of confidence in him.45 Moreover, Means realized that the 

major source of his mother’s behavior, and for that matter, his father’s al¬ 

coholism, came from the deplorable BiA-directed reservation experiences 

that were imposed on them. Means observed, “to avoid being crushed, my 

mother got by on strength and an iron will. ”46 

As the twenty-first century begins, Russell Means remains a significant 

and controversial voice for Indian America. He continues to work for the 

improvement of reservation conditions and he persists in addressing 

many other issues that affect Indian people. Means came to prominence 

as an Indian activist leader during the tumultuous 1960s, when Indians 

and other minorities, frustrated by injustices, neglect, and unfulfilled 

promises, could no longer remain passive. Indians demanded more self- 

determination, clamored for recognition of federal treaty obligations, and 

rejected forced assimilation policies that had tried for centuries “to get the 

Indian out of the Indian.” Projecting an attractive and forceful image and 

possessing powerful speaking skills that attracted the media. Means was 

among the leading Indian demonstrators who brought attention to Indian 

issues. But his militant methods often alienated both Indians and non-In¬ 

dians and diverted attention from genuine Indian grievances. 

Many Indians disapprove of Means and aim for their violent tactics. 

Critics such as Tim Giago, Lakota editor of Indian Country Today, a na¬ 

tional Indian newspaper, charge that aim and Means represent only urban 

Indians and have lost touch with reservation issues. Giago vehemently 

condemns Means and aim for the occupation of Wounded Knee in 1973. 

He believes that Means could be more effective if he abandoned his radi¬ 

cal behavior. 

Additionally, aim leaders have turned on each other. Means, who is ac¬ 

tive in aim chapters in South Dakota and Colorado, directed efforts that 

banished the Bellecourt brothers from aim in 1994 for subverting the 

movement. Included among the litany of charges against them were mis- 
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representing themselves as national leaders, undermining the efforts of 

other AIM members, misappropriating funds, and collaborating with gov¬ 

ernmental authorities against indigenous peoples. The Bellecourts, who 

belonged to the aim chapters in Minnesota, countercharged that Means 

was upset with them because they questioned the Indian ancestry of Ward 

Churchill and Glenn Morris, two Colorado aim leaders. In addition, the 

brothers questioned Means’s dedication to his campaign to convince the 

Cleveland Indians to abandon their mascot. Chief Wahoo, charging that 

Means had accepted a payoff to drop the issue. They declared that Means 

had no authority since he had resigned from aim on several previous oc¬ 

casions. Eventually, both sides exiled the other from “their” aim organiza- 

tions.47 

In his evaluation of aim. Means writes: “The primary goal of the Amer¬ 

ican Indian Movement has always been to force the United States to live 

up to its own laws by meeting the obligations it took on when it signed 

our treaties, aim failed to do that, but we did help restore respect to our 

traditional elders. ”4^ Indeed, aim identified a number of Indian grievances 

but failed to get the federal government to solve them in the manner in 

which aim demanded. Yet by bringing attention to these issues, albeit 

sometimes in militant ways, aim forced the nation and its leaders to be¬ 

come more aware of Indian complaints. Moreover, many Indian people 

regained a new sense of pride in their “Indianness,” and recently some 

tribes finally have been able to increase their ability to make decisions as 

sovereign nations. Unfortunately, Indians are still an oppressed people 

and many problems remain.49 

Russell Means remains a charismatic and controversial figure. His auto¬ 

biography, Where White Men Fear to Tread, published in 1995, received laud¬ 

atory testimonials from such well-known people as Dee Brown, Oliver 

Stone, N. Scott Momaday, Gerry Spence, and Tony Hillerman. Reviews of 

the book were generally favorable. In addition to his success as an author. 

Means has recorded albums, founded an Indian film company, and estab¬ 

lished a Web site.5° 

Means continues to explore and develop his Indian spiritualism and 

hopes that someday he can achieve the position and respect of a tribal el- 

der.51 Noted Indian writer Vine Deloria Jr., a Standing Rock Sioux who 

does not always agree with Means, wrote: “If Russell Means has faults, 

and we all do, he also has talent and dedication which greatly outweigh 

the faults and which in my mind make him one of the great Indians of our 

time. ”52^ 

The saga of Russell Means continues. 
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Howard Tommie 

Seminofe 

BY HARRY A. KERSEY JR. 

The modern concept of Indian self-determination—conceived by John 

CoUier during the New Deal, nurtured during the Great Society, and 

brought to full term by Nixonian pronouncement—created a new genera¬ 

tion of tribal leaders who maneuvered adroitly in both reservation pol¬ 

itics and Washington hearing rooms. Following a visit from Commis¬ 

sioner John Collier in 1935, the Seminoles voted to accept the Indian 

Reorganization Act but did not form a tribal government until 1957, after 

narrowly averting congressional termination.^ As chairman of the Semi¬ 

nole Tribe of Florida during its initial phase of dynamic economic and po¬ 

litical emergence, Howard Tommie’s leadership bridged the gap between 

an impoverished, fragmented people, still psychologically scarred by the 

brush with termination, and a unified tribe with a sophisticated govern¬ 

ment, secure in its newly confirmed sovereignty. 

Howard Ernest Tommie was born on 28 May 1938 at the Brighton Sem¬ 

inole Reservation near Lake Okeechobee. He was the third of the Rev¬ 

erend Sam Tommie and Mildred Bowers Tommie’s nine children. Both 

parents were full-blood Seminoles.^ He is a member of the Bird clan—one 

of the two largest Seminole clans and arguably one of the most powerful 

politically, since it produced many office holders during the early years of 

Seminole tribal government.t In many respects Tommie’s family reflected 

the social changes that engulfed Florida’s Seminole people during the 

twentieth century. His grandfather was a venerated medicine man who 

had always lived in the Everglades; nevertheless, Howard’s father con¬ 

verted to Christianity, became a Baptist lay minister, and strongly advo¬ 

cated Seminole resettlement on federal reservations.^ Tommie’s grand¬ 

mother was a traditional clan matriarch yet urged one of her sons to 

attend the Carlisle Indian School.5 As a child Howard learned both lan¬ 

guages used by the Florida Indians—the Muskogee of his mother’s people 
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and the Miccosukee spoken by his paternal grandparents. When his family 

moved to the urban Hollywood Reservation, the children gained fluency in 

English by attending nearby public schools. Howard graduated from Chi- 

locco Indian High School in Oklahoma where he lettered in football and 

basketball. He then served six months of active duty in the U.S. Army and 

eight years in the inactive reserves. Married with children, Tommie was 

working in Miami as a truck driver and welder during the 1960s when the 

Seminole Tribe received Community Action Program (cap) funds from the 

federal government. This provided an opportunity for educated Seminoles 

to advance economically while also assisting their people. Tommie re¬ 

turned to the reservation to head the Neighborhood Youth Corps (nyc) 

program; there he mastered the intricacies of federal grant writing. He 

soon gained a reputation as an outspoken advocate of a movement that 

was capturing national attention: Indian self-determination. 

President Richard Nixon’s congressional message on Indians delivered 

in July 1970 was a defining moment in establishing the principle of Indian 

self-determination. The message outlined specific proposals for tribal ac¬ 

tion, and even though never fully implemented, Philip Deloria believes 

that “it stands as the strongest official policy statement for Indian self-de¬ 

termination.”® The Great Society of the 1960s gradually espoused Indian 

control over tribal economic, social, and political affairs. The virtual mo¬ 

nopoly the Bureau of Indian Affairs (bia) and Indian Health Service had 

over providing for tribal needs would be broken. Tribes adopted a 

strategy of establishing eligibility for the programs that were available to 

state and local governments and making tribal governments the primary 

delivery vehicle for these programs. While termination was no longer the 

official policy of the federal government, many tribal leaders believed that 

assimilationist sentiment lurked just below the surface; therefore, another 

part of their strategy was an attempt to establish definitive tribal roles in 

the administration of government programs so that any attempt to resur¬ 

rect termination would be difficult. Furthermore, with funds coming 

from an array of other federal agencies it would be possible to apply lim¬ 

ited BIA monies on well-defined problems such as education and health. 

The vehicle for implementing this strategy was the War on Poverty, which 

channeled funds directly to tribes and bypassed bia bureaucrats. Funds 

for the Comprehensive Employment Training Act (ceta), cap, nyc and 

the like were the first discretionary funds that had ever been made avail¬ 

able to many tribes.^ 

This windfall of federal dollars can be viewed as a mixed blessing. 

Government funds generally had restrictions on their use, and many In- 
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dian leaders were unprepared for such limitations; they often had to re¬ 

structure tribal governments to use the funds effectively. In addition, 

tribal priorities were often determined by the availability of funds for par¬ 

ticular programs rather than by the needs of the people. While many Indi¬ 

ans developed leadership and managerial skills running these programs 

there was concern about how they would apply them once the Great So¬ 

ciety faded into history. The logical development would be for tribes to as¬ 

sume responsibility for programs that the bia traditionally administered. 

However, that would mean calling for a radical reassessment of the guard¬ 

ianship relationship between the federal government and Indians. 

Congressional acceptance of Indian self-determination came with pas¬ 

sage of the Indian Self-Determination and Educational Assistance Act of 

1975.* The act had two basic components: Title I and Title II. Title II, the 

Educational Assistance Act, authorized significant amendments to the 

Johnson-O’Malley Act, which had guided Indian education since the 

1930s. In particular, it required local committees of Indian parents whose 

children attended schools served by a federal contract; there were also 

provisions for expanded funding for Indian children in public schools. 

However, it was Title I, the Indian Self-Determination Act, that held far- 

reaching implications for tribal life. It provided for direct subcontracting 

of federal services to tribal organizations, authorized discretionary grant 

and contract authority, permitted federal employees to work for tribal or¬ 

ganizations without losing their benefits, and allowed the secretary of the 

interior to waive federal contracting laws if deemed appropriate for spe¬ 

cific tribal situations. This paved the way for aggressive Indian govern¬ 

ments to assume many functions formerly performed by the bia or ihs 

alone. Tribes like the Miccosukees opted to dispense with a bia presence 

altogether. As Vine Deloria Jr. summarized the situation, “Congress was 

thus taking the lock off the barn door and inviting Indians in to seize 

whatever they could pry away from the suspicious bureaucrats.”9 Semi¬ 

nole and Miccosukee politics of the 1970s must be assessed within the 

context of these rapidly evolving changes in federal-tribal relations. Unex¬ 

pectedly, two small Florida tribes would find themselves on the cutting 

edge of a national movement. 

In 1971, Howard Tommie, at age 33, was elected chairman of the tribal 

council, handily defeating incumbent Betty Mae Jumper—the first, and so 

far only, woman elected to that post. He represented himself as a new type 

of leader and appealed to younger members of the tribe with the promise 

of Indian self-determination—especially direct contracting with the fed¬ 

eral government as the Miccosukees had done. Jumper, an experienced 
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tribal officer, had served the Seminoles for many years. Her devout Chris¬ 

tianity appealed to many older voters who were Southern Baptists. In con¬ 

trast, Howard promised more aggressive policies than those of the older 

generation, which had been bound by bia policies that dictated limited 

Indian self-government and fostered a high degree of dependency. Tom¬ 

mie recalled, “It was quite an upset when I came in with my idea of self- 

help. I said that we have to move forward by use of our own resources, 

and I captured the votes of the young.On the other hand, the new 

chairman recognized that he had the support of the large Bird clan, while 

Betty Mae Jumper belonged to the very small Snake dan. With a smile 

he confided to a reporter, “I do belong to a large clan and that was very 

helpful. 

Delivering on his promise to shake things up, Tommie hit the ground 

running. He pressed forward on all fronts to assure that the tribe took 

maximum advantage of federal funding sources. The administration em¬ 

barked on a furious cycle of grant writing, and money began to pour in. To 

coordinate the programs, Tommie created a human resources division 

with its own director and accounting department. For many years Mi¬ 

chael Tiger, a young, well-educated Indian who later became a regional In¬ 

dian Health Service administrator, ran the division. Included under the 

division were reservation programs, social services, manpower planning, 

employment assistance, the ceta program, the education department, 

community health coordination, the Indian Action Team, the foodstamp 

program, community health representatives, emergency medical assis¬ 

tance, mental health and alcoholism, and drug abuse. Tommie also ener¬ 

gized established tribal programs such as Head Start and the Native 

American Program; meanwhile, he encouraged the council to reorganize 

the Seminole Housing Authority and Tribal Utility Commission. He also 

promoted the construction of new health clinics on all reservations as 

well as community centers and ball fields. 

Tommie constantly sought funding for special education programs at 

the tribal day school on Big Cypress Reservation and for adult education. 

Because parents were negligent in enrolling children in school, the tribal 

council passed a resolution reaffirming that all Seminoles must attend 

school until the age of eighteen unless graduated from high school or mar¬ 

ried. “Education,” the council stated, “is set as a highest priority of the 

Tribe and children must be motivated to seek high school education. 

Improving law enforcement on the reservations remained a major goal 

for Tommie, and after the state legislature enacted a 1974 law allowing the 

Florida tribes to police themselves, he secured Law Enforcement Assis- 
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tance Administration funds to establish a tribal law enforcement pro¬ 

gram.^5 Then he initiated a tribal legal assistance program to defend the 

tribe and its members; the tribal attorney aggressively pursued Seminole 

land rights and sovereignty in the state and federal courts. 

On the national level Tommie gained recognition as an articulate spo¬ 

kesperson for Indian causes. He represented the Seminoles in the Na¬ 

tional Tribal Chairman’s Association, chairing its culture and tradition 

committee. This committee was instrumental in negotiating a compro¬ 

mise with federal authorities over the Migratory Fowl Act permitting In¬ 

dians to legally possess eagle feathers for religious or cultural ceremonies. 

He also served on the litigation committee of the National Congress of 

American Indians and testified in support of the 1975 Indian Self-Deter¬ 

mination Act at congressional hearings. Reflecting his interest in health 

care issues, Tommie received an appointment to the National Indian 

Health Board, which met quarterly in Denver to advise the government 

on policy issues; eventually he would become chairman. Throughout his 

administration, Howard represented the Seminoles on the board of 

United Southeastern Tribes, which unified tribes of the region, serving 

one term as its president; in addition, he and Miccosukee leader Buffalo 

Tiger co-chaired the Florida Governor’s Council on Indian Affairs. All in 

all, the energetic Tommie brought a new dimension to Seminole leader¬ 

ship in an era of increasing tribal activism. 

The Seminole Tribe’s unique constitutional structure provided for an 

elected tribal council to handle legislative matters, and another elected 

body, the board of directors, to operate its business affairs. Although the 

heads of both the council and board sat ex officio on the other body, there 

was great potential for conflict if the two political leaders were in dis¬ 

agreement. Fortunately for the Seminoles that was not the case. The 1971 

election also brought change to the tribe’s board of directors. The new 

president, Fred Smith, was born at the Brighton Reservation in 1939, and 

therefore was in Tommie’s generation. After two years with the U.S. Army 

in Europe, Smith returned to the reservation and managed a beef cattle 

herd while taking extension courses in agricultural and business manage¬ 

ment. He was the appointed secretary-treasurer of the Seminole Tribe 

from 1968 to 1971. Fred Smith’s agenda for the board of directors generally 

complemented Howard Tommie’s goals for tribal social and economic de¬ 

velopment—the council and board frequently held joint meetings and 

were generally in accord on most issues. The new president was aware of 

the implications of Indian self-determination; as secretary-treasurer in 

November 1970, he had read a letter from the commissioner of Indian Af- 
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fairs to a joint meeting of the council and board. The letter informed 

tribes of Nixon’s policy statement. As a result the council passed a resolu¬ 

tion asking the government to turn over control of land operations, the 

cattle program, education, and employment assistance to the tribe. 

Smith “traveled extensively throughout the United States, meeting with 

other tribal leaders and business consultants, touring their reservations, 

studying their enterprises and programs to enhance his home opera¬ 

tions.”^5 Under Smith’s direction the board moved to upgrade and expand 

tribal business enterprises. It set regulations and restrictions for the 

tribe’s commercial frontage along U.S. 441 and made leases available to 

Indian businesses. The tribe started a catfish farm on the Brighton Reser¬ 

vation, and built a campground and marina tourist complex there with 

Economic Development Act (eda) funding. The board’s eda office also se¬ 

cured funds for community development programs that would build 

swimming pools and gymnasiums. As a cattleman. Smith had definite 

ideas about that enterprise. He convinced the board to assume the cattle 

and range management program from the bia and increase improved-pas¬ 

ture acreage; the cattlemen’s fees were then raised so the program would 

be self-sustaining. In addition, the board set up a pension program for 

tribal employees. Only the Indian Village and Craft Shop, set up by the 

previous administration with bia approval, continued to incur significant 

losses despite numerous infusions of cash. 

The installation of new officers signaled a new parity between the 

council chairman and president of the board. The budgets for the council 

and board in fy 1972 listed salaries for both top officials at $10,660. This 

ended a long period in which the position of tribal chairmanship was an 

unsalaried one. At the installation ceremony the outgoing chair Betty Mae 

Jumper remarked somewhat sardonically, “Four years ago we didn’t have 

any money to work with and had to cash a bond in order to go on. I had to 

work elsewhere to get money on which to live, and still work at chairman 

of the council without pay.’’^® Jumper was employed by the public health 

office; she received only a few dollars of attendance money for council 

meetings. Moreover, the budgeted (but unfunded) salary for the chair¬ 

manship was only $3,600, less than that of the secretary-treasurer or 

clerk, and substantially below the $10,660 approved for the board presi¬ 

dent.^7 This disparity offers a glimpse into the sometimes Byzantine na¬ 

ture of tribal politics. Evidently Jumper inherited the low, often nonexis¬ 

tent salary that had been imposed on the council chair. An undocumented 

but widely circulated story on the reservation held that the bia superin¬ 

tendent and a former board president planned to transfer most of the 
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tribe’s economic assets, and thus its political power, to the board of direc¬ 

tors at the expense of the council and its chair. In the 1960s most of the 

money being spent on the Seminole reservation flowed into the land de¬ 

velopment and cattle enterprises that fell under the board, as did the com¬ 

mercial property leases. A lack of funds to pay the chair’s salary forced 

Betty Mae Jumper’s predecessor to resign the post in 1966 to head the 

Community Action Program. In some circles it is still believed that the old 

guard on the council and board resisted Jumper and limited her effective¬ 

ness; it could not have been lost on the first female chair that the council 

approved a decent salary for her male successor. 

In an interview, Howard Tommie noted that to be effective, an Indian 

leader must command support from the people; he believed he was the 

first Seminole chairman who fully gauged tribal sentiment. Admitting 

that he had no experience in tribal government other than directing nyc, 

he recounted: 

A lot of things made me feel like something needed to be done. I wanted to see 

things improve. I did not have much of an idea whether I could correct these 

things being chairman. We had two forms of government, the board and the 

council. I went ahead and ran for the council, and, luckily, because of the fairly 

decent job I did with the Neighborhood Youth Corps, I won a lot of people on 

my side. Luckily they believed me. I was born and raised here, and everybody 

within the reservation knows me and that recognition had a lot to do with it. 

That is how I got into tribal government. I am not downgrading the people who 

were in there, but I just felt like they did not want to progress. But, in a way, I 

felt it could be done and still be able to keep harmony within the tribe.'* 

The new administration undertook a policy of contracting with the fed¬ 

eral government for services, and tribal members replaced bia functionar¬ 

ies wherever possible. “Of course, we had a Bureau of Indian Affairs. I do 

not want to say anything bad about them, but it is a bureaucracy. For some 

reason or another, they seem to do whatever their guidelines are, which 

are very minimal. They have never lived here, like I do.’’*9 He believed that 

the tribal council could make better use of the money allocated to the 

tribe. “For a guy sitting over there with a GS 15, 20, 30, whatever it is, I 

could hire two people and a secretary with that money.’’^° Initially Tom¬ 

mie’s plans encountered strong opposition from the agency superinten¬ 

dent and his staff. Tommie believed that many of the government em¬ 

ployees “did not really care whether an Indian kid got an education, or 

that an Indian kid got a job, or that the mother and father had a steady job. 

These were eight-to-five people. So we hired people that would stay on 
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the reservation or that were qualified to go out and talk to people about 

what they would like to do.”^^ He was convinced that during the early 

years of tribal government local agency officials had directed revolving 

credit funds to a select group of Seminoles, cattlemen, or owners of heavy 

construction equipment, whose interests were represented by the board 

of directors. When asked if federal employees tried to influence the selec¬ 

tion of tribal officers, he responded, “I felt the biggest influence that they 

had was on the federal purse strings. They would satisfy a certain part of 

the tribal government. I do not know whether there was any particular at¬ 

tempt to select these individuals, but they found that most aggressive In¬ 

dians would see the opportunities there, so they catered to them, I am 

sure. They made a substantial number of loans for the purpose of assisting 

the tribe. But a lot of times it would benefit the present administration’s 

personal pocketbook ... I am pretty sure that goes on in most places.In 

an attempt to correct these abuses by government personnel, Tommie 

voided many contracts and adhered to a “buy Indian” policy wherever 

possible. 

In 1975, Howard Tommie sought reelection to a second term. His oppo¬ 

sition came from Betty Mae Jumper and Fred Osceola, the son of a former 

tribal chairman. Since Osceola belonged to the Panther clan and Tommie 

was a Bird, the election pitted candidates from the two largest lineages 

against each other. More important was which candidate could capture 

the vote of younger tribal members. It again became a campaign in which 

a young candidate (Fred Osceola was in his early 30s) sought to unseat an 

incumbent. Osceola adopted the slogan “motivate, rejuvenate, and edu¬ 

cate” and was given a good chance of winning. 

The older members of the electorate faced a dilemma. “The Seminoles 

used to be ruled by the elders,” explained one tribal member. “You didn’t 

have wisdom until you were 50 or 60. But today most of the leaders don’t 

speak English, so the question is if they can carry on the business of the 

tribe. Many of the old question the young, because the young have capa¬ 

bility, but not the wisdom, to make decisions. What you need is a young 

man with wisdom. 

The Seminole Tribe allowed only a month for campaigning between the 

close of nominations and election day. Most eligible Seminole voters were 

unlikely to be swayed by campaign literature or a media blitz. That placed 

a premium on intense face-to-face campaigning on all three reservations. 

Both Howard Tommie and Betty Mae Jumper were fluent in the Musko¬ 

gee and Miccosukee languages; the latter was spoken by most tribal 

members and by virtually everyone at the Big Cypress Reservation. Fred 
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Osceola, from the Brighton Reservation, spoke only the Muskogee lan¬ 

guage of that community, leaving him at a disadvantage. All three candi¬ 

dates spoke English fluently, but it was important to articulate their posi¬ 

tions in the native tongue; these Seminole politicians needed to reconcile 

the conflicts that separated reservation constituencies, which required an 

ability to employ the nuances of native languages. 

Seminole politicking is low-key. “It’s a guerrilla style of campaigning 

they use,” one observer offered. “It’s done more by backyard talk than big 

campaigning. There are subtle innuendoes by candidates attacking the 

other candidate’s efficiency or integrity. When a candidate is talking to 

the Christian faction, he might say that he doesn’t smoke or drink and 

tries to say that the others do all sorts of things.The favorite campaign 

gathering is a cookout with an entire reservation eating together, hosted 

by a candidate. In his campaign, Osceola butchered and cooked two cows, 

one at Brighton and another at Big Cypress. Howard Tommie and Betty 

Mae Jumper held cookouts at the Holl5rwood Reservation, which they felt 

were crucial to their campaigns. Most of the educated Indians lived there 

and worked for the Seminole tribal government or the bia; they were 

likely to cast ballots for the candidate who could most effectively address 

program and government issues. The rural Brighton and Big Cypress con¬ 

stituencies would probably vote based on more local concerns. 

Fred Osceola campaigned against what he called the “downhill slide” of 

the tribe since his father left office in 1966. He promised to return the 

tribe to the position of prestige he claimed it had enjoyed when his father 

and other elders dominated tribal government. Betty Mae Jumper made 

her appeal to the religious older voters by stating “I believe if you don’t 

put God before you, you’re nothing.”^5 She also understood the necessity 

of making specific campaign promises, pledging to build gymnasiums on 

the two outlying reservations so they would have facilities equal to those 

at Hollywood. Howard Tommie stressed his record, pointing to new facil¬ 

ities for adult education and remedial education, increased social welfare 

assistance, jobs, nutritional programs and social activities for the elderly, 

and the placing of part-time doctors on the reservations, all obtained 

through federal funding. He admitted that more needed to be done and 

promised to work for additional funding for employment and cooperative 

food centers on the reservations. 

Following one of the largest turnouts in Seminole political history, 

Howard Tommie was elected to a second term as chairman of the tribal 

council. One south Florida newspaper credited the genial chairman with 

being the first Seminole leader to challenge the authority of the Bureau of 
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Indian Affairs, noting that he had replaced government bureaucrats in 

health, education, and welfare programs with tribal members. The victo¬ 

rious Tommie was quoted as saying “Using our own people, we’re getting 

into a system where our interests are protected.”^® 

The second term of Tommie’s administration saw initiation of the most 

significant social, economic, and political changes in modern Seminole 

history. The chairman was instrumental in initiating or vigorously pursu¬ 

ing four issues that became crucial in defining the extent of tribal sov¬ 

ereignty. First, he brought closure to the Seminole land claims case by 

urging tribal acceptance of the Indian Claims Commission’s award in 

1976, and then led a struggle with Oklahoma Seminoles over equitable 

distribution of the funds. Congress resolved the issue in 1990, awarding 

the Florida Seminoles some 25 percent of the commission award, and in 

the process implicitly recognizing Seminole tribal sovereignty. Second, he 

became involved in the East Big Cypress case, which set a major precedent 

in eastern Indian water rights. In 1987, Congress affirmed a settlement be¬ 

tween the state of Florida and the Seminole Tribe that included a water 

compact regulating tribal water rights and usage; it also assured tribal 

sovereignty in its own lands. Third, he participated in a controversial as¬ 

sertion of sovereignty by reservation “smoke shops,” which sold ciga¬ 

rettes free of Florida sales taxes. Fourth, he introduced high-stakes, un¬ 

regulated bingo. The last two ventures were undertaken at some cost in 

negative publicity for the tribe and were opposed by Indians adverse to 

smoking and gambling; they also generated legal challenges to the expan¬ 

sion of Seminole sovereignty. 

In April of 1979 a perceptive and somewhat critical article appeared in 

the Miami Herald highlighting many ambiguities of contemporary Semi¬ 

nole life.The Herald noted that the tribal government no longer de¬ 

pended on ventures such as the Arts and Craft Center (closed after five 

straight years of losing money) or the unfavorable land leases with mobile 

home park operators that netted less than five percent of the current fair 

rental value. Instead, the Seminoles had developed a dynamic economy. 

At that time the greatest moneymakers for the tribe were the smoke shops 

that opened in 1976. Taking advantage of a federal court decision exempt¬ 

ing the Colville Tribe of Washington from paying state sales taxes, the 

Seminoles sold their cigarettes for $4.75 per carton—or $2.15 less than lo¬ 

cal merchants charged. In addition to tax-free cigarette sales, the tribe had 

become proficient in securing federal grants, and there were nearly 

eighty-eight contracts bringing money to the reservations. As a result, 

from 1969 to 1977 the tribal income soared from six hundred thousand 
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dollars to 4.5 million dollars per year, underwriting many social and eco¬ 

nomic ventures. The tribe’s first full-time attorney, Stephen J. Whilden, 

was also busily involved in filing lawsuits challenging state and local gov¬ 

ernments that were arbitrarily using Seminole lands. Almost immediately 

the Seminoles were confronted with an assault on their smoke shop oper¬ 

ations. 

In July 1977, Broward County sheriff Edward J. Stack, acting as a private 

citizen and taxpayer but supported by a local cigarette vendor, filed suit to 

require imposition of state taxes on the sale of cigarettes on the Holly¬ 

wood Reservation. Stack claimed that the tribe cost Florida $275,000 per 

month by failing to pay taxes on its cigarette operations. Florida’s Divi¬ 

sion of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco had not attempted to collect the 

taxes because of ambiguities in the law. Untaxed cigarettes had long been 

available on military installations and in veterans hospitals, and Florida 

citizens could order them by mail from North Carolina. Vending Unlimited 

V. State of Florida was transferred from Broward County, home of the Hol¬ 

lywood Reservation, to state capital Tallahassee, in Leon County. In 

March 1978 the Circuit Court of Leon County ruled that sales on Indian 

reservations were not taxable by the state. The plaintiff appealed. The 

First District Court of Appeals of Florida affirmed this ruling on 22 No¬ 

vember 1978.^* The appellate court cited Confederated Tribes of Colville v. 

State of Washington in its decision.^9 Nevertheless, contradictory rulings 

by federal courts in similar cases involving Indian cigarette sales cast 

some doubt on the continuation of tax-free sales to non-Indians. There¬ 

fore the tribe’s attorney adroitly negotiated with state officials, which got 

the Seminoles directly involved in supporting political candidates. In 

1979, following a lobbying effort by the Seminoles and their backers, the 

Florida legislature passed a bill authorizing the tribe to continue its sale of 

tax-free cigarettes on the reservations.3° This act was challenged in subse¬ 

quent legislative sessions, but it has been successfully defended on the 

grounds that smoke shops operated by the Seminole Tribe assure contin¬ 

uing economic independence for the Indian people of the state. 

Still, many within the Indian community complained that money was 

not a cure-all for tribal problems and that not all Seminoles were benefit¬ 

ing equally from the wealth. Critics argued that federal grants only cre¬ 

ated a new form of dependency: whites and blacks, they claimed, received 

the best jobs on the reservation while many Seminoles remained unem¬ 

ployed. One estimate in the 1970s had unemployment at Hollywood hov¬ 

ering around 35 percent with even higher rates on the rural reservations. 

More than half of the residents at Hollywood received some kind of 
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government aid, while 75 percent of the employed Indians worked either 

for the tribe or the Bureau of Indian 7\ffairs. Moreover, many newly afflu¬ 

ent tribal members often lived side by side with those on welfare, thereby 

exacerbating the growing economic disparities. 

Discontent became more pronounced as the tribe prepared for an elec¬ 

tion in May of 1979. Tommie found himself at the center of controversy 

when it was discovered that he drew a large salary. During his eight years 

in office, his salary grew from less than ten thousand dollars to thirty-five 

thousand dollars, all paid from federal funds on the premise that Tommie 

functioned as primary administrator of the various government con¬ 

tracts. The tribal council had encouraged this course of action due to a fi¬ 

nancial reversal of fortune. In 1973 the Seminoles’ income was projected 

to exceed five hundred thousand dollars with over four-fifths of that sum 

derived from commercial property leases at Hollywood. Consequently the 

council approved thirteen-thousand-dollar salaries for the chairman and 

president while tribal employees received 11 percent raises the following 

year. But funds became tight in 1975 as a result of three lease cancellations, 

which forced the council to suspend its annual cash dividends.31 Tommie 

suggested that until the situation improved, his salary could be taken 

from various programs under Human Resources Division. A council reso¬ 

lution not only endorsed this approach but encouraged the chairman to 

increase his salary to twenty thousand dollars from such sources.Rather 

than being defensive, Tommie expressed pride in having been able to se¬ 

cure so much of the federal largess. “You can’t knock it,” he said. “It was 

there: hot meals for the elderly, an ambulance for the Big Cypress Reser¬ 

vation, two pairs of shoes for a kid—that’s shoes the Indian would have 

never had otherwise.”33 

In essence, what Tommie had done was to finesse control of federal 

programs away from the board and place them directly under the council 

where funds became available for his salary and other purposes. The 

move allowed the council to have control over more lucrative bingo and 

smoke shop operations. Some tribal members and bia bureaucrats pro¬ 

tested that such a transfer of power violated the intent of the Seminole 

constitution, which set up a separate body to run business affairs, but 

there was never an official challenge to Tommie’s actions. 

Despite improvements in tribal welfare, Tommie’s detractors pointed 

out that non-Indians held many of the jobs in the smoke shops and in his 

office at tribal headquarters. The chairman defended his non-Indian sec¬ 

retary on the grounds that he had worked with Seminoles in that position, 

but they did not have the requisite skills; he also complained that many 
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Seminoles believed they were entitled to a job regardless of whether they 

were competent or not. One of his opponents conjectured that the chair¬ 

man did not want an Indian secretary because in such a tight-knit com¬ 

munity there would be no confidentiality. 

The CETA programs Tommie supervised were particularly criticized for 

not preparing Indians for advancement in the job market, especially the 

nonreservation one. James Billie, a young Vietnam veteran, a tribal coun¬ 

cil member, and a candidate for the chairmanship in the coming election 

was quoted as saying that government training programs “sure don’t help 

any. They seem designed to keep you on the reservation, and that’s all. ”34 

Some Indians were also concerned that Tommie had become too auto¬ 

cratic, pointing to a council resolution that granted him final authority to 

fire tribal employees.35 

The Miami Herald singled out Howard Tommie, Bill Osceola (who had 

replaced Fred Smith as president of the board of directors in the 1975 elec¬ 

tion), and entrepreneur Marcellus Osceola for their possession of new au¬ 

tomobiles, airboats, swamp buggies, and other signs of affluence that set 

them apart from the rank and file; they were the most obvious benefici¬ 

aries of the new smoke shop prosperity. Again, Tommie remained ada¬ 

mantly unapologetic. He explained that the sale of cigarettes on the reser¬ 

vation was his idea and that he was responsible for introducing Marcellus 

Osceola to wealthy financial backers. The partners were to pay 4 percent 

of income to the tribe as sales tax, and 15 percent as rent. The tribe 

granted Osceola and his backers an exclusive smoke shop franchise for 

five years; in return Osceola and his backers would assume all costs of lit¬ 

igation connected with the enterprise. Tommie later informed the council 

that the agreement with Marcellus Osceola was not intended to be for an 

exclusive franchise. Osceola was supposed to sell cigarettes wholesale to 

other tribal members; however, when the tribal council granted fran¬ 

chises to other Seminoles, Osceola (unsuccessfully) challenged the deci¬ 

sion in court. The new smoke shops on the reservations, owned 51 percent 

by Seminoles and 49 percent by white partners, contributed approxi¬ 

mately $1.6 million to the Seminole Tribe’s budget by 1980. 

Buoyed by judicial and legislative victories vindicating the smoke 

shops, Seminoles now entered an even more lucrative and controversial 

venture: unregulated, high-stakes bingo games. In the fall of 1978 the 

tribal council received an economic development proposal from a group 

known as the Seminole Management Association. Tommie, owning 50 

percent of the stock in the company, had majority ownership. The com¬ 

pany encumbered nineteen acres along U.S. 441—the most valuable va- 
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cant land remaining on the Hollywood Reservation. The investors 

planned to spend $2.5 million developing the Seminole Indian Plaza, 

which would include a smoke shop, a strip mall, and a bingo hall that 

could seat over fifteen hundred patrons. The tribe was to receive its usual 

percentage from the smoke shop, all the rent income from the shopping 

center, and 20 percent of the bingo-hall profits. Tommie promised to 

present a complete financial proposal showing how the non-Indian in¬ 

vestors who put up the capital would be repaid. The tribal council report¬ 

edly discussed this proposal with Tommie absent from the room, then 

voted 4-0 for acceptance. Thus the tribe’s elected leader became its lead¬ 

ing entrepreneur. 

The ease with which the proposal passed led many tribal members to 

accuse the council of favoritism. Some felt the council members had been 

bought off with offers of jobs or even a piece of the action. Joe Dan Osce¬ 

ola, a former board president who had announced his candidacy for the 

chairmanship, conjectured that “It could have been everyone scratching 

everyone else’s back.”^® Furthermore he questioned whether Tommie was 

really the majority owner or just a front man for non-Indians who put up 

the money. 

These accusations infuriated Tommie, who countered “I really don’t 

think I’ve taken the tribe for anything. Why should I be treated differently 

than anyone else who wants to go into business? It doesn’t seem fair that 

I should be excluded just because I’m chairman.’’37 He explained how he 

arranged to get the $2.5 million from backers Eugene Weisman and 

George Simon. However, some tribal members and public officials ques¬ 

tioned whether Tommie’s associates represented organized crime. Simon 

had an office at the Flagler Dog Track in Miami and identified himself as 

a “financial consultant” to the track, not a full-time officer. Weisman and 

Simon produced a long list of “investors” whose stake totaled $2.5 mil¬ 

lion; no connection to organized crime was proven.3* Still, by the early 

summer of 1979 no contracts had been signed. 

More fuel was added to the fire that year when MarceUus Osceola sold 

his smoke shop interests to Howard Tommie for a rumored four hundred 

thousand dollars plus another one hundred thousand for inventory. The 

council obligingly canceled Osceola’s lease on a three-acre site and trans¬ 

ferred it to Howard Tommie.39 At the same time, the council passed a res¬ 

olution declaring a five-year moratorium on establishing new smoke 

shops at Hollywood, citing the danger of saturating the market and 

thereby reducing tribal income from sales.40 Still another resolution made 

“price wars” illegal and set a minimum sale price of $4.75 per carton.41 Al- 
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though Tommie was nominal majority owner, critics again claimed that 

outside money really controlled the business. Some suggested that the 

plan all along had been for Osceola to sell his holdings to Tommie, but the 

chairman vigorously denied any collusion. “I honestly could say that 

people could understand it that way,” he admitted. “[W]e didn’t want to 

move in that particular way. . . . Never had an agreement per se between 

me and Marcellus, and there were differences of opinion.” These differ¬ 

ences of opinion led to lawsuits. “In a humorous way, we asked him to sell 

out. Because we didn’t want any competition. In a joking way. But he 

changed his mind and arrived at a figure. ”4^ As part of the deal, Osceola 

reportedly retained a share of the profits from the first shop and subse¬ 

quently leased another smoke shop, although at a less accessible location. 

It was a joke on the reservation that Howard Tommie, like Marlon 

Brando’s movie character in The Godfather, had made Marcellus “an offer 

that he couldn’t refuse.” 

Tommie’s proposal for tax-free liquor sales on the reservations became 

another volatile issue. A joint meeting of the council and board decided 

that the issue should be brought before the people at community meet¬ 

ings.4? Predictably it drew a storm of protests from religious conservatives 

in the Seminole community—especially Southern Baptists. Following a 

raucous meeting held in the Hollywood Reservation gymnasium, the 

tribal council voted 5-0 against the proposal. Even Howard Tommie could 

not win a confrontation with the anti-liquor sentiment prevailing among 

older Seminoles. When asked about this issue, he explained, “It came 

about during my administration many, many times. The people, of course, 

were highly Baptist. They told me that they did not want it. I really got 

into hot water with them one time, because I did authorize the sale of beer 

at one of our tribal fairs one time. They worked me over pretty well in 

tribal council... so after they shot it down in the community meeting, I 

just said ‘Okay. Now I know that you really do not want it.’”44 Some tribal 

members supported liquor sales because the money earned could provide 

emergency services—primarily ambulances—for the rural reservations. 

Tommie gave it a try even though he expected the old-timers to refuse the 

services believing they could take care of themselves. Also, he understood 

that the Baptists were set against liquor because they had seen the prob¬ 

lems it could bring. 

Even though he ultimately backed away from supporting liquor sales, 

Tommie remained convinced that his vision of the tribe’s future had as 

much validity as that of religious conservatives who thought things were 

changing too fast. He told them, “The thing that you have to understand— 
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I cannot impress this upon you too much—is that I am an Indian, too. I 

live here. I have just as much right to say something, whether I am a tribal 

chairman or not a tribal chairman. I see things that are happening. There 

is only one way that something is going to get done, and that is if we do it 

... if another Indian steps up to me and asks me why are you doing this, I 

am going to tell him I am just as much an Indian as he is. Just because you 

go to church and you have your values does not mean that I would not like 

to have these benefits at my disposal. ”45 

The national debate over appropriate forms of Indian enterprise ratch¬ 

eted up sharply during the late 1970s as more tribes sought additional 

sources of revenue such as tax-free cigarettes and gambling. State and lo¬ 

cal governments became intently opposed to what they perceived as un¬ 

warranted and illegal activities on Indian reservations. As a result the 

1980s witnessed numerous legislative and legal challenges to Indian sov¬ 

ereignty. Howard Tommie, having introduced tax-free cigarette sales and 

bingo to the Seminoles, decided to become a full-time businessman and 

did not seek a third term as chairman. He withdrew as head of the bingo 

consortium (but remained a partner) and devoted his time to Howard E. 

Tommie Enterprises, which included a substantial smoke shop in a prime 

location on the Hollywood Reservation. It fell to the administration of his 

successor, James Billie, to deal with the legal assault on Seminole bingo. 

In 1979 the Seminole Tribe contracted with the Seminole Management 

Association to run the bingo emporium in return for 45 percent of the 

profits.46 By running the games daily, offering large jackpots, and bussing 

in bingo players, the tribe expected to realize about $1.5 million the first 

year, or approximately what the smoke shops generated.47 However, a 

new Broward County sheriff, Robert Butterworth, threatened to intervene 

and close down the bingo hall before it opened. According to Butter- 

worth, the tribe violated the Florida statute that regulated bingo opera¬ 

tions. The statute restricted the operation of bingo games to qualified 

(that is, charitable or nonprofit) organizations. Operators could hold 

games only two days per week, with jackpots limited to one per session 

with a top value of $250. Operators of “qualified” games formed a strong 

anti-Seminole bingo lobby, claiming that the tribe operated illegally and 

would cut into their business. Law enforcement officials were also con¬ 

cerned about possible underground groups involved in Indian bingo. 

In Seminole Tribe of Florida v. Butterworth the tribe’s attorneys asked the 

federal district court to permanently enjoin Sheriff Butterworth from en¬ 

forcing Florida’s bingo statute on the reservation. The court issued a pre¬ 

liminary injunction in December 1979 that permitted the bingo hall to 
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open. Florida assumed criminal and civil jurisdiction over Indian tribes in 

1961 under the provisions of Public Law 280; however, the Supreme Court 

held that the act did not confer general state civil regulatory control over 

Indian reservations. For the state to have enforcement power over bingo 

on the reservations it must rely on the grant of criminal jurisdiction con¬ 

tained in Public Law 280. The case then turned on whether the state’s 

bingo statute was civil/regulatory or criminal/prohibitory in nature.4* On 

6 May 1980, the United States District Court for the Southern District of 

Florida declared the statute to be civil/regulatory and held that Congress 

never authorized Florida'to impose its civil regulatory power on Indian 

lands. The court granted injunctive relief: “[I]n view of the congressional 

policy enunciated in Public Law 280, the court must resolve a close ques¬ 

tion in favor of Indian sovereignty. ”49 On 5 October 1981, the United 

States Fifth District Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court decision, 

thus paving the way for expansion of Seminole bingo.5° The Seminoles ex¬ 

perimented with bingo at both Brighton and Big Cypress with mixed re¬ 

sults, then opened a major bingo hall on its newly acquired small reserva¬ 

tion in Tampa, Florida. By 1985 tribal income from all sources would 

exceed $10 million per year, the bulk of it coming from bingo and ciga¬ 

rette sales.51 

In reviewing his administration almost a decade after leaving office, 

Howard Tommie spoke of the difficulty of developing progressive policies 

and programs to benefit the tribe while at the same time preserving and 

honoring the traditional values of his people. It has been observed that 

“progressive” and “traditional” are often convenient labels used by out¬ 

siders to describe complex dynamic social and political relationships 

within Indian communities.^^ Certainly Seminoles on the three reserva¬ 

tions did not display a uniform degree of conservatism and resistance to 

change despite their religious orientation; they exhibited a wide range of 

acculturation and there were multiple factors at play that led to political 

factionalism. Even so, the tribal government encountered a resistance to 

many of its programs. When asked how he responded to this opposition, 

the former chairman replied, “I am in the age group that I am the progres¬ 

sive. So you have to walk a fine line for political reasons. In other words, 

elections are going to come, and you do not want to offend too many 

people. You had to walk a fine line.”55 

Another impediment to Seminole progress stemmed from the fact that 

many Indian people retained primary loyalty to their reservation commu¬ 

nity; they did not consider themselves members of a political entity 

known as the Seminole Tribe of Florida, and that perception colored the 
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actions of their representatives on the council and board. Such parochial¬ 

ism was never fully overcome during Tommie’s administration despite 

his efforts at unification. “I think we recognized that there were some 

benefits by working together. But I think that you also have to understand 

that there were two different cultures, even languages. I would not say 

that I was successful in it. ”54 The tribal council had some success in bring¬ 

ing children from the reservations together for workshops, summer pro¬ 

grams, and intertribal athletic competitions, but basically the groups re¬ 

mained divided. Reflecting on this division, Howard conceded, “I do not 

think that they want [anyone] to bring them together. The main reason is 

that we were told so often that we are our own people and cannot be told 

[what to do], not by the tribe, but by the Bureau.”55 

The inability to resolve these differences also accounted for what Tom¬ 

mie considered one of his greatest failures as a tribal leader. He strongly 

favored having the tribe contract to operate the Ahfachkee Day School at 

the Big Cypress Reservation, which the bia had run since the 1940s. The 

school had a record of poor attendance, marginal teachers, and below 

standard academic performance; moreover, most Indian parents on the 

reservation were apathetic toward education. A few adults who were in¬ 

terested in their children’s schooling agreed that the tribal council should 

take charge of the facility; certainly it could do no worse. However, the 

tribal council expressed great reluctance to assume responsibility. Council 

representatives from other reservations argued that should the bia con¬ 

tract fail to cover all expenses, tribal funds would be siphoned away from 

other projects to meet costs. There were also questions concerning who 

would direct the school, hire teachers, set curriculum, and so on, as well 

as an unwillingness to leave affairs in the hands of the Big Cypress com¬ 

munity. BIA education officials in Washington also raised questions about 

the tribe’s ability to run a school. In the face of such resistance even the 

chairman, who had a reputation for getting his way, could not force the 

council to agree on contracting. His critics concur that Tommie was re¬ 

miss in not aggressively pushing contracting as his successor did, and 

point to the achievement of tribal children since the tribe began running 

the school in 1982. 

The most sensitive issue during Howard Tommie’s administration con¬ 

cerned the profits that he and his associates apparently reaped from the 

smoke shops and bingo. Tommie earlier alluded to the bia rewarding a 

few aggressive Seminole leaders prior to his tenure. Now media reports— 

some might call them exposes—such as the Miami Herald piece were es¬ 

sentially accusing Tommie of similar actions, noting that he was one of a 
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small group within the tribe profiting from the business ventures. When 

asked directly; “How much did the entire tribe benefit economically un¬ 

der your administration from these new ventures?” Tommie’s response 

evolved into a lengthy justification of the benefits that his administration 

produced for the tribe, and if in the process a few individuals had become 

wealthy, well that was the natural outcome of the entrepreneurial, capital¬ 

ist system. On the whole he believed that while a few individuals were 

disproportionately enriched, the entire tribe had gained more. He re¬ 

sponded further; 

That is a very broad question because anytime that you have to do something it 

involves economics. In other words, the whole budget would have been 

$150,000 or $200,000 when we first started. That kind of puts you in a di¬ 

lemma. As far as monetary value, I would like to think that what I did benefited 

everybody. Every member of the tribe gets $300 every six months. That is 

money that they could stick in their pockets. We were used to having volunteer 

lawyers come out and take care of some of the little business that we had, like 

land leases or maybe a Chickee that needed to be built on the area. During that 

time we did not have a legal department. Now the Indians can come over here, 

because we have a full legal department. ... I would say maybe there are a few 

of them that are in the cigarette business, but the tribe taxes, and they use that 

money. From what I understand, Disney World does not pay any taxes . . . but 

the taxes they collect benefits everybody. What I am saying to you right now is 

that there are people going around saying it benefits only a certain amount of 

people. Sure, it is like that all over the world. You can say that. It does not offend 

me. The paper can say that. As far as aggressiveness is concerned, we intro¬ 

duced something that the whole tribe can benefit from. There were some ag¬ 

gressive people in the tribe, and aggressive people were only looking after 

themselves. I can sit here and say this because I can defend myself. When 

money came to the tribal council [in the past], somehow it would benefit the 

cattle people; it benefited only the cattle people and their families. Here we are 

benefiting the whole tribe.5® 

Howard Tommie’s candid account of his administration provides in¬ 

sights into the motivations, conflicts, and concerns driving many Ameri¬ 

can Indian tribal leaders during the self-determination era. From it comes 

a greater appreciation for the broad range of social, political, and techni¬ 

cal issues that tribal leaders are required to deal with in the modern con¬ 

text. Yet there exists a cultural continuity that links modern tribal leaders 

to their progenitors; respect and support for both rested on the exercise of 

wisdom coupled with cultural empathy. 

The memoir also illustrates how easily leaders—Indian or non-Indian— 
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can blur the line that divides personal and public interests. Ironically the 

very enterprises that generated great wealth for the Seminole Tribe also 

encouraged entrepreneurial skills that produced private gain. While such 

activities were not illegal, in the early stages they benefited relatively few 

Seminoles directly and created social and political cleavages within the 

Seminole community. 

Howard Tommie’s chairmanship enjoyed considerable success. He ex¬ 

ploited every facet of the Indian self-determination movement and deliv¬ 

ered the Seminoles to the brink of economic and political independence 

while markedly increasing their sovereignty. Yet his aggressive style and 

personal entrepreneurship engendered some significant criticism. Like 

other Indian leaders in the past, Tommie may have championed changes 

that moved too quickly for some of his more conservative kinsmen. Yet 

history generally has been kind to Native American leaders who have 

acted forcibly for their people. Tommie’s place in history may be en¬ 

hanced when Seminoles in the future evaluate his career in a broader his¬ 

torical perspective. 
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Phillip Martin 

Mississippi Cfioctaw 

BY BENTON R. WHITE AND CHRISTINE SCHULTZ WHITE 

In Mississippi the long hot summer lays across the land like a huge blan¬ 

ket, drenching the piney woods with humidity and pouring forth heat like 

an oven full of corn bread. These are sleepy days, for the sweltering tem¬ 

peratures and sultry, dog-day afternoons stifle activity, encouraging a lan¬ 

guor that pervades the countryside. In October the first winds of autumn 

sweep in from the northwest. The sky turns a brighter shade of blue and 

the lethargy of the past months fades into the pastures and timberlands. 

For the Choctaws, who have occupied the Mississippi piney woods for 

centuries, autumn has always been the time of harvest. They traditionally 

have welcomed the crisp air of autumn as a harbinger of prosperity, a 

friendly spirit who promises abundance. 

Following an extended period of lassitude, the winds of change have 

blown through the Choctaw Nation. After almost two hundred years of 

poverty and dependency, the Choctaws have reemerged as a people in 

control of their own destiny. At the heart of this transformation is Phillip 

Martin.* 

The Mississippi Band of Choctaws shares a common heritage of grit 

and determination. Throughout history they were mostly an agricultural 

people raising corn, beans, pumpkins, and squash on small plots, sharing 

their harvest with kinsmen and trading unused surplus to neighbors. Like 

the Cherokees, they exhibited a talent for adjusting to the pressure of ad¬ 

vancing white settlement, adopting many of the ways and consumer 

goods of the Europeans. But the Euro-American frontier came too swiftly, 

and by 1830 the Choctaws were forced to cede nearly all of their territory 

in Mississippi to the United States in exchange for lands farther west in 

Indian Territory. Most of the tribe removed to Oklahoma, but against all 

odds other Choctaws held on to remote plots of oak and pine forest in 

eastern Mississippi. Those few, along with kinsmen who eventually 
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drifted back from the west, ultimately became the Mississippi Band of 

Choctaws.^ 

Times were hard. By the early 1900s the Mississippi Choctaws were a 

people struggling to survive. Most had lost their few remaining patches of 

land—through fraud or extortion—and had been reduced to a peasantry, 

existing as sharecroppers or menial laborers. In 1918 the federal govern¬ 

ment purchased twenty-four thousand acres of land from the private sec¬ 

tor and established a new reservation near Philadelphia, Mississippi, but 

the Choctaws remained impoverished. Desperately clinging to their her¬ 

itage, they were determined to retain their separate identity. By 1920 they 

counted barely one thousand members. When state authorities informed 

them that the only public schools available to Indian children would also 

be attended by African Americans, they chose to keep their children 

home. As a consequence, most remained illiterate. Indeed during the 

1920s nearly 90 percent of the Mississippi Choctaws were full-bloods and 

most spoke no English.3 

In the decades that followed there was little change and less progress. 

As recently as 1962, inhabitants of the Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indi¬ 

ans Reservation easily qualified as some of the most impoverished people 

in the United States. Even in a state that consistently ranked near the bot¬ 

tom on almost every socioeconomic scale, they often were the poorest of 

the poor. Unemployment rates on the reservation regularly exceeded 80 

percent. Per capita income was less than one-seventh the national aver¬ 

age; those on welfare included members from almost every household. 

Other data bore testament to rampant alcoholism, dysfunctional families, 

and criminal neglect, as well as nearly epidemic levels of tuberculosis, 

hookworm, and several other maladies. Small wonder that infant mortal¬ 

ity rates were far above the national average, and life expectancy well be¬ 

low. In short, the Mississippi Choctaws had a standard of living more in 

common with the populations of third world countries in Latin America 

or western Africa than with most of the rest of the United States.4 

Phillip Martin has done much to improve these conditions. Born on 13 

March 1926, Martin grew up in a community where family members 

worked hard but had little disposable income; lived in wooden shanties; 

and became ill, aged, and died before their time. No electricity, no plumb¬ 

ing, no doctors: all this was a part of his early years on the reservation. But 

the poverty that seemed to consume and overwhelm so many of his kins¬ 

men inspired Martin to overcome and succeed. At a time when almost no 

one on the reservation received more than a rudimentary education, Mar¬ 

tin graduated from high school. Taking advantage of the Bureau of Indian 
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Affairs (bia) boarding school in Cherokee, North Carolina, he left Missis- 

sippi to earn his diploma. Following graduation, Martin pursued still an¬ 

other opportunity: he enlisted in the United States Air Force.5 

In the Air Force, Martin found himself assigned to the European theater 

at the close of World War II. Serving in France and Germany, he encoun¬ 

tered conditions that would leave a lasting impression. Wholesale desola¬ 

tion, misery, and ruin were everywhere—conditions worse than any he 

had ever seen. But along with the wreckage he found something else: a 

people, though hungry and desperate, who had not been broken. They re¬ 

fused to behave or think of themselves as defeated. Furthermore, they 

possessed an unshakable faith that they would rebuild and flourish. In the 

years that followed, Martin, like everyone else, witnessed what happened 

next in Western Europe: the Marshall Plan and the economic miracle of 

reconstruction and development. The experience had an effect on Martin. 

If rebuilding could happen in France and Germany, then why not in Ne¬ 

shoba County, Mississippi? If seed money could jump-start an economy 

in Frankfurt, then why not on an Indian reservation? If the survivors of 

World War II could draw strength from adversity and from their own cul¬ 

tural traditions, then why not the Choctaws?® 

For the next ten years Martin remained in the military, traveling 

throughout the world, working his way up to the rank of sergeant. But he 

could never forget what he had seen in Europe. Neither could he forget his 

home or his people. In 1955, following his military career, he returned to 

Neshoba County. 

Once in Mississippi, Martin encountered the same bleak conditions he 

had known as a youngster. There was no work and little prospect for 

change. In no small way this was a consequence of an arcane and often 

contradictory code of racial etiquette unique to Neshoba County and the 

surrounding area. For over a century, a tripartite system of race relations 

had evolved, placing the white man at the top, blacks at the bottom, and 

Indians wherever the dominant caste felt like placing them. Choctaws 

were not forced to be as deferential to the whites as were African Ameri¬ 

cans, but Indians, like blacks, had been told they would never attend the 

same public schools as white people, nor eat in the same public places, 

nor be buried in the same cemeteries, nor share in a thousand other com¬ 

mon life experiences. Choctaws like Phillip Martin could join the military. 

In fact, there was a proud tradition of Choctaw military service dating 

back to the Civil War, when more than one unit was eagerly accepted into 

the ranks of the Confederate army. But once home in Neshoba County, no 

Choctaw veteran need seriously consider an active role in the life of the 
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larger community he was expected to defend. Unable to find work on the 

reservation or in the nearby county seat of Philadelphia, Mississippi, 

Martin moved thirty miles away to Meridian.^ 

Working days as a clerk at the Meridian Air Naval Station, Martin spent 

his nights attending a local community college, graduating with an associ¬ 

ate of arts degree in 1957. He also became interested in tribal politics. He 

returned to the reservation and in 1959 was elected chairman of the tribal 

council. It was a whole new career with a “salary” of $2.50 per hour.* 

In the past the tribal council’s role had been simply to rubber-stamp bia 

decisions. So disdainful was the bia of the Choctaw tribal government 

that council meetings were relegated to the kitchen area of the agency. In 

fact, no council members went to Washington for any purpose without 

the permission of local bia authorities and a bia escort. After Martin’s 

election, things changed. Martin studied voluminous records on relations 

between Indian tribes and the federal government, then led a delegation 

to Washington dc to press for a better response to Choctaw needs. From 

that time forward, Martin became a familiar figure in Washington, in par¬ 

ticular at the Interior Department and in the halls of Congress. Here he 

buttonholed agency heads and representatives, pleading for money to 

replace obsolescent schools and decrepit homes, and to pave the res¬ 

ervation’s red-dirt roads. The same determination that had helped him 

achieve an education and a military career drove him once more.^ 

Martin’s first significant experience managing money for the tribe 

came with the War on Poverty in the 1960s. The Choctaws obtained one 

of the first Community Action Program grants in Mississippi—a total of 

fifteen thousand dollars. That money would propel many economic 

changes. With these funds Martin devised a fiscal system of accountabil¬ 

ity and control designed to attract other and larger federal grants. Then 

came another grant that enabled him to hire accountants, bookkeepers, 

personnel managers, and planners. In certain respects, Martin had begun 

to move toward an economic plan of action similar to that of nations like 

Singapore and Taiwan. At a time when most developing countries em¬ 

braced socialism as the wave of the future, Martin shrewdly concluded 

that corporate investment could best serve as the driving force for eco¬ 

nomic development, and that government grants used to attract private 

investment were seed money, not an end in themselves. The goal was to 

find a source of income that would lead to prosperity and independence. 

Martin understood that corporations wanted cheap labor, low taxes, and 

an honest, consistent, and stable government policy. Moreover, he was 
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convinced that the tribe was uniquely positioned to join the international 

competition for low-wage labor in the manufacturing sector. 

From the beginning, Martin recognized the advantage the Choctaws 

could wield in the competition for business and jobs. The Mississippi 

Choctaw Reservation, like other Indian reservations, was effectively an 

enterprise zone. Since tribes were considered government units, Choctaw 

Reservation employees, businesses, and transactions were exempt from 

state and local taxes as well as regulations. Though subject to federal law, 

enterprises owned by the tribe on the reservation were exempt from fed¬ 

eral taxes and from many federal regulations. Thus a business could be set 

up on Choctaw lands without the burden of zoning permits, licenses, con¬ 

struction permits, and so on—all of which were a woeful part of doing 

business almost anywhere else in the United States. Since they controlled 

their own civil courts, the Choctaws could also exempt businesses on the 

reservation from the tort madness that was beginning to plague the rest of 

the country. In effect, the Choctaws could offer an entrepreneurial eco¬ 

nomic environment. “We know who our competitors are,” Martin as¬ 

serted: places with names such as “Tapei, Seoul, Singapore, and Ciudad 

Jurez.”“ With this in mind, the Choctaws obtained a hundred and fifty 

thousand dollars from the Federal Economic Development Administra¬ 

tion in 1973 to establish an industrial park on a twenty-acre plot. “It will 

attract somebody,” Martin predicted. But this time he was wrong: the site 

stood vacant for five years. Businesses would not risk a venture in the un¬ 

tested waters of Choctaw country.*^ 

With characteristic tenacity, Martin began writing letters to over a hun¬ 

dred and fifty manufacturers throughout the United States promoting the 

Mississippi Choctaw Industrial Park as an ideal plant site. At last one of 

them, Packard Electric, a division of General Motors, offered to train 

Choctaws to assemble wired parts for motor vehicles. Packard offered to 

sell materials to Chahta Enterprises, the name of a new tribal company, 

then buy back the parts once assembled. On the basis of Packard’s com¬ 

mitment, the tribe obtained another $346,000 grant from the federal 

government, then used a bia loan guarantee to obtain $1 million more 

from a local bank to construct a 42,000-square-foot plant. For a moment, 

it seemed to Martin and other tribal officials as if the future of the Missis¬ 

sippi Choctaws had been secured. But they were wrong. Within a year 

Chahta Enterprises faced a debt of $1 million and was teetering on the 

brink of bankruptcy. ^5 

Basically production lagged because of problems that had undermined 
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tribal enterprises in so many other areas. For many Choctaws, the routine 

and discipline associated with regular employment were alien concepts. 

Employees would abruptly leave work for a family function and not re¬ 

turn for a week. Some spoke no English. Others suffered from alcoholism. 

Many were single mothers with small children and no reliable transporta¬ 

tion. To salvage Chahta Enterprises, if not the economic future of the res¬ 

ervation, Martin turned to Lester Dalme, a professional manager from 

outside the reservation. 

A General Motors supervisor from rural Louisiana, Lester Dalme pos¬ 

sessed an almost evangelical attitude toward labor and employment. 

Every man and woman, he believed, had an obligation to serve God 

through work. As soon as Dalme arrived at Chahta Enterprises, he called a 

general meeting to examine the demoralized work force; it was not a 

pretty sight. The Choctaws had no idea of how to run a business, he re¬ 

called later. Few of them had ever worked in a factory; they generally were 

unfamiliar with concepts such as quality control or on-time delivery. Pro¬ 

duction of materials in an efficient, profit-oriented manner was alien to 

them, and most Choctaws had no knowledge of profit and loss state¬ 

ments. To help reverse these conditions Martin promised Dalme full con¬ 

trol over the plant, freedom from politics, no pressure to hire relatives of 

Choctaws or to retain any unfit employee—in other words, virtual auton¬ 

omy as chief executive officer at Chahta Enterprises.^4 

Dalme moved quickly to change the workplace. Wherever possible he 

cut back on waste, abolished managerial perks, and put supervisors to 

work on the assembly line. Next, he established day care for workers with 

small children and purchased a pair of old diesel buses to pick up those 

workers without cars. He implemented a zero-tolerance policy for alcohol 

and hangovers in the plant. Most important, he formalized the work rou¬ 

tine: anyone late or absent from work two times in the first ninety days re¬ 

ceived a warning; three infractions resulted in probation; four absences or 

late arrivals meant extended probation; and five in ninety days triggered 

immediate dismissal. Thirty days after Dalme implemented these reforms 

Chahta turned its first profit. Something else changed too. People who 

had been totally destitute began to show up for work in new shoes, in 

clothes without holes, and eventually in cars. After six or seven months 

the Mississippi Choctaw Reservation had a core workforce of able and in¬ 

creasingly self-confident workers. 

From fifty-seven employees in 1979, Chahta Enterprises grew to over 

nine hundred by the mid-1990s. In large measure this growth can be ex- 
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plained by a reputation for high caliber work that has become virtually 

synonymous with the company. For example, the national rejection rate 

for all United States factories assembling harness wire systems like those 

of Chahta Enterprises was three per one thousand. In Japan, the rate was 

2.5 per thousand. On the Choctaw Reservation the rate was .08 for every 
thousand. 15 

Moreover, once the tribe established a track record for productivity, 

profit, and timely delivery, financing for other assembly plants and enter¬ 

prises followed. Another sixty-thousand-square-foot plant was erected, 

which produced audio speakers for Ford Motor Company, the Chrysler 

Corporation, and McDonnell-Douglas. Then a plant that assembled cir¬ 

cuit boards and other electronic units for at&t. Xerox, Westinghouse, Na¬ 

vistar, Harley-Davidson, and the Boeing Corporation was built. Still 

another plant went up, this one financed by state revenue bonds—an idea 

of Martin’s—to assemble and hand-finish greeting cards for American 

Greetings Corporation. As a result, today the Choctaws own and operate 

the largest-volume printing plant for direct mail advertising east of the 

Mississippi, turning out eighty-three million hand-finished cards an- 

nuaUy.i^ 

Currently the Choctaws also own and manage a construction company; 

produce nearly one million pieces of plastic cutlery daily for McDonald’s; 

and own and operate a modern shopping center and a health center that 

includes one of the finest hospitals in Mississippi. They also manage a 

multimillion dollar resort hotel and casino that includes an eighteen-hole 

golf course and recreation complex. Altogether, the Mississippi Choctaws 

operate twelve major businesses with annual gross receipts and revenues 

in excess of three hundred million dollars. They are by far the largest em¬ 

ployer in Neshoba County and among the ten largest in the state. They 

have emerged as an economic powerhouse; a diversified industrial empire 

that is the chief source of jobs and income for the entire region. 

At first glance the assembly plants owned by Choctaw Manufacturing 

Enterprises (formerly Chahta Enterprises) are typical of any modern facil¬ 

ity: buildings set amid pastures and pinewoods—all spacious and well- 

ventilated against the withering summer heat. Inside, workers perch at 

long.tables weaving wires onto color-coded boards. It is tedious work; as 

many as three hundred wires may go into some of the harnesses that must 

in turn be attached to dozens of terminals. The wires are made to join and 

bifurcate, then recombine and intertwine over and over in runic combina¬ 

tions. As they work, the long rows of mostly women listen to the beat of 
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piped-in radio and swap gossip or news. Across the floor at similar tables, 

others assemble telephones, put together circuit boards for computers 

and audio speakers, or make parts for Xerox photocopiers. 

In another sense, however, the factory floor is remarkable and even rev¬ 

olutionary. The faces bent over the wires, phones, and speakers record a 

transformation that few could have envisioned in Mississippi forty years 

before. The employees are mostly Choctaws, but among them are also 

whites and African Americans, scores of them, all working side by side in 

what was once the poorest backwater of a state that ranked second to 

none in its determination to keep races and cultures apart. 

It is here perhaps—on the issue of race relations and the larger com¬ 

munity—that Phillip Martin’s political instincts have paid the greatest 

dividends. By the 1960s Martin had the novel thought—novel in some 

corners at least—that high profile political agitation for equal opportunity 

might be pointless or even self-defeating for the Choctaws. Surrounded 

and hopelessly outnumbered by a non-Indian population, he felt that the 

Choctaws could not bring to bear enough political clout for substantive 

change. Because of his influence, the reservation remained largely de¬ 

tached and even aloof from the civil rights movement that swept Missis¬ 

sippi during those years. Martin took more than a little criticism for this 

position but he remained focused on economic development. Mississippi- 

ans had a common problem, Martin noted; the lack of jobs and oppor¬ 

tunities had kept people of all races and ethnic groups mired in ignorance, 

poverty, and isolation. He worked to ensure that economic success on the 

reservation would spill over into the surrounding communities. The res¬ 

ervation economy, in other words, was to be integrated into the surround¬ 

ing region, creating jobs and opportunity for as many as possible. Martin 

understood something very basic about human nature—given the choice 

between hating and eating, most will choose the latter. Employment and 

rising incomes for Indians and non-Indians alike would be the mechanism 

to neutralize racist hatreds and to open the doors of acceptance. 

As a result of tribal economic development and integration with the 

outside world, not only have living standards improved throughout the 

area, but so too have attitudes. After decades of scorn, apathy, and open 

hostility from much of the surrounding non-Indian population, the Mis¬ 

sissippi Band of Choctaw Indians have largely won the support and re¬ 

spect of their neighbors. It is not a perfect world in east Mississippi; there 

are those who still resent and even despise the Choctaws. No doubt there 

are some who are resentful of their success. But it is difficult if not impos¬ 

sible for this hostile group to influence the majority the way it did in the 
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past. Too many owe their livelihood to the Choctaws. Mayor Harlan Ma¬ 

jors of nearby Philadelphia said it for most: “Our best industry by far is 

the Choctaw Nation. Our economy depends on them. If the tribe went 

bankrupt, we’d go into a depression.”^9 

Such farsighted policy has resulted in an unemployment rate for the 

area that is currently lower than it has been for decades. Among the Choc¬ 

taws it is below 5 percent, a complete reversal from the 80 percent unem¬ 

ployment rate of the 1950s. Average family income on the reservation, in 

fact, has climbed from two thousand dollars per year in the 1970s to 

twenty-two thousand dollars for a family of four; and unlike the past, only 

2.7 percent of household income derives from welfare or other social pro¬ 

grams. Substandard housing on the Choctaw Reservation has declined 

from 85 percent to 15 percent, with brick ranch homes the shelter of 

choice. Since 1975 the average education level of tribal members has risen 

from the sixth grade to the twelfth grade, with achievement test scores 

equal to the state average. At the same time, life expectancy has soared, 

while infant mortality has plummeted to the national average. On the res¬ 

ervation, nearly everywhere it seems, there is evidence of a people on the 

move: well-constructed homes, schools with landscaped campuses, a 

modern hospital and day care center, and a new tribal meeting hall with 

administrative offices. In one direction there is an outdoor sports com¬ 

plex, in another an industrial park. It is all a part of modern life for the 

Mississippi Choctaws. 

Impressive as these gains may be, many think that even more has been 

accomplished in the political realm. Tribal government is similar to state 

political systems, with sovereignty manifested through a set of elected 

representatives: a chief and a sixteen-member tribal council elected by 

the community, and a vice chief and secretary treasurer elected by the 

council from its ranks. In addition, there are tribal courts that exercise au¬ 

thority over all misdemeanors and civil cases. 

Within the context of this system, the Mississippi Choctaws have 

emerged as a national leader in transferring the administration of govern¬ 

ment programs from the bia to the tribes. Moreover, the driving impulse 

behind the surge in Choctaw empowerment has often been the same force 

that was so instrumental to economic development: the chief of the Mis¬ 

sissippi Choctaws for the past two decades, Phillip Martin. Indeed, some 

believe that a de-coupling from the bia was always Martin’s paramount 

goal: first, economic independence and the clout and self-confidence that 

comes with money, then political freedom. Almost every task once carried 

on by the bia—law enforcement, social services, forestry, credit and fi- 
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nance—is performed today by Choctaw tribal members. Under a contract 

with the federal government the tribe operates six elementary schools, a 

middle school, and a high school—every facility fully accredited by the 

Mississippi Department of Education or the Southern Association of Col¬ 

leges and Schools. Thanks to a contract with the Indian Health Service, 

the tribe administers its own forty-three-bed hospital and several clinics. 

1 he Choctaws also manage their own transit system as well as water, sew¬ 

age, and waste disposal plants through various reservation utility com¬ 

missions. All of these government functions are financed without taxing 

tribal members, for the tribe relies on revenue from business operations 

and on federal funds the government is obliged to pay by treaty. 

Meanwhile, Martin has continued to utilize the larger federal political 

system for the Choctaws’ benefit. Charges that Martin is a laissez-faire 

ideologue, owing to his proclivity for attracting business capital or his op¬ 

position to BiA control, are simply overstated. Martin is quick to note that 

seed money in the form of government grants was largely responsible for 

triggering the economic explosion of wealth and jobs on the reservation, 

and he remains as skilled and adroit as anyone in seeking economic ad¬ 

vantage meted out by government. More than anything. Chief Martin is a 

pragmatist, picking and choosing from government or the private sector 

whatever works—whatever puts food on the table and money in the bank. 

There are those who have been critical of Phillip Martin and the changes 

he has championed, people who argue that he has “betrayed” his culture in 

pursuit of economic gain. It is a familiar refrain often raised against eco¬ 

nomic development projects on reservations throughout the United States. 

His critics charge that by embracing modern technology, hourly work 

schedules, corporate investment, and all of the trinkets and consumer 

goods they make possible, Martin has “gutted” the very soul of Choctaw 

culture. All that remains, Martin’s critics assert, is a pathetic caricature of 

Indian peoples in pursuit of the white man’s dollar. Interestingly, this argu¬ 

ment often comes from individuals who are themselves largely steeped in a 

Western liberal frame of reference, or more typically, from white people 

with very definite ideas about what an Indian should be. 

Those who argue that an Indian is not an Indian unless he or she is not 

tied to nineteenth-century cultural patterns have missed something fun¬ 

damental about culture and history. No people in the present or the past 

have ever lived in perfect isolation, untouched and unchanged by the rest 

of the world. People everywhere have interacted: trading, conversing, 

warring, and acculturating, one with the other, and in the process impro¬ 

vising, compromising, and continually reshaping themselves in order to 
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survive. Choctaw workers in the assembly plants near Philadelphia, Mis¬ 

sissippi, live differently from their early nineteenth century forefathers, 

but Choctaw farmers and cattlemen in the early national period also dif¬ 

fered markedly from their ancestors who formed part of the pre-Colum¬ 

bian Mississippian complex. Tribal cultures, like other cultures, are not 

fixed in stone. Is the population of Japan no longer truly Japanese since 

embracing and building on Western technology? For that matter, are the 

white people of Mississippi no longer Southern because they do not live 

like their ancestors of the 1850s? To suggest that the Choctaws and Phillip 

Martin, or Native Americans anywhere, have renounced their cultural 

heritage by seizing opportunities that exist in recent times is to say that 

Indian people should live outside the flow of history. Indeed, such a per¬ 

spective is demeaning, for it suggests that “real” Native American culture 

is somehow untouched and unaltered by events that shape the rest of hu¬ 

man civilization; that Indian people do not share in broader patterns that 

shape the rest of humankind. 

Chief Martin and others like him have taken advantage of a global trend 

toward world markets and capitalist economics, set within the context of 

declining or even crumbling political institutions. It is a phenomenon apt 

to last for generations and is uniquely suited to small-scale economic en¬ 

claves ready and able to adapt to the latest consumer-driven need or tech¬ 

nical innovation. 

As long as there are those who think of themselves as Choctaw and 

wish to be Choctaw, the Choctaw people will survive: whether in rural 

Mississippi, urban Atlanta, or anywhere in the world. It is only when no 

one cares or when a people turn inward against themselves with hatred or 

contempt, feeling only shame and seeking to hide or renounce their past, 

that they truly die. No one who knows Chief Phillip Martin questions his 

devotion to the Choctaws—those of the past, the present, or the future. 

With the future generations in mind, the Choctaws have increased their 

financial commitments to education; schools are in fact a top priority. 

While modern classrooms are today the norm, plans are under way to 

equip them with state-of-the-art computer/learning technology. Teachers 

at reservation elementary schools earn salaries 25 percent higher than 

those at public schools in neighboring non-Indian communities. The 

Choctaws attempt to hire the best teachers regardless of race or ethnicity. 

And unlike so many public schools throughout America, on the reserva¬ 

tion a teacher who cannot perform satisfactorily is released. There is also 

a tribal television station—the primary local channel for the region— 

broadcasting an eclectic daily menu that includes Choctaw language 
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newscasts and public service programs on topics as diverse as personal fi¬ 

nance and microwave cooking. Small wonder that over 90 percent of res¬ 

ervation members remain fluent in Choctaw.^' 

On the economic front, determination to succeed in the future is re¬ 

flected in the evolving nature of the Choctaw labor force. Increasingly, the 

tribe has offered its members technical and managerial positions in engi¬ 

neering, business management, teaching, or statistical analysis. The Choc¬ 

taws, in essence, are creating a twenty-first-century managerial and pro¬ 

fessional class. In 1989 for example, there were four Choctaw managers at 

the reservation assembly plant in Carthage, Mississippi; today there are 

thirteen. The next generation will manage their own businesses entirely, 

states Sam Schisler, current CEO of the Carthage plant. Also changing is 

the nature of tribal business enterprises. The children of sharecroppers, 

for whom a trip to the nearest town was once a major undertaking, are to¬ 

day assembling parts for circuit boards from Shreveport, Louisiana, to 

Bangkok, Thailand. Soon they will be constructing their own circuit 

boards. Also growing rapidly in importance are tribal service and finan¬ 

cial industries. These days “we’re more into profit centers,” notes William 

Richardson, a former venture capitalist whom Chief Martin hired to func¬ 

tion as a resident tribal entrepreneur. “We’re aggressive as hell,” says 

Richardson, “and we take risks,” though the risks are calculated. 

One such risk is the new $38 million Silver Star Resort Hotel and Ca¬ 

sino. Some Indian tribes have achieved great economic success with gam¬ 

ing enterprises. The Choctaws hope that their casino also will be as suc¬ 

cessful. But the Mississippi Choctaws are unique, for they have already 

blazed a path to economic independence with highly diversified indus¬ 

trial and commercial operations. For the Choctaws, the casino/hotel in¬ 

dustry is simply a part of a much larger economic strategy. In fact, the ca¬ 

sino is only a segment of a recreation center that includes an eighteen- 

hole golf course and country club, and in time will include a theme park.^3 

And so it goes. For over three decades the stories of the Mississippi 

Band of Choctaws and Phillip Martin have been largely synonymous. Dur¬ 

ing that time Martin has served as the tribe’s principal elected official for 

twenty-one years and as the reservation’s business manager for three 

years. He has served five-year terms as director of the Choctaw Commu¬ 

nity Action Agency and chairman of the Tribal Housing Authority. He has 

been responsible for establishing an industrial park with eight industrial 

plants and tribal businesses, a tribe-owned construction company, and 

several public service enterprises including the Choctaw Transit Author¬ 

ity and the Choctaw Utility Commission. Altogether, these undertakings 
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have resulted in the creation of over four thousand jobs. Most of all, per¬ 

haps, Phillip Martin has been instrumental in restoring hope. 

The past two decades have witnessed mounting national recognition of 

Martin’s accomplishments and a growing list of awards. In addition to 

winning the United Indian Development Association’s Jay Silverheels 

Award, Martin has received the Minority Supplier/Distributor of the Year 

Award from the United States Small Business Administration and the Mi¬ 

nority Business Development Association; the “Soar Like An Eagle” 

Achievement Award from the United Indian Youth Organization; and an 

economic achievement award from the U.S. Department of Housing and 

Urban Development (hud). In 1987, Martin won the American Vocational 

Association’s Award of Merit, owing to the success of the tribe’s voca¬ 

tional education program. The following year he received the hud Certifi¬ 

cate of National Merit, in recognition of excellence and innovation at the 

reservation’s Early Childhood Education Center. In 1996, Chief Phillip 

Martin was inducted into the Mississippi Business Hall of Fame. He has 

come a long way since the day he returned home from the military and 

found that no one would hire an Indian ex-serviceman.^^4 

If there is a flaw in all that has been accomplished, it’s probably that so 

much has depended on the diligence and resourcefulness of a single indi¬ 

vidual. Sooner or later, the question must be raised: What happens next? 

What happens after Chief Martin? Has he truly wrought an economic 

revolution in Choctaw country? Has he created an economic powerhouse 

that will sustain itself and grow only stronger far into the twenty-first 

century? Is this the beginning of a new chapter in the history of an an¬ 

cient people who have been great and prosperous before? Within the past 

decade political opponents within the Choctaw Nation have challenged 

his leadership, suggesting they could provide political and economic lead¬ 

ership more equitably and efficiently. Yet no Mississippi Choctaws sup¬ 

port a return to the old days of isolation, lack of economic opportunity, 

and poverty. His political opponents have embraced Martin’s ideas of ed¬ 

ucation and controlled participation in the greater economy; they just ar¬ 

gue that they now can manage and administer the revitalized Choctaw 

Nation more effectively. 

Is it conceivable that Phillip Martin is part of a world phenomenon 

where large nations and institutions are fragmenting in favor of resurgent 

local and autonomous ethnic communities that have been suppressed for 

three hundred years? Or will the end of Martin’s career also mark the col¬ 

lapse of a brief and brilliant moment in the history of a people who for al¬ 

most two centuries have been burdened by poverty and government de- 
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pendency? Only time can say for sure: Time and perhaps the cool breezes 

passing through the Mississippi pines in the bright afternoon of early au¬ 

tumn—for in the old days the Choctaws taught their children that the 

spirits could foretell the future and that sometimes the spirits traveled on 

the wind. 
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Wilma MankUler 

Cfierokee 

BY BRAD AGNEW 

Former Cherokee chief Wilma Mankiller’s career has been chronicled in 

numerous articles and books, but most accounts pay little attention to her 

years as a tribal leader. In her autobiography of about three hundred 

pages, only the final, sixteen-page chapter considers her tenure as deputy 

chief and chief.^ Despite the volume of literature about Mankiller, there is 

no critical assessment of her leadership. While it is too soon to place Man- 

killer’s career in historical perspective, it is time to start examining her 

contribution to the Cherokee Nation. 

Born in Tahlequah, Oklahoma, in 1945, Wilma Pearl was the sixth of 

eleven children born to full-blood Cherokee Charley Mankiller and his 

Dutch-Irish wife, Irene.^ They lived in Adair County on land allotted to 

the Mankillers when the Cherokee Nation was dissolved early in the 

twentieth century. The family barely eked out an existence on the flinty 

foothills of the Ozarks where Mankiller’s early years were spent in a four- 

room, tin-roofed house built of rough lumber with no electricity or run¬ 

ning water. Although she felt comfortable in the familiar surroundings of 

Mankiller Flats, her parents hoped to provide their children with more 

opportunities by taking advantage of a Bureau of Indian Affairs (bia) relo¬ 

cation program. In 1956, just before her eleventh birthday, she and her 

family boarded a train for San Francisco and a new life. 

Wrenched from their rural roots, the Mankillers experienced cultural 

shock in their new home. Teased about her name, accent, and clothes by 

her classmates, Mankiller found sanctuary at the San Francisco Indian 

Center in the Mission District. Academically, she “remained unsettled as 

far as goals, with no sense of direction,” but “at the end of the day, every¬ 

thing seemed brighter at the Indian Center.” The future Cherokee leader 

had inherited a love of books from her father, but she admitted that she 

only went “through the motions of attending classes.”3 Nonetheless, she 
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completed high school in 1963. That summer she got a job and met an 

Ecuadorian attending college in San Francisco. Before autumn, after a 

whirlwind courtship, they were married, just five days before her eigh¬ 

teenth birthday. Nine months later she was a mother, and less than two 

years later she had a second daughter. By then she was beginning to chaff 

under the restraints imposed by a husband who viewed her primarily as a 

wife and mother. 

San Francisco was a hotbed of social activism in the 1960s. Dissidents 

not only challenged America’s policy in Vietnam, but also most of the na¬ 

tion’s fundamental values. The spirit of the times shaped the future leader 

of the Cherokees. Dissatisfaction with the constraints imposed by mar¬ 

riage spurred her to enroll in a few classes in a nearby community college. 

Initially she took only courses she enjoyed in the areas of literature and 

sociology. Soon her academic success and her growing independence 

widened the gulf separating the couple. Along with classes and family re¬ 

sponsibilities she worked part time and renewed her associations with the 

Bay Area Native American community at the American Indian Center. 

Still in the process of discovering her own identity in the turbulent 

1960s, the twenty-four-year-old wife and mother observed firsthand one 

of the defining moments in the modern history of Native Americans—the 

occupation of Alcatraz. Although she was not a participant, other mem¬ 

bers of the Mankiller family moved to the island. The future Cherokee 

chief became “totally engulfed by the Native American movement.” 

Thirty years later Mankiller recalled that as a result of the Alcatraz experi¬ 

ence “I consciously took a path I still find myself on today as I continue to 

work for the revitalization of tribal communities.’’^ 

During the occupation, her father died of polycystic kidney disease, a 

disorder his daughter inherited. Her condition was not advanced, but 

doctors suggested that she might experience kidney failure before middle 

age. 

Working for Native American causes eased the loss of her father and 

frustrations of a suffocating marriage. Despite her husband’s objections, 

she traveled to west coast tribal events and volunteered at the Native 

American Youth Center in East Oakland. There she developed a belief 

that “poor people, particularly poor American Indian people, have a lot 

more potential and many more answers to problems than they are ever 

given a chance to realize.” The burgeoning Indian activist also vol¬ 

unteered to work with the Pit River Tribe in its legal struggle against Pa¬ 

cific Gas and Electric Company. Her work with the Indian community ul¬ 

timately led her to the realization that she “could no longer remain con- 
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tent as a housewife.”5 She ended her marriage, resumed the Mankiller 

name, and found employment as a social worker at the Urban Indian Re¬ 

source Center. Her final years in the Bay Area were turbulent. Child sup¬ 

port payments were sporadic, but worse, Mankiller’s former husband re¬ 

fused to return his younger daughter after an outing. It was almost a year 

before she and the girl were reunited. Fear that he might separate her 

from her children again was a factor in Mankiller’s decision to leave 

California. 

When she and her two daughters moved to Oklahoma in the summer of 

1977, Mankiller recalled, “I had twenty dollars to my name, no car, no job, 

and few, if any, prospects.” Living with her mother, who had recently re¬ 

turned to Oklahoma, she began looking for work. Adair County, one of 

the poorest regions in the nation, offered limited employment opportuni¬ 

ties, and Mankiller spent several frustrating months seeking a job. In Oc¬ 

tober she was hired as an economic stimulus coordinator by the Cherokee 

Nation of Oklahoma. Mankiller’s job was to promote college training in 

environmental science or health for Cherokees who would return to In¬ 

dian communities and help their people.^ 

For a young divorcee, schooled in the high-pressure, direct-action envi¬ 

ronment of the San Francisco Indian movement, the bureaucracy and au¬ 

thoritarian nature of Cherokee government evoked frustration. From her 

perspective, tribal programs emphasized economic development at the 

expense of Cherokees living in rural communities. Even programs di¬ 

rected at helping the poor were exploited by “sophisticated” urban mem¬ 

bers of the tribe. Operating within the system, Mankiller stayed late, 

worked weekends, and “went to all the meetings.” Greg Combs, a young 

attorney who worked with Mankiller on several projects, recalled her 

drive and energy. He said, “Her experiences in California, with some 

counterculture overtones, were probably formative in her intellectual out¬ 

look, and she came equipped with ideas that other people didn’t have.” 

Her work as a volunteer for the Pit River Tribe in California was particu¬ 

larly valuable in preparing grant applications on which many tribal ser¬ 

vices depended. The Cherokees’ senior citizens program, home-health 

nursing service, language survey, Indian child welfare program, and youth 

shelter grew out of grant applications Mankiller helped develop. When 

several important proposals she drafted were funded, her work came to 

the attention of the principal chief and the tribal council.^ 

Encouraged by her success, she completed a degree at Flaming Rainbow 

University and entered a graduate program in community planning at the 

University of Arkansas. In early November 1979, as she was driving to the 
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Cherokee Nation headquarters south of Tahlequah, a head-on collision 

ended her graduate career and almost her life. Despite seventeen opera¬ 

tions over the next year, Mankiller’s physical rehabilitation was slowed by 

a gradual loss of muscle control. At first she believed her condition to be a 

result of the accident, but when she developed double vision she sus¬ 

pected something else was wrong. Medical tests revealed that she had 

myasthenia gravis. An operation and drug therapy reversed the symp¬ 

toms; within six weeks her vision had returned to normal and she had re¬ 

gained control of her muscles. Even more than the occupation of Alcatraz, 

the car accident, neurological disorder, and prolonged recovery altered 

Mankiller’s outlook on life. During her convalescence, she wrote, “I fell 

back on my Cherokee ways and adopted what our elders call ‘a Cherokee 

approach’ to life.” She claimed, “From that period on, I have always 

thought of myself as the woman who lived before and the woman who 

lives afterward.”* 

In January of 1981, over a year after the crash, Mankiller returned to her 

position at the Cherokee Nation. The dehumanizing nature of her medical 

treatment gave her a different outlook. Often dismissed by medical per¬ 

sonnel as if she were incompetent to make decisions concerning her own 

treatment, Mankiller was determined to help Cherokees become involved 

in making decisions about their self-help projects. She claimed that the 

“fury” with which she addressed her work was not motivated by thoughts 

of advancement but by a “healthy anger” and a desire to see that the 

Cherokee people, “especially those living in rural areas, had the chance to 

express their own special needs.”9 

The conditions that had driven her family from Oklahoma still pre¬ 

vailed throughout the Cherokee Nation. In the Bell community near the 

Arkansas border many of the 350 residents hauled water, lived in homes 

classified as substandard, and earned so little that their income was far be¬ 

low average even in a county that had been ranked as the poorest in the 

United States. Enlisting the support of Chief Ross Swimmer, a Reagan Re¬ 

publican who stressed the concept of self-help, Mankiller raised a million 

dollars in grant funds and involved the residents in completing a sixteen- 

mile-long water pipeline, refurbishing twenty old homes, and building 

twenty-five new houses. During the Bell project tribal leaders appointed 

Mankiller as head of the newly created Cherokee Nation Community De¬ 

velopment Department. Years later, she recalled that the Bell project vali¬ 

dated her belief in the Cherokees’ spirit of interdependence and willing¬ 

ness to help each other. It also launched her career in tribal politics. 
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Before the Bell project was completed, Chief Swimmer asked Mankiller 

to consider running for deputy chief on his ticket. An attorney and 

banker, Swimmer was more effective in Washington than in poor, rural 

Cherokee communities. During his second term he was diagnosed with 

lymphatic cancer. Although he was responding to treatment, his illness 

had weakened him politically. In 1983 his deputy chief announced that he 

would oppose Swimmer in the tribal elections in June. Mankiller, who 

was not Swimmer’s first choice, initially dismissed the invitation to run 

for deputy chief as “ludicrous,” but the realization that she would be in a 

better position to influence tribal policy as deputy chief prompted her to 

reconsider. Swimmer’s new running mate believed he “was taking a great 

chance” in putting a woman on his ticket and must have forgotten that 

she was a liberal Democrat. Actually he was aware of her liberal bent and 

was lobbied by “a lot of people” to dump her from the ticket. While Man- 

killer’s grassroots connections were a factor in her selection, she recalled 

that Swimmer later told her, “The single most important thing to him was 

that I was honest with money and dedicated to the tribe. 

Mankiller was surprised that her advocacy of grassroots democracy and 

her activist past did not become issues in the campaign. Rather, opposi¬ 

tion focused on gender and claims that election of a woman would be an 

affront to God and would make the Cherokees the laughingstock of Na¬ 

tive America. While the militant opponents of female participation in 

government were a small minority, their tactics were ugly and ominous— 

hate mail, death threats, and acts of vandalism and intimidation. Appar¬ 

ently most Cherokees didn’t share their views, for the lone male in the 

three-way race for deputy chief finished last. Mankiller was forced into a 

runoff against Agnes Cowen, a former member of the council. 

Swimmer, who had been narrowly reelected on the strength of the ab¬ 

sentee vote in the general election, publicly announced that it would be 

“very difficult” for him to work with Cowen as deputy chief. In the July 16 

runoff election, Mankiller’s opponent finished 290 votes ahead among 

voters who cast their ballots in person in the fourteen counties that com¬ 

prised the Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma. Mankiller even lost Adair 

County 304 to 468 and carried only five of the fourteen counties where the 

voters went to the polls. She won the absentee balloting, however, by a 

margin of 1070 out of the 2970 votes cast, which gave her a majority over¬ 

all. Similar disparities between votes cast in person and by mail in the 

election for chief and council positions gave rise to accusations of elec¬ 

toral chicanery. Eight defeated candidates including Cowen sued tribal of- 
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ficials, alleging fraudulent voting practices. Two years later a judge dis¬ 

missed the case after the U.S. attorney found nothing to sustain the 

charges. 

Later, responding to a question about absentee ballots cast in the elec¬ 

tion, Mankiller suggested that the belief that most absentee votes were 

cast by Cherokees living out of state was a m}^h. She explained that “only 

lo percent of our population is outside of the primary 14 counties (in Ok¬ 

lahoma).” She added, “Many of our voters are rural and it’s just easier for 

them to do it that way [vote by mail]. Most tribal employees also vote ab¬ 

sentee ballots.” Mankiller’s opponents remained disgruntled over the 

election, but focused their accusations upon Republican supporters of 

Swimmer. In response, Mankiller claimed that there were enough inde¬ 

pendent observers at the counting of the ballots that the election could 

not have been stolen. Greg Combs believed there may be some substance 

to the charge of voting irregularities but felt that neither Swimmer nor 

Mankiller would have participated in any fraud.*'* 

Ross Swimmer began his third term with a new deputy chief. Wilma 

Mankiller, now the highest-ranking woman ever to serve the Cherokee 

people, had vowed to “make things happen.” The promise was more eas¬ 

ily made than kept. The position of deputy chief is similar to that of an 

understudy. As long as the chief is present, the deputy’s primary function 

is to wait. Although constitutionally she served as president of the coun¬ 

cil, Swimmer was usually present and tended to dominate the proceed¬ 

ings. Even though he had selected her as his deputy, many of his support¬ 

ers were hostile or indifferent to her. Mankiller characterized her two 

years as deputy chief as “difficult—very difficult.” Moreover, while Swim¬ 

mer may have overlooked their political differences when he selected her, 

those differences became apparent after the campaign, but Mankiller had 

little choice as his deputy but to follow “Swimmer’s line faithfully.” Fi¬ 

nally, many councillors, including the three women, offered little support; 

some were almost openly hostile. Shocked by the pettiness of members of 

the council and stifled by a position that offered more title than authority, 

Mankiller recalled, “Mostly, I just coped. ”*5 

The previous deputy chief, a Sallisaw businessman, had spent little time 

at the tribal headquarters in part because “he was very limited by Ross,” 

Agnes Cowen recalled. She also suggested that Swimmer allowed Man¬ 

killer to “do the peon-labor type of stuff” among the grassroots Indians 

and found it useful to have a woman deputy with officials in Washington 

and for public relations purposes locally. Mankiller made her position a 

full-time job and divided her days between her office and the field, involv- 
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ing herself in the day-to-day operation of the more than forty tribally op¬ 

erated programs. Although she had little influence in developing tribal 

policy, she gradually adjusted to the realities of life as deputy chief and 

reached a working accommodation with some of the members of the 

council. 

Mankiller and the chief found mutual ground in their commitment to 

the rebuilding and revitalizing of their rural communities. She continued 

her efforts to stimulate small-scale economic development within the 

Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma by providing financial and technical assis¬ 

tance that enabled members of the tribe to get off welfare and open small 

businesses. Mankiller favored small-scale economic development projects 

but was not opposed to large-scale undertakings. While acknowledging 

the success of tribally sponsored businesses such as Cherokee Nation In¬ 

dustries (cNi) and Cherokee Nation Distributing, the deputy chief har¬ 

bored reservations about going into partnership with outsiders. “I think 

that the projects that we’ve always done best are projects we do our¬ 

selves.” She contended, “The best way to build an economy for us is to 

build locally controlled, locally developed businesses where the decisions 

are made locally, not by somebody in Detroit who could decide to move a 

plant to Taiwan or someplace.”^7 

In September of 1985, just as Mankiller was adjusting to her position 

and establishing a working relationship with the council, Ross Swimmer 

was nominated to head the Bureau of Indian Affairs. Although his confir¬ 

mation was delayed by procedural infighting, he assumed his duties on 5 

December in Washington, and Mankiller took the oath as Cherokee chief 

in a private ceremony later the same day. In statements to the press, she 

expressed little concern over potential objections to her becoming the 

first female leader of a major tribe. Privately she believed she was inade¬ 

quately prepared for the “daunting” task of “taking over the entire Chero¬ 

kee Nation.” Swimmer, who had spent much of his time in Washington 

after his nomination, had little opportunity to prepare her “for aU the 

complex issues” facing the tribe. In fact, the only instruction he left his 

successor was a one-page single-spaced list of the major issues facing the 

tribe. 

Over the next year, Mankiller recalled that she talked to the former 

chief only once. His staff and many other people felt that the “Cherokee 

Nation would crash and burn with a woman in charge.” On 14 December, 

in remarks following her formal inauguration, Mankiller tried to calm 

fears fanned by rumors that she planned a purge of tribal employees. She 

pledged little change except for more emphasis on finding funds for social 
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and economic development. She did, however, follow Swimmer s lead in 

ruling out bingo as a source of income because of her belief that it would 

not provide long-term economic stability. The new chief did break one 

tradition when she announced that she would not sit with the council as 

her predecessor had. In making the change she stressed the need for 

maintaining the separation between the legislative and executive branch¬ 

es established by the constitution. 

Mankiller had not even taken office before she was deluged by requests 

for interviews. The Cherokees had always been of interest to the press, 

but the intensity of attention from the national and even international 

media was new. In late November, a flattering article in People magazine 

marked the beginning of press coverage that would spotlight the Chero¬ 

kee Nation and make Mankiller an international celebrity.'9 

Media attention gave the new chief a forum she used to publicize In¬ 

dian and feminist issues. On 4 July 1986, the centennial of the dedication 

of the Statue of Liberty, Mankiller reminded Americans that federal 

troops “were busy moving tribes from their homelands to reservations” 

while New Yorkers celebrated the symbol of freedom. “This historical 

perspective causes mixed feelings in American Indians,” Mankiller ob¬ 

served. About the same time, in a Ms. magazine article, she stressed the 

decisive role of women in early Indian history and suggested that great 

debate in councils was avoided when “women were consulted before¬ 

hand.” She blamed the imposition of the “male-dominated culture” of the 

whites for gradually eroding the influential voice women had exercised in 

Indian society. In a House committee hearing, the Cherokee chief criti¬ 

cized a Reagan administration proposal to eliminate Indian languages 

from bilingual instruction as a threat to “the culture, heritage, and lan¬ 

guage of America’s Indian tribes.”^® 

Although Mankiller spoke out frequently and stridently against past 

and contemporary injustice, her measured criticism and calm demeanor 

made her welcome in the offices of the nation’s economic and political 

power brokers. The communication skills that had made her effective at 

the grassroots level were equally effective when she began working with 

state and national leaders. Despite the favorable press, Mankiller soon 

discovered that her efforts to improve tribal services in housing and 

health care were blocked by council members whose allegiance remained 

with the former chief or who opposed additional spending for social pro¬ 

grams. Once again, Mankiller was compelled to cope. Although she 

lacked an electoral mandate from the Cherokee people, as chief she con¬ 

trolled the Nation’s bureaucracy and its promotional capacity. In a series 
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of columns appearing in regional newspapers, Mankiller explained tribal 

services and organization and apprised Cherokee voters of her adminis¬ 

tration’s goals. She maintained a high profile nationally with a variety of 

newspapers and journals featuring biographical sketches. The Oklahoma 

Federation of Indian Women named her American Woman of 1986, 

scarcely five months after she became chief; the Governor’s Advisory 

Committee on the Status of Women selected her for induction into the 

Oklahoma Women’s Hall of Fame; and Harvard recognized her for “out¬ 

standing contributions to American leadership and Native American 

culture. 

Her growing celebrity status did not silence local criticism. A former 

council member claimed, “Wilma, I will say, is a good community worker, 

but that does not make her a leader.” Gary Chapman, a council member 

who had crossed swords with the new chief on more than one occasion, 

also cited her lack of leadership.Opponents were more outspoken in ac¬ 

cusing her of nepotism. 

About six weeks after she became chief, Mankiller announced her en¬ 

gagement to Charlie Soap, a Cherokee full-blood who directed the tribe’s 

community development department. The couple met shortly after Man¬ 

killer was employed by the tribe, but did not begin working closely to¬ 

gether until the Bell project. When Soap remained at his post after their 

marriage in October, the chief’s opponents “drummed up a war dance” at 

the January 1987 council meeting. In response to criticism, Mankiller an¬ 

nounced that her husband had resigned. Continued probing revealed that 

the resignation would not be effective until later in the month so that he 

could qualify for retirement benefits. Mankiller’s conduct in this episode 

gave her political opponents an issue in an election year.^^ 

In early 1987, Mankiller announced that she would be a candidate for 

chief in the June election. Despite her favorable treatment by the press 

and growing list of honors, she was considered vulnerable and drew three 

opponents. The most formidable was Perry Wheeler, the former deputy 

chief who had run strongly against Ross Swimmer in 1983 and who also 

had widespread grassroots support. The two other candidates were both 

well-known. Mankiller countered charges of inept leadership and lack of 

business and managerial experience by stressing her priorities and aspira¬ 

tions for her people.^4 

Perhaps what she had accomplished was not as much a factor in the 

election as what had not happened. The dire prediction about the tribal 

government’s crashing and burning had proven false. Moreover, the tribe 

had received more favorable publicity under Mankiller than at any other 
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time since Sequoyah devised his syllabary. Charlie Soap, Mankiller’s hus¬ 

band, was particularly effective in taking her message to the full-blood 

community and defusing the gender issue. Several weeks before the elec¬ 

tion the kidney disease that had claimed the life of her father put Man- 

killer into the hospital for ten days. When her opponents injected her 

health into the campaign, her staff dismissed reports of serious illness, 

claiming that “her overall health is excellent. 

In the election Mankiller finished well ahead but was again thrown into 

a runoff, which she won by a wide margin despite charges concerning her 

health and “hippy” California background. Mankiller’s personal triumph 

did not extend to all of her supporters running for council positions. 

When one of Mankiller’s candidates died less than a week after being 

elected to the council, only five of the remaining newly elected council 

members were in her camp. Although absentee-voting procedures had 

been changed following the 1983 election, the counting of absentee ballots 

aroused new controversy in 1987. When the tribe’s election committee 

voted to nullify the results of a recount of absentee ballots for council 

members, Mankiller appealed to the Cherokee Judicial Appeals Tribunal 

to intervene. Another recount was held and the results favored the incum¬ 

bent administration. Consequently, one more Mankiller supporter took a 

seat in the tribe’s legislative branch.^® 

Mankiller now had the “mandate” she had lacked since her elevation to 

chief, but with the council controlled by her opponents, sessions could be 

stormy. In one meeting the council narrowly denied her authority to con¬ 

vert the tribe’s financially ailing motel and restaurant into a job corps 

center. Threatening to appeal directly to the people and vowing an “all- 

out political war,” she was able to reverse the council’s decision at its next 

session. 

The Talking Leaves Job Corps Center, operated by the Cherokees since 

1978, had been slated for closure by the Department of Labor. Lobbying in 

Washington, Mankiller was able to persuade federal officials to maintain 

the operation if the tribe could find a suitable site. The motel was to be 

used for two or three years until a permanent facility could be built. It was 

not until 1995 that the job corps moved into its new home; the motel did 

not reopen, but the restaurant resumed operation in 1996.=^* 

Political infighting did not stop the tribe’s community development 

campaign. By 1986, eight programs modeled on the Bell project were under 

way. One in the Kenwood community received a Certificate of National 

Merit from the Department of Housing and Urban Development in 1987.^9 
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Organizations across the nation continued to shower honors on the 

Cherokee chief and extend speaking invitations to her. She used these for¬ 

ums to forward the cause of the Cherokees and other Indians and 

frequently to urge women to assert their rights. In Washington she 

claimed that some tribes are better off “in spite of Reagan” and attributed 

their improvement to programs that carried over from the Kennedy- 

Johnson War on Poverty programs.3° 

Within weeks of her criticism of Ronald Reagan’s administration, she 

had an opportunity to meet with the lame-duck president at the White 

House. Because of remarks objectionable to Native Americans, Reagan 

had agreed to discuss Indian grievances with tribal leaders. In the final 

weeks of his second term, the president met for twenty minutes with six¬ 

teen chiefs, including Mankiller, who had been selected as one of three 

spokespeople for the group. The Cherokee chief, who had never been to 

the White House, “was overwhelmed” and felt “an enormous responsibil¬ 

ity to have to speak for all of the tribes of the United States.” Although 

Reagan reaffirmed a 1983 statement endorsing self-determination for In¬ 

dian tribes, Mankiller considered the meeting little more than a “photo 

opportunity,” and expressed disappointment that the president had not 

been more receptive to the issues they raised. Nonetheless, the Cherokee 

leader’s image was enhanced when a picture of her, seated immediately to 

the left of Reagan, appeared in newspapers across the country^! 

Despite continuing criticism of Mankiller’s leadership in stimulating 

economic development, the chief worked throughout her administration 

to improve the economic environment of the fourteen counties of the 

Cherokee Nation. Inadequate capitalization, intratribal rivalries, and a 

dearth of experienced managers placed most Indian nations at a competi¬ 

tive disadvantage. Many tribal enterprises failed to fulfill the expectations 

of their planners. Acknowledging the economic realities facing the Chero¬ 

kees, Mankiller continued encouraging cottage industry and sought to co¬ 

operate with nearby institutions and governments in forming “partner¬ 

ships” to improve the general business climate, not just for the Cherokees 

but for everyone. Her efforts attracted some business to northeastern Ok¬ 

lahoma, but the rural nature of the area and its limited infrastructure 

made progress slow.^^ 

Throughout her administration, Mankiller stressed cooperation, not 

confrontation. After she left office, she listed some of the accomplish¬ 

ments she and her staff achieved during workdays that often lasted ten to 

sixteen hours: 
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1. collaborative efforts with communities in northeastern Oklahoma to pro¬ 

vide seed money to establish a multicounty environmental organization 

that is still in operation; 

2. development of an intertribal environmental organization to offer techni¬ 

cal assistance to other tribes; 

3. support of a campaign in Delaware County to increase the sales tax a half 

cent in order to fund a solid waste disposal system, and to obtain a grant 

to defray start-up costs; 

4. assistance in persuading voters in Delaware County to pass a bond to es¬ 

tablish a vo-tech system, and aid in lobbying federal officials to help fund 

the program; 

5. cooperation with the city of Tahlequah to provide sewer service to resi¬ 

dents south of town, and the contribution of almost $1 million to the ex¬ 

pansion project; 

6. completion of about $40 million worth of new construction in the Chero¬ 

kee Nation including clinics at Stillwell, Salina, Sallisaw, and Jay; a new 

Job Corps center and youth shelter; purchase of a hospital in Jay; con¬ 

struction of roads, water systems, and a new warehouse for Cherokee Na¬ 

tion Industries; construction of three bingo facilities; and renovation of 

the Children’s Village and facilities for Head Start and day care programs; 

7. involvement in nation-building activities including assumption of a re¬ 

sponsibility for a tribal foster care system and adoptions, and reinstate¬ 

ment of a district court system. 

During the Mankiller administration the tribal budget and number of 

registered Cherokees tripled. While chief, Mankiller also served as presi¬ 

dent of the Arkansas Riverbed Authority and two terms as president of 

the Inter-Tribal Council of Five Civilized Tribes.^5 

Shrinking budgets for social programs and the “no new taxes” pledge of 

President George Bush forced Mankiller to consider new sources of rev¬ 

enue. The tribe’s attempts to stimulate economic development produced 

more headlines than jobs, and many tribal businesses were struggling. 

Mankiller reconsidered her aversion to high-stakes gambling. Pointing 

out the crisis in Indian health care, which had produced overcrowding at 

Indian Health Service hospitals and tribal clinics, she acknowledged, 

“We’ve been applying a band-aid all along. There are too many patients 

and not enough room.” Citing the success of the Creek Nation, she sug¬ 

gested, “Bingo operations could help with health care.” The decision was 

particularly painful for Mankiller, who made it “with a lot of mixed feel¬ 

ings.” She recalled, “I was with the Cherokee Nation for almost eighteen 

years . . . and it is the only thing I ever remember doing that I came home 
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and cried about.” By the end of her administration, Cherokee bingo par¬ 

lors near Fort Smith, Tulsa, and Siloam Springs had become the tribe’s 

major money-making enterprises. 

The Cherokees tapped another source of revenue in February 1990 

when the tribal council authorized the collection of taxes on businesses 

operating on Cherokee land. Primarily concerned with regulating “wild¬ 

cat smoke shops” operating in Indian Country, which claimed immunity 

from state taxation, the law was the most significant measure enacted 

during Mankiller’s tenure as chief. In addition to producing revenue for 

tribal social programs and economic development, the new tax code au¬ 

thorized the chief to negotiate a compact with the state to collect and 

retain a portion of taxes on businesses operating within the Cherokee 

Nation. 

After two years of negotiation, Mankiller, the leaders of the Choctaws, 

Chickasaws, and Seminoles, and Oklahoma governor David Walters 

signed an “historic compact.” The Cherokee chief emphasized that the 

agreement in no way limited tribal sovereignty. “At the Cherokee Nation 

we plan to continue to establish our own priorities, chart our own course 

and hope that every other tribe will do the same.”^® 

The new tax code exacerbated a controversy with the United Kee- 

toowah Band (ukb), a Cherokee faction recognized by Congress in 1946. 

Tribal elections of 1975 had produced a schism between the Cherokee Na¬ 

tion of Oklahoma and the United Keetoowah Band, both claiming to rep¬ 

resent the Cherokee people. Despite Mankiller’s hope that she could 

begin working with the Keetoowahs, relations remained confrontational, 

and any hope of reducing tension was dashed when the band denied 

the Nation’s authority to tax smoke shops and other businesses of its 

members. 

To police Indian Country, where state and local authorities lacked juris¬ 

diction, the tribal council established a district court in December 1990. 

At the same time the tribal security force was transformed into the Chero¬ 

kee Nation Marshal Service, which had expanded duties and authority. 

The council authorized Mankiller to negotiate cross-deputation agree¬ 

ments with law enforcement agencies in the fourteen counties of north¬ 

eastern Oklahoma comprising the Cherokee Nation. These agreements 

were designed to resolve jurisdictional questions among Cherokee and 

other law enforcement agencies. Although cross-deputation would not be 

formally authorized until April 1991, local arrangements and informal 

agreements between the Cherokee Nation Marshal Service and local po¬ 

lice had already been implemented in some areas. 
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In the fall of 1990 deputy marshals from the Cherokee Nation accompa¬ 

nied county law officers in raids on smoke shops licensed by the United 

Keetoowah Band. The raids closed fourteen of twenty-two shops in Tulsa, 

Cherokee, Adair, Sequoyah, and Delaware counties. Temporary restrain¬ 

ing orders, which would have allowed the smoke shops to reopen, were 

denied in U.S. district court in Tulsa.3* 

The band then appealed to the Bureau of Indian Affairs, hoping federal 

officials would recognize its independence and right to license smoke 

shops and share federal funds allocated to the Nation. Although the bia 

did not support the band’s claims, Mankiller viewed the agency’s involve¬ 

ment as an encroachment on tribal sovereignty. Years later, she claimed 

the BIA was “always stirring things up between the United Keetoowah 

Band and the Cherokee Nation” to make both look like they were incapa¬ 

ble of managing their own affairs. In discussions with the secretary of the 

interior in October of 1990, Mankiller made it clear that “neither I nor the 

deputy chief or the tribal council will allow the authority of the Cherokee 

Nation to be diminished.” The secretary promised to weigh the Cherokee 

Nation’s arguments carefully, but the crisis persisted. The failure of offici¬ 

als in Washington to resolve the dispute prompted Mankiller to advise the 

head of the bia, “I hold the Bureau of Indian Affairs responsible and ac¬ 

countable for the possibility of outbreaks of violence and a potential civil 

war within the Cherokee Nation.” Ultimately the federal courts denied 

the ukb’s claim that its smoke shops were exempt from state taxation, but 

the Keetoowah’s feud with the Nation continued to simmer.39 

Accusations concerning Mankiller’s kidney deterioration, made during 

the 1987 election campaign, gained credence in March of 1990 when tribal 

officials confirmed that “recurring kidney problems over the past few 

years” had made Mankiller a candidate for a transplant. On 20 June the 

ailing chief received a kidney from her oldest brother in an operation per¬ 

formed in Boston. After release from the hospital, Mankiller remained in 

the Boston area several months before returning to her home for further 

recuperation. 40 

Before she left Boston, the chief entered into an historic agreement 

with the BIA to allow the Cherokee Nation to participate in a self-govern¬ 

ance demonstration project. One of five tribes selected for the program, 

the Cherokees assumed responsibility for federal funds currently admin¬ 

istered by the bia. Control by tribal officials enabled the tribe to use 

money for priorities set locally rather than by federal bureaucrats. Man¬ 

killer signed the act personally while convalescing “becau ^e it is a signifi- 
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cant step toward the Cherokee Nation once again assuming control over 

our own resources.” She envisioned the agreement not as a means of iso¬ 

lating the tribe, but of making it “a strong, viable unit of government that 

works in collaboration with other governments around us. ”41 

As her first full term neared its end, Mankiller expressed satisfaction 

with her administration’s accomplishment, pointing out that “the Chero¬ 

kee Nation entered the 1990s in a stronger position than ever before.” She 

was particularly proud of advancements in health care and progress in lo¬ 

cating clinics close to the people. One member of the tribe claimed that 

“she’s done everything she promised the people. . . . She’s probably been 

the most aggressive chief we’ve ever had.’’^^ 

Not everyone was as laudatory. Ross Swimmer gave his successor high 

marks on effectiveness in representing their people in Washington and in 

enhancing the tribe’s image nationally, but suggested she had paid little at¬ 

tention to economic development and questioned her “business acumen.” 

Perry Wheeler, Mankiller’s opponent for chief in 1987, said, “My only 

quarrel is all she’s done is work on social programs.” He claimed that she 

had failed to take advantage of millions of economic opportunities.43 

In March of 1991, Mankiller announced that she would be a candidate 

for reelection. Emphasizing her record in economic development, health 

care, and initiatives in self-governance, she claimed, “there is much more 

work to do as we prepare the Cherokee Nation and its members to enter 

the 21st century on their own terms.” Before the campaign began, Man¬ 

killer received another invitation to the White House. Among twelve In¬ 

dian leaders asked to meet with President George Bush, the Cherokee 

chief was one of three chosen to speak for the group. This meeting was 

more satisfying than the session with Reagan. Bush and his advisors asked 

questions, engaged in a dialogue, and listened to the agenda of the tribal 

leaders. Impressed by the president’s promise to follow-up on their re¬ 

quests, Mankiller believed the meeting would send a signal to top federal 

officials that the president wanted to deal with tribes in a “government- 

to-government relationship. ”44 

Continuing favorable national publicity and honors made MankiUer a 

formidable opponent in 1991. No one active in Cherokee government 

challenged her; neither of the two men who did file in the race for princi¬ 

pal chief was well-known. In the election only 48 percent of the Nation’s 

24,300 voters cast ballots. Mankiller received 82.7 percent of those votes 

and was overwhelmingly reelected in an election free of controversy—an 

event unique in modern tribal history. The race was unique in another re- 
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spect as well; it was the first time since statehood that members of the 

council were elected from districts rather than on an at-large basis. Voters 

had approved the change in the 1987 election.45 

After her reelection Mankiller continued stating her views on issues she 

considered important. At every level of government her opinion counted. 

While participating in a White House conference on Indian education to 

consider coordination of federal Indian education programs, Mankiller 

announced, “I’m going to do everything within my power to see that 

there’s not a central school board. ... It just goes counter to everything 

that we at Cherokee Nation have tried to do.” Plans for centralizing Indian 

education were abandoned. When a committee of the Oklahoma House 

of Representatives recommended legislation to compel Indian smoke 

shops to collect state tax on cigarettes sold to non-Indians, Mankiller 

branded the measure “ill-conceived” and said it “raised serious legal and 

constitutional questions.” Mankiller and other Indian leaders critical of 

the bill marshaled their allies in the legislature, who attached amend¬ 

ments that gutted the measure. Changes in the senate produced a com¬ 

promise measure acceptable to the Cherokees.^® 

Never reticent about expressing her political beliefs, the Cherokee chief 

endorsed Arkansas governor Bill Clinton for president in 1992 and was ac¬ 

tive in his campaign. After his victory, Mankiller was invited to partici¬ 

pate in the Little Rock economic conference sponsored by the president¬ 

elect. She felt her involvement in Clinton’s transition “enabled Indian 

people to be heard by those in Washington who can make a difference.” 

Mankiller was not exaggerating. For the remainder of her administration, 

she would have the attention of the president of the United States and 

would be the most influential Indian leader in the country. In a 1997 inter¬ 

view, Mankiller stressed that she had “good access to a lot of very, very 

high-level cabinet people.” She added, “What is interesting is that I didn’t 

make a campaign contribution, and during my tenure none of the busi¬ 

nesses nor the tribe gave a contribution. We just didn’t do it.”47 

Despite Mankiller’s influence, there was one issue of considerable im¬ 

portance for the Cherokee Nation that she was unable to resolve. In 1970 

the U.S. Supreme Court ruled that the Cherokees and two other tribes 

owned the bed and banks of the Arkansas River in Oklahoma as far as the 

stream was navigable. After exploring its options, the tribe decided to 

seek compensation from the federal government for the market value of 

resources taken from the riverbed and to exchange their title to it for 

other land under federal control. Early in her administration, Mankiller 

reactivated the Arkansas River Bed Authority to present a united front to 
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the U.S. government. Negotiations began with federal agencies, and law¬ 

suits were instituted. Mankiller estimated that she devoted about one- 

third of her time as chief to seeking a settlement with the government. 

Foot-dragging and obstruction in Washington frustrated all her efforts to 

reach an agreement and left her doubtful that the issue would ever be re¬ 

solved satisfactorily. 48 

In June 1993 abdominal discomfort put Mankiller back in the hospital 

in Boston for two separate surgical procedures not related to her kidney 

transplant. The three-hour operation kept her in the hospital for ten days 

but was dismissed as routine and very successful by tribal officials. By 

September, when she delivered her annual state of the nation address at 

the Cherokee National Hobday, the chief reported, “I’m in as good health 

as I’ve ever been.”49 

The high point in Mankiller’s career probably occurred just following 

publication of her autobiography. As the result of an idea proposed in a 

meeting between Mankiller and the U.S. attorney general. President Clin¬ 

ton invited the leaders of all 545 federally recognized tribes to Washing¬ 

ton. Newspaper reports called the meeting unprecedented. Its purpose 

was to resolve issues involving Indian gaming and tribal jurisdiction and 

provide a forum for federal officials to hear the opinions of tribal leaders 

on management of tribal natural resources, tribal courts, law enforce¬ 

ment, and religious freedom.5° 

On 29 Aprb 1994, seated immediately to the right of President Clinton 

in the Rose Garden, the leader of the Cherokees moderated a “nation-to- 

nation” summit. The president promised the 322 assembled tribal leaders 

to fulfill the trust obligations the government had made, respect tribal 

sovereignty, and protect the religious freedom of Native Americans. After 

the 2 Vz hour meeting, Mankiller expressed her belief that more had been 

accomplished than in her meetings with Reagan or Bush. The meeting 

was followed by a “listening conference” in Albuquerque with the attor¬ 

ney general and the secretary of interior, who “literally listened all day 

long while members of different tribes came in and testified about various 

needs and issues.” As a result of the listening conference, the Justice De¬ 

partment created an Office of Indian Justice.5^ 

Before the meetings with Clinton and his officials, Mankiller called a 

meeting with 650 employees of the Cherokee Nation. She surprised them 

and others across the country by announcing that she would not seek re- 

election. The chief had reached the decision while she was hospitalized in 

Boston but insisted that her health had not figured into her decision. “I’m 

actually in good health now and I want to keep it that way.”5^ 
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When asked about her successor, Mankiller said, “It’s up to you to de¬ 

cide, not me. I just hope we don’t see the politics of hate in 1995 that we 

saw in the previous election.” She warned, “It’s easy to tear down a house. 

You can do that in a day.” In one of the many tributes to the retiring chief, 

the executive editor of the Muskogee Daily Phoenix credited her “strong, 

unifying, visionary, and contemporary leadership” for the “impressive 

growth and improvements for Oklahoma’s Cherokees.” In concluding he 

wrote, “What a tragedy it would be if the growth, reforms, and vision of 

the Mankiller years were ripped apart in a mean-spirited, ego-driven, ulti¬ 

matum-filled election in 1995.”” The concern expressed by the chief and 

the editor for the forthcoming election was prophetic. 

In her final year as chief. Republicans won control of Congress and be¬ 

gan introducing budget cuts. Mankiller warned that tribal distribution of 

food, its housing programs, and a dozen other social services could be ad¬ 

versely affected. The chief also raised concerns about the threat to the Na¬ 

tion’s bingo operations posed by proposals to bring casino gambling to 

Oklahoma.54 

Threats of a more immediate nature confronted Mankiller as a result of 

questionable management of tribal operations, businesses, and related 

enterprises. In 1992 she named former chief Ross Swimmer to head 

Cherokee Nation Industries. Just three months after Mankiller left office, 

her successor and the CNi board asked for his resignation for loaning over 

half a million dollars of company money without authorization. A few 

months later, when CNi laid off almost a third of its workforce. Man- 

killer’s successor blamed poor management in the past. In December 1994 

an internal memo to Mankiller revealed “a litany of concerns” about the 

Cherokee National Historical Society. Later, the president of the historical 

society’s board said, “Our financial problems boil down to poor manage¬ 

ment. . . . There needs to be more accountability. We’ve never had that 

here before.” In 1993 and 1995, the Cherokee Nation Housing Authority’s 

proposals to the Department of Housing and Urban Development were 

not funded, hud officials cited deficiencies in the areas of “development 

of sites and timely construction.” When Mankiller was informed of the 

situation, she sent the authority’s director a letter demanding “an imme¬ 

diate written explanation of what on earth is going on over there.” These 

and other problems were not emphasized during Mankiller’s administra¬ 
tion.55 

In March of 1995, the chief endorsed George Bearpaw, the executive di¬ 

rector for tribal operations. In the June election he finished well ahead of 

Joe Byrd, a two-term council representative, but short of a majority. Be- 
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fore the runoff, the Cherokee Judicial Appeals Tribunal disqualified Man- 

killer s candidate because he had pled guilty to a felony over twenty years 

earlier. The chief pardoned Bearpaw, but the tribunal rejected pleas to re¬ 

instate him. Consequently, Byrd ran unopposed in the runoff.56 

After the election, Mankiller granted eleven departing executives sever¬ 

ance pay because she believed they would be fired by the new chief. Rela¬ 

tions between Mankiller and the incoming administration were so 

strained that she refused to attend Byrd’s inauguration.57 Days after as¬ 

suming office, the new chief charged his predecessor with misappropriat¬ 

ing over three hundred thousand dollars—the severance pay she’d autho¬ 

rized. Former chief Ross Swimmer called the payments “outrageous” and 

asserted, “It could be called an embezzlement by trustee.” Attorneys for 

the Nation sued Mankiller, but their indecision concerning jurisdiction 

left the case in limbo.5* Animosity surrounding the transition of adminis¬ 

trations thrust the tribal government into chaos. Whether the turmoil 

was the result of “sabotage” or “inept,” if not “corrupt,” leadership is a 

hotly contested issue. 

In February 1996, while hospitalized with pneumonia and a urinary 

tract infection, Mankiller was diagnosed with lymphoma. A six-month 

regimen of chemotherapy in Boston and radiation therapy at Fort Smith, 

Arkansas, brought the condition into remission but destroyed her trans¬ 

planted kidney. Continuing health problems have restricted Mankiller’s 

involvement in public affairs, although she has remained active in some of 

the causes and organizations she championed as chief. On 15 January 

1998, President Bill Clinton awarded Wilma Mankiller the Presidential 

Medal of Freedom, the nation’s highest civilian award. In ceremonies at 

the White House, the president praised the former chief as “not only as 

the guardian of the centuries-old Cherokee heritage but a revered leader 

who built a brighter and healthier future for her nation.”59 

Mankiller’s reputation did not shield the Cherokee Nation from further 

strife. Although the controversy surrounding the election of 1995 sub¬ 

sided, in February of 1997 a new crisis erupted. Mankiller refrained from 

public criticism of Chief Joe Byrd for a month, but on 21 March, she 

charged the chief with “an outrageous defiance of tribal law” and branded 

his accusations of a conspiracy to destroy his administration “utter non¬ 

sense.” In late July Mankiller reiterated her belief that Byrd precipitated 

the crisis. Threats of congressional intervention produced a shaky truce in 

late August. Wounds left by the intratribal feud will fester for years, but it 

will be even longer before this controversy and Mankiller’s role in it can 

be evaluated objectively. What seemed a Cinderella tale as Mankiller be- 
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gan her last year in office now resembles a Greek tragedy. Mankiller is 

more optimistic. While viewing the current situation as “a sad and terri¬ 

ble time,” she considers it “part of the learning process,” and believes the 

long-term impact will be positive.^® 

Afterword 

On 2 September 1997 a draft of this chapter was sent to Wilma Mankiller 

for comment. She returned a nine-page letter, dated 4 September, and a 

two-page letter, dated 5 September, suggesting revisions and providing 

her views on specific passages. Based on these two letters, portions of the 

chapter were revised. In other passages, where Mankiller challenged the 

interpretation, the author, after reviewing his sources, felt the original ac¬ 

counts were accurate and objective. In these instances no changes were 

made, but the author included almost all of Mankiller’s comments in the 

endnotes, which have been eliminated. Mankiller’s views are now sum¬ 

marized in the following paragraphs. She objected to issues raised con¬ 

cerning the elections of 1983 and 1987, was disappointed that the chapter 

did not refer to the “tremendous progress” made by the Cherokees under 

former chief Ross Swimmer, challenged the veracity of some of her critics, 

particularly Perry Wheeler, Bob Carlile, and Gary Chapman, and coun¬ 

tered charges of nepotism arising from her marriage to Charlie Soap. 

Mankiller defended herself against criticism of her negotiation of the tax¬ 

ation compact with the state of Oklahoma. 

The former Cherokee chief claimed that she had little or no control 

over the Cherokee National Historical Society and branded the character¬ 

ization of the problems in Cherokee Nation Industries discussed in this 

chapter as one-sided. She could not understand why her decision not to 

attend Joe Byrd’s inauguration attracted public attention. She pointed out 

that a member of Byrd’s transition team requested letters of resignation 

from senior people in the Cherokee Nation and insisted that they knew 

the new chief intended to fire them. This view is supported by Lynn How¬ 

ard. Mankiller also explained her decision to grant severance pay to per¬ 

sonnel who resigned their positions and defended it, citing the tribe’s 

long-standing implicit policy of granting departing executives severance 

pay. She maintained that Byrd offered to drop the suit against her to re¬ 

cover money paid to departing executives in return for her promise of 

public support of his administration. She also categorically denied claims 

that she conspired to embarrass the Byrd administration. 
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The author regrets that space constraints prevented the inclusion of the 

comments of Mankiller and Howard. Their responses to the drafts of this 

chapter would have added further insight into Mankiller’s career and out¬ 

look. 
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Ada Deer 

Menominee 

BY CLARA SUE KIDWELL 

On 11 May 1993, Ada Deer was nominated by President William Clinton 

to become the first American Indian woman in history to serve as assis¬ 

tant secretary of Indian Affairs in the Department of the Interior. She de¬ 

scribed her vision for the Bureau of Indian Affairs (bia) as being “a pro¬ 

gressive Federal/tribal partnership.”' There is a certain irony in her 

appointment since her tribe, the Menominee of Wisconsin, was the first 

with which the federal government terminated its trust relationship un¬ 

der House Concurrent Resolution 108, passed in 1953. Her rise to political 

power as assistant secretary was impelled primarily by her leadership in a 

1973 fight to reverse that termination and to restore the Menominees to 

federally recognized status. She organized grassroots organizations and 

lobbied tirelessly in the halls of Congress. The daughter of a politically ac¬ 

tive white mother and a Menominee father, Ada Deer’s own upbringing 

represents the forces of assimilation and resistance in Indian communi¬ 

ties in the twentieth century. Her resignation from the Bureau of Indian 

Affairs in 1993 demonstrates the difficulties of achieving true tribal self- 

determination in America today. 

Ada Deer was born on 7 August 1935 in a log cabin near the banks of the 

Wolf River, on the Menominee Reservation in Wisconsin.^ One of nine 

children, she was born to Constance Stockton Wood Deer, a white 

mother, and to Joseph Deer, a Menominee father with “a splash of French 

blood.” Her mother was from a wealthy east coast family and had worked 

for a time in Appalachia. She then accepted a position as a nurse with the 

Bureau of Indian Affairs (bia), moved to the Rosebud Reservation in 

South Dakota, and finally was stationed on the Menominee Reservation. 

Always a rebel, Constance Deer was an ardent champion of Indian rights, 

and had a profound impact on Ada’s life and future career. Her father, who 
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had an eighth-grade education, grew up on the reservation and made Ada 

a part of the Menominee grassroots community.’ 

Deer spent the first six years of her life on the Menominee Reservation 

with her parents and the four of her nine siblings who survived infancy. 

Yet economic opportunities on the reservation were limited, and in 1940 

the Deer family moved to Milwaukee, where Joseph Deer was soon 

drafted into the army to serve in World War II.^ Although the war was not 

the reason for the move, the Deers became part of a new wartime phe¬ 

nomenon, the voluntary relocation of Indian families from reservations to 

cities to seek better economic opportunities. They lived in a working-class 

neighborhood on the south side of Milwaukee, the only Indian family on 

the block. There, Ada, just six years old, first experienced the discrimina¬ 

tion of urban living. She and her siblings fought with neighborhood chil¬ 

dren who taunted them because of their “Indianess.” They fought back, 

but Ada also learned to strengthen herself in a different way. She received 

a significant lesson about honesty and responsibility in elementary school 

when a teacher scolded her for showing a classmate her work during a 

spelling test. The teacher told her, “If you have pride, you don’t give suc¬ 

cess away.” The statement impressed her with the importance of taking 

responsibility for her own work.’ 

The war years marked a period of increased prosperity for the Deers and 

many other American Indian families, but when the war ended their pros¬ 

perity declined. Meanwhile her brother became ill, and when Ada was ten 

years old the family moved back to the reservation. Although their log 

cabin had no running water or electricity, the family enjoyed the freedom 

and fresh air of the forest after the confinement of city life, and they raised 

goats whose milk improved her brother’s health. Ada attended public 

schools in Shawano, but she felt isolated from the other children because 

of her clothes and background. It was clear to her that Indian students 

were not readily accepted as equals by other students and some teachers.® 

The Menominee Reservation to which the Deer family had returned 

faced a period of transition. Established by the Treaty of Wolf River in 

1854, the reservation held valuable stands of timber. The treaty had pro¬ 

vided for the construction of a sawmill, but a gang of white entrepreneurs, 

the “Pine Ring,” soon hovered around the edges of the reservation, often 

illegally cutting timber on Menominee land. In 1871 the bia granted the 

tribe the right to cut and sell their own timber. During the early twentieth 

century the Menominees operated a profitable sawmill, but tribal leaders 

continually struggled with the bia over the management of the forest, the 

mill, and the profits from the lumber industry.^ 
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Much of the tribe’s conflict with federal officials focused on the effects 

of a disastrous windstorm that in 1905 had downed approximately forty 

million board feet of timber on the reservation. The bia had appointed an 

agent to oversee the recovery of this timber, but he had mismanaged his 

assignment; large quantities of marketable lumber had been lost. In re¬ 

sponse, the Menominees sued the federal government for damages. Dur¬ 

ing 1908 Senator Robert M. LaFollette of Wisconsin sponsored legislation 

to set standards for the sustained yield management of Menominee 

timber resources. Yet the bia still retained considerable control over the 

Menominee sawmill and most managerial positions were occupied by 

non-Indians. However, LaFollette’s legislation did establish structures for 

tribal governance: a general council composed of adult members of the 

tribe, and an elected executive committee of twelve tribe members. The 

Menominees had continued to function under such political structures 

throughout the first third of the twentieth century.* 

In 1934, after the passage of the Indian Reorganization Act (ira). Com¬ 

missioner of Indian Affairs John Collier urged the Menominees and other 

tribes to adopt a BiA-sponsored, tribal constitution that would alter their 

system of government. Since Menominee leaders initially believed that 

the adoption of the bia proposal would provide them with more control 

over their timberlands and sawmill, they urged the Menominee people to 

adopt the new constitution. Yet opponents of the measure pointed out 

that under the ira the jobs of the non-Indian mill managers still would be 

protected through the federal civil service system; federal bureaucrats 

would continue to control hiring and firing decisions for mill operations. 

In response, the Menominees rejected the ira constitution, and the tribe 

continued to function under the Advisory Council, which comprised 

twelve elected members, and the General Council, which was made up of 

all enrolled Menominees.9 

When World War II ended, the timber industry still provided employ¬ 

ment for many Menominee people, and income from the mill and its 

products allowed the tribe to pay for the majority of its social services. 

The Menominees financed their own electrical utility and community 

recreational facilities, and supported a local hospital managed by an order 

of Catholic nuns. Although many reservation families were cash-poor, 

and the average wage of mill workers was $2,300 per year, in general the 

tribe was in significantly better financial shape than most other Indian 

tribes in the nation. 

Yet the Menominees faced some significant problems. Differing accul¬ 

turation patterns enabled some Menominees to gain better access to the 
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reservation’s abundant natural resources and viable wage economy. An¬ 

thropologists who studied the Menominees during this period found that 

the reservation population ranged from highly acculturated individuals to 

tribespeople who still followed the old ways. Some were Christians, some 

were members of the Native American Church, and others continued to 

practice traditional Menominee ceremonies.“ Differences also existed be¬ 

tween mixed-blood and full-blood Menominees. Like many other tribal 

communities, the Menominee Reservation was divided by political fac¬ 

tions. For example, under the tribal political structure, the Advisory 

Council (composed mainly of a relatively acculturated elite) was forced to 

submit decisions to the General Council, a group that often expressed a 

basic suspicion of leaders in general. Friction also developed between Me¬ 

nominee men who had seasonal or intermittent work as jobbers for the 

mills, and Menominee families whose members held the better paying 

jobs in the mills and the bia agency. 

The end of the war also marked a shift in federal Indian policy. Many 

Americans believed that the federal government’s unique series of rela¬ 

tionships with, and obligations to, Indians should be ended, and that In¬ 

dian people should be “strongly encouraged” to assimilate into non-Indian 

society. In 1945, Congress largely repudiated Collier’s plans to enhance the 

powers of tribal governments, and Collier resigned as commissioner of In¬ 

dian Affairs.H One year later Congress approved the Indian Claims Com¬ 

mission Act, which gave the tribes the right to sue the government for the 

violation of treaty agreements and the subsequent loss of land and re¬ 

sources. Ostensibly an act to correct past injustices to the tribes, it also was 

an attempt to eliminate the possibility of future Indian claims against the 

government and initiate the termination of federal responsibility toward 

the tribes.^'* In 1947, in response to a congressional directive, William Zim¬ 

merman, assistant commissioner of the bia, proposed a specific plan to 

terminate the tribes in a phased sequence depending upon their level of ac¬ 

culturation, economic resources, and acquiescence, and the willingness of 

state governments to assume responsibilities for their protection, social 

services, and so on. The Menominees were among the ten tribal communi¬ 

ties that Zimmerman deemed ready to be free of federal supervision.'5 

In 1951, amidst uncertainty over their future relationship with the fed¬ 

eral government, the Menominees learned that their half-century-old 

lawsuit against the federal government over the downed timber of 1905 fi¬ 

nally had been settled, and that the tribe would receive a payment of 

$8,500,000 ($7,600,000 after legal fees). Added to the almost $2,500,000 

already accumulated in the tribe’s Treasury Department account, the Me- 



ADA DEER ^ 243 

nominees potentially were one of the wealthiest tribes in the United 

States. The bia was responsible for the disbursement of the money, but 

the tribe had the authority to review and approve expenditures. Conflicts 

soon emerged between bia officials and the Advisory Council over control 

of the funds, and also among tribal factions over the disbursement of the 

money. 

The distribution of these funds soon became entangled in the govern¬ 

ment’s emerging termination policies. In January 1953 the General Coun¬ 

cil voted for a per capita distribution (fifteen hundred dollars to each 

tribal member) of most of the funds from the lawsuit payment, while the 

BIA wanted the tribe to use the money to fund further tribal services.The 

Menominees’ plan for a per capita payment needed congressional ap¬ 

proval, but it was held up by Arthur V. Watkins, chairman of the Senate 

Subcommittee on Indian Affairs, and the strongest proponent of termina¬ 

tion (which he referred to as the “freedom program”) in Congress. Wat¬ 

kins demanded that the Menominees accept termination as a condition 

for receiving the per capita payment. He was invited by a Menominee del¬ 

egation to visit the reservation and spoke to the Menominee General 

Council on 20 June 1953. He informed the members that termination was 

a foregone conclusion, and that the per capita payment was dependent 

upon their acceptance of the policy. In response the General Council 

voted to transfer responsibility for services and the management of the 

sawmill from the bia to the tribe. By linking termination to the per capita 

payment, Watkins effectively coerced the Menominees to accept the idea. 

The vote however, concealed a widespread misunderstanding and fear of 

termination.^* 

While the Menominees voted to accept termination as a condition for 

receiving their cash settlement. Congress moved toward finalizing its ter¬ 

mination policies on a national basis. In July 1953 the House of Represen¬ 

tatives passed House Concurrent Resolution 108, endorsing a policy of 

termination and specifically naming the Menominees as one of the tribes 

eligible for the process.*9 When the House and Senate Subcommittees on 

Indian Affairs held joint hearings on the proposed termination legislation 

in the spring of 1954, the Menominees offered no protest. The tribe 

seemed to believe that resistance was futile. The hearing focused not on 

whether the tribe should be terminated or not, but on establishing proce¬ 

dures through which the Menominees could plan for their own termina¬ 

tion. The final bill for Menominee termination was signed into law on 17 

June 1954. The deadline for the tribe to submit its plan, and for termina¬ 

tion to become reality, was 31 December 1958. Although the tribe re- 
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quested financial assistance with the planning process, it was granted 

only half the costs. The bia took a hands-off attitude: bureau officials 

maintained that they did not want to be perceived as attempting to con¬ 

trol the tribe.^° By 1958 many Menominees expressed a growing concern 

about their earlier decision to accept termination, but it was too late. Af¬ 

ter a series of appeals and delaying tactics that extended the final deadline 

for the Menominee plan, the formal termination took place on 30 April 

1961.“ 

While the Menominees were moving toward termination, Ada Deer 

progressed through her adolescence. In 1949 she entered high school at 

Shawano, Wisconsin. Ada’s mother set high academic standards for her, 

and despite her feelings that she was not fully accepted by other students 

in the school, she tried to live up to her mother’s expectations. She made 

good grades but initially had difficulty adjusting to the conflicting de¬ 

mands of the predominantly white high school and the socioeconomic 

standards of her family. Ada’s mother, Constance Deer, earlier had been 

influenced by Mormon missionaries, and at the beginning of her sopho¬ 

more year Ada was sent to live with a Mormon farm family in Gunnison, 

Utah. Although the situation in the Shawano public schools had been far 

from ideal, it was tolerable; when Ada arrived in Utah she found herself 

resident on a rural farm, attending a school system with a predominantly 

conservative Mormon faculty and student body, and expected by her host 

family to labor in their dairy barn in exchange for her room and board. 

She soon returned to Wisconsin. 

Enrolled again at Shawano High School, Ada continued to excel at ev¬ 

erything except algebra. She edited the senior class yearbook, won the 

Original Oratory contest, and during her senior year she served on the 

Youth Advisory Board of the Wisconsin governor’s Commission on Hu¬ 

man Rights. Moreover, during her senior year, after her mother entered 

her picture in a national contest to select one of the “six most beautiful In¬ 

dian girls in America,” she won a trip to Hollywood and a one-line speak¬ 

ing part in the western film The Battle of Rogue River. Her mother and sev¬ 

eral teachers at Shawano High School encouraged her to attend college, 

and when she graduated from high school the tribe awarded her a schol¬ 

arship of a thousand dollars per year for four years. In the fall of 1953, 

while her tribe was voting on the termination issue, Ada Deer enrolled as 

a pre-med major at the University of Wisconsin.^3 

In Madison, Deer’s interest in social and political issues important to 

Native American people heightened. She continued to speak out on In¬ 

dian issues as a member of the governor’s Commission on Human Rights, 
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and during the summer between her freshman and sophomore years 

(1954) she participated in the Encampment for Citizenship in New York 

City. The Encampment, sponsored by the Ethnical Culture Society, 

brought high school and college students from many backgrounds to¬ 

gether to study democratic processes in American society. Through the 

Encampment she also met Eleanor Roosevelt at Hyde Park in July 1954. 

Becoming less interested in medicine. Deer enrolled in coursework fo¬ 

cused on public service and, because of her ability to influence people, 

was encouraged by an economics professor to consider a career as a diplo¬ 

mat. Deer later recalled that the professor’s advice “changed my whole 

perspective of myself,” since she began to see herself not only as a Me¬ 

nominee, but as a “citizen of America and the world.” During her senior 

year at Wisconsin, Deer changed her major to social work, and graduated 

with a bachelor of science from the University of Wisconsin in 1957.^"* 

Deer’s decision to pursue a career in social work was partially moti¬ 

vated by events occurring back on the Menominee Reservation. As the 

tribe moved toward termination, and the old, established support struc¬ 

tures broke down, socioeconomic conditions deteriorated. The hospital 

formerly staffed and managed by Catholic nuns closed. The tribal electric¬ 

ity plant was sold. The General Council voted for a per capita distribution 

of funds, which further depleted the tribal treasury. The tribe had no ad¬ 

ministrative structure to handle the responsibilities that it was forced to 

assume. The tribe’s education was at the eighth-grade level, which was 

comparable to most of the surrounding population, but there was no pro¬ 

fessional expertise in the form of doctors, lawyers, or social workers to 

administer programs on the reservation. Meanwhile, the leadership of the 

tribe remained in the hands of men who had long been involved in tribal 

politics.^5 

In 1957, while the tribe struggled through the termination crisis. Deer 

enrolled in the Master of Science in Social Work program at Columbia 

University, the best such program in the nation. Her first field placement 

was in the Henry Street Settlement House in Manhattan. She then took a 

two-year leave from the program and worked with African American high 

school students in the Bedford-Styvesant housing project in New York 

City. She returned to Columbia in i960 and completed a final placement 

with the State Charities Aid Association of New York, supervising homes 

for abandoned or orphaned infants. Deer finished her master’s degree in 

1961, and despite, or perhaps because of the situation on the Menominee 

Reservation, she did not return to Wisconsin. Rather she accepted a posi¬ 

tion as program director for a project with urban Indians at the Waite 
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Neighborhood House in Minneapolis. There she attended community 

meetings and experienced firsthand the concerns of an urban Indian com¬ 

munity.^® 

Although Deer resided in Minneapolis, she regularly visited the Me¬ 

nominee Reservation and it soon became apparent to her that the tribe s 

termination had been a disaster. In 1963 she traveled to Washington DC 

where she requested and received a meeting with Phileo Nash, the com¬ 

missioner of Indian Affairs. A former lieutenant-governor of Wisconsin, 

Nash was aware of the Menominees’ ordeal and sympathized with Deer’s 

criticism of the bia’s lack of effort in preparing the tribe to deal with the 

complexities of the termination process. Nash was impressed with the 

young Menominee woman and suggested that she work for the bia. In 

1964 she accepted an offer from the bia area director in Minneapolis to 

become the area’s community services coordinator. Two years later Nash 

asked her to travel across the United States, visit Indian communities, and 

report on the socioeconomic conditions she found. The experiences she 

gained from this trip were vital to both her understanding of conditions 

in Indian Country and to her growing national reputation. 

When Deer returned to Minnesota she found that a new area director 

had abolished her position and that she had been reassigned as an em¬ 

ployment counselor. Disillusioned with a job that seemed largely without 

influence or any chance for advancement, she resigned after six months. 

She remained in Minneapolis where she worked temporarily for the Uni¬ 

versity of Minnesota, then accepted a position as a school social worker 

for the Minneapolis Board of Education. But like many school systems, 

the Minneapolis public school district was a highly bureaucratic struc¬ 

ture, and Deer believed there was no real administrative support for In¬ 

dian education, or sensitivity to the special needs of Indian students. In 

1969, when she was offered a position as director of the Upward Bound 

program at the University of Wisconsin at Stevens Point, she resigned 

from her position in Minneapolis and moved back to Wisconsin.^* 

By 1970, Deer’s activities at the local, regional, and national levels al¬ 

ready had attracted considerable attention. She already had served on the 

board of directors for the Girl Scouts of America and on the U.S. Depart¬ 

ment of Health, Education, and Welfare’s Urban Indian Task Force; and 

had attended the White House Conference on Children and Youth. The 

self-confidence, articulateness, and charisma that had gained her recogni¬ 

tion throughout her undergraduate years continued to attract the atten¬ 

tion of individuals in positions of power and influence. In 1970, LaDonna 

Harris, founder of Americans for Indian Opportunity (aid) and wife of 
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Senator Fred Harris of Oklahoma, invited her to serve on the aio board of 
directors. 

But 1970 also was a critical year for the Menominee people. After al¬ 

most a decade of “freedom,” the previously prosperous tribe was rapidly 

sinking into poverty. Under the provisions of termination, the former Me¬ 

nominee Reservation became the seventy-second county of Wisconsin, 

and the tribe’s assets were incorporated into Menominee Enterprises Inc. 

(mei), a new corporation controlled by a voting trust composed of three 

white and four Menominee trustees. Each of the 3,270 tribal members re¬ 

ceived a hundred shares of stock, valued at a hundred dollars apiece, in 

the corporation. An additional three thousand shares of stock were to be 

sold to obtain capital for mei. The trust elected the board of directors, 

which managed the daily affairs of the corporation. This double-tiered 

management structure supposedly was designed to buffer mei against fac¬ 

tionalism and infighting within the tribe. Some Menominees alleged, 

however, that it was formulated to keep the control of the trust in the 

hands of a governing elite and out of the hands of the majority of tribal 

members. Moreover, in what was to become a highly controversial move, 

the shares allocated to minors and incompetent persons were placed in a 

separate trust at the First Wisconsin Trust Company of Milwaukee. Con¬ 

sequently, in 1961 when the Menominees were first terminated, the First 

Wisconsin Trust controlled approximately 40 percent of mei.5° 

Each tribe member also received an income bond that was to pay a 4 

percent annual interest, and to have a maturity value in the year 2000. The 

bond supplanted the annual stumpage fees from timber sales that tribe 

members had received under the old reservation system. Unlike the an¬ 

nual stumpage payments, however, the bonds were negotiable instru¬ 

ments. Since the Menominees now were expected to purchase the lands 

on which their individual homes had been built prior to termination, 

many tribe members used their bonds as payment.^' 

The transition from reservation to corporation was extremely difficult 

for the Menominee people. Services that the tribe previously had ob¬ 

tained through the bia and the Catholic Church no longer were available. 

Now dependent upon state and local facilities, tribe members turned to 

county commissioners, or the state of Wisconsin for educational or medi¬ 

cal assistance.32^ The Menominees’ problems also were accentuated by the 

new management of the tribe’s former sawmill. Prior to termination, the 

mill, now mei’s major asset, had been managed as a social service rather 

than as a “for profit” business. Its purpose had been to provide employ¬ 

ment for as many tribe members as possible, and it generally had done so 
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despite continuing complaints by tribal leaders that the best jobs, that is, 

managerial jobs, went to non-Indians. In contrast, after 1961, when the 

mill became the primary asset of a private corporation (which in turn be¬ 

came the major tax base of a county government) the enterprise was 

forced to function as a profitable business venture. In turn, mill managers 

interested in profits automated many of the mill procedures, which made 

the mill more efficient but markedly increased tribal unemployment. 

Ironically, because the termination agreement maintained the sustained- 

yield management of logging operations, additional timber could not be 

harvested and the mill could not increase its profits through greater pro¬ 

duction. Meanwhile, since the tribe had distributed most of its tribal 

treasury through per capita payments during the termination period, mei 

had no cash reserve for operating capital.” 

Although the loss of social services, the now-expensive electrical pow¬ 

er, and the disproportionately low-paying mill jobs plagued the Me¬ 

nominee people, a more serious threat loomed on the horizon: the ero¬ 

sion of the Menominee landbase through the sale of land to non-Indians 

for use as vacation homes and recreational facilities. Short of capital, 

MEi’s board of directors proposed the sale of lakefront acreages on a new 

lake to be constructed on forest lands still held in trust for the Menomi- 

nees. In conjunction with a nationally known land developer, the board of 

directors proposed to develop and market lakefront home sites at what 

would become “Legend Lake.” The sale of land required the approval of 

two-thirds of the corporation’s shareholders (a majority impossible to 

achieve), but in 1967 the board devised a plan to lease the proposed home 

sites for forty years, with options to buy, and in 1968 began construction 

on the first of three dams that would create the new lake for the vacation 
community.34 

Dominated by non-Menominee trustees and board members, mei had 

not been popular with many rank-and-file Menominees. One of its most 

outspoken critics was Constance Deer, Ada’s mother. In 1963 she founded 

the Citizens’ Association for the Advancement of the Menominee People 

(CAAMP), which had generated a petition with eight hundred Memominee 

signatures calling for the repeal of termination. She continued to criticize 

MEI in “fiery letters” to public officials and in speeches at public hearings. 

Controversy over the Legend Lake project solidified the opposition to mei 

board members, and when mei opened sales offices to market future lake- 

front lots, other Menominees picketed the offices or attempted to disrupt 

dinner parties held for prospective buyers.” 
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As the controversy over Legend Lake became associated with the larger 

issue of reversing termination, political factionalism again cut across Me¬ 

nominee politics. Significant numbers of Menominees resided off the res¬ 

ervation, and many of these tribe members, willing to accept liquidation 

of the tribal assets to gain their shares in cash, had supported the ter¬ 

mination legislation. Menominees resident on the reservation often ques¬ 

tioned the nonreservation tribe members’ loyalty, and accused them of 

wanting to vote the tribe out of existence. Those who continued to favor 

the termination program countered that for decades prior to 1961 the old 

advisory boards and general councils had been subject to the heavy hand 

of the bia; termination at least provided tribe members with an opportu¬ 

nity to be free of bureau authority.^® 

By the late 1960s the Deer family had become embroiled in these issues. 

Constance continued her fight against termination, and in 1969 Ada’s 

younger sister Connie attended an mei shareholders meeting at which 

she requested a review of the costs of the Legend Lake project, a request 

that was promptly denied. Angered by what she envisioned as the mei’s 

arrogance, Ada contacted Wisconsin Judicare, a state legal services 

agency, and requested assistance. Joseph Preloznik, the agency’s director, 

promptly responded with legal action, and the mei was forced to open its 
records. 

Encouraged by the legal victory. Deer worked with other opponents of 

the MEI directors to gain control of the corporation. Assisted by her sister 

Connie, and Joan Keshena Harte, a Menominee living in Chicago, she be¬ 

gan to organize Menominees living in Milwaukee and northern Illinois. 

Jim White, a gifted Menominee orator and a resident of Chicago, at¬ 

tracted media attention. With the help of Lloyd Powless, Deer mounted a 

telephone campaign in Milwaukee to organize Menominees in that urban 

area, and she also enlisted the assistance of Nancy Lurie, an anthropolo¬ 

gist at the University of Wisconsin at Milwaukee, who hosted meetings in 

her home and who published a number of articles in scholarly journals 

that called attention to the Menominee plight. Meanwhile, Joseph Preloz¬ 

nik, the director of the Wisconsin Judicare agency met with Menominee 

groups in Chicago to explain the operations of mei and the implications of 

the termination legislation.3** 

During the spring of 1970 a unified organization. Determination of the 

Rights and Unity of Menominee Shareholders (drums), emerged from 

these efforts. Led by Jim White, its first president and most prominent 

spokesperson, the group began to solicit members and organize in Me- 
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nominee County, where it encountered stiff opposition from mei officials. 

Although MEI agents disrupted drums’s organizational meetings, a back¬ 

lash against mei developed when the land developer in partnership with 

MEI bulldozed sites around Legend Lake before legal action initiated by 

Wisconsin Judicare could halt it. In response drums organized confronta¬ 

tional picket lines at Legend Lake sales offices and mass marches to the 

state legislature.” drums also organized a mass mailing to Menominee 

shareholders, urging them to vote the mei trust directors out of office. In 

response, mei trustee president George Kenote promised to expand the 

number of trustees, and in a subsequent special election. Deer and 

another drums candidate, Georgianne Ignace, won seats on the board. 

But in April 1971, she and other drums members lost a crucial vote that 

would have dissolved the trust completely. According to the terms of the 

Termination Bill, a dissolution of the trust agreement required the con¬ 

sent of 51 percent of all shareholders. Not all shareholders cast ballots, 

and the First Wisconsin Trust Company cast its votes in favor of mei.4° 

Disappointed but not daunted by the defeat. Deer and other drums 

leaders changed their tactics. Instead of attempting to convince mei to 

vote itself out of existence, they decided to petition Congress to reverse 

the 1961 termination legislation that had dissolved the Menominee Reser¬ 

vation. Ironically, by 1970 many officials in Washington acknowledged 

that the termination policies had failed. The Menominees teetered on the 

edge of economic disaster, and the state of Wisconsin was neither able 

nor willing to provide them with adequate services. Moreover, in an ad¬ 

dress on 8 July 1970, President Richard Nixon officially repudiated termi¬ 

nation in favor of self-determination for Indian people. In Congress, 

change was in the air. By the summer of 1970 the Senate Committee on In¬ 

terior and Insular Affairs already was considering Concurrent Resolution 

26, rejecting termination. In response to a congressional invitation. Deer 

led a delegation of drums members to Washington where she testified in 

support of the resolution on 21 July 1971.41 

While Deer testified in Congress, drums members in Wisconsin kept 

up their confrontational tactics. They organized a march from Keshena to 

Madison in October 1971; gained national media attention in the Washing¬ 

ton Post and the New York Times-, and convinced Governor Patrick Lucey to 

visit Menominee County to examine the poor economic and social condi¬ 

tions there. In addition, during November Deer was reelected and joined 

by three other drums members on the mei board of trustees. At the 

board’s next organization meeting. Deer was elected chair. She immedi¬ 

ately announced that she would open the trustees’ meetings to the public. 
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provide detailed minutes of all meetings to the shareholders, open com¬ 

munication between trustees and shareholders, and attempt to establish a 

board composed entirely of Menominees.^^ 

DRUMS now controlled mei’s board of directors, but Deer knew that the 

battle against termination was not over. Although Congress had repudi¬ 

ated the termination policy, the 1961 legislation dissolving the Menomi¬ 

nee Reservation still remained, and the Menominees would need special 

legislation if Congress was to reverse itself, abolish the earlier bill, and re¬ 

store the reservation. To achieve such a goal, the Menominees needed the 

support of both officials in Wisconsin and the state’s congressional dele¬ 

gation. In November 1971, representatives of mei and drums met with 

Governor Patrick Lucey and agreed on a restoration bill that would rein¬ 

state tribal status, reopen the tribal rolls, and restore all land to trust sta¬ 

tus. Assisted by Charles Wilkinson and Yvonne Knight, attorneys for the 

Native American Rights Fund, Deer meet with the Wisconsin congres¬ 

sional delegation. Senators William Proxmire and Gaylord Nelson, and 

Congressman David Obey agreed to sponsor legislation to accomplish 

these ends. Meanwhile Deer led a small delegation of Menominees to 

Washington where they established an office and lobbied extensively in 

the tribe’s behalf. Their efforts were supported by Senator Fred Harris 

from Oklahoma, his wife, LaDonna Harris, and Phileo Nash. LaDonna 

Harris and Nash served as co-directors of drums’s Advisory Committee. 

Deer spent the next two years in Washington, building support for the 

proposed legislation. In 1971 she entered law school at the University of 

Wisconsin, but her responsibilities in Washington took precedence over 

her studies, and she withdrew from the university to spearhead the lobby¬ 

ing efforts, drums provided some financial support, as did small contri¬ 

butions from individuals and an occasional foundation, but Deer and the 

other lobbyists often survived through the hospitality of friends, particu¬ 

larly LaDonna Harris. Deer traveled regularly between Washington and 

Wisconsin, but because funds were scarce, communication between the 

Washington lobbyists and rank-and-file Menominees were difficult.Yet 

their efforts proved successful. The restoration bill passed the House by a 

vote of 404 to 3, and the Senate on a voice vote. Richard Nixon signed it 

into law, on 22 December 1973.“*5 

For the Menominees, the passage of the restoration bill was the first, 

not the final chapter. Congress had been willing to legalize the restoration 

of the Menominee tribal government and reservation, but it remained up 

to the Menominees to decide what sort of government they wanted and to 

ascertain just how that government would exert authority over the newly 
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restored tribal lands. The restoration legislation provided for the forma¬ 

tion of a restoration committee to oversee these decisions, and Deer was 

elected the chair. She and other committee members were faced with a 

formidable task. The struggle against the old guard mei trustees and their 

allies had united the drums activists, but with their enemy defeated, 

problems emerged over the establishment of a working government. 

Moreover, as committee chair. Deer was forced to deal both with bia offi¬ 

cials who still viewed their role as managers of Menominee affairs, and 

with disgruntled tribespeople who saw the restoration of trust status as 

continued federal interference in Menominee affairs.4® 

Deer also faced opposition from another quarter. Her leadership and 

the subsequent victory in obtaining the restoration legislation had 

strengthened her reputation as an effective Indian leader, but most of her 

efforts had taken place in Washington. While others carried on dramatic 

demonstrations and confrontations in Wisconsin, Deer, who was pol¬ 

ished, articulate, and persuasive, used her skills to persuade in the halls of 

Congress to further the Menominee cause. Yet because her efforts had 

been carried out in Congress rather than on the reservation, she and other 

members of the committee were accused of being aloof and operating too 

much on their own initiative, similar to the charges that earlier had been 

leveled against the governing board of the mei. drums and its leaders now 

came under increased criticism because they had been forced to operate 

outside Menominee County and had not garnered the whole-hearted sup¬ 

port of all the local Menominee communities; they were accused of not 

being in touch with “grassroots” Menominees. These charges stung 

deeply; they were particularly harsh for a woman who had given up her 

own career and had spent two years of her life lobbying and negotiating 

with congressional leaders for the benefit of her tribe.47 

Deer’s leadership abilities soon were tested. The committee faced a 

new organization, the Menominee Warrior Society, which adopted some 

of the tactics drums had used against mei. Comprising disaffected drums 

members, old-guard mei officers, some American Indian Movement 

members, and a smattering of liberal to radical white political activists 

seeking Indian causes, the Warrior Society on 31 December 1974 forcibly 

occupied a facility near Gresham, Wisconsin, recently vacated by the Al- 

exian Brothers, a Catholic religious order. The Warrior Society publicly 

announced that they intended to transform the building into a reservation 

hospital. Angered by the seizure, the governor of Wisconsin attempted to 

bypass the committee and called out the Wisconsin National Guard to in¬ 

tervene directly with the Warrior Society. In contrast. Deer and the com- 
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mittee took the reasoned position that the seizure of the property was il¬ 

legal, and that the committee was not empowered to accept the facility on 

behalf of the tribe. Although the issues never were directly joined, the 

Warrior Society eventually dispersed and abandoned the buildings. In re¬ 

sponse, the committee obtained several substantial federal grants and 

built a new health facility for the reservation. Finally, in 1978, tribe 

members approved a new, constitutional government that restored full 

self-government to the Menominee tribe. 

The Warrior Society’s occupation of the Alexian Brothers’ facilities was 

indicative of Native American political activism in the 1970s. Tribal lead¬ 

ers during this decade faced many challenges. Those who had learned the 

skills of political negotiation at the national level often became the target 

of young, disaffected Indians who demanded immediate results. Indian 

discontent with the policies and procedures of the bia led to the occupa¬ 

tion of the agency’s headquarters in Washington during 1972, and one 

year later the American Indian Movement seized control of the tiny ham¬ 

let of Wounded Knee, South Dakota. Meanwhile, federal officials strug¬ 

gled to develop an appropriate response.49 

Federal marshals and fbi agents surrounded Wounded Knee, and the 

confrontation eventually dissipated, but Congress responded with two 

pieces of legislation that eventually changed the nature of the tribe’s rela¬ 

tionship with the federal government. Led by Senator James Abourezk 

from South Dakota, chairman of the Senate Subcommittee on Indian Af¬ 

fairs, and Congressman Lloyd Meeds of Washington State, an active sup¬ 

porter of the Menominee Restoration Bill and a member of the House 

Subcommittee on Indian Affairs, in January 1975 Congress passed the In¬ 

dian Self-Determination and Educational Assistance Act—legislation that 

established the right of tribal governments to contract with the bia to run 

their own programs. During the same month President Gerald Ford also 

signed a bill that established the American Indian Policy Review Commis¬ 

sion.5° The commission was to be composed of five Indian representatives 

and six members of Congress. It operated under the auspices of Congress, 

with all the limitations of funding and political pressure that entailed. The 

Indian members of the commission were chosen by the congressional 

members. Deer was nominated by Lloyd Meeds, who stated, “In all re¬ 

spects she is one of the finest, most capable individuals I have met, a tre¬ 

mendously fine organizer who would bring to the Commission a great 

deal of prestige. ”51 

The commission quickly became involved in controversy. Although 

Deer and the other Native Americans appointed to it possessed excellent 
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credentials, their appointments immediately were challenged by the Na¬ 

tional Tribal Chairman’s Association (ntca), since none of the appointees 

were tribal chairs. The association charged that they did not reflect the 

views of all Indian people. The ntca lawsuit was unsuccessful, and the 

five congressional appointees assumed their place on the commission, but 

the suit cast some doubt on the commission’s efforts. 

Yet the commission faced more important problems than the ntca 

challenge. At issue was the basic nature of the relationship between In¬ 

dian people and the Bureau of Indian Affairs. Some members of the com¬ 

mission, and many Indian people, believed that the bia should be abol¬ 

ished altogether—that the bureau no longer served the best interests of 

the tribes. Other commissioners (and other Indians) argued that the bia 

should be retained as a symbol of the federal government’s obligations to 

Indian people, but that it should better serve Indian interests rather than 

function as a self-serving bureaucracy with primary control over Native 

Americans and their resources. Yet regardless of their differences, the five 

Indian members of the commission agreed “that the goal of Indian self- 

sufficiency is indeed a matter of overriding importance. ”5^ 

The thirty-one task force members and the majority of their staff who 

conducted a series of hearings and fact-finding missions across the United 

States were American Indians. The commission’s final report, published 

in 1977, contained a total of 206 recommendations. The most important 

one stated that the bia should be retained but reorganized into a service 

agency, its authority should be decentralized, and it should become an in¬ 

dependent department within the federal government. In addition, the 

commission recommended that the position of commissioner of Indian 

Affairs be elevated to the rank of assistant secretary. Like the Indian Self- 

Determination and Educational Assistance Act, the commission’s report 

also stipulated that the bia should contract directly with the tribes to pro¬ 

vide necessary services. Although commission Vice Chairman LLoyd 

Meeds had previously supported Menominee restoration and the Indian 

Self-Determination and Educational Assistance Act, and had nominated 

Deer to the commission, he disagreed with her and the other Indian com¬ 

missioners over the commission’s final report. Denying the principal of 

tribal sovereignty that the Indian commissioners so strongly espoused. 

Meeds characterized the report as “the product of one-sided advocacy in 

favor of American Indian tribes. ”53 

While serving as a commissioner. Deer also was named a fellow at the 

Harvard Institute of Politics, and in 1978 she was appointed senior lec¬ 

turer in the School of Social Work and Native American Studies at the 
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University of Wisconsin at Madison. In 1979 she left the university to join 

the staff of the Native American Rights Fund (narf), where she utilized 

her lobbying experience as legislative liaison at narf’s Washington office. 

NARF had served as an important legal resource for drums during the 

struggle over restoration, and she remained with the agency until 1981, 

when she returned to the University of Wisconsin. From 1984 to 1990 she 

served on narf’s board of directors, acting as chair of the board from 1989 

to 1990.54 

Back in Wisconsin, Deer became actively involved with the Democratic 

Party. She was well-known to party leaders through her lobbying and 

other political activities, and in 1978 and 1982 she was an unsuccessful 

Democratic candidate for the Secretary of State’s office in Wisconsin. In 

1978 and 1982 she was credited with introducing an Indian plank into the 

National Democratic Platform, and one year later Deer was appointed to 

the Commission on Presidential Nomination of the Democratic National 

Party (the Flunt Committee), which examined the presidential nomina¬ 

tion process and recommended changes, including a system of at-large 

delegates, which included a substantial number of women and minorities. 

Deer attended the 1984 Democratic Convention as one of these at-large 

delegates whose votes played a significant role in Walter Mondale’s nom¬ 

ination. She campaigned actively for Mondale in Wisconsin.55 

In 1992 Deer won the Democratic primary for the House of Representa¬ 

tives from the Second District in Wisconsin. She campaigned actively in 

the general election (she used a campaign slogan she always had wanted 

to utilize: “Me Nominee’’), but she lost to her Republican opponent. Yet 

when WiUiam Clinton won the presidency he nominated her as the first 

woman to hold the office of assistant secretary for Indian Affairs. Testify¬ 

ing before the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs, Deer championed a 

policy of “strong, effective tribal sovereignty. . . . The days of federal pa¬ 

ternalism are over.” Secretary of the Interior Bruce Babbit described her 

as “a strong leader with a lifelong commitment to American Indian rights, 

to improving the lives of American Indians, and to the strengthening of 

tribal governments . . . She is an outstanding advocate with an impressive 

record of success and accomplishment.” The U.S. Senate confirmed her 

appointment on 16 July 1993.5^ 

Deer served as assistant secretary for Indian Affairs from 1993 until 

1997. During her term in office, 223 Native villages in Alaska and 12 tribes 

achieved federal recognition. The number of tribes contracting for their 

own services increased to 180 through 54 annual funding agreements. 

Tribal-state gaming compacts were signed between 130 tribes and 24 
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states, and a century-old boundary dispute between the federal govern¬ 

ment and the Crow Tribe was settled. During Deer s term in office Con¬ 

gress passed important amendments to the American Indian Religious 

Freedom Act and to the Indian Self-Determination and Educational Assis¬ 

tance Act. Moreover, she took an active role in mediating a dispute be¬ 

tween contesting parties of the Oneida Nation in New York over who 

should exercise legitimate authority in tribal government (a role that gar¬ 

nered some criticism from Native Americans). Deer also attempted to re¬ 

organize the BIA in accordance with the recommendations that she and 

other commissioners had advocated while serving with the American In¬ 

dian Policy Review Commission in 1977. Yet her outspoken advocacy of 

tribal sovereignty in an era when Congress was engaged in significant 

budget reductions, and when tribal sovereignty over taxation and gaming 

was creating a backlash against Indian self-determination eventually 

caused her to run afoul of the Clinton administration. On 9 January 1997, 

at the request of Secretary of the Interior Bruce Babbit, she resigned from 

her office as assistant secretary.^? 

Reflecting on her tenure, Ada Deer described her primary goal as one 

“to oversee [the bia’s] transition from paternalistic landlord to true part¬ 

ner on a government to government basis with American Indian tribes.” 

She acknowledged that “[w]hat happens in DC is about power, and power 

is based on perception. But it is important to understand that we are not 

always in control of how we are perceived.”5* 

Throughout most of her adult life, Ada Deer has been perceived as a 

leader. In addition to her career as a political activist and a public servant, 

she has served on many boards: the National Association of Social Work¬ 

ers, Common Cause, the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, and the Pres¬ 

idential Commission on White House Fellows, to name just a few. She has 

served on the president’s Inter-Agency Council on Women, and testified 

before the United Nations Human Rights Committee. She has received 

many national honors: Woman of the Year from the Girl Scouts of Amer¬ 

ica; the Wonder Woman Award from the Wonder Woman Foundation in 

1984; the Indian Council Fire Achievement Award in 1984, and the 1991 

National Distinguished Achievement Award from the American Indian 

Resources Institute.59 

Growing up on a reservation, guided by a strong-willed mother who 

championed the rights of her Indian family, Ada Deer has become a ded¬ 

icated advocate with a deep sense of purpose. vYfter recommending that 

the Bureau of Indian Affairs should become a true service agency for In¬ 

dian people, and that tribal sovereignty and self-governance were of para- 
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mount importance for Indian tribes, she had the opportunity to serve as 

assistant secretary and implement some of these goals. Her outspoken de¬ 

fense of tribal sovereignty during a period of federal budget cuts engen¬ 

dered criticism and eventually led to her resignation, but her resignation 

was not symptomatic of failure on her part. Ada Deer’s tenure as assistant 

secretary for Indian Affairs ended because she refused to acquiesce in a 

political process that traditionally has hindered the development of a true 

sense of self-determination for Indian tribes. She remains one of the most 

influential Native American leaders of the final third of the twentieth cen¬ 

tury. 
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Ben Nighthorse Campbell 

^l^ortfiern Cheyenne 

BY DONALD L. FIXICO 

Being a leader among Indian people implies having a sincere commitment 

to apply the role and the responsibilities that go 'with it to one’s com¬ 

munity. Leadership is not about focusing on one’s own ambitions or de¬ 

sires, but about serving one’s people. When Indian leaders are mentioned, 

we think of Tecumseh, Sitting Bull, Crazy Horse, Geronimo, and others of 

the eighteenth or nineteenth centuries. Indian leaders of the twentieth 

century exemplify the same attributes of traditional leaders, and Ben 

Nighthorse Campbell demonstrates true Native American leadership.^ 

Ben Nighthorse Campbell creates an unforgettable impression. He 

sports a ponytail and snakeskin cowboy boots, which he prefers for riding 

his Harley-Davidson in the streets of Washington dc. This mixed-blood 

Northern Cheyenne and U.S. senator from Colorado is a former Olympian 

with a black belt in judo. He is also a warrior and a leader who leads by ex¬ 

ample. Much like Crazy Horse, who was an individualist and a fearless 

warrior of the Oglala Dakotas, Campbell deals with issues in his own way. 

In a political environment of partisanship, Campbell marches to the beat 

of his own drum, believes in his own convictions, and votes his own way 

amid the political swirls in Colorado and in Washington. As a politician, 

Campbell is a fiscal conservative and social liberal. He has won the sup¬ 

port of environmentalists by defending mining, timber, and ranching in¬ 

terests, and has earned praise from liberals for supporting aid to urban 

areas and programs for children. Campbell supports a balanced budget 

amendment and a capital gains tax cut. In his own eyes, he sees himself as 

a person committed to “everyday people.” “I know the migrant worker 

who has no money to see a doctor,” said Campbell. “I know what it is to 

load trucks. And I know the little guy in the back of the room, slipping be¬ 

hind his classmates. You can talk about hunger, but go hungry for a while. 

I know it—because it was me.”^ His political colleagues call him a fierce 
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independent, and to some he is a political maverick. Campbell comes 

from a multifaceted background, and he has learned the hard way to be in¬ 

dependent in order to survive. 
In his lifetime Ben Nighthorse Campbell has also been a rodeo per¬ 

former, an award-winning jewelry maker, a teacher, a member of the U.S. 

Air Force, and a rancher. And he is still going strong. He is highly moti¬ 

vated, focused, and personifies action and individuality. He has emerged 

as a Native American leader whose efforts have shaped the course of 

events in the late twentieth century. 
Ben Nighthorse Campbell was born in Auburn, California, on 13 April 

1933 to Albert Campbell, a mixed-blood Northern Cheyenne, and Mary 

Vierra, a Portuguese immigrant. Campbell’s mother contracted tubercu¬ 

losis when he was very young. His father became an alcoholic, supporting 

his family only sporadically. Because of his mother’s illness, Campbell and 

his sister Alberta were placed in an orphanage for several months until his 

mother recovered. A devout Catholic, Mary Campbell could not bring 

herself to break her marriage vows; thus Campbell’s father periodically 

returned and lived with the family. Mary Campbell loved her children, 

but the transience of her husband’s presence added to the instability of 

her son’s life. 
Campbell attended New England Mills Grammar School in Wiemar, 

California, where he received average grades. He lacked discipline and 

didn’t seem to fit in with the other students. In the late 1940s he attended 

Placer High School in Auburn, California, but again he seemed to lack fo¬ 

cus, and in 1950, at the age of seventeen, he dropped out of high school. 

During these years American society adhered to a homogeneous patriot¬ 

ism, materialism, and “mainstream values.” Being “different” was not to 

one’s advantage. Some Indian families denied their Indian blood, and par¬ 

ents sometimes did not tell their children about their Indian heritage. Ben 

Campbell knew that he was Indian, but that was about all. 

As a teenager Campbell’s life careened downward. He admitted years 

later that he was “stealing cars, drinking, fighting. I was one step away 

from the reformatory.”? Ironically however, during these same years he 

found the one thing that would supply the discipline that had been miss¬ 

ing in his life: judo. In the late 1940s, while working in a fruit packing 

plant near Newcastle, California, Campbell got into a disagreement with a 

young Japanese coworker who introduced him to judo “the hard way.”^ 

They eventually became friends, and Campbell regularly visited the local 

Japanese community. While he worked at other odd jobs, Campbell 

learned and practiced judo. He became committed to the sport, and began 
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to develop the self-discipline that would characterize his adult life. He re¬ 

fused to return to high school, but his life was no longer adrift. 

While others attended high school, Campbell worked at logging jobs in 

northern California. Accompanied by his best friend, Lowell Heimbach 

(also a resident of Weimar), Campbell often “jumped” the Southern Pa¬ 

cific freight trains and clandestinely rode home to Weimar for the week¬ 

ends. Sometimes they rode in boxcars, but often they were forced to ride 

on top, exposed to the elements. Campbell later recalled the long, bone- 

chilling journeys atop the boxcars, and commented, “By the time we got 

off [jumped] we’d look like raccoons, just eyeballs and soot.” Yet the 

shared experiences strengthened the friendship between the two young 

men; they both considered themselves to be loners, were from the same 

small town, and worked together in the logging camps in northern Cal¬ 

ifornia.5 

Seeking adventure, in 1951 young Campbell joined the U.S. Air Force. 

Since he hoped to pursue a career in law enforcement, he asked to be as¬ 

signed to the military police. Campbell served in Korea from 1951 until 

1953, attaining the rank of airman second class. While in Korea he contin¬ 

ued to study judo, and after his discharge from the military Campbell was 

determined to improve his skill at the sport. 

Campbell’s military experience taught him the value of education. 

While in the air force he completed his ged. When he returned to Califor¬ 

nia, Campbell enrolled at San Jose State University, and in 1957 he re¬ 

ceived a bachelor’s degree in physical education and fine arts. Yet he still 

was obsessed with judo and often spent six hours a day practicing the 

sport. Determined to further hone his skills, he decided to travel to Japan, 

where the sport originated and where the best judo schools were located. 

In i960 he attended Meiji University in Tokyo, Japan, as a special re¬ 

search student. At Meiji, Campbell entered a grueling three-year program, 

which tested his physical stamina, and in which he risked physical injury 

at every practice. To finance his residency in Japan, Campbell taught 

classes in English and played bit roles in Japanese films when an Ameri¬ 

can face was needed. His experience in Tokyo tested his character, but his 

exposure to Japanese judo champions increased his determination to ex¬ 

cel at the sport. The Japanese champions were very demanding task¬ 

masters, but like a Cheyenne warrior, Campbell fought hard and won, 

thus earning the respect of his adversaries. 

Although Campbell represented the United States at the Pan-American 

Games in 1963, where he won a gold medal in judo, he remained in Japan 

until 1964, when he returned to California and earned a place on the U.S. 
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Olympic judo team. Ironically the 1964 summer Olympic games were 

held in Tokyo, and Campbell accompanied the American Olympic team 

back to his old haunts. Five thousand Olympians, representing ninety- 

four nations, competed in Meiji Stadium. In track and field, another Na¬ 

tive American, Billy Mills, caught the attention of the world. A twenty- 

six-year-old Marine who ran track for the University of Kansas, and who 

was a Lakota from the Pine Ridge Reservation in South Dakota, Mills won 

the ten-thousand-meter race, defeating renowned favorites from Aus¬ 

tralia, New Zealand, the Soviet Union, and Great Britain. One of thirty- 

eight runners in the event. Mills came from behind with a strong last kick 

and established a new Olympic record of 28:24.4.® 

Campbell served at the captain of the U.S. judo team. Unfortunately an 

injury to one of his knees impaired his performance. Competing in spite 

of the injury, Campbell won his first match in seven seconds. But in his 

second match against Klaus Glahn of Germany, a heavier opponent, 

Campbell felt his knee collapse and he fell to the mat. He later remem¬ 

bered, “I realized there was no way that knee was going to hold up, so I 

had to forfeit.” Bowing to Glahn, Campbell hobbled in pain off the mat, 

hiding his disappointment. He had trained for years to perform in the 

Olympics, but his spirit could not will his knee to support his body. 

Campbell’s personal career as a judo competitor was over.7 

Antonious Geesink of the Netherlands eventually won the heavyweight 

division of the judo competition, while the Japanese dominated the other 

three divisions.* Yet Campbell’s Olympic teammates respected the young 

Cheyenne for his bravery and his attempts to compete while injured. They 

selected him to carry the American flag during the closing ceremonies. Al¬ 

though Campbell experienced considerable pain during his march 

through the stadium, he remembered that, “My leg hurt like hell, but I 

wasn’t going to let someone else have the flag [to carry].”9 

No longer able to personally compete in judo matches, Campbell began 

teaching judo to other athletes. During the 1960s, martial arts became 

more popular in the United States, and Campbell introduced his own 

training regimen, which encountered some opposition from judo tradi¬ 

tionalists. His methods proved successful however, and his classes were 

popular. In response, Campbell wrote Championship Judo: Drill Training, a 

book that explains and delineates his training techniques, making them 

more available to the public. 

During the mid-1960s, while promoting judo as a viable part of the exer¬ 

cise and physical education curriculum for the California public schools, 

Campbell met Linda Price, a high school teacher originally from Colorado. 
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They were married on 23 July 1966. Meanwhile Campbell continued as a 

judo instructor, trained members of the U.S. judo team, worked as a deputy 

sheriff, and counseled American Indian inmates at San Quentin and Fol¬ 

som prisons. In addition he taught art and began to design and manufac¬ 

ture jewelry, which he sold through a gallery in Sacramento." 

In the late 1970s Campbell decided to relinquish his role as a formal 

judo instructor and in 1979 he moved his family to a 120-acre ranch in Ig¬ 

nacio, Colorado, where he and his wife raised their two children, Colin 

and Shanan (“Sweet Medicine Woman” in Cheyenne), and where they 

still reside. In Colorado, Campbell focused his career on designing and 

manufacturing jewelry, incorporating motifs he had learned from his 

father (also a jeweler) and from Japanese artists and sword makers he had 

met while living in Tokyo. Working at his ranch studio, Campbell utilized 

Anasazi designs from cliff dwelhngs in the Southwest to develop his 

“painted mesa” technique. He carefully inlays a variety of metals, woods, 

and gemstones into eighteen-karat gold or sterling silver, “creating the 

impression of a sand painting.” His creations were immediately success¬ 

ful. He eventually won more than two hundred first-place and best-of- 

show awards, and his work is much in demand at both regional and na¬ 

tional markets. His designs sell for as much as twenty-five thousand 

dollars and are displayed in about fifty galleries throughout the nation. 

Yet Campbell’s artistry has provided him with much more than fame and 

financial success. According to Campbell, “Jewelry making is my cathar¬ 

sis, my relaxation,” and although he currently has been forced to devote 

most of his time to politics, Campbell still considers jewelry making to be 

“my escape from the pressures and demands of my work.” Undoubtedly, 

jewelry making will continue as an important part of in his life.^^ 

Campbell’s political career started by coincidence in May 1980. On 22 

May he had planned to fly his plane from Durango to California to deliver 

some jewelry to a dealer in San Francisco. A storm over La Plata County 

Airport forced him to wait a few hours for clear weather, and as he sat and 

read the local Durango Herald, he noticed that a Democratic political 

meeting was being held downtown. With some time to kill, Campbell at¬ 

tended the meeting. He recalled, “I was just sitting on the end of the bench 

listening as one nominee after another declined to run [for the Dem¬ 

ocratic nomination for House District 59 in the Colorado State Legis¬ 

lature]; each one with a good excuse. One person, I remember was not 

feeling well; another person was too busy.” When asked if he would run, 

Campbell responded, “Well, I really wouldn’t know what to do. How 

could I learn everything in such a short time?” 
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“Don’t worry about that,” someone else said. “We can tell you every¬ 

thing you need to know.” 

“Well, does it take much time?” he asked. 

“No, no, it doesn’t take much time,” everyone assured him. 

“Does it cost very much money?” 

“Oh no, it doesn’t cost very much money. Besides, we have funds to 

cover most of the cost.” Six months later, after a hard campaign. Dem¬ 

ocratic candidate Campbell had spent thirteen thousand dollars out of his 

own pocket, had worn out a set of tires, a pair of boots, and many of his 

three hundred campaign volunteers who attempted to keep pace with 

him. Although his opponents initially envisioned him as a candidate 

picked only to fill the Democratic slate, Campbell surprised them with his 

energy and determination.In November 1980 the voters of the fifty- 

ninth district elected him to the Colorado legislature where he served un¬ 

til 1986. While in office, the new Native American legislator served on the 

agriculture, natural affairs, business, and labor committees. 

On 4 November 1986 Colorado voters elected Ben Campbell to the U.S. 

House of Representatives, and he was reelected to the 101st and lozd Con¬ 

gresses. He received four appointments: one to the Committee on Agri¬ 

culture and Natural Affairs, one to the Committee on Business and Labor, 

one to the Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, and one to the Com¬ 

mittee on Small Business.'5 A businessman and resident of the West, 

Campbell felt comfortable with his assignment to these committees. But, 

as the only Native American in Congress, he felt the need to also represent 

Indian interests as well as those of his constituents in Colorado. 

In 1988, Campbell championed Indian interests when he cosponsored 

(with Representative Bill Richardson [D-New Mexico]) an amendment to 

the Omnibus Trade Act instructing the United States Customs Service to 

produce regulations for permanent markings on imported Indian art 

goods.Passed as Public Law 100-418, the act resulted in the Indian Arts 

and Crafts Act of 1990. 

But other battles were brewing. In 1989, as American Indians entered 

the last decade of the twentieth century, a special Senate committee re¬ 

leased a 238-page report that disclosed fraud and abuse in many Indian 

programs and advocated the dissolution of the Bureau of Indian Affairs. 

The annual budgets of the Bureau of Indian Affairs, the Indian Health 

Service, the Office of Indian Housing, and the Office of Indian Education 

totaled 3.3 billion dollars. The report recommended that these funds be 

stripped from these government agencies and awarded to the tribal gov¬ 

ernments as part of the “new federalism.” Such a plan would have emas- 
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culated the government’s infrastructure of support services for Indian 

people.The lone Indian voice in Congress, Representative Ben Night- 

horse Campbell, stood with allies such as Senator Dennis Deconcini (D- 

Arizona) and Senator Daniel K. Inouye (D-Hawaii) to defeat the measure. 

Campbell later stated that “I don’t think that many people in Congress are 

intentionally trying to hurt Indians,” but many were ill-informed.^* Yet 

Campbell was aware that when legislation affecting Indians reached Con¬ 

gress, an “Indian voice” often went unheard. Even those representatives 

from states with large Indian populations often ignored their Indian con¬ 

stituents when their interests conflicted with the concerns of non-Indian 

constituents, and Native Americans often received less congressional sup¬ 

port than their numbers or interests warranted. 

In 1990, when Colorado Republican William L. Armstrong announced 

his retirement from the United States Senate, pressure mounted for 

Campbell to become a candidate for the post, but he declined, stating that 

he was unwilling to subject his family “to i8 months of mayhem” and 

campaigning.^9 Two years later, however, when Tim Wirth, a Democratic 

senator from Colorado, also vacated his seat, Campbell was ready to cam¬ 

paign for the upper house. 

Wirth’s and Campbell’s backgrounds were as far apart as possible. 

Wirth was a graduate of Harvard and Stanford (both costly, elitist private 

institutions), held a doctorate, and dressed in expensive suits. In sharp 

contrast, Campbell was a cowboy and a high school dropout, had earned a 

GED, and was a graduate of San Jose State University, a working class 

school that occupied a second tier in the California State University sys¬ 

tem. While Wirth “dressed to the nines,” Campbell had to obtain special 

permission to wear his bolo ties while serving in the House of Represen¬ 

tatives.^® Yet Ben Campbell was a survivor. He had earned his own way, 

and was very different from most of his congressional colleagues who had 

doors of opportunity already opened for them due to their influential 

backgrounds and family connections. 

Ben Campbell won the Democratic nomination but faced a formidable 

foe in Terry Considine, a former Republican state senator. The campaign 

became heated when both sides alleged misconduct against the other. The 

Republican candidate charged that Campbell was a “Washington insider” 

who had received special privileges. According to Considine, Campbell 

had been given a free trip to Alaska by an oil company with petroleum in¬ 

terests in the region, had often been absent from committee assignments 

in Washington, and had distorted his Korean War record by claiming to 

have been a prisoner of war. Campbell refuted all the charges and pointed 
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out that Considine was linked to Silverado Savings and Loan, a failed fi¬ 

nancial institution in Colorado. 

As the campaign progressed, Campbell’s support grew, including many 

voters from the Denver metropolitan region, and on 3 November, the 

people of Colorado elected Ben Nighthorse Campbell to a six-year term in 

the Senate; he was the first Native American to be elected to the Senate in 

more than sixty years. Indeed, just three other Native Americans have 

served in the Senate, while only eight have served in the House. Moreover, 

only one other Native American, Charles Curtis, a mixed-blood Kaw and 

former senator from Kansas, has attained a higher office in the federal 

government. Curtis served as vice-president under Herbert Hoover from 

1928 to 1932.^^ Yet Campbell’s election seemed to be part of a broader pat¬ 

tern in which underrepresented minorities were elected to Congress dur¬ 

ing that year. In 1991, when Campbell arrived in Washington, he found 

that the newly elected Senate contained four new female senators, while 

in the House the number of women increased from twenty-nine to forty- 

eight. In addition Hispanic representation in the House increased from six 

to nineteen. Still, Campbell remained the only Native American in the 

103d Congress.^3 

WhUe serving in both the House and the Senate, Campbell has focused 

his efforts on environmental, western, and Native American issues.His 

efforts to rename the former Custer Battlefield in Montana were widely 

supported by Indian people, and on 10 December 1991, when President 

George Bush signed the Campbell Bill, which changed the name of the 

Custer Battlefield to the Little Bighorn National Monument, a cheer could 

be heard all across Indian Country.^? Native Americans long had ques¬ 

tioned why the battlefield had been named after the military commander 

who lost the engagement, and they continued to press for a separate mon¬ 

ument that would honor the Native Americans who perished in the battle. 

No one wished to remove the white monolith erected to the memory of 

the Seventh Cavalry personnel killed in the engagement, but many Indian 

people believed that a separate monument should commemorate the 

fallen Lakota, Cheyenne, and Arapaho warriors. Indeed, Campbell’s great¬ 

grandfather, Ruben Black Horse, had fought in the battle and Campbell 

was proud of his forefather’s patriotism.^® 

It was from this relative—Ruben Black Horse—that Ben Campbell re¬ 

ceived his name: Nighthorse. Like many mixed-blood Indians in the 1940s 

and 1950s, Campbell had not flaunted his Native American heritage. Dur- 

ing these decades American society discriminated against minority 

groups, and while Campbell was aware of his Native American lineage 
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and readily identified as an Indian, he had been raised apart from the res¬ 

ervation community and had little opportunity to interact with his 

father’s family. Finally, in 1968, he visited the Northern Cheyenne Reser¬ 

vation, and since that time he has returned to the reservation in Montana 

on a regular basis. In 1980, Campbell was enrolled as an official tribal 

member, and he later was inducted into the Northern Cheyenne Tribe’s 

historic Council of Forty-Four, which traditionally was made up of the 

wisest and most knowledgeable of Cheyenne leaders. Campbell considers 

the reservation to be a wellspring for his Indian identity, a place where he 

has proudly replenished his Cheyenne heritage and renewed his ties to his 

father’s family.^7 

In 1996, five years after the passage of the Campbell Bill, a competition 

for a design symbolizing “peace through unity” to commemorate the role 

of Indians in the famed battle of the Little Bighorn was held. A seven- 

member jury, composed of tribal representatives, historians, and artists 

examined and judged over 550 entries from across the United States. Phil¬ 

adelphia designer John R. Collins and his wife, Alison J. Towers, a land¬ 

scape architect, submitted the winning design: a memorial in an open cir¬ 

cular plaza featuring a raised platform that supported three ghost-like 

warrior figures on galloping horses—figures that represented the Lakotas, 

Cheyennes, and Arapahos.^^* 

Like most politicians, Campbell has become involved in many public 

events. As the United States approached the quincentennial of the Euro¬ 

pean “discovery” of the Americas, Campbell, in addition to many other 

Native Americans, was concerned that the public often failed to realize 

that significant numbers of Native American people inhabited the West¬ 

ern Hemisphere at the time of the Europeans’ arrival, and that Indians also 

had played a major role in the subsequent history of the United States. 

When Robert L. Cheney, the president of the Tournament of Roses, se¬ 

lected “voyages of discovery” to be the theme for the Tournament of Roses 

parade, he invited Cristobal Colon, who was the duke of Veragua, the mar¬ 

quis of Jamaica, and a twentieth-generation descendant of Christopher 

Columbus, to lead it. Many Native Americans protested Cheney’s choice 

of Colon as grand marshal, so Cheney turned to Campbell, asking him to 

serve as a co-marshal for the event. Campbell accepted. Wearing an eagle- 

feather headdress with a double trailer of seventy-twq golden eagle feath¬ 

ers, and riding Black Warbonnet, one of his prized horses, he led the 103d 

Tournament of Roses parade in Pasadena, California.^9 

Campbell also focused his efforts toward more serious issues. Because 

his father drank to excess, Campbell has been particularly interested in al- 
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cohol-related problems. He has devoted much of his congressional efforts 

to addressing Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (fas).3° Singled out by the National 

Council on Alcoholism and Drug Dependence as one of the leading 

known causes of mental retardation in the United States, fas is particu¬ 

larly prevalent within the Native American communities, where one in 

every ninety-nine infants are born with fas, as compared with one in six 

hundred to seven hundred infants in the general American population. 

Reports indicate that in some reservation communities, such as the Pine 

Ridge and Rosebud Reservations in South Dakota, one in four babies born 

in Indian Health Service hospitals may suffer from the syndrome. 

On 7 March 1992 Campbell introduced a bill, H.R. 1322, entitled the 

Comprehensive Indian Fetal Alcohol Syndrome Prevention and Treat¬ 

ment Act. The measure included provisions for federal grants to Indian 

tribes to develop and provide community fas training. It also provided 

funds for education and prevention programs (including a grant for ten 

million dollars annually for two years and fifteen million dollars annually 

for the following ten years) to assist in the identification of women at high 

risk and to provide them with treatment and fas information.When 

Campbell’s bill was given a hearing, he was strongly supported by the late 

Michael Dorris, whose best-selling volume The Broken Cord poignantly re¬ 

counts the tragic story of Dorris’s adopted son, a young Indian man who 

suffered from fas. The book later was made into a television movie. Sev¬ 

eral other people whose families had been affected by fas or who had 

been influenced by Dorris’s volume also testified in support of the legis¬ 

lation.3^ Although the bill initially became stalled in the House,^? on 29 

October 1992 it finally emerged as section 708 of the amended Indian 

Health Care Improvement Act, Public Law 102-573.34 

In the midst of his legislative successes, Campbell experienced a grow¬ 

ing personal political crisis. Even in Congress, where there is considerable 

pressure to “toe the party line,” Campbell had remained an individual. A 

westerner, Campbell continued to sport his ponytail, ride his Harley-Da- 

vidson, and vote his conscience. A fiscal conservative, Campbell had al¬ 

ways been concerned by overspending in Congress, and on 2 March 1995 

he voted for a balanced-budget constitutional amendment that failed to 

pass in the Senate. For Campbell, the failure of the amendment seemed to 

be “the straw that broke the camel’s back.” He had grown disenchanted 

with many of President William Clinton’s policies, including Clinton’s 

decisions regarding budget cuts, term limits, and capital gains tax reduc¬ 

tions. Campbell also was opposed to Secretary of Interior Bruce Babbitt’s 

western land-use and grazing policies.35 
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Following his conscience, on 3 March 1995 Campbell “crossed the aisle” 

in the Senate, declaring that he no longer could adhere to the policies of 

the Democrats and had decided to join the Republican Party. He tele¬ 

phoned Clinton to tell him of his decision, reminding the president that 

although he had voted for some of his policies in the past, he no longer 

could support many of the administration’s programs. Clinton publicly 

seemed complaisant about Campbell’s decision, but other Democrats 

were more contentious.^^ On 7 March, Bob Kerrey, chairman of the Dem¬ 

ocratic Senatorial Campaign Committee (dscc), wrote to Campbell, de¬ 

manding that he return over $255,000 in Democratic Party funds that had 

been contributed to his election campaign. Kerrey said, “As a man of 

honor and integrity, I would hope that you (Campbell) will reimburse the 

DSCC for its expenses from the race. ...” Campbell responded that the 

Democrats had benefited from his congressional work prior to his deci¬ 

sion to leave the party, and that he would not remit the campaign funds.37 

On 3 March Campbell defended his decision before a conference room 

packed with representatives, senators, and members of the media. Camp¬ 

bell said, “I can no longer continue to support the Democratic agenda nor 

the administration’s goals, particularly as they deal with public lands and 

fiscal issues.” The Indian senator continued, “I have given this a great deal 

of thought, particularly during the past thirty days in dealing with the bal¬ 

anced-budget amendment. If anything, this debate has brought into focus 

the fact that my personal beliefs and that of the Democratic Party are far 

apart.” Then, Campbell humorously added, “I have always considered 

myself a moderate, much to the consternation of the Democratic Party. 

. . . My moderation will now be to the consternation of the right wing of 

the Republican Party.”3* 

If the Democrats were unhappy over Campbell’s departure, the Repub¬ 

licans were pleased to welcome a new colleague. Majority Leader Bob 

Dole informed him, “We’re very glad to have you on board,” while other 

Republicans pointed out that Campbell’s defection gave the gop a fifty- 

four to forty-six advantage in the Senate. Meanwhile, Campbell’s move to 

the Republican Party brought an “enthusiastic reception” from many con¬ 

servative business leaders in western Colorado. Campbell also had the 

support of Native Americans, many Hispanics, and a coalition of labor 

unions, but both his local constituents and political advisors warned him 

to expect a primary challenge if he decided to run for reelection in 1998.39 

Since joining the Republican Party, Campbell has continued to cham¬ 

pion Indian issues. Throughout the 1990s, critics have charged that the 

Bureau of Indian Affairs (bia) has been inefficiently administered, and 
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since most federal funds earmarked for Native American people have 

been channeled through the bia, some pundits have argued that the tribal 

governments also have been tainted by waste and corruption. Meanwhile, 

the growth of Indian gaming created the false impression that all tribes 

were sharing equally in this newfound largesse. As criticism of the bia and 

gaming mounted, pressure emerged in Congress for drastic reforms in the 

traditional relationships between the government and the tribes. Some 

members of Congress and some Senators even suggested that tribal sov¬ 

ereignty be much abridged in attempts to give the federal government re¬ 

newed control over the lives of Indian people. During the past decade 

Campbell has used his influence to deflect such legislation.4° 

In 1996, Senator John McCain (R-Arizona) stepped down as the chair¬ 

man of the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs. Native Americans 

throughout Indian Country feared that Senator Slade Gorton (R-Washing- 

ton) would succeed him. Unlike McCain who had been a friend to Indian 

people, Gorton envisioned Native American sovereignty as a threat and 

had consistently used his influence to limit tribal control over political 

and economic activities. Gorton previously served as the attorney general 

for the state of Washington, where he had attempted to hmit tribal con¬ 

trols over taxation, and while in the Senate he introduced “many pieces of 

anti-sovereignty, anti-Indian legislation.”41 In 1996, Gorton attempted to 

strengthen the Istook Amendment, introduced by Representative Ernest 

Istook (R-Oklahoma) that “would have forbidden the Secretary of Interior 

to accept any land into trust for an Indian nation, if the tribal government 

had not reached agreement to collect and remit local and state sales tax on 

retail activity on the land in question.”4^ 

To many Indians’ relief. Senate Majority Leader Trent Lott of Missis¬ 

sippi bypassed Gorton and named Campbell the new chairman of the 

Senate Subcommittee on Indian Affairs. For Indians, Campbell’s appoint¬ 

ment was long overdue. As Dora Young, the chief of the Sac and Fox Na¬ 

tion, stated, “We are heartened to learn that circumstances have provided 

an Indian the opportunity to chair the Indian Affairs committee. We be¬ 

lieve that Senator Campbell’s experience as a Native American will bring 

a human touch to legislative deliberation on issues that mean life or death 

to Indian people and sovereign Indian nations.”43 

The appointment strengthened Campbell’s role as the foremost propo¬ 

nent of Native American issues in the Senate. He has continued to advo¬ 

cate the judicious use of natural resources on tribal lands, and he has 

championed Native American water rights. Moreover, he also has labored 

to improve health and educational standards in the tribal communities. 
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The Congressional Record Index for 1997 disclosed that Senator Campbell 

has co-sponsored bills and resolutions to elevate the administrative au¬ 

thority of both Haskell Indian Nations University (S.R. 1095) and South¬ 

western Indian Polytechnic Institute (S.R. 1095). He also introduced a bill 

calling for the United States Mint to produce coins commemorating the 

history and culture of Native American people (S.R. 1112). The production 

would begin in the year 2000, with the Treasury Department minting a 

limited-edition commemorative buffalo nickel. Profits from the sale of 

the nickel and all other coins minted under the bill would be given to the 

endowment and to educational funds of the National Museum of the 

American Indian, which is scheduled to open in the year 2002.44 

Campbell’s approach toward Indian gaming has been more cautious. In 

November 1996 he delivered the keynote speech to the Western Indian 

Gaming Conference in which he warned about the various problems that 

gaming had brought to the Indian nations. Reminding his audience that 

Indian gaming had become a twenty-seven-billion-dollar industry, he 

cautioned that quarrels over the proceeds from some gaming enterprises 

had divided tribal communities and even some Native American families. 

Campbell pointed out that “Suddenly, because of the casino issue, they 

(everyone) want to be enrolled. We’re getting a lot of new Indians.” Ex¬ 

pressing his concern that many non-Indians now believed all Indians 

were wealthy, he commented on the perception that Native Americans 

lived entirely off proceeds from gaming. “When I see kids . . . come to a 

small rural school with $100 bills in their pockets .. . believe me, it creates 

some problems in the community.” Concerned that some Indian children 

had abandoned their plans to further their education because of casino 

payments, Campbell warned, “We need to make sure our kids don’t lose 

their way with the greenbacks.”45 

Ironically, Campbell’s position on the gaming issues was similar to 

President Clinton’s. Like Campbell, Clinton also supported gaming but 

warned that “it is a lousy basis for an economy, past a certain point. The 

Indian reservations have been kept dependent too long, have suffered 

from the patronizing attitude of the federal government, have never been 

empowered to seize control of their own destiny. And I do not blame the 

tribes for wanting the maximum possibility on gambling. But what I’d like 

to see is a whole range of different initiatives so we can have long term 

economic prosperity, because there is a limit to how much gambling that 

country can absorb. ”4® 

Campbell’s concerns regarding gaming continue. Like Clinton, he un¬ 

derstands that the industry offers Indian communities considerable eco- 
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nomic opportunity, but he also believes that the gaming industry needs 

some regulation and control. In 1997 he sponsored the Indian Gaming En¬ 

forcement and Integrity Act (S. 1130), which would improve the Gaming 

Commission’s supervision of “monitoring and regulating 273 Indian gam¬ 

ing establishments operated by 184 tribes in 28 states. The long-term 

impact of gaming remains uncertain, but Campbell and many other Na¬ 

tive American leaders are convinced that the industry needs adequate reg¬ 

ulations and controls. 

Ben Nighthorse Campbell is a US. senator who has championed Native 

American causes, but as a senator from Colorado, he also represents a 

much broader constituency. He remains a westerner, a resident of Colo¬ 

rado’s western slope, and a public servant attuned to the needs of his state 

and the nation. An “extremely good listener,” Campbell has labored as a 

small businessman and was one of several sponsors of S. 540, a bank¬ 

ruptcy reform bill particularly favorable to “small business interests.”4* In 

addition, he also has sponsored legislation designed to regulate and pre¬ 

vent fraud within interstate telephone service companies.49 

Campbell also has addressed environmental issues. Working with Rep¬ 

resentative Hank Brown (R-Colorado) Campbell introduced a bill, H.R. 

631, designating 612,000 acres in Colorado to be protected as wilderness 

and another 175,000 acres to be set aside for protective management. On 

13 August 1993 President Clinton flew to Denver where he signed the bill, 

renamed the Colorado Wilderness Act, into law at Stapleton Airport.5° As 

a senator, Campbell sponsored bills that specify reclamation require¬ 

ments for mining and resource extraction companies and urged the 

United States to sign international agreements designed to limit or reduce 

greenhouse gas emissions. 

At the end of the twentieth century, Ben Nighthorse Campbell has 

emerged as the foremost Native American legislator in the United States. 

Like many other Native American people, he has overcome personal diffi¬ 

culties during his early years to achieve considerable success. As a ded¬ 

icated judoka, he performed in the Pan-American Games and in 1964 he 

captained the American judo team in the Olympics. As a jeweler, his crea¬ 

tions have received critical acclaim and have been much in demand. In 

politics, Campbell has served at both the state and national levels and has 

been elected by the voters in Colorado to serve in the Senate, the most 

prestigious legislative body in the federal government. In both the House 

and the Senate, Campbell has worked diligently to serve his Colorado 

constituents, and the larger Native American community in the United 

States. Leading by example, Ben Campbell is a modern-day warrior will- 
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ing to address critical political issues and stand by his convictions. He is 

truly an Indian leader of the late twentieth century, championing issues 

important to Indian people and defending Native American interests in 

tribal councils, in congressional committees, on the floor of the Senate, 

and in public. 
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Janine Pease Pretty-on-Top 

Crow 

BY DOUGLAS NELSON AND JEREMY JOHNSTON 

Those of you who are wise will become educated in the white man’s school... make of 

yourselves good farmers and good men. But I would have you cling to the memories of 

your fathers. I would have you still go up onto the mountain and see visions so that 

your hearts may be clean and strong, chief plenty coups 

They (the Navajos) had really put together their concept of what it is they wanted to do 

in their curricular dehvery. It was very fascinating to me. I really didn’t understand it 

all. But at least from my logical background, I had a sense of how deep-seated culture 

was to people, how crucial it was for their survival; how education fit into that whole 

scheme, janine pease pretty-on-top 

Janine Pease Pretty-on-Top, like the famous Crow chief Plenty Coups 

(1848-1932), whose career straddled the nineteenth and twentieth centu¬ 

ries, has spent much of her life attempting to bridge the gap that some¬ 

times exists between the Indian and non-Indian worlds. Overcoming dif¬ 

ficulties in her personal life, she has utilized her position as a professional 

educator, counselor, and social worker to provide avenues for the Crow 

people to retain the traditions that make them Crows, yet function effec¬ 

tively in the non-Indian world. Through her leadership. Little Big Horn 

College provides opportunities for Crow students to acquire the skills 

needed for modern reservation life and for meeting the challenges posed 

by their interaction with non-Indians. 

Janine Pease Pretty-on-Top was born in 1949 on the Colville Indian Reser¬ 

vation in eastern Washington. She is the oldest of four children born to 

Ben and Margery Jordan Pease, both of whose families were residents of 

Montana. Ben Pease was a Crow high school teacher, basketball coach, 

and administrator originally from Lodge Grass, Montana, on the Crow 

Reservation. Ben Pease’s maternal grandfather was White-Man-Runs- 

Him, one of the Crow scouts who served with George Armstrong Custer. 
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His paternal great-grandfather moved to Montana from Pennsylvania in 

the 1850s and was employed with a fur company before serving as the first 

civil Indian agent assigned to the Crows by the federal government. Mar¬ 

gery Jordan, an English and history teacher, grew up in Butte, Montana. 

She was the descendant of tin miners who emigrated from Cornwall, in 

southern England, to Montana in 1880. Ben and Margery Jordan met at 

Linfield College, an American Baptist institution in McMinnville, Ore¬ 

gon, during the 1940s. Pease enrolled at Linfield through his lifelong 

membership in the Lodge Grass Crow Indian Baptist Mission, founded in 

1903. The Baptists also established a day school at Lodge Grass and many 

Crow students attended the institution, including several other members 

of Pease’s family. Joe Medicine Crow, a highly respected Crow tribal his¬ 

torian, also attended both the day school and Linfield College.^ 

Pretty-on-Top grew up in Washington where her parents taught school 

in Ellensburg, a small city in the Yakima VaUey. Since her parents sup¬ 

ported themselves and their four children on teacher salaries, Pretty-on- 

Top learned at an early age that cooperation among family members was a 

necessary attribute of family life, and that a communal spirit of working 

together enabled all members of her family to share in the family’s re¬ 

sources. Her parents encouraged their children to excel in school and to 

compete in athletic contests. Ben Pease continued to coach basketball and 

Pretty-on-Top played on one of the first women’s basketball teams in cen¬ 

tral Washington. Her father urged her to do her best, but he also stressed 

that individuals were members of a team, and that cooperation, or team 

spirit, should take precedence over individual recognition.^ 

Pretty-on-Top spent many of her summer vacations on the Crow Reser¬ 

vation in Montana, where her Crow relatives also emphasized traditional 

values such as cooperation, loyalty to family members, and respect for 

tribal ways. Nurtured by her relatives, Pretty-on-Top felt so at home 

within the Crow community that she didn’t realize until the age of eight 

or nine that not everyone was a part of a tribal community with impor¬ 

tant ties to clan brothers, sisters, aunts, and uncles. Indeed, in recalling 

her childhood, Pretty-on-Top remembers her summers in Montana as 

some of the happiest moments of her life.^ 

After graduating from high school in Moses Lake, Washington, in 1967, 

Pretty-on-Top entered Central Washington University, also in Ellensburg, 

where she majored in sociology and anthropology. While an undergradu¬ 

ate at Central Washington, she enrolled in a Spanish class and developed 

such a passion for the language that she registered for other Spanish lan¬ 

guage courses that focused on the Spanish experience in Latin America. In 
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1969 she spent a semester in Mexico, studying in an exchange program 

that emphasized language, anthropology, and meso-American archae¬ 

ology. Her fluency in Spanish and her familiarity with Latino culture later 

proved invaluable in her involvement with minority employment, ed¬ 

ucation, and youth programs.'' 

In addition to her Spanish studies, Pretty-on-Top continued to pursue 

her courses in social science. Her years at Central Washington found her 

very involved in shaping campus policies, but she also entered the 

broader realm of social activism within the community, and lobbied for 

issues affecting civil rights and local and state politics. Endeavoring to 

temper the ivory tower of academia with the hard reality of everyday life, 

she lobbied successfully for a homeless person from the streets of Chicago 

to be employed as a visiting scholar and to assist in classes in urban soci¬ 

ology. The visitor’s academic pedigree left something to be desired, but he 

was well-versed in the “school of hard knocks.”5 

Pretty-on-Top received her bachelor of arts degree in 1970, and in Janu¬ 

ary 1971 she went to work for the Governor’s Commission on Youth In¬ 

volvement, a division of the state government in Washington. She in¬ 

itially edited a newsletter that championed the accomplishments of 

young people in the state of Washington, but she soon expanded her ef¬ 

forts to address a broad spectrum of issues facing young people during 

these years. Her efforts to extend the voting franchise to eighteen-year- 

olds proved too controversial for some of her superiors, however, and she 

resigned from her position when she realized that any advancement 

within her division would require compromises on moral or political is¬ 

sues that her values would not allow.® 

During the academic year 1971-72 Pretty-on-Top taught Native Ameri¬ 

can Studies and counseled minority students at Big Bend Community Col¬ 

lege in Moses Lake, Washington, an institution whose student body was 

approximately 40 percent Hispanic. She also coached the women’s bas¬ 

ketball team. In the fall of 1972 she moved to Arizona where she accepted 

a position at Navajo Community College in Tsaile as a counselor for 

women students, and as an advisor for the women’s dormitory and for 

student government. Initially the position appeared to be attractive. 

Pretty-on-Top admired the Navajo attempts to develop a curriculum that 

incorporated both traditional Navajo values and technical expertise 

needed to function in a modern society. As she later recalled, “They (the 

Navajos) had really put together their concept of what it is they wanted to 

do in their curricular delivery. It was very fascinating to me. I didn’t really 

understand it all, but at least from my logical background, I had a sense of 
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how deep-seated culture was to people, how crucial it was to their sur¬ 

vival. How education fit into their whole scheme. . . .” But the task was 

complicated by events beyond her control. A major controversy erupted 

over charges of racism brought by several African American members of 

the college’s basketball team who had been recruited to the school from 

non-reservation urban areas. Since Pretty-on-Top served as a counselor 

and an advisor to the student government, she attempted to mediate and 

then to diffuse the situation. Yet charges and countercharges escalated 

and she received repeated threats of violence. She eventually was forced 

to carry a pistol, and in November 1972, after a riot occurred and one stu¬ 

dent was stabbed, the college was closed. Pretty-on-Top resigned and re¬ 

turned to Washington.7 

In January 1973 she rejoined the faculty at Big Bend Community College 

in Moses, Washington, where she directed the Upward Bound Program, a 

part of the War on Poverty. She spent the next two and one-half years at 

Big Bend, working with fifty students from Moses Lake and the Wenat¬ 

chee Valley of eastern Washington, and also teaching Native American 

Studies, counseling students, and coaching women’s basketball.* 

In 1975, Pretty-on-Top returned to Crow country in Montana to serve as 

the director of the tribe’s Adult and Continuing Education Program. Her 

duties included the organization of an adult education coalition designed 

to serve three Montana reservations. At the program’s height, Pretty-on- 

Top supervised fifty-one employees in eleven centers and collaborated 

with board members of the Crow Central Education Commission to es¬ 

tablish the first Crow Indian educational authority. Dedicated to “tribal 

control over the design and delivery of education,” the commission was 

designed to provide for the education of tribal members, both on and off 

the Crow Reservation, ged classes were organized and arrangements were 

made for Crow tribespeople to enroll in classes at Crow Agency that were 

sponsored by the commission and accredited by a neighboring com¬ 

munity college.9 

In July 1975, Pretty-on-Top met Sam Windy Boy, a Chippewa-Cree 

teacher from the Rocky Boy’s Reservation who held an adult education 

position with the Day Break Star Center in Seattle, Washington. Together 

they moved to Crow Agency when Pretty-on-Top accepted a position 

with the Crow Central Education Commission. Theirs was a traditional 

marriage, recognized by the exchanges of gifts among their families. Dur¬ 

ing the next several years the couple had two children—Roses, born in 

1976, and Vernon, born in 1979. Windy Boy was an educational consultant, 

and for eight months during 1978 and 1979, he and Pretty-on-Top shared 
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the position of director of Vocational Educational. In 1979 however, Sam 

Windy Boy accepted a position with the sawmill and post-cutting plant 

on the Rocky Boy’s Reservation near Havre, Montana, and the Windy 

Boys and their children moved to the Chippewa-Cree reservation. But by 

1980 Sam Windy Boy was unemployed and often absent from his home 

for extended periods. 

Her husband’s absence caused considerable hardship for Pretty-on- 

Top. The couple’s home was near a small crossroads on the reservation, 

but the settlement contained only a few houses, a gas station, and a small 

trading post. Pretty-on-Top tried to support her family by selling her 

beadwork, by gathering roots and berries, and by drying and preserving 

the venison provided by her brothers-in-law but she eventually was forced 

to rely on welfare to feed her children. Meanwhile, she desperately ap¬ 

plied for jobs on the reservation and in Havre, but could find no employ¬ 

ment despite her extensive background in education, counseling, and 

administration. Her experiences during these dark days reinforced Pretty- 

on-Top’s determination to persevere, however, and they enabled her to 

better appreciate the sacrifices that Crow women historically have made 

for their families. 

Finally, in March 1981, Pretty-on-Top secured a position as the Indian 

student advocate at Eastern Montana College (now Montana State Uni¬ 

versity in Billings), where she assisted Indian students with housing, tu¬ 

toring, class-scheduling, and generally provided them with advice and 

counseling. Yet the move to Billings presented new problems, for non-In¬ 

dian landlords in the community were reluctant to rent apartments to a 

Native American woman who was the sole support for two children, even 

though the potential renter held a college degree and was employed by the 

university. After searching for an apartment for several weeks, she was 

forced to live with her aunt and uncle who also lived in Billings. Even¬ 

tually, through the assistance of friends employed by the Bureau of Recla¬ 

mation, Pretty-on-Top found adequate housing for herself and her family. 

During the next eighteen months she counseled Native American stu¬ 

dents at the university while her children were enrolled in the Billings 

public schools.'^ 

While Pretty-on-Top was struggling to keep her family together at 

Rocky Boy’s, events were taking place on the Crow Reservation that 

would profoundly impact her life. Her brief tenure at the Navajo Com¬ 

munity College in Arizona had introduced her to a tribally controlled in¬ 

stitution of higher education, and by 1980 such schools were proliferating. 

Navajo Community College (now Dine College) was chartered in 1968, 
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and several other schools emerged in the late 1960s or early 1970s, but in 

1978 Congress passed the Tribally Controlled Community College Act, 

which provided federal funds specifically for tribal community colleges. 

In response, during 1980 the Crow Central Education Commission estab¬ 

lished Little Big Horn College at Crow Agency, Montana. Designed to 

combine instruction in Crow values and traditions with job training for a 

modern world. Little Big Horn College proposed to “develop Crow Indian 

professionals whose life work would build the Crow Indian community; 

... to develop stronger and more informed parents, grandparents, aunts, 

and uncles; ... to access Crow adults to positions which would support 

their families; . . . and to establish ... a good path into the future for the 

Crow people.” In 1982 the Crow Educational Authority asked Pretty-on- 

Top to return to the Crow Reservation and become executive director of 

the college. 

Pretty-on-Top returned to Crow Agency to find an institution “housed” 

in a dilapidated old gymnasium abandoned by the Bureau of Indian Af¬ 

fairs (bia) and donated to the tribe for use as a college. The roof leaked, 

the windows were broken, and any pretense at central heating had long 

been forgotten. Pretty-on-Top recruited volunteers to repair the facihty, 

wire the building for electrical and telephone services, and scavenge and 

repair enough old, used, or discarded furniture to provide a minimal 

amount of tables, desks, and chairs. The old basketball court served as the 

library, a shower room was used as a science laboratory, and a former 

water treatment plant housed the chemistry department. Thirty-two stu¬ 

dents were enrolled in classes. Little Big Horn College was open for busi¬ 

ness. 

The uphill battle continued. The college lacked accreditation and was 

desperately short of funds. Although Congress passed the Tribal Com¬ 

munity College Assistance Act in 1978, and mandated that between five 

thousand and six thousand dollars per student be provided to these insti¬ 

tutions, it had failed to allocate sufficient funds to meet its obligations. In¬ 

deed, between 1978 and 1996 allocations to tribal colleges never exceeded 

thirty-two hundred dollars, and sometimes totaled no more than nine¬ 

teen hundred dollars per student. In contrast, during 1994, historically 

black colleges received almost seventeen thousand dollars per student, 

while the allocation for all community colleges approached seven thou¬ 

sand dollars. The Crow Tribe had little money to spend on the college, and 

even those funds were not always forthcoming due to bureaucratic ob¬ 

structions precipitated by intratribal politics. The college charged a mod¬ 

est tuition of twenty dollars per credit hour, but since most Crow students 



JANINE PEASE PRETTY-ON-TOP ^ 287 

came from families with limited incomes, student enrollment was low. 

Obviously, the college would have to rely on limited financing if it hoped 
to survive.*5 

Fortunately, Little Big Horn College had other resources. Although 

many faculty members had little experience teaching at the college level, 

they were dedicated to the unique purpose and mission of the institution, 

and they were willing to make the sacrifices necessary for the school’s sur¬ 

vival. Pretty-on-Top, like other faculty members, pitched in to share in 

the janitorial services and maintenance of the facility. Moreover, she envi¬ 

sioned the faculty as a “community of scholars,” and championed an 

equal distribution of salaries in which all faculty members (including her¬ 

self) would be paid the same. She encouraged all faculty members and 

staff to interact with the students and to make them feel that they were a 

part of the intellectual community. As Pretty-on-Top later remembered; 

“I really liked the idea of community of scholars, and I really liked the 

level hierarchy. I thought that there was some real merit in it. I thought 

that we (the college) came about as a result of that sort of relationship. 

... I really don’t like earning twice what somebody else does. You think 

that you have certain values, and then you try to put that in there some¬ 

where.”'® 

Pretty-on-Top’s values were tested in 1985, just three years after she as¬ 

sumed the presidency of the college. Reflecting the Reagan administra¬ 

tion’s desire to limit social services, the bia announced that welfare recip¬ 

ients would no longer be permitted to attend college. Since about one- 

quarter of the students enrolled at Little Big Horn College were receiving 

such assistance, the bia decision placed additional financial burdens on 

the institution. Not only would the school lose the student tuition, it also 

would be denied the federal matching funds (approximately seventy-five 

thousand dollars), which were critical for the college’s daily operation. In 

response, the faculty agreed to accept a 10 percent pay cut, the secretarial 

staff bought their own office supplies, and Pretty-on-Top took a part-time 

job in a nearby community to make ends meet. Two years later the Reagan 

administration reneged, and welfare recipients were again allowed to en¬ 

roll without forfeiting their benefits, but by that time the college had 

weathered the financial storm and had begun to attract enough grants 

from private sources to assure that its future was secure. 

If Little Big Horn College’s financial security initially seemed fraught 

with uncertainty, plans for the school’s curriculum proceeded smoothly. 

Pretty-on-Top was eager for the college to develop hard-core, traditional 

academic subjects, but she also believed that the nucleus of the curricu- 
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lum should be based in Crow studies, which were required of all students 

who enrolled at the school. These offerings were augmented by courses in 

accounting and other business courses, and during the next few years nine 

separate programs emerged to contain additional course offerings in 

physical education/health, communications arts. Crow studies, science, 

mathematics, information systems, humanities, social sciences, and a 

freshman seminar. By the 1990s nine different associate of arts degrees 

were offered. Meanwhile, the college took pride in the growth of a special 

collection of materials housed in the Crow Indian Archives, adjacent to 

the college library. Through the years the archives have grown to include 

“records, papers, scrapbooks, family histories, and photographs of Crow 

individuals and tribal historians; copies of federal government records; 

external studies and reports; and research materials from historians, an¬ 

thropologists, missionaries, attorneys, and others who have studied Crow 

life.”'« 

The college’s emphasis on the special needs and interests of its students 

is also reflected in its methods of instruction. Instructors encourage their 

students to do their best, but they emphasize cooperation rather than 

competition. The Crows traditionally have been a communal people, and 

family members often cooperate in social and economic activities. At Lit¬ 

tle Big Horn College, family members are encouraged to enroll in the same 

classes and to assist each other with homework and other projects. More¬ 

over, the emphasis is not on rushing through a training program or at¬ 

tempting to gain a familiarity with new knowledge as rapidly as possible. 

For the Crows, mastering a skill or quantity of information thoroughly is 

more important than progressing through it as rapidly as possible.‘9 

Accreditation required considerable effort. Academic accreditation 

teams visited the campus during 1984, but because of limited library re¬ 

sources, a lack of a faculty salary schedule, and inadequate finances, they 

refused to recommend accreditation for the college. Two years later 

another evaluation team arrived at Little Big Horn, but this team also re¬ 

mained critical of the institution’s makeshift facilities and low salaries. 

Dismayed by the appraisal, Pretty-on-Top defended the institution’s cur¬ 

riculum as reflecting the needs of the community and pointed out that the 

faculty, while undoubtedly underpaid, were dedicated teachers. More¬ 

over, most community colleges (particularly tribal colleges) suffered from 

a limited physical plant and from a lack of resources, and Little Big Horn 

certainly was not unique in this respect. The Crow elders supported 

Pretty-on-Top’s reply, informing her that “you are not a good warrior un¬ 

til you have an enemy to test your abilities.” In response, the accreditation 
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agency censured the team, but Little Big Horn still was not accredited. 

Subsequent evaluations were made over the next five years, and Little Big 

Horn College received full accreditation in 1990. In 1994, after pressure 

from some faculty members and another accreditation team, Pretty-on- 

Top reluctantly agreed to a more graduated, hierarchical salary structure. 

The school’s accreditation was renewed in 2000, and Little Big Horn Col¬ 

lege continues as a fully accredited two-year institution. 

In the midst of her efforts to strengthen the college and achieve accred¬ 

itation, Pretty-on-Top became involved in a voting rights contest with the 

state of Montana that would have profound consequences for the Crow 

people and for their neighbors on the adjoining Northern Cheyenne Res¬ 

ervation. In November 1982 a Crow candidate, Ramona Howe, was 

elected as the county representative to the state legislature, while a white, 

pro-Indian candidate also was elected to the Big Horn County Board of 

Commissioners. Candidates for state and local offices in Big Horn County 

previously had been forced to run “at large” since the county had no elec¬ 

tion districts, and Crow candidates traditionally had been unsuccessful 

since they usually faced a “countywide” non-Indian opposition. But in 

1982 both candidates enjoyed the overwhelming support of about one 

thousand newly registered Crow voters on the Crow Reservation. More¬ 

over, the Crow people, by sheer numbers, gained control of the Dem¬ 

ocratic Party in Big Horn County; most non-Indian Democrats left the 

party and either joined with the Republicans or voted as independents.^^ 

Although Crow voters elected two candidates to office, they encoun¬ 

tered several obstacles during the election. Some had difficulty securing 

voter registration materials. Others encountered difficulty obtaining ab¬ 

sentee ballots, and many Crows believed that their absentee votes had not 

been counted. Sometimes Crow voters were assigned to distant voting 

precincts, and on numerous occasions the identity of Indian voters was 

challenged by officials at the polls. In addition, the two successful candi¬ 

dates’ non-Indian opponents and their supporters suggested that the 

Crows were guilty of voter fraud since there were more Crows registered 

to vote than mailboxes at Crow Agency. However, the Crows always had 

shared a limited number of mailboxes; there were only six hundred for 

the one thousand households that used them. In fact, there was no voter 

fraud—^just people with limited resources sharing their mailboxes with 

their neighbors.“ 

Convinced that the Crows and Northern Cheyennes faced a continuing 

pattern of discrimination, Pretty-on-Top joined with other tribal leaders 

to initiate legal action against Big Horn County. In August 1983, attorneys 
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employed by these individuals filed a suit in U.S. district court charging 

that the at-large voting system discriminated against Indian voters in 

county and school elections. Janine Pretty-on-Top (then Janine Windy 

Boy) was the leading plaintiff in the case. In addition to the obstacles and 

harassment mentioned in the previous paragraph, the suit stated that al¬ 

though approximately 46 percent of the county’s residents were Native 

American, almost none had been elected to school boards or to county of¬ 

fices. In 1983 there were ninety-nine appointees to boards and committees 

in Big Horn County; one was Native American. Moreover, the plaintiff’s 

attorneys illustrated that such a pattern was not an exception. In the pre¬ 

vious fifty years approximately 265 appointees had served Big Horn 

County. Only 11 had been Native Americans. There were no Native Amer¬ 

icans on the Law and Order Commission, which dealt with Indians when 

they left the reservation. Indeed, only 4 of the county’s 180 employees 

were Indian, and only 10 of the 75 Crow Indians with teaching certificates 

were employed in the Hardin, Montana, school district, although the 

school’s student population was about 59 percent Native American. 

Testimony in Windy Boy v. Big Horn County began in November 1985 and 

lasted for several days. In June 1986, Federal District Judge Edward Ra- 

feedie decreed that the at-large election system in the county should be re¬ 

placed with voting districts before the next general election since “the ev¬ 

idence demonstrated a strong desire on the part of some white citizens to 

keep Indians out of Big Horn County government.” Since Native Ameri¬ 

can people comprised the majority of the population in one of the three 

county districts and in two of the county’s five school districts, they have 

emerged as a powerful force in county and school board politics. As the 

primary plaintiff in this case, Pretty-on-Top played a major role in these 

proceedings. Moreover, her efforts on behalf of the Crow people illus¬ 

trated the close ties between the college and the community. Unlike many 

academics in the non-Indian world, leaders of tribal colleges are active 

participants in solving the problems and issues that daily confront their 

constituents. They live in the “real world.” They are not “ivory tower in¬ 
tellectuals.”^'* 

In the midst of laying the groundwork for accreditation and leading the 

struggle for Native American voting rights in southern Montana, Pretty- 

on-Top pursued graduate degrees in education. In 1987 she was awarded a 

master’s degree in education from Montana State University in Bozeman, 

and seven years later (1994) she received a doctorate in adult and higher 

education from the same institution. Aware of the continuing needs on 

the Crow Reservation, she concentrated her graduate work on adult ed- 
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ucation. Her dissertation focused on the origin of the Tribally Controlled 

Community College Assistant Act of 1978; she examined how tribal lead¬ 

ers conceived of the idea, how they developed support in Congress, and 

who emerged as their advocates and opponents in both Congress and the 

executive branch. Much of her research was based on memos, reports, 

and narratives of the Study Group on Indian Education of the House Sub¬ 

committee on Education, and she traced arguments and opinions found 

in these narratives to their antecedents in earlier legislation regarding 

Indian education. Pretty-on-Top ascertained that the tribal colleges’ 

strategy was to work through members of Congress who were favorably 

inclined toward Native American people and who cared about education. 

Many of these individuals were not specialists in Indian affairs, nor were 

they from states or districts with large numbers of Native American con¬ 

stituents, but they were legislators “of good heart” who believed that eve¬ 

ryone should have access to higher education.^5 

Pretty-on-Top found that these champions of Indian education adapted 

successful provisions from earlier legislation and incorporated them into 

the Tribally Controlled Community College Assistant Act. In keeping 

with the hectic pace of her life during this period, her dissertation was 

sometimes written in libraries; sometimes on a laptop computer while on 

an airplane or in a teepee; and on one occasion at a large serving table in 

the mess hall of Ted Turner’s ranch, near Bozeman, where Crow officials 

were conducting an archaeological survey of sacred sites prior to a con¬ 

struction project.^® 

Pretty-on-Top’s interest in federal legislation affecting higher ed¬ 

ucation for Native American people also was spurred by her participation 

in national organizations that focused on this subject. She served as Little 

Big Horn College’s representative to the American Indian Higher Ed¬ 

ucation Consortium during the 1980s, and in 1983 was elected to a two- 

year term as president. While president, she was instrumental in revers¬ 

ing President Ronald Reagan’s “pocket veto” of the reauthorization of the 

tribal colleges act. She later served as the organization’s treasurer for six 

years. She was a trustee of the Smithsonian’s National Museum of the 

American Indian. In 1986, after the tribal colleges established the Ameri¬ 

can Indian College Fund, she served on the aicf’s board of directors from 

1988 to 1995, and from 1998 to the present.^7 

By the early 1990s Pretty-on-Top’s personal and family life had become 

more stable and she felt at home on the Crow Reservation. In 1983 her 

marriage to Sam Windy Boy ended in divorce, but she continued to raise 

her children and was surrounded by friends and relatives. In 1991 she mar- 
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ried John Pretty-on-Top, a leader in the Crow Sun Dance and a cultural 

commissioner for the Crow Tribe. Moreover, by 1994 Little Big Horn Col¬ 

lege continued to struggle for operating funds, but the school was firmly 

established as one of the leading tribal colleges in the United States. 

Meanwhile, Pretty-on-Top was much in demand as a public lecturer and 

had emerged as a nationally respected leader within the field of Native 

American education. In 1990 the National Indian Education Association 

named her their Educator of the Year.^® 

Her leadership was recognized by the John D. and Catherine T. Mac- 

Arthur Eoundation. In 1994 the foundation awarded Pretty-on-Top a Mac- 

Arthur fellowship, one of the most prestigious awards given to individuals 

throughout the Western Hemisphere. MacArthur fellows are chosen from 

a highly select group of nominees and are provided with an income over a 

five-year period “so that they may have the time and the freedom to fulfill 

their potential by devoting themselves to their own endeavors at their 

own pace.” Nicknamed “MacArthur genius grants,” these awards provide 

recipients with the time and financial resources to “focus on more than 

one area through interdisciplinary work, to change fields if they wish, or 

even to alter the direction of their careers.” Pretty-on-Top spent her five 

years at Little Big Horn College, expanding and strengthening the curricu¬ 

lum and providing the leadership necessary for continued growth and sta¬ 

bility. ^9 

Like college administrators at most tribal colleges across the United 

States, Pretty-on-Top is determined that her institution will continue to 

meet the changing needs of her people. When the college first opened, 

Pretty-on-Top and other administrators initially designed programs to 

train Crow students for jobs in the immediate region. That training stiU 

continues, but the number of jobs near the Crow Reservation remains 

limited. As a result, Pretty-on-Top has encouraged students to “think like 

entrepreneurs and develop their own small businesses.” More than sixty 

students are enrolled in computer science classes in preparation for ca¬ 

reers in business and technology, and the college recently signed a con¬ 

tract with the National Park Service to provide guided bus tours of the 

Little Big Horn Battlefield, a national historic site that abuts the Crow 

Reservation. The college not only trains the guides but also manages the 

tour buses and associated services.3° 

During the fall semester of 1999 over three hundred students were en¬ 

rolled at Little Big Horn College. Administration, faculty, and staff num¬ 

bered about forty. The college catalog listed over 175 separate courses that 

are offered on a regular basis. Seventy-three sections of these courses were 
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offered during that semester. Pretty-on-Top continued to serve as the 

president of the institution, but she was assisted by three deans and a reg- 

istrar.31 

As student enrollment continues to grow, Pretty-on-Top acknowledges 

that Little Big Horn College will face a series of challenges in the future. 

The Crow population continues to increase; current projections estimate 

that tribal enrollment may reach sixteen thousand by 2007. Much of this 

increase will come from younger Crows who loom as potential students at 

the college. Pretty-on-Top believes the franchise for guided tours of the 

Little Big Horn Battlefield is a portent of things to come. The Crows ex¬ 

pect that tourism in the region also will increase, and the college hopes to 

play a major role in preparing tribal members to take advantage of tourist- 

related business opportunities. She also believes that the college will in¬ 

crease its role in providing vocational education and certification for a 

growing number of economic activities. 

Yet Pretty-on-Top envisions the school as an important social, cultural, 

and political force within the future Crow community. She believes that 

the college has a role in addressing local health and substance abuse prob¬ 

lems, and that the institution should continue its efforts to champion and 

preserve the Crow language and culture, particularly in response to the 

onslaught of a global culture promulgated by the spread of cable tele¬ 

vision and mass marketing in the region. She also believes that Crow cul¬ 

ture and spirituality should be protected from the aggressive proselytism 

of Pentecostal Christianity. Pretty-on-Top hopes that the college can take 

the lead in promoting the tribe’s judicious management of its natural re¬ 

sources and that it can prepare Crow citizens for a more active role in 

county and state politics. And finally, lest she appear too ethnocentrically 

focused on just the problems of the Crow Reservation, Pretty-on-Top also 

believes that Little Big Horn College should serve as a bridge between the 

Crows and their non-Indian neighbors, an institution that will work for 

continued improvement in the Crows’s “acquaintance, collaboration, and 

friendship with whites. 

Like other administrators of tribal colleges, Pretty-on-Top presides 

over an institution that serves many purposes. All of the thirty tribal col¬ 

leges scattered on reservation communities across the Great Lakes states 

and the West provide vocational training designed to match the job mar¬ 

ket within their specific regions, yet they also offer classes that provide 

their students with the basic courses needed to transfer into four-year un¬ 

dergraduate colleges or universities. Most offer intensive coursework in 

the specific history or culture of their tribal communities, and all employ 



294 ^ the new warriors 

Native American instructors as experts in such subjects. Indeed, all of 

these institutions are blessed with a nucleus of highly dedicated admin¬ 

istrators and faculty members, many of whom serve the institutions at 

salary levels considerably below what they might earn at comparable non- 

tribal colleges. 

Low faculty salaries are symptomatic of the financial difficulties these 

institutions continue to face. In 1986, Pretty-on-Top and other tribal col¬ 

leges created the American Indian College Fund, a nonprofit organization 

located in Denver, Colorado, that is dedicated to garnering support for the 

tribal colleges. Since 1989 the fund has raised more than thirty-five mil¬ 

lion dollars, and in 1999 received major gifts from the David and Lucille 

Packard Foundation, the Coca-Cola Foundation, sony Electronics, and 

the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, among a host of others. But the 

colleges receive no state support and their location within impoverished 

communities still makes them vulnerable to financial shortages. Classes 

continue to be taught in substandard classrooms desperately short of ad¬ 

equate equipment or library facilities, and in some tribal communities the 

institutions remain at the mercy of internecine tribal politics.^5 

Yet coups are being counted. In 1999 nearly thirty thousand students at¬ 

tended tribal colleges, at least six thousand of them beneficiaries of schol¬ 

arship funds provided by the American Indian College Fund. And despite 

the often substandard libraries, laboratory equipment, and classrooms, 

students at the tribal colleges are achieving some significant success. 

While less than 10 percent of Native American students currently gradu¬ 

ate from public colleges, more than 40 percent of graduates of tribal col¬ 

leges are now pursuing more education. Another 50 percent of these grad¬ 

uates are employed at permanent jobs. According to the Carnegie 

Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching, “Without question, the 

most significant development in American Indian communities since 

World War II was the creation of tribally-controlled colleges. . . . Consid¬ 

ering the enormously difficult conditions tribal colleges endure, with re¬ 

sources most collegiate institutions would find unacceptably restrictive, 

their impact is remarkable.”36 

At Little Big Horn College the battle continues. Plans have been made 

for a new and enlarged campus, but so far they remain on the drawing 

board. Yet Pretty-on-Top remains optimistic. The college continues to be 

a reservoir and fountain of Crow culture, and its graduates have achieved 

considerable success. Over two hundred Crow students have completed 

their course work and received their diplomas. Some have gone on to 
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four-year colleges, and some have not, but 85 percent are employed on or 

near the Crow Reservation where they lead full lives, supporting their 

families. Amid the books, reports, memos, and other materials in Janine 

Pretty-on-Top’s crowded office is the Little Big Horn College Catalog, 1997- 

1999, whose cover is adorned with a photograph of Plenty Coups, the 

great Crow chief whose leadership spanned the end of the old “buffalo 

days” and the tribe’s occupation of the Crow Reservation. Inside the cata¬ 

log, adjacent to its frontispiece is a quote from this honored leader. His 

words still hold true. “Education is your most powerful weapon. With 

education you are the white man’s equal; without education you are his 

victim.”37 

In January 2001, while this volume was in press, Janine Pease Pretty-on- 

Top left her position as president of Little Big Horn College after con¬ 

siderable disagreement and turmoil emerged within both the college’s 

board of trustees and the Crow tribal council over the direction and lead¬ 

ership of the institution, particularly over the allocation of funds for fu¬ 

ture construction projects on campus. Pretty-on-Top is currently serving 

as an independent educational consultant. 
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Walter Echo-Hawk 

Pawnee 

BY JOHN R. WUNDER 

In today’s world, every Indian is a warrior. Some have chosen the court¬ 

room, the law library, and the legislative haU as their fields of combat in 

the search for liberty, cultural freedoms, and sovereignty. These people 

are Indian lawyers from the Native American Rights Fund (narf), a na¬ 

tional Indian law firm founded in 1970 as a special pilot project that 

evolved from California Indian Legal Services (oils), an agency initially 

financed by the federal government’s Office of Economic Opportunity. 

One of narf’s senior staff attorneys is Arusa To-da-hey (“Good Horse” in 

Pawnee), whose professional name is Walter R. Echo-Hawk. 

Over the years narf’s board of directors has articulated five areas of 

concentration: the preservation of tribes and traditional culture, the pro¬ 

tection of tribal resources, the promotion of human rights, the account- 

abihty of governments to Native Americans, and the development of In¬ 

dian law. Officially an apolitical organization, narf does not participate in 

partisan political debates or issues, but it does assist in formulating legis¬ 

lation and in initiating and defending challenges in court that seek to pro¬ 

tect and enhance Indian rights, narf represents Indian clients—both indi¬ 

viduals and tribes. If clients can afford to pay for narf’s services, they are 

asked to do so; but if they cannot they are not necessarily denied represen¬ 

tation. Representation hinges on the issues involved, narf will not rep¬ 

resent Native Americans who seek legal assistance against other Indians.^ 

Walter Echo-Hawk graduated from the University of New Mexico’s In¬ 

dian law program and passed the Colorado bar exam. Although he joined 

narf as an attorney in 1973, he previously had been associated with the 

firm. Echo-Hawk’s cousin John, one of the initial members of narf, en¬ 

couraged him to pursue a career as an attorney, and in the summer of 1971, 

while a law student at the University of New Mexico, Walter served as a 

clerk in the narf offices. Today, as a senior staff attorney there, he man- 
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ages a large caseload and serves on the litigation management committee. 

Echo-Hawk does not envision himself as exceptional, but simply as one of 

many Indian attorneys and as a prototype for the current generation of le¬ 

gal warriors. 

Walter Echo-Hawk was born on 23 June 1948 in the Indian hospital on 

the Pawnee Reservation near Pawnee, Oklahoma. The oldest of four chil¬ 

dren, Walter has a sister, Debbie, and two brothers, Roger and Eance. His 

father, Walter Echo-Hawk Sr., is a decorated U.S. Air Force veteran with 

tours of duty in Korea and Vietnam. His mother, Jeanine Echo-Hawk, is a 

former public school teacher. Since Walter Echo-Hawk Sr. spent his ca¬ 

reer as an enlisted man in the air force, the Echo-Hawks moved frequently 

during Walter’s childhood. From 1956 to 1963 the family lived in Warrens- 

burg, Missouri, near Whiteman Air Force base. Walter Sr. was then as¬ 

signed to Ramey Air Force base in Puerto Rico, where in 1966 Walter 

graduated from high school.^ 

The Echo-Hawks are members of the Kitkahahki, or Republican, band 

of the Pawnee Nation. Some of their relatives are members of the Skidi 

band. There are two other Pawnee bands; tbe Chaui, or Grand Pawnees, 

and tbe Pitahawiratas. As Kitkahahkis, the Echo-Hawks belong to the 

warrior class. In 1777, Spanish officials at St. Louis reported that the Kitka¬ 

hahkis numbered from 350 to 400 warriors and that they were a conserva¬ 

tive people who lived in central Kansas and south-central Nebraska. Dur¬ 

ing the nineteenth century, as disease decimated Pawnee villages and 

large numbers of non-Indians moved onto the plains, the Pawnee Nation 

was forced onto a reservation in Nebraska and then removed to Okla¬ 

homa. The Kitkahahkis opposed this resettlement, but pragmatically ac¬ 

quiesced since they needed federal annuity payments to survive in the 

new land. Once in Oklahoma, they agreed to occupy the Pawnee Reserva¬ 

tion, the land upon which Walter Echo-Hawk was born.3 

In 1966, after graduating from high school, Echo-Hawk enrolled at 

Oklahoma State University, where he received a B.S. in political science in 

1970. During the 1960s the Indian world in the United States underwent 

many changes. In 1961, Indian college students and other activists found¬ 

ed the National Indian Youth Council (niyc) whose statement of policy 

articulated a viewpoint “based in a tribal perspective” and stated “literally 

that the Indian problem is the white man, and further realizes that pov¬ 

erty, educational drop-out, unemployment, etc., reflect only symptoms of 

a social contract situation that is directed at unilateral cultural extinc¬ 

tion. ”4 This conclusion epitomized the dissatisfaction of many young In¬ 

dians with the status quo during this decade and was a harbinger of things 
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to come. In 1967 the Indian law program at the University of New Mexico 

was founded, and in 1968 young Indians in Minneapolis-St. Paul organ¬ 

ized the American Indian Movement (aim). One year later Native Ameri¬ 

can militants occupied Alcatraz, an event that brought national attention 

to Indian issues. During 1969, Native American teachers formed the Na¬ 

tional Indian Education Association, and in 1970 the federal government 

returned Blue Lake to the Taos Pueblos, an event that established impor¬ 

tant legal and political precedents.5 

Walter Echo-Hawk joined niyc during the 1960s, and during the 

summer of 1968 he enrolled in a program at the University of New Mexico 

designed to assist Native American college students interested in a legal 

career. In 1968 he also assisted with the camp established by Martin 

Luther King’s Poor People’s Campaign, at Ponca City, Oklahoma. One 

year later he spent part of the summer at an niyc workshop in Boulder, 

Colorado. These experiences aroused his interest in national affairs, but 

he also was motivated by events in northern Oklahoma. No Indians 

served on local school boards, and school administrators demanded that 

Pawnee high school students cut their hair, a violation of some Pawnees’ 

religious beliefs and traditions. In addition, many Pawnees believed they 

were subject to police brutality. The unexplained death of Echo-Hawk’s 

uncle in a local jail also piqued his concern and activism.^ 

Yet Echo-Hawk, like many other Indians in Oklahoma, initially was 

wary of aim and its tactics, aim emerged in Minneapolis, was primarily an 

urban-based organization, and was popular among the youth of Indian 

families who had been relocated off reservations and into ghetto-like con¬ 

ditions in major cities. Native Americans in Oklahoma debated the merits 

of aim’s actions, but most of the Echo-Hawks, including Walter and John, 

were traditionalists, and although some Pawnees, and even some 

members of the Echo-Hawk family, praised these urban activists, support 

for AIM remained limited until the occupation of Wounded Knee, South 

Dakota, in 1973.^ 

After graduating from Oklahoma State University, in 1970 Echo-Hawk 

enrolled in the Indian law program at the University of New Mexico. 

While a law student, he met his future wife, Pauline Sam (Yakama), a stu¬ 

dent from Haskell Indian Institute in Kansas who was enrolled as an un¬ 

dergraduate at the University of New Mexico majoring in anthropology. 

They married and have three children: Amy, a University of Colorado 

graduate in journalism; Walter Jr., a graduate of the Santa Fe Institute of 

Indian Arts and a singer; and Anthony, a ninth-grade hockey player. 

Walter and Pauline Echo-Hawk continue to reside in Lyons, Colorado.* 
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While enrolled in law school, Echo-Hawk acquired many of the skills 

needed by a modern legal warrior. In addition he envisioned how law 

could serve as a tool for social change and as an effective means to protect 

Native American rights. At first, Echo-Hawk saw himself as a plaintiff’s 

lawyer, an aggressive pursuer of change through the courtroom, cham¬ 

pioning an active offense rather than a cautious defense. Over the years, 

however, his approach changed. He now envisions his role as that of a 

careful advocate, a warrior still dedicated to the goals necessary for the 

achievement of Indian rights, but more a problem-solver, a seeker of the 

best alternative to achieve the appropriate end. Echo-Hawk’s position 

changed because he, like many other Native Americans, lost faith in the 

federal court system after the 1980s. He questions whether federal district 

and appellate courts provide a level playing field for Native American is¬ 

sues and believes that legal actions must be carefully chosen if they are to 

be successful. In addition he believes that other legal arenas such as Con¬ 

gress, state legislatures, and the United Nations also offer opportunities 

for the defense and protection of Native American rights.^ 

Echo-Hawk’s first case as a narf attorney, Indian Inmates of the Nebraska 

Penal and Correctional Complex v. Vitek was typical of many issues addressed 

by the firm since its inception. In this initial case, narf pressed for Native 

American prisoners’ access to spiritual leaders at state expense, and their 

right to meet as a group for educational purposes. In the years that fol¬ 

lowed, Echo-Hawk and other narf attorneys defended Native American 

prisoners’ rights to wear their hair long, in a traditional manner, and 

Echo-Hawk successfully championed the rights of Native American pris¬ 

oners to meet with medicine men, participate in sweat lodge ceremonies, 

and keep sacred objects such as sage, cedar, and sweet grass in both state 

and federal prisons in the Southwest and Great Plains. Echo-Hawk and 

NARF also have addressed related problems such as mail censorship, visit¬ 

ation rights, adequate medical care, and prison overcrowding. 

narf’s initial involvement in recognition and restoration issues has 

continued. Recognition is the legal means through which the United 

States officially acknowledges the existence of a Native American group 

as a tribal nation. It is somewhat analogous to the official standing foreign 

nations have with the United States government. Recognition is impor¬ 

tant because it means that federal programs are usually extended to 

members of the recognized entity. Tribes achieve recognition if they have 

a treaty with the United States, or if they meet certain standards as articu¬ 

lated by Congress, the executive branch of the federal government, or the 

federal courts. Restoration can occur for a tribe previously recognized, but 
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that has been terminated. The restoration process, begun in the 1970s, 

was a direct response to the termination acts passed for specific tribes in 

the 1950s and 1960s. Between 1954 and 1966, 109 tribes and bands were 

terminated by laws signed by presidents Dwight D. Eisenhower and John 

F. Kennedy. Designation of restoration comes only from Congress, and in 

the 1970s, 1980s, and 1990s many recognition and restoration movements 

have been supported by narf.“ 

NARF was instrumental in persuading the U.S. attorney general to file a 

suit on behalf of the Passamaquoddys against the state of Maine, and then 

assisted the Passamaquoddys and Penobscots in filing land claims in 1976. 

Meanwhile narf attorneys successfully pressed Congress for a bill to al¬ 

low both tribes to regain part of their former land base and a restitution 

for lands taken illegally. In 1980, when President Jimmy Carter signed the 

Maine Indian Claims Settlement Act, the largest return of lands to Indians 

in American history was completed, narf also assisted in the recognition 

of the Coushatta Tribe of Louisiana (1973), the Pascua Yaqui Tribe of Ari¬ 

zona (1978), the Tunica-Biloxi Tribe of Louisiana (1981), the Narragansett 

Tribe of Rhode Island (1982), the Poarch Creek Tribe of Alabama (1983), 

and the Mashantucket Pequots of Connecticut (1983). In addition, three 

Texas tribes, the Alabama-Coushattas, the Texas Kickapoos, and the Ys- 

leta Del Sur Pueblos all achieved recognition with narf’s assistance dur¬ 

ing the 1980s. 

Not all recognition attempts were successful, narf’s efforts to obtain 

federal recognition for the Gay Head Wampanoags of Massachusetts and 

the San Juan Southern Paiutes of Arizona have so far ended in failure, but 

narf’s labors on behalf of Native Americans in Alaska did serve some 

clients well. In Native Village of Noatak v. Hoffman (1991), the Ninth Circuit 

Court of Appeals ruled that the Village of Noatak and all other villages 

listed in the Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act are “tribes” holding the 

same status as all other Indian tribes in the lower forty-eight states. This 

decision meant that the village governments for 226 federally recognized 

tribes in Alaska containing ninety-five thousand Native Alaskans were 

now approved by the federal government.'3 

narf’s restoration efforts are perhaps best exemplified by their support 

for the . Menominee Tribe of Wisconsin and the Siletz Tribe of western 

Oregon. The Menominee Restoration Act of 1973 assigned federal trust 

status to the Menominees, and the Siletz Tribe was restored in 1977, re¬ 

ceiving a 3600-acre reservation in 1980.^4 

During the 1970s narf also became involved in the protection of Native 

American hunting and fishing rights—important issues since many tribes 
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traditionally hunted and fished in order to survive under subsistent living 

conditions. When Indian people, particularly in the Pacific Northwest 

and Great Lakes region, asserted their hunting and fishing rights that had 

been guaranteed to them through past treaties, they were opposed by food 

companies, sporting enterprises, and some state and federal agencies. As a 

prelude to the extensive litigation on hunting and fishing rights in the 

1970s, in 1968 the Supreme Court in Puyallup Tribe Inc. v. Department of 

Game (known as Puyallup I) opened the door for state regulation of what 

previously had been considered protected off-reservation Native Ameri¬ 

can treaty rights to fish and hunt at customary places. As a consequence, 

many Indians who fished found themselves literally in bloody battles on 

rivers and streams, and in life-and-death litigation in courtrooms. Even¬ 

tually, in 1973 federal courts in Washington state, with narf’s prodding, 

established the right of Indians in Washington to 50 percent of the har- 

vestable fish in off-reservation waters.*5 

NARF also defended Native American fishing rights in the Great Lakes 

region and in Oregon. During the 1970s narf represented the Bay Mills 

Chippewas, the Grand Traverse Chippewas, and the Sault Sainte Marie 

Indian community against the state of Michigan. It also has represented 

several tribal communities in Wisconsin. In 1970 it obtained a major legal 

victory when the Supreme Court upheld the decision of a federal appel¬ 

late court and declined to review a case that might have had a negative im¬ 

pact on Indian fishing rights in the region, narf was less successful in 

Oregon. Although it won a declaration that the Klamath Tribe, while ter¬ 

minated, still retained treaty hunting and fishing rights within their 

former reservation, in 1985 the Supreme Court in Klamath Tribe v. Oregon 

Department of Fish and Wildlife found that the Klamaths could not claim 

treaty hunting and fishing rights on all former treaty lands. Oregon, how¬ 

ever, did agree to restore a disputed eighty-eight-thousand-acre tract to 

the former reservation boundary, placing it under Klamath treaty rights 

jurisdiction. 

Significant progress was achieved in Alaska. In 1989 narf attorneys 

persuaded a federal district court to enjoin the state of Alaska from pre¬ 

venting any Native fishermen from subsistence fishing at traditional sites, 

and throughout the 1990s narf has labored to extend fishing and hunting 

rights won by treaty Indians in the lower forty-eight states to Alaska’s Na¬ 

tives. Issues included establishing hunting and fishing rights on the Outer 

Continental Shelf, preventing oil development in the Arctic National 

Wildlife Refuge from disturbing the caribou herds of the region, stopping 
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the state from enforcing regulations that lessen subsistence harvests of 

caribou and moose, guaranteeing traditional-site fishing rights, and halt¬ 

ing gold leases on federal lands that would interfere with fishing and 

hunting. A major watershed occurred in 1995 when the Ninth Circuit 

Court of Appeals in Katie John v. United States ruled that federal law rec¬ 

ognizes as a priority the right for rural Alaska residents, who are mostly 

Natives, to hunt and fish for subsistence purposes, over commercial and 

sport hunting and fishing on public lands. The development of Native 

Alaskan hunting and fishing rights continues. 

Closely related to Native American fishing rights are the tribes’ claims 

on the water flowing through and adjacent to reservation communities, 

and NARF has been in the forefront in defending these claims. Beginning 

with the articulation of the Winters doctrine, the Supreme Court in 1908 

held that the establishment of a reservation guaranteed preemptive In¬ 

dian rights to water inside and adjacent to the reservation. The Winters 

doctrine was further developed in Arizona v. California (1963) when the Su¬ 

preme Court ruled that Native American water rights stood against all 

others, and the quantity of water reserved was based on the amount 

needed to irrigate the entire reservation. These were extremely important 

decisions preserving the viability of reservation lands, but during the past 

three decades they have been continually challenged. 

In the 1970s NARF attorneys assisted the Pyramid Lake Paiutes of Ne¬ 

vada in obtaining adequate water to develop and maintain their own fish 

hatchery, and forced the Pima Mining Company to recognize the Tohono 

O’Odhams rights to water in Arizona. In addition narf buttressed the 

economic security of tribes along the Colorado River by urging that the 

Supreme Court supplement the Arizona v. California decision with an order 

declaring that these tribes were to receive their water allocations first in 

times of water shortages. 

Unfortunately, conditions changed during the 1980s. Although narf at¬ 

torneys assisted the Klamaths in obtaining sufficient water from former 

reservation lands, helped the California Mission Indians establish the San 

Luis Rey Indian Water Authority, and provided counsel to the Southern 

Utes in resolving water claims in southwestern Colorado, they found that 

federal courts that once had safeguarded tribal water rights began to chip 

away at their earlier decisions. In 1983 the Court overturned a lower 

court’s decision to provide water to the Pyramid Lake Paiutes’s fishery, 

and then stated in Arizona v. San Carlos Apache Tribe that old water alloca¬ 

tions were void and that state courts should decide future ones. The latter 
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decision represented a fundamental blow to Native American water rights 

and encouraged narf subsequently to rely more on legislation than the 

court in water rights issues. 

Echo-Hawk was personally involved in one important water rights case 

during this period that in retrospect he considers to be the most difficult 

litigation that he has ever attempted. During the early 1980s the Puget 

Sound Power and Light Company and the city of Auburn, Washington, in 

an attempt to build a hydroelectric plant, endeavored to divert the White 

River and some of its tributaries away from the Muckelshoot Indian Res¬ 

ervation. The reservation, established in 1855, is the home of Skulkamish, 

Skopamish, Stakamish, and some south Puyallup bands of Native Ameri¬ 

cans who were guaranteed fishing rights in the White River by treaties 

signed in 1854 and 1855. In 1934 all the bands incorporated as the Muckel- 

shoots under the Indian Reorganization Act, and their reservation con¬ 

sists of about five sections of land located twenty-five miles southeast of 

Seattle.^* 

The Muckelshoots believed that the diversion of the river would siphon 

away their water and destroy their fishing, and Echo-Hawk represented 

the tribe in their legal action against the power company and the city of 

Auburn. Following a series of hearings, in 1986 Echo-Hawk obtained an 

injunction preventing the diversion of the river by successfully proving 

that such a change would violate the Muckleshoot’s water and fishing 

rights. After quantifying their federally reserved water rights, a settlement 

from the power company enabled the Muckelshoots to rebuild a salmon 

hatchery and obtain a fourfold increase in water flowing through the res¬ 

ervation from the company’s dam. Yet the hostility of the defendants re¬ 

mained so intense that Echo-Hawk was forced to appeal to the Ninth Cir¬ 

cuit Court of Appeals to obtain attorney fees guaranteed under the Civil 

Rights Attorney Fees Act;^^ 

Echo-Hawk also assisted the Klamath Tribe in its battle over water with 

the state of Oregon. In 1994 the Klamaths challenged the jurisdiction of 

Oregon over its quantification and allocation of reserved water rights and 

its attempts to force the tribe to pay state water fees. The case achieved 

mixed results. The court decreed that Oregon did exercise jurisdiction 

over water allocation, but that it could not charge the Klamaths fees for 

the water. The decision led to a pending case in which irrigation districts 

sued the Bureau of Reclamation over changes by the federal agency in the 

allocation of water, which were made to protect endangered species and 

Klamath fishing rights. 
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Litigation on the Klamath case continues, but during the 1990s narf at¬ 

torneys have become more wary of the courts and have embarked on a se¬ 

ries of legislative and administrative activities that have led to at least two 

water compacts between states and tribes. The Fort McDowell Indian 

Community Water Rights Settlement Act and subsequent agreements 

helped to protect Indian water rights in Arizona, while, with narf’s assis¬ 

tance, the state of Montana and the Northern Cheyennes reached an 

agreement and cloture on the amount of water reserved for the Northern 

Cheyenne Tribe. Other tribes in the 1990s, such as the Nez Perces, the 

Tule River Tribe of California, and the Chippewa-Cree Tribe of Montana, 

continue on the long twisted road of water rights negotiations under 

narf’s guidance. Given narf’s administrative and legislative successes in 

water law, it is not surprising to find narf representatives appointed by 

Congress and the president to the Western States Water Policy Review 

Advisory Commission, and narf serving as a co-sponsor of the Western 

States Water Council symposia on the settlement of Indians’ reserved 

water rights claims. In the 1990s narf’s legal warriors have come to the 

conclusion that the defense of Indian water rights may be better served by 

monitoring, patience, and legislation, rather than litigation. 

NARF also has been active in helping the tribes develop and protect their 

relationship with both private corporations and the states in relation to 

taxes. Although states have been eager to tax products sold on reserva¬ 

tions or trust lands, and to tax the limited income of Native Americans, in 

general the Supreme Court initially gave states few options to tax Indian 

resources, narf has worked diligently to protect the tax-exempt status of 

Indian assets while assisting the tribes in developing procedures through 

which tribal governments can obtain revenue from private corporations, 

such as mining or petroleum companies, who continue to do business on 

Indian lands. 

During the 1970s, narf attorneys argued successfully that individual 

Native Americans in both Montana and Minnesota were exempt from 

state taxation as long as they resided upon a reservation, regardless of 

whether they were members of the tribe that governed the reservation, 

and in 1980 in Joe v. Marcum a federal appellate court upheld narf’s posi¬ 

tion that the state of New Mexico could not garnish Indian wages earned 

on the Navajo Reservation, narf also has defended individual Indians 

from state taxation in Oklahoma. Since there are no federally recognized 

Indian reservations in the state, officials in Oklahoma attempted to levy 

automobile excise taxes and income taxes on tribal people who lived and 
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worked on Indian trust lands. Sac and Fox tribal members challenged the 

state, and in Oklahoma Tax Commission v. Sac and Fox Nation (i993). the Su¬ 

preme Court decided that Oklahoma could not levy such taxes on Native 

Americans who resided on and worked on trust lands, narf filed an ami¬ 

cus brief on behalf of the Cheyenne-Arapaho Tribe of Oklahoma in sup¬ 

port of the Sac and Fox Nation.^5 

Attorneys from narf have also assisted tribal governments in their at¬ 

tempts to establish their own revenue systems and to protect these sys¬ 

tems from state taxation. During the 1980s narf assisted several tribes in 

their defense of natural resource production, income, and sales taxes on 

reservation or trust lands. For example, in 1981 the state of Oklahoma was 

forced to reach a settlement with the Pawnees that barred the state from 

collecting sales taxes on tribally licensed businesses on the Pawnee Tribal 

Reservation. Walter Echo-Hawk assisted by filing an amicus brief for the 

Pawnee Tribe in State of Oklahoma, Ex Rel Oklahoma Tax Commission v. 

Mays, in which the federal district court declared Pawnee tribal lands a 

reservation within the meaning of “Indian Country.” In Florida in 1981 a 

state appellate court ruled that the state of Florida could not sue narf’s 

client, the Seminole Tribe, to collect sales taxes from reservation-based 

businesses. Echo-Hawk also was the counsel of record for the Pyramid 

Lake Paiute Tribe when they settled out of court with the state of Nevada 

who agreed to recognize the Paiutes’s inherent sovereign power to tax 

non-Indians doing business on their Nevada Indian reservations.^® 

Other important tax cases included Montana v. Blackfeet (1985), in which 

the Supreme Court held that the state of Montana did not have the au¬ 

thority to tax the oil and gas royalties of the Blackfeet Nation; a decision 

by the Supreme Court ruling that since the Jicarilla Apache Tribe already 

levied its own severance taxes on reservation oil production, that any ad¬ 

ditional severance tax by the state of New Mexico would constitute a dou¬ 

ble tax and inhibit petroleum production; and Mustang Fuel Corporation v. 

Cheyenne-Arapaho Tribe (1989), in which the Cheyenne and Arapahos were 

accorded the right to tax oil and gas production not on a reservation, but 

on tribal trust lands. The Mustang Fuel Corporation case was initially tried 

in tribal courts however, and the corporation has appealed the case in the 

federal court system. The outcome of this case is still pending, but the 

case suggests that tribal courts have initial jurisdiction over tribal taxa¬ 

tion, a decision welcomed by tribal governments, and that tribes do have 

the power to impose a severance tax over natural resource development.^7 

Yet not all taxation cases have gone smoothly for narf and its clients. In 

1992 the courts ruled in County of Yakima v. Confederated Tribes of the Yak- 
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ima Reservation that Yakima County, Washington, could impose property 

taxes on land patented in fee simple, but not on the sale of these lands. In 

Department of Taxation and Finance of the State of New York v. Milhelm Attea 

dr Bross, Inc., the court concluded that a state may regulate cigarette sales 

by collecting taxes from Indian wholesalers and retailers on sales to non- 

tribal members; while in Oklahoma Tax Commission v. Chickasaw Nation 

(1995), the court decided that the state of Oklahoma could not tax sales of 

gasoline when the tribe was the retailer and sold the fuel on tribal land. 

It did allow the state to tax the income of tribal members who worked 

for the tribe on tribal trust land but did not reside on trust land. In each 

case NARF filed an amicus brief, but these decisions seemed to weaken 

the position of tribal people and governments in their relation to state 

agencies.^* 

In many ways, taxation is a function of sovereignty, and narf has been 

in the forefront in defending modern tribal governments as they have 

forged new parameters of sovereignty or have defended their respective 

nations. Indeed, almost all of the cases involving narf have dealt with 

sovereignty to some degree, but several cases have been particularly sig¬ 

nificant. During the 1970s, narf assisted in the defense of the Mississippi 

Choctaw homeland, arguing that it constituted a reservation as generally 

understood within the usual definitions of federal law. narf attorneys 

also assisted the Cocopah Tribe in Arizona regain lands wrongfully seized 

by the Department of the Interior, and in a series of other legal actions 

they built step-by-step case law and administrative rulings that placed a 

protective shield around the Indian land-base. This land-base has been 

used by tribal government to reclaim sovereignty and to practice self-de¬ 

termination. ^9 

One of the greatest threats to tribal sovereignty by the federal govern¬ 

ment was the passage of Public Law 280 in 1953. The law authorized cer¬ 

tain states to assert criminal and civil jurisdiction over Indians and Indian 

reservations within their borders, but the law had been applied unevenly, 

and states differed markedly in their attempts to exercise such jurisdic¬ 

tion. Some states, like Nebraska, were not eager to assume jurisdiction be¬ 

cause the federal government provided no funds for additional services, 

so they simply assigned jurisdiction to county officials who generally ig¬ 

nored the reservation communities. Others, such as South Dakota, in¬ 

itially attempted to exert a broad jurisdiction but then attempted to apply 

such hegemony selectively. In 1984, narf prevented South Dakota from 

assuming criminal jurisdiction over the Cheyenne River Sioux Reserva¬ 

tion. Two years later, with narf’s assistance, the Winnebago Tribe of Ne- 



310 ^ THE NEW WARRIORS 

braska regained jurisdiction over its reservation through court proceed¬ 

ings and through legislation passed within the state legislature. In 1987 the 

Ely Colony Shoshones also regained jurisdiction over their reservation 

when the state of Nevada retroceded state control.3° 

NARF has also championed the sovereignty of tribal courts. In Duro v. 

Reina the Supreme Court ruled that Indian courts did not have criminal 

jurisdiction over crimes committed by nontribal member Indians on res¬ 

ervations, a jurisdiction that tribal courts traditionally had exercised. The 

court reasoned that Congress had never recognized this sort of tribal sov¬ 

ereign authority. In response narf led a successful legislative effort culmi¬ 

nating in the passage of federal legislation in 1991 explicitly recognizing 

Indian court criminal jurisdiction over nontribal member Indians. Yet 

other issues emerged. Questions of whether tribal courts hold civil juris¬ 

diction over personal injury actions involving two non-Indians, whether 

tribal courts have jurisdiction over a civil suit by an Indian against an non- 

Indian company, and whether tribal courts can hear civil disputes involv¬ 

ing a tribal member’s suit against a state agency have required substantial 

NARF commitments. Meanwhile many states, non-Indian companies, and 

non-Indian individuals repeatedly have sought to limit the jurisdiction of 

Indian courts, narf has anticipated this impending legal clash and has 

sought to find ways for tribes to strengthen and build court, governmen¬ 

tal, and regulatory infrastructures to meet these challenges.J^ 

Among all the facets of tribal sovereignty, none has attracted as much 

public attention as the tribes’ involvement with gaming. As funding for 

federal programs shrank and unemployment within the reservation com¬ 

munities mounted during the 1980s, many tribes looked to gaming as at 

least a temporary means of providing jobs and revenue, narf assisted 

some tribes that initially adopted this economic alternative, and not sur¬ 

prisingly, these tribes encountered opposition from state governments. In 

1986, NARF participated in a federal district court dispute that led to a rul¬ 

ing that the state of Oklahoma had no jurisdiction to regulate or tax the 

bingo operations of the Muscogee (Creek) Nation, and in 1988 narf as¬ 

sisted the St. Croix Band of Chippewa Indians of Wisconsin in placing 

land in trust so that a tribal bingo hall could be erected. Perhaps the most 

important action of narf in this legal arena involved filing an amicus 

brief in the Supreme Court case of California v. Cabazon Band of Mission In¬ 

dians (1987), which prevented states from enforcing state gambling laws 

on reservations.3^ 

This decision and the subsequent growth of gaming led to the passage 

of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act of 1988. The act recognized the 
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tribes’ “exclusive right to regulate gaming” if such activity was not pro¬ 

hibited by federal or state laws. The law also established three classes of 

gaming: traditional tribal games; basic organized games, such as bingo 

and lotto; and casino games, such as blackjack, slot-machines, and lot¬ 

teries. Tribes conducting the third class of games must enter a “compact 

governing the conduct of gaming activities” that they operate with states 

in which the gaming occurs. The states, in turn, are required to negotiate 

in good faith. The act also provided for the National Indian Gaming Com¬ 

mission to oversee gaming activities. 

Since the passage of the gaming act many tribes have established casi¬ 

nos, and Native American gaming has proliferated. Because most tribes 

with gaming operations can afford their own legal representation for 

gaming disputes, narf has generally withdrawn from most direct contact 

with the gaming enterprises, although tribes that have prospered from 

gaming have provided financial support to narf and to other Indian or¬ 

ganizations. Yet gaming remains a powerful force within Indian Country, 

and in 1993 Richard Hayward, chairman of narf’s board of directors, ac¬ 

knowledged that although Indian gaming represents less than 3 percent of 

the entire gambling industry in the United States, it still generated 

enough revenue to help tribes build housing, health clinics, schools, and 

water and sewer systems. Even so, the tribes recognize that they need to 

use the money carefully and work toward long-term stable economic de¬ 

velopment. According to Hayward, narf will continue to be “instrumen¬ 

tal in assisting many tribes” to explore and develop long-term sound eco¬ 

nomic enterprises.34 

Although controversies over gaming may grab the headlines, issues fo¬ 

cusing on religion probably are more important to most traditional Na¬ 

tive American people. In 1978 Congress passed the American Indian Relig¬ 

ious Freedom Act (airfa), which initially was envisioned as significant 

legislation that would strengthen the rights of Native Americans to prac¬ 

tice their traditional religions. The act contains two primary provisions. 

The first called on the federal government to “protect and preserve for 

American Indians their inherent freedom to believe, express, and exercise 

traditional religions,” and referred to Indians’ right to gain access to 

sacred sites, to use sacred objects, and to practice sacred ceremonies. The 

second provision required the president to order federal agencies to mon¬ 

itor and assess their policies in regard to adherence to the first provision, 

and to consult with traditional Indian religious leaders about such adher¬ 

ence. After consulting with the agencies, the president was required to is¬ 

sue a report to Congress documenting favorable policy changes.^5 
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Ironically, the name of the act is misleading since it contains no pro¬ 

visions for enforcement and does not protect sacred tribal sites, airfa 

does not prevent persons or government agencies from restricting the re¬ 

ligious rights of Native Americans, nor does it provide opportunities for 

tribes or individual Native Americans to bring lawsuits against such inter¬ 

lopers for any damages. Echo-Hawk and other narf attorneys cautioned 

potential clients that the legislation would be difficult to implement, and 

in 1980, when the Tennessee Valley Authority initially began to plan the 

erection of a dam on the Little Tennessee River that would flood tradi¬ 

tional hunting lands and areas used to gather religious objects, the Chero- 

kees appealed to narf for assistance and Echo-Hawk became the attorney 

of record. Although he argued that the construction of the dam would vi¬ 

olate Cherokee religious rights as outlined in airfa, the Sixth Court of Ap¬ 

peals ruled in Sequoyah v. Tennessee Valley Authority (1980) that the region 

to be flooded was not “central” to Cherokee religious practice and the 

construction of the dam proceeded. Echo-Hawk also wrote an amicus 

brief in support of the Navajos who attempted to obtain a court order to 

lower the water level of the Glen Canyon Dam on the Colorado River and 

to restrict tourist activity at Rainbow National Monument, since both the 

high water and tourist traffic infringed on tribal religious practices, but in 

Badoni v. Higginson (1980) the court ruled that Navajo religious interests 

were less important than the need for electric power. Obviously, airfa’s 

effectiveness as a defense of Native American religious rights was much 

diminished. Echo-Hawk did assist the federal government in its study of 

policy as required by section 2 of airfa, and he also testified on federal 

compliance problems before Congress.3^ 

With airfa essentially emasculated, the assault on Native American re¬ 

ligious beliefs continued, narf filed an amicus brief in Lyng v. Northwest 

Indian Cemetery Protective Association (1988), but it could not prevent the 

Supreme Court from ruling that the U.S. Forest Service could pave roads 

and supervise the harvesting of timber in areas containing sites sacred to 

the Yurok, Karok, and Tolowa peoples in California. Native Hawaiians 

also lost their appeal to prevent the development of a geothermal project 

at a sacred religious site in Hawaii, but the Federal Energy Regulatory 

Commission did refuse permission for the construction of a dam and hy¬ 

droelectric project at a site sacred to the Kootenai people in Montana. But 

in this case, in which Echo-Hawk served as the counsel of record, the 

commission also endeavored to protect the confidentiality of the Koote¬ 

nai religion and forbade all parties, including narf attorneys, to disclose 

its opinion. It also decreed that all legal records including the opinion 
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should remain sealed. Ironically therefore, the only case using airfa to 

protect Indian religious rights cannot be referred to nor can it serve as a 

precedent for other legal decisions.” 

The greatest threat to American religious freedom, however, emerged 

in Oregon. The controversy arose as a result of a complex legal precedent 

involving a Native American, a white Oregonian, their worship in the Na¬ 

tive American Church, and the loss of their jobs and unemployment com¬ 

pensation. Alfred Smith, a Klamath, and Galen Black, a white man, both 

worked for a private drug rehabilitation company in Portland. Smith was 

a member of the Native American Church and Black attended church cer¬ 

emonies where they both acknowledged that they had used peyote. As a 

result, they were fired from their jobs, and when they applied for unem¬ 

ployment benefits, the state denied their claim because it determined that 

Smith and Black were fired for misconduct. State laws of Oregon declared 

peyote a drug and criminalized its use, but these laws had not been en¬ 

forced for many years, and most people believed that the laws were un¬ 

constitutional with regard to the Native American Church. 

Nevertheless, once the case came before the Supreme Court, a majority 

held that Oregon could enforce anti-peyote laws and that such statutes 

did not infringe on the free exercise of Native Americans to practice their 

religion. Such a decision struck at the very heart of Native American re¬ 

ligious freedom. When the case first reached the Supreme Court in 1988, it 

was remanded to the Oregon Supreme Court to clarify whether Native 

American Church members could use peyote as a sacrament and not be 

subject to Oregon criminal law. Echo-Hawk played a role in this litigation, 

coauthored an amicus brief, and participated in the oral argument that led 

to the remand. In 1990 when the case was returned to the Supreme Court 

after the Oregon Supreme Court ruled for the plaintiffs, Echo-Hawk again 

served as a member of the legal team that represented the Native Ameri¬ 

can Church of North America. Yet the Supreme Court was determined to 

ignore all previous tests for assessing the limits of the First Amendment’s 

free exercise clause, and upheld the Oregon court’s decision. The only sol¬ 

ace was that the court was badly divided, and the justices penned strongly 

worded dissents and concurring opinions that suggested that their col¬ 

leagues in the majority did not know the law or much about Indian relig¬ 

ious practices. If the court decision remained the law. Native American re¬ 

ligious freedom would be substantially limited.3* 

In response, four years later Congress passed and President William 

Clinton signed the American Indian Religious Freedom Act Amendments 

of 1994 that legalized once and for all the religious use of peyote by 
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members of the Native American Church. Echo-Hawk and other narf at¬ 

torneys strongly supported the bill by presenting testimony before Con¬ 

gress as counsel to the Native American Church, and by working with the 

National Congress of American Indians and the Association on American 

Indian Affairs to help secure passage of the legislation.39 

Closely related to issues of religious freedom is the defense of Native 

American graves and skeletal remains. In the twentieth century alone, as 

many as two million Native American remains have been disturbed. 

Grave robbers have been encouraged and employed by museums, univer¬ 

sities, government agencies, and private tourist businesses. Reluctant to 

part with their stolen goods, museums and private collectors have hoard¬ 

ed the remains of Native Americans and associated burial objects, some¬ 

times even refusing to discuss the size and nature of their collections. 

NARF has been in the forefront of the ranks demanding that these re¬ 

mains be returned to tribal people, and Walter Echo-Hawk continues to 

consider this issue his most meaningful legal involvement. Echo-Hawk 

has battled in the courts, in both state and national legislatures, and in the 

public arena for the return of his dead relatives and for the deceased kin 

of other indigenous peoples of the United States. These struggles have 

culminated in the passage of repatriation acts in states such as Nebras¬ 

ka, Kansas, Arizona, California, and Hawaii, and finally in the passage of 

the Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act of 1990 

(nagpra) by Congress. In addition, the Smithsonian Institution has also 

been forced to repatriate Indian remains and burial goods to appropriate 

tribes. And finally, narf has helped develop federal Indian burial policies 

designed to protect Indian burial sites and repatriate over three hundred 

thousand Native American bodies stored in federal and state institu¬ 

tions.4° 

Nowhere was the battle more personal and difficult than in Nebraska, 

the traditional homeland of the Pawnee people. The first reported des¬ 

ecration of a Pawnee grave occurred in 1820, but the thievery continued 

into the twentieth century. Asa T. Hill, known as the “father” of Nebraska 

archaeology, a used-car salesman, amateur archaeologist, and director of 

the Nebraska State Historical Society (nshs) bought farmland in 1920 

that held many Pawnee graves. According to Hill, “I don’t play golf... my 

only recreation is this Indian investigation. I come out Sundays and dig up 

Indians.... This hill is my golf course.” With Hill’s enthusiasm and direc¬ 

tion, hundreds of Pawnee bodies were exhumed in Nebraska between 

1920 and 1950- In 1988, when Lawrence Goodfox Jr., the president of the 

Pawnee Business Council and a respected elder, requested the return of 
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the Pawnee dead, many Nebraskans were shocked to learn that the nshs 

held over one thousand skeletons, many of which were Pawnees/* 

James Hanson, director of the Nebraska State Historical Society, re¬ 

fused to return the skeletal remains and led a hostile campaign to prevent 

the repatriation. When the Pawnees attempted to obtain access to records 

to verify the skeletal remains in the society’s collection, the society denied 

them access to public records; and thus began a series of legal actions that 

culminated in the passage of Nebraska state law LB340 (January 1989), 

which was the most stringent Indian repatriation act in the United States 

at that time. When narf finally gained access to nshs records, the reason 

for the society’s recalcitrance became obvious. At no time did either the 

society or the people who had robbed the Indian graves obtain exhuma¬ 

tion permits, as required by Nebraska state law.^^ 

The narf effort on behalf of Native American repatriation in Nebraska 

initially was led by Robert M. Peregoy, a Flathead attorney; he was joined 

by Echo-Hawk who represented the Pawnees and Winnebagos. Echo- 

Hawk played a key role lobbying legislators for the passage of Nebraska’s 

state repatriation statute, and he also represented his tribe in Nebraska 

State Historical Society v. Pawnee Tribe and the State of Nebraska (1990), in 

which the court ruled that the nshs was a state agency and subject to state 

open-record laws. He also won an arbitration award granted under the 

new Nebraska repatriation statute, which was used to determine the iden¬ 

tity of four hundred human remains and accompanying burial objects 

that the nshs initially had refused to return. In Kansas, Echo-Hawk tes¬ 

tified before the state legislature, helped draft and negotiate legislation, 

and lobbied for the successful passage of an unmarked-grave protection 

statute. In California he testified before the state house and senate, cham¬ 

pioning a second repatriation bill after an initial piece of such legislation 

was vetoed by the governor. The subsequent bill was passed and signed.43 

During the 1990s Echo-Hawk has continued his efforts on behalf of Na¬ 

tive American repatriation. He represented the Pawnee Tribe, the Larson 

Bay Tribal Council, and a cultural rights coalition composed of narf, the 

National Congress of American Indians (ncai), and the American Associ¬ 

ation of Indian Affairs in negotiating and lobbying for the passage of the 

National Museum of the American Indian Act, which required that the 

Smithsonian Institution repatriate Native American remains and funer¬ 

ary objects to culturally affiliated tribes upon the request of tribal offici¬ 

als. He then represented the Pawnees in their successful pursuit of three 

separate repatriation and reburial requests from the Smithsonian. He also 

assisted in the drafting of the Native American Grave Protection and Re- 
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patriation Act, testified before Congress in support of this legislation, and 

coordinated the lobbying effort of the Indian cultural rights coalition led 

by Susan Harjo, director of ncai. In all these efforts Echo-Hawk has envi¬ 

sioned himself as a modern warrior, using his legal training in defense of 

his people. As he later pointed out, “This modern-day Indian War [repa¬ 

triation] was fought not on a battlefield, but around conference tables, in 

courtrooms, and in the halls of Congress. ”44 

The fight goes on. In addition to the issues discussed above, Echo-Hawk 

and other narf attorneys have addressed issues such as Native American 

access to schools and education, child welfare rights, health care, voting 

rights, and mascots. In 1995, at a meeting celebrating narf’s twenty-fifth 

anniversary, Evelyn Stevenson, chair of narf’s board of directors noted 

that the legal battlefield of the last quarter-century reflected a number of 

“positive milestones,” but she foresaw the challenges of the future. “While 

we’ve fought long and hard for the achievements realized,” she stated, 

“we still see ourselves addressing many of the basic issues that were in the 

forefront twenty-five years ago.” Stevenson pointed out that “basic, inal¬ 

ienable rights deemed sacrosanct by Indian people are continuously in 

jeopardy” because both legislative and judicial systems across the United 

States are filled with individuals who have only a minimal knowledge of 

Native American people and their cultures. Yet as Stevenson indicated, 

these people often exercise a profound influence on establishing or chang¬ 

ing Indian policy. Moreover, this policy “often vacillates with every new 

swing of the political pendulum, leaving each of our generations to pick 

up the pieces and repeatedly start the process all over again.”45 

Stevenson’s assessment accurately portrays the brief history of narf 

and its legal warriors. At first there were few Native American lawyers, 

but those few were determined to defend the rights of their people. As the 

years passed, their ranks have grown. Walter Echo-Hawk’s career reflects 

these challenges. In seeking to use the law both as an instrument to pro¬ 

tect Native American sovereignty and rights, and as a tool for social 

change, he has ventured into the courtroom and legislative halls. In each 

case, whether defending Native American water rights, or assisting in the 

formulation of legislation to protect Native American religion and cul¬ 

ture, Echo-Hawk has based his career on those elements essential to a le¬ 

gal warrior: skilled training and a desire to provide legal advice and rep¬ 

resentation to Indian tribes and individuals. Like other members of 

narf’s legal war party, he has helped to forge new policies designed to 

strengthen tribal self-determination and self-governance, and to protect 

individual Native American rights. The struggle continues.4^ 
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Abourrezk, James, 155, 253 

Adair County ok, 211, 213, 215, 224 

Adams, Hank, 152,153, 166 n.21 

Agnew, Brad, 11-12, 323 

Agnew, Spiro, 138 

Ahfachkee Day School, 188 

Alabama-Coushata Indians, 303 

Alaska Native Claims Settlement Act, 

303 

Albert, Carl, 137 

Albuquerque Indian School, 106 

Albuquerque nm, 115,117,139, 227 

Alcatraz, 152; occupied, (1964) 148-49, 

(1969) 120, 155, 212, 301 

Alexian Brothers (religious order), 252, 

253 

All Indian Arts Festival, 140 n.3 

All Saints Church (Martin so), 84-87 

Altus OK, 137 

Ambassadors Program, 139-40 

American Anthropological Associa¬ 

tion, 103 

American Friends Service Committee, 

107 

American Greetings Corporation, 201 

American Indian Chicago Conference, 

113-14 

American Indian College Fund, 291, 

294 
American Indian Defense Association, 

47-48, 49-51 

American Indian Development (aid), 

105,106, 111, 114 

American Indian Higher Education 

Consortium, 291 

American Indian Magazine. See 

Quarterly Journal 

American Indian Movement, 6,11,120, 

147, 149, 252, 253; demonstrations 

by, 150-52,154; disagreements 

within ranks of, 150,159,160, 

163-64; establishment of, 147, 301; 

evaluation of, 163-64; and financial 

depletion, 158-59; and occupation 

of Wounded Knee, 155-57,166 n.21; 

and Trail of Broken Treaties, 152-53; 

American Indian Policy Review Com¬ 

mission, 13, 253-55, 256 

American Indian Religious Freedom 

Act, 13,160, 311-12 

American Indian Stories (Bonnin), 36, 47 

Americans for Indian Opportunity, 

246-47; establishment of, 138; eval¬ 

uation of, 140; and move to Al¬ 

buquerque, 139; and relocation in 

Santa Anna Pueblo nm, 139; and re¬ 

location in Washington, 139 

American Telephone and Telegraph 

Corporation (at&t), 201 

Anadarko ok, 131,133 

Anasazi, 267 

Anderson, Gary, 10, 323 



328 ^ THE NEW WARRIORS 

Anti-Defamation League of B’nai 

B’rith, 135 

Apache Indians, 305-6, 308 

Arapaho Indians, Northern, 41, 270, 271 

Arapaho Indians, Southern, 308; and 

attack on Kaws, 20 

Arctic National Wildlife Refuge, 304 

Arizona State University, 128,132 

Arizona v. California, 305 

Arizona v. San Carlos Apache Tribe, 305-6 

Arkansas Riverbed Authority, 222, 

226-27 

Armstrong, William, 269 

Army Corps of Engineers, 72 

Assiniboine Indians, 152 

Association for American Indian Af¬ 

fairs, 119, 314, 315 

Atlantic Monthly, 38 

Auburn ca, 264 

Auburn wa, 306 

Babbit, Bruce, 255, 272 

Bad Heart Bull, Wesley, death of, 154 

Badoni v. Higginson, 312 

Bad Wound, Howard, 84 

Baldwin, Marie, 43, 44 

Banks, Dennis, 149,152,156; and 

Wounded Knee trials, 157-58 

Baptist Church, among Seminoles, 171, 

174,179.185 
Bard College, 79 

The Battle of Rogue River (movie), 244 

Bear Claw, Hartford, protege of Yel- 

lowtail, 68 

Bearpaw, George, 228-29 

Bellecourt, Clyde, 153,164; shooting of, 

159 

Bellecourt, Vernon, 153,164 

Bell Project (ok), 214-15, 219, 220 

Bennett County High School (so), 85 

Bernardis, Tim, 9, 323 

Bieder, Robert, 117 

Big Bend Community College (wa), 

282,284 

Big Horn Basin, 59 

Big Horn Canyon, 73 

Big Horn County mt, 289; and Board 

of Commissioners, 289 

Big Horn Mountains, 56, 60 

Big Horn mt, 60 

Big Man, Max, opposition to Yellow- 

tail of, 66 
Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, 

294 

Billie, James, 183,186 

Billings MT, 59, 285 

Bishop Hare School for Boys, 90 

Black, Galen, 313 

Black Hills, 150,160-61 

Black Hills Alliance, 160 

Black Hills International Survival 
Gathering, 160 

Black Horse, Reuben, 270 

Black Lodge mt, 60 

Black Warbonnet, 271 

Blackfeet band of Lakota Indians, 80. 

See also Sioux Indians 

Blackfeet Indians, 308; and attack on 

Crows, 59 

Blaine County ok, 133 

blood quantum, 4, 56, 258 n.12 

Blue Lake, 301 

Blue River, 18 

Boaz, Franz, 82 

Boeing Corporation, 201 

Bolotnikov, Pytor, 277 n.6 

Bonnin, Gertrude Simmons (Zitkala- 

Sa), 6, 8, 35; and position on Advi¬ 

sory Board of American Indian De¬ 

fense Association, 49-50; birth of, 

35, 36; death of, 52; education of, 

36-38; and engagement to Monte¬ 

zuma, 39; and exposing abuses in 

Oklahoma, 48-49; and foundation 

of the National Council of Ameri¬ 

can Indians, 50; identity of, 39, 

41-42, 45; and illness, 37-38; mar¬ 

riage of, 39; and opposition to In¬ 

dian Reorganization Act, 51-52; and 

opposition to peyote, 44-45; and 
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role in Society of American Indians, 

40-47; and support of John Collier, 

48-51; and testimony before Senate, 

45; 

Bonnin, Raymond O., 39, 42 

Bonnin, Raymond T., 39 

Boston MA, 8, 38, 40 

Boulder co, 107,114, 301 

Boys’ Club (Sioux), 85; decline of, 

88-89 

Bozeman mt, 290, 291 

Brando, Marlon, 156 

Bread, Scott, 143 n.37 

The Broken Cord (Dorris), 272 

Brotherhood of Christian Unity (ecu), 

86, 94; decline of, 90; foundation of, 

82 

Broward County fl, 181,186 

Brown, Hank, 276 

Buffalo Gap SD, 154 

Buffalo Tiger, 175 

Bureau of Reclamation, 73-74 

Burgess, James, 58 

Burke, Charles H., 25 

Burnette, Robert, 152-53 

Bush, George, 222, 225, 227 

Butte MT, 282 

Butterworth, Robert, 186 

Byrd, Joe, 228-29, 230 

Cabazon Band of Mission Indians, 310 

California Legal Services, 299 

California v. Cabazon Band of Mission In¬ 

dians, 310 

Camp, Carter, 159 

Campbell, Albert, 264 

Campbell, Alberta, 264 

Campbell, Ben Nighthorse, 6,14, 262; 

birth of, 264; as chair of Indian Af¬ 

fairs subcommittee, 274-77; and 

changing parties, 272-73; in Colo¬ 

rado politics, 267-68; in Congress, 

268-69; education of, 264-65; as ed¬ 

ucator, 264, 266-67; and gaming, 

2.75-76; in Japan, 265-66; as jeweler. 
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264, 267, 276; and judo, 264-67, 276; 

as laborer, 265; marriage of, 266-67; 

in military service, 265; and Olym¬ 

pics, 264, 276; political philosophy 

of, 263-64, 272-73, 274-77; as 

rancher, 264, 267; in Senate, 269-77 

Campbell, Colin, 267 

Campbell, Linda Price, 266-67 

Campbell, Mary Vierra, 264 

Campbell, Shanan, 267 

Cardwell, Warren, 128-29 

Carlile, Robert, 230 

Carlisle Indian School (pa), 8, 38, 40, 

58,171 

Carmack, William, 126,129,141 n.io 

Carnegie Foundation for the Advance¬ 

ment of Teaching, 294 

Carpenter, James, 65, 66, 68 

Carter, Jimmy, 303 

Carthage ms, 206 

Case, A. H., 22 

Center for the History of the American 

Indian. See D’Arcy McNickle Center 

for the History of the American In¬ 

dian 

Central Washington University, 

282-83 

Championship Judo: Drill Training 

(Campbell), 266 

Chapman, Gary, 219, 230 

Chatah Enterprises. See Choctaw Man¬ 

ufacturing Enterprises 

Chaui Pawnees, 300 

“checkerboard area,” 106 

Chemawa Boarding School (or), 

98-99 

Cheney, Robert L., 271 

Cherokee Boarding School (nc), 197 

Cherokee County OK, 224 

Cherokee Indians, Cherokee Nation- 

Oklahoma, 11-12,130,143 n.37; and 

Community Development Depart¬ 

ment, 214; education among, 133, 

197, 213; and gaming, 218, 222- 23; 

historical society of, 228, 230; and 
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Cherokee Indians (cont.) 

Housing Authority, 228; and judicial 

Appeals Tribunal, 220, 229; and 

Marshal Service, 223-24; and smoke 

shops, 223-24; social programs 

among, 213-15, 220, 222. See also 

Cherokee Indians, Eastern Band; 

Mankiller, Wilma 

Cherokee Indians, Eastern Band, 312 

Cheyenne Indians, Northern Band, 14, 

263, 265, 270-71, 307; and Council of 

Forty-Four, 271; reservation of, 14, 

271, 289. See also Campbell, Ben 

Nighthorse 

Cheyenne Indians, Southern Band, 

270, 271, 308; allotment among, 61; 

and attack on Raws, 20 

Cherokee Nation Distributing Com¬ 

pany, 217 

Cherokee Nation Industries, 217, 228, 

230 

Cheyenne River Sioux Reservation, 

309 

Chicago IL, 39,102-3,116,117, 249; 

conference in, 113-14 

Chickasaw Indians, 126, 223, 309 

Chief Wahoo (Cleveland Indians), 149, 

150,164 

Chienne, Elizabeth Frazee, 56 

Chilocco Indian School, 172 

Chippewa Indians, 43,149,150,153, 

284-85, 307; and Bay Mills Band, 

304; and Grand Traverse Band, 304; 

and Sault Ste. Marie Band, 304; and 

St. Croix Band, 310 

Choctaw Indians (ms), 12-13, 309; and 

Community Action Agency, 206; 

economic level of, 196,198, 201, 203; 

and gaming, 206; history of, 195-96; 

industrial development of, 199-202; 

as industrial workers, 200-201, 206; 

literacy of, 196; prejudice against, 

197-98, 202; and reservation, 12-13, 

196,199, 203, 204; and schools, 204, 

205-6; and Transit Authority, 206; 

and tribal government, 203; and 

Tribal Housing Authority, 206; and 

Utility Commission, 206. See also 

Martin, Phillip 

Choctaw Indians (ok), 57, 223; or¬ 

phans abused, 48-49 

Choctaw Manufacturing Enterprises, 

199-200,201-2 

Chrysler Corporation, 201 

Churchill, Ward, 164 

Citizens’ Association for the Advance¬ 

ment of the Menominee People 

(camp), 248 

Citizens’ Party, 139 

Civil Rights Attorney Fees Act, 306 

Claremore ok, 234 n.42 

Clarke, Ron, 277 n.6 

Cleveland Indians. See Chief Wahoo 

Cleveland oh, 149 

Clinton, WiUiam J., 226, 227, 229, 239, 

2.55-56, ■2.1'i; 273, 275-76, 313 

Coca Cola Foundation, 294 

Cocopah Indians, 309 

Coins. See United States Mint 

Collier, John, 30, 47, 49, 65-67,102-3, 

112,119,170, 241; and employment 

of McNickle, 101; resignation of, 71, 

90,103, 242 

Collins, John, 271 

Colon, Cristobal, 271 

Colorado River, 312 

Colorado Wilderness Act, 276 

Columbia (South America), 160 

Columbia University, 82,100, 245 

Columbus, Christopher, 271 

Colville Indian Reservation, 281 

Comanche Indians, 123,140 n.i. See 

also Harris, LaDonna 

Combs, Greg, 213, 216 

Commission on Presidential Nomina¬ 

tion of Democratic Party, 255 

Committee of One Hundred, 49, 65, 66 

Common Cause, 256 

Commoner, Barry, as presidential can¬ 

didate, 139 
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Community Action Program, 149,172, 

177,198 

Comprehensive Employment Training 

Program (ceta), 172,174,183 

Comprehensive Indian Fetal Alcohol 

Syndrome Prevention and Treat¬ 

ment Act, 272 

Confederated Tribes of Colville v. State of 

Washington, 180,181 

Congressional Record, 275 

Considine, Tim, 269-70 

Contrary Warriors: A Film of the Crows, 

75 
Coolidge, Calvin, 28 

Coolidge, Sherman, 41 

Cooper, Charles, 143 n.38 

Cordell ok, 131 

Cornell Project, 108-9 

Cornell University, 108 

Council of Energy Resources Tribes, 

139 

Council Grove ks, 19, 20 

Council on Indian Affairs, 111,113 

County of Yakima v. Confederated Tribes 

of the Yakima Reservation, 308-9 

Coushatta Indians, 303 

Cowan, Cliff, arranges Deloria lecture 

tour, 87 

Cowen, Agnes, 215-16 

Crawford, William, 123 

Crazy Horse, 9, 263 

Cree Indians, 98, 284-85, 307 

Creek Indians (ok), 127, 222, 310 

Cross, George Lynn, 134 

Crow Act, 69 

Crow Agency (mt), 55, 57, 60, 61, 70, 

284,286 

Crow Central Education Commission, 

284, 286 

Crow Dog, Leonard, 156 

Crow Dog’s Paradise, 156 

Crow Indians, 9,14 60, 256; and Adult 

and Continuing Education Pro¬ 

gram, 284; allotment among, 61, 

63-64; clans of, 56-57; cultural 

changes of, 70-71, 293; and Ed¬ 

ucational Authority, 286; and Fair, 

70-71, 74; and opposition to the In¬ 

dian Reorganization Act, 68, 72; 

population of, 56, 293; reservation 

of, 9,14, 56, 59-60, 70, 281, 282, 284, 

289; voting rights of, 289-90; water 

rights of, 71-75. See also Yellowtail, 

Robert; Pretty-on-Top, Janine Pease 

Crownpoint Project (nm), 105-10; end 

of, 108 

Cummings, John, as Yellowtail pro¬ 

tege, 75 

Curtis, Anna Baird, 32 n.28 

Curtis, Charles, 8,11,16; birth of, 17, 

19, 270; in Congress, 23, 25-27, 32 

n.i6; death of, 30; education of, 

19-22; and enrollment problems, 

25; and federal Indian policy, 25-26, 

30; as jockey, 21; in local politics, 

22-23; physical appearance of, 

23,24; as “progressive” Indian, 

24-25; in Senate, 21, 24, 27-30; as 

vice president, 29-30 

Curtis, Elizabeth, 25 

Curtis, Ellen Pappas, 17; birth of, 19; 

death of, 19; marriage of, 19 

Curtis, Oren A., 17; marriage of, 19; in 

Union Army, 19 

Curtis, Parmelia Hubbard, 19, 21 

Curtis, William, 19, 21 

Curtis Act, 8, 25-26, 28 

Custer Battlefield. See Little Big Horn 

Battlefield National Monument 

Custer, George Armstrong, 281 

Custer SD, 154,157 

Dahlberg, Gus, 99 

Dakota Indians, 41. See also Sioux Indi¬ 

ans 

Dalme, Lester, management policies, 

200 

D’Arcy McNickle Center for the His¬ 

tory of the American Indian, 116-17. 

See also McNickle, D’Arcy 
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David And Lucille Packard Founda¬ 

tion, 294 

Dawes Act. See General Allotment Act 

Day Break Star Center (Seattle wa), 

284 

“Dead Grass.” See The Surrounded 

(McNickle) 

“A Declaration of Indian Purpose” 

(Chicago conference), 114 

Deconcini, Dennis, 269 

Deer, Ada, 3,13,14,138, 239; and Amer¬ 

ican Indian Policy Review' Commis¬ 

sion, 253-54; assessment of, 256-57; 

as Assistant Secretary for Indian Af¬ 

fairs, 239, 255-56; awards received 

by, 256; as BIA employee, 246; birth 

of, 239; criticism of, 252, 256; ed¬ 

ucation of, 240, 244-45, 251; in film, 

244; on Harvard faculty, 254; and 

Menominee restoration, 251-53; and 

Mormons, 244; and narf, 255; and 

opposition to mei, 249-50; as politi¬ 

cal candidate, 255; as social worker, 

245-47; and testimony before Con¬ 

gress, 250; on University Wisconsin 

faculty, 254-55 

Deer, Connie, 249 

Deer, Constance Stockton Wood, 239; 

and encouragement of education, 

244; as activist, 248-49, 259 n.35 

Deer, Joseph, 239-40 

Deer Nose, Donald, 65 

Delaware County ok, 222, 224 

Deloria, Barbara Sloat Eastburn, 84; 

sketch of, 86 

Deloria, Ella, 82 

Deloria, Philip J. (Tipi Sapa; Yankton 

Dakota leader), 83; and conversion 

by Episcopalians, 80; death of, 84; 

and ordination as priest, 81; and 

service as missionary, 81-82 

Deloria, Philip J. (contemporary 

scholar), 9,172, 323 

Deloria, Susan, 82 

Deloria, Vine, Jr., 164,173 

Deloria, Vine V, Sr., 7, 9, 78; as Arch¬ 

deacon of South Dakota, 93-94; as 

athlete, 83, 85, 93; birth of, 82; 

breakdown suffered by, 90; death 

of, 94; and denouncing alcoholism, 

86; education of, 82-84; as Epis¬ 

copal Assistant Secretary for Indian 

Work, 91-93; in Iowa, 90, 93; as lin¬ 

guist, 85; marriage of, 84, 86; and 

opposition to termination, 92-93; at 

Pine Ridge, 84, 88-90; and qualities 

as a priest, 85; at Sisseton-Whape- 

ton mission, 87-88; and touring 

western reservations, 91 

Democratic Senatorial Campaign 

Committee, 273 

Denison lA, 90 

Denver co, 103; and Columbus Day 

Parade, 161,162-63 

Department of Taxation and Finance of 

the State of New York v. Milhelm Attea, 

309 

desecration of Native American graves 

and skeletal remains, 314-16. See re¬ 

patriation of skeletal remains 

Des Lauriers, Francis (son), 80 

Des Lauriers, Francois (father), 80 

Des Lauriers, Frank (Saswe), 80 

Determination of the Rights and Unity 

of Menominee Shareholders 

(drums); and confrontation of mei, 

250-51; and Menominee restora¬ 

tion, 250-52; organization of, 249 

Detroit mi, 149 

Deuschle, Kurt, 108 

Dhegian-Siouan language group, 17 

Dine College. See Navajo Indians: 

Community College 

Dole, Robert, 273 

Dorris, Michael, 272 

Durango CO, 267 

Durango Herald, 267 

Duro V. Reina, 310 

Earlham College, 8, 37 
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East Big Cypress Case, 180 

Eastern Montana College. See Mon¬ 

tana State University 

Eastern Navajo Agency, 106 

Eastman, Charles, 36, 41, 44, 46 

Echo-Hawk, Amy, 301 

Echo-Hawk, Anthony, 301 

Echo-Hawk, Debbie, 300 

Echo-Hawk, Jeanine, 300 

Echo-Hawk, John, 299, 301 

Echo-Hawk, Lance, 300 

Echo-Hawk, Pauline Sam, 301 

Echo-Hawk, Roger, 300 

Echo-Hawk, Walter, 3,14-15, 298; 

birth of, 300; and desecration and 

repatriation, 314-16; education of, 

300-301; legal philosophy of, 302, 

316; marriage of, 301; and Native 

American Church, 313-14; and relig¬ 

ious freedom, 312-13; and tribal sov¬ 

ereignty, 308; and water rights, 306 

Echo-Hawk, Walter, Jr., 301 

Echo-Hawk, Walter, Sr., 300 

Economic Development Act, 176 

Edmunds, R. David, 323 

Ehawechasha. See Des Lauriers, Erank 

Eisenhower, Dwight David, 303; and 

approval of Yellowtail Dam, 74 

Ellensburg WA, 282 

Ely Colony Shoshone Indians, 310 

Encampment for Citizenship, 245 

“The End of the Trail” (sculpture), 1 

English, Joseph, 131 

Environmental Protection Agency, 139 

Episcopal Church, 9; and internal 

structure, 92-93; and missionary ac¬ 

tivity among Indians, 80-82; racism 

in, 84, 86, 91-92 

Equal Employment Opportunity Com¬ 

mission, 137 

Erickson, Ralph, 166 n.21 

Ethnical Culture Society, 245 

ethnohistory, 116 

Everglades, 171 

Exedine, Joe, 129 

Fabens, Charles H., 48-49 

Fall, Albert B., 47 

Feaver, Clayton, 129 

Federal Energy Regulatory Commis¬ 

sion, 312 

Federal Writers Program, 101 

Federation of Italian-American Organ¬ 

izations of Colorado, 162 

feminism, 43, 215, 218, 285 

Fire Thunder, Edgar, 84 

First Wisconsin Trust Company of 

Milwaukee, 247, 250 

fishing rights (Native American), 149, 

303-5 

Five Southern Tribes, 2, 8, 26, 28, 222. 

See also Cherokee Indians; Chicka¬ 

saw Indians; Choctaw Indians; 

Creek Indians; Seminole Indians 

Fixico, Donald, 14, 324 

Flaming Rainbow University, 213 

Flathead Indians, 10, 73, 97, 315; reser¬ 

vation of, 97-99,120. See also 

McNickle, D’Arcy 

Florida Division of Alcoholic Bever¬ 

ages and Tobacco, 181 

Flynt, Larry, 161 

Ford, Gerald, 253 

Ford Motor Company, 201 

Fort Laramie Treaty (1868), 148,156, 

157,158,160 

Fort McDowell Indian Community 

Water Rights Settlement Act, 307 

Fort Peck Indian Reservation, 160 

Fort Sill Indian School (ok), 83; con¬ 

ditions at, 128 

Fort Smith, Arkansas, 223 

Fort Yates nd, 159 

Frazer, James Earle, 1 

Eriends of the Indian, 40 

Frizzell, Kent, 166 n.21 

Gallup NM, 109,114; ceremonial at, 

108 

Gamble sd, 84 

gaming, 12, 180,182,183-84,186-87, 
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gaming (cont.) 

206, 218, 222-23, 227, 228, 255, 274, 

275-76, 310-11 

Gann, Permilia “Dolly” Curtis, 30. 32 

n.28 

Garmet, Leonard, 155 

Garner, John C., 131 

Garner, John N., 30 

Gassman, John, 80 

Gatchell, Lois, 129,136 

Gay Head Wampanoag Indians, 303 

Geesink, Antonius, 266 

General Allotment Act, 1-2, 25, 28, 47, 

61, 97-98 

General Electric Company, 199 

General Federation of Women’s Clubs, 

47 

General Theological Seminary (Epis¬ 

copal), 83-84 

Geronimo, 263 

Giago, Tim, criticizes Means, 163 

Ginsberg, Leon, 136 

Girl Scouts of America, 246 

Glahn, Klaus, 266 

Glenn Canyon Dam, 312 

Gold Standard Act (1900), 27 

Gonville, Louis, 18 

Goodfox, Lawrence, Jr., 314 

Good Morning America, 161 

Gordon ne, 160; racism at, 150-51 

Gorton, Slade, 274 

Governor’s Council of Indian Affairs 

(fl), 175 

Grand Pawnees. See Chaui Pawnees 

Gregory, Dick, 156 

Gresham wi, 252 

“guardians,” of Indian children, 48-49 

Guardians of the Oglala Nation, 154 

Gunnison ut, 244 

Halberg, Murray, 277 n.6 

Handbook of North American Indians, 116 

Hans, Brigit, 119 

Hanson, James, 315 

Hanson, William, 35, 41 

Harding, Warren G., 47 

Hardin Herald, 63 

Hardin mt, 59, 290 

Hare, William Hobart (missionary 

among Indians), 81 

Harjo, Susan, 316 

Harley-Davidson Corporation, 201 

Harper’s Bazaar, 38 

Harrington VA, 126 

Harris, Byron, 124 

Harris, Fred, 124, 126,129, 132,134,138, 

141 n.io, 142 n.29, 246, 251; as col¬ 

lege professor, 139; divorce of, 139; 

and election to Senate, 123,125: as 

presidential candidate, 138,139 

Harris, Kathryn, 124 

Harris, LaDonna, 9-10,122, 140 n.i, 

246-47, 251; and Americans for In¬ 

dian Opportunity, 138-40; birth of, 

123; divorce of, 139; as head of 010, 

127-38; legacy of, 140; marriage of, 

124; in 1968 presidential campaign, 

138, 239; as public speaker, 132; and 

resignation from 010,138; and tes¬ 

timony before congress, 137; as vice 

presidential candidate (1980), 139; 

and War on Poverty, 137-38 

Harris, Laura, 124 

Harris Act, 124 

Harris Poll, 156 

Harte, Joan Keshena, 249 

Harvard University, 269; and Institute 

of Politics, 254 

Haskell Indian Nations University, 275 

Havre mt, 285 

The Hawk is Hungry (McNickle), 119 

Hayden, Carl M., 44-45 

Hayward, Richard (Skip), 311 

Head Start Program, 131,137,144 n.56; 

174 

Heimbach, Lowell, 265 

Heinrich, Frank, 62 

Henry, Bill, 277 n.6 

Henry Street Settlement House (Man¬ 

hattan), 245 
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Hill, Asa T., Pawnee graves looted by, 

314 

Hill, Ron, 277 n.6 

Hillerman, Tony, 164 

Hitchcock, Ethan Allen, 25 

Hogan, Lillian Bull Shows, 57 

Hoover, Herbert, 27, 29-30, 270 

Hopi Indians, 160 

Houma Indians, 318 n.13 

House Committee on Agriculture and 

National Affairs, 268 

House Committee on Business and La¬ 

bor, 268 

House Committee on Indian Affairs, 

26, 27, 253 

House Committee on Interior and In¬ 

sular Affairs, 268 

House Committee on Small Business, 

268 

House Concurrent Resolution 108, 91, 

2.39, 2,43 

Houser, Alan, 103,118 

Howard E. Tommie Enterprises. See 

Tommie, Howard 

Howe, Ramona, 289 

Hoxie, Frederick, 9,117, 324 

Humphrey, Hubert, 125 

“The Hungry Generations.” See The 

Surrounded (McNickle) 

Huron College, 94 

Hustler (magazine), 161 

Hyde, James, and transfer from Crow 

Agency, 66 

Idabel ok, 137 

identity. Native American, 3-6, 8-15, 

39, 41-42, 45. 51-52, 82, 87-88, 97-98, 

125, 140 n.i, 150, 164,184, 204-5, 

264,270-71 

Ignace, Georgianne, 150 

“Impressions of an Indian Childhood” 

(Bonnin), 38 

Independent Oglala Nation (Wounded 
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142 n.22 

Southwestern Indian Polytechnic In¬ 

stitute, 275 

sovereignty, of tribal governments, 2, 

6,12,15, 64,172-73, 180, 203-4, 223, 
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